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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statetsehat relate to future events or future finahgeformance. In some cases, forward-
looking statements can be identified by terminoleggh as "may," "will," "should," "expects," "plghsanticipates,” "believes," "estimates,"
"predicts," "intend,” "potential” or "continue" tine negative of such terms or other comparableitedogy. These statements are only
predictions. Although Brocade believes that theeetgtions reflected in the forward-looking stateteere reasonable, we cannot guarantee
future results, levels of activity, performanceachievements. Actual results could differ mateyifdbm those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of various faciaduding the risks outlined under "Management'sddssion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations -- Risk Factarsl elsewhere in this Annual Report. All forwdodking statements included in this
document are based on information available to &lewmn the date hereof. Brocade assumes no obligatupdate any such forwalabking
statements.

OVERVIEW

Brocade is the leading provider, based on revenddtee number of ports shipped, of Fibre Channélting solutions for Storage Area
Networks ("SANs"), which apply the benefits of @werked approach to the connection of computeagtisystems and servers. Our far

of SilkWorm switches enables companies to costeéffely manage growth in their storage capacitymegments, improve the performance
between their servers and storage systems andsecthe size and scope of their SAN, while allowivegn to operate data-intensive
applications, such as data backup and restorejiaasdter recovery, on the SAN. We sell our SAN ahiitg solutions through leading storage
systems and server original equipment manufacturertsiding Amdhal, Compaq Computer, CNT, Data Gah division of EMC
Corporation), Dell Computer, IBM, Groupe Bull, McOA Corporation (a division of EMC Corporation), NERetwork Appliance, Sequent
Computer Systems, SGI, Fujitsu/Siemens ComputdeBysand StorageTek and through system integratbese original equipment
manufacturers and system integrators combine oiticlswg solutions with other system elements andises for companies' data processing
centers.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND
Business-Critical Data Storage Requirements

The last decade has seen an explosion in the vadfitmgsiness-critical data that is being captupedcessed, stored and manipulated in
business environments. This has fueled an incieademand for data storage capacity. Efficient dadaage and management is becoming
one of the most important aspects of businesszatitiecision making. Increased reliance on apptinatranging from business intelligence
and decision support, data warehousing and datmgniri large databases, disaster tolerance andeegoenterprise software, and imaging
and graphics have all contributed to this trencaddition, the development of Web-based businessatipns and e-commerce in particular,
has intensified the demand placed on data cer@estomer interactions over the Web have increapedational focus on the performance,
scalability, management and flexibility of systetihat use business-critical data. This dependenaatanfor fundamental business processes
by employees, customers and suppliers has greatlgased the number of input and output transagtmml/Os, required of computer storage
systems and servers. In addition, the complexitgmérprise computing and storage is further comged by the use of multiple
incompatible server operating systems, such aprtigeration of Windows NT in traditional UNIX eimonments. As a result, organizations
are being forced to dedicate substantial finararal personnel resources to manage and maintadidinéuted storage capabilities of their
networks.



Bottleneck In Storage and Server Connections

Despite the increased attention and resources vitaieh been devoted to data storage requirementsethnical capabilities of data storage
systems have not kept pace with increasing datagsnent demands and with the advancements in m¢@orking technologies. In the
1980s, the near ubiquity of PCs, workstations @mdess required broader connectivity, resultinthie development of local and wide area
networks to support messaging between computegrsgsiThe data used by computers and servers cedrtedbcal and wide area networks
are typically located on computer storage systamissarvers, which store, process and manipulage @ae adoption of high speed messa
technologies such as gigabit Ethernet and asynohsottansfer mode, or ATM, increased local and vaigia network transmission speeds by
more than 1,000 times during the 1990s. Howeverage-to-server data transmission speeds incrdégsieds than ten times during this
period, creating a bottleneck between the localide area network and business-critical storagtesys and servers.

Traditionally, distributed systems have linkedragié server with a limited number of storage systémclose proximity. The Small Compu
Systems Interface, or SCSI, standard was adoptt#dfO interface standard for storage-to-server server-to-server connections in the
1980s. SCSil is a parallel interface that permitsubhput of 20 to 40 megabytes per second. SAB8sghput limitations have become much
more pronounced as local and wide area networlsimasion technologies have migrated from Ethermeich transfers data at 10 megabits
per second, to gigabit Ethernet, which transfeta da1,000 megabits per second. In addition, S0&ks a maximum transmission distance
of only 12 meters and supports just 32 devices single bus. As a result, SCSI does not adequatgiport the increasing requirements for
speed, scalability and flexibility of today's dat¢éensive enterprises.

Introduction and Standardization of Fibre Channel

In response to the demand for high-speed and hegloqmance storage-to-server and server-to-sepmmectivity, the Fibre Channel
interconnect protocol, an industry networking stad was developed in the early 1990s. The Fibren@él interconnect standard received
American National Standards Institute, or ANSI, mp@l in 1994 and has subsequently earned brogabsiufpom industry and independent
testing laboratories. Fibre Channel supports laaga block transfers at gigabit speeds and isfiwerevell suited for data transfers between
storage systems and servers. It also supportspieuftiotocols such as SCSI and Internet ProtoecdR oFurthermore, it provides transmiss
reliability with guaranteed delivery and transmissdistances of up to 10 kilometers. Fibre Chanogiplements and supports advancements
in local and wide area network technologies, suchigabit Ethernet and ATM, which are not effecfioelarge block dataatensive transfer

Advent of the Storage Area Network

Fibre Channel has enabled the development of aggarea network, or SAN, to meet the requiremaindsita centers and other data-
intensive, distributed computing environments. &mio local and wide area networks, the SAN apgpiiee distributed computing model to
computer storage systems and servers and takestadeaf the inherent benefits of a networked aggitoThese benefits include the
decoupling of computer storage systems and serwnersasing scalability and a higher level of cartivety than currently exists in the SCSI
environment. Additionally, the SAN provides highesgl connectivity for data-intensive applicationsoas multiple operating systems,
including UNIX and Windows NT. By bringing networlg technology into the data processing center, I §l&o provides increased
flexibility, fault tolerance, ease of managemerd &wer total cost of ownership. The SAN marketxpected to grow substantially as
organizations embrace this emerging solution. Adicagy to the Gartner Group, an independent industsgarch company, more than 70% of
shared storage in networked environments is prajeict be reorganized into SANs by the year 20020Ating to Dataquest, an independent
research company, the SAN market is currently gngveit a compound annual growth rate of 200%.

The simplest SAN configuration is a loop topologiich is similar to traditional SCSI-based disttid systems and interconnects multiple
nodes over a shared Fibre Channel networking desicgh as a hub. A

3



Fibre Channel hub can support up to 126 devicashietavailable bandwidth is shared among all #aaaes, resulting in signal and
performance degradation as the number of devictitoop increases. In addition, loop topologigffes from limited network management
and fault isolation capabilities. For example, whesingle device is added to the loop, it will @tise loop to reset, resulting in application
disruption. The limitations of shared networks haeen addressed in local and wide area networka@amvients by the development of
switching technologies that have yielded advancésnerperformance, scalability, flexibility and nsgement at competitive costs. In order
for the SAN model to become more widely adoptedata centers, today's enterprises must be abkmteect any device on the network to
any other device on the network, or any-to-any eatimity, without performance degradation in ortieeffectively leverage distributed
computer storage systems, servers, workstationstued resources. Guaranteed reliability and aditia are vital to the storage, processing
and manipulation of business-critical data. Netwwaequire dedicated connections operating at higgfopmance levels to support large data
transfer demands. Finally, data processing ceatersharacterized by a high degree of change thst be supported by a flexible network
infrastructure.

THE BROCADE SOLUTION

Brocade is the leading provider of Fibre ChanneNSitching solutions. We combine advanced switghethnologies with our Fibre
Channel technology leadership and systems expéstismvide the Brocade Fabric, comprised of FiBhannel switches, a proprietary swi
operating system, management tools, managemertagnand ready-to-deploy configurations. Our presipcovide an infrastructure
backbone that allows our customers to concurrentiymultiple applications across the SAN, reduanoggestion of local and wide area
networks. Our Brocade Fabric helps enterprisese&fbsttively manage the growth in storage capadityrove server-to-storage and server-
to-server performance, and increase the size apksuf their SANs, while enabling data-intensivelagations, such as reliable backup and
restore and disaster recovery. Our solutions haeédllowing key benefits:

Address the input/output bottleneck. DeploymerANs based on our Brocade Fabric not only enhgpaies-to-point bandwidth with Fibre
Channel connections, but helps solve the I/O buette between data storage systems and server&ilform family of Fibre Channel
switches delivers full-duplex 1 gigabit per sec@edformance at every port. In addition, unlike hobsther shared devices, our switches are
designed to provide any-to-any connectivity anchtntain 1 gigabit per second performance peraoedditional devices are added to the
SAN. Our superior frame-forwarding capability prdes end-users with rapid data retrieval and allagseater number of user transactions.

Provide SAN scalability. Our modular Fibre Chanswltches, supporting from two to 16 ports per shinable incremental growth by
interconnecting or cascading multiple switcheshiendreds of connections in a fully meshed confitiona Our Brocade Fabric enables
companies to grow clusters of high performanceessrar provide multiple servers with high bandwidtimnections to multiple storage
systems. Additionally, Fibre Channel allows conimtt up to 10 kilometers, enabling companies terotnnect separate SAN clusters or
islands into a single SAN.

Enable SAN applications. The Brocade Fabric cremt®8N backbone for data-intensive applicationapéng organizations to solve
complex problems in data processing centers. Gadyats allow all departments within an organizatimshare data storage resources de
operating within a computing environment that inids incompatible operating systems sharing staesmuirces. The Brocade Fabric allows
highly flexible configurations and supports a widege of data traffic, including high throughputldaw latency processing. For example,
high throughput applications, such as data backdpestore, and disaster recovery can be perfoomatbe SAN, freeing up valuable
bandwidth on the local and wide area network aimdiehting the need for expensive backup serverslithhally, companies utilizing the
Brocade Fabric for their e-commerce and other mericy transaction processing applications carrdgechundreds of computer storage
devices and servers.

Support a mission-critical data processing ceii&r.have designed our solutions to provide highltegtresiliency and availability with
maximum up time for business-critical, data-intgasapplications. Our
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switches have auto-configuration and reconfiguratiapabilities that incorporate redundant and radtier data paths for frame forwarding,
which enable our Brocade Fabric to be self-heallitgpy also support up to eight parallel links tbestswitches. As a result, any cable, port,
switch or link failure can be isolated, providingesilient solution. This increases the availapitind up time of the data processing center.

Enhance SAN management. Our Brocade Fabric Opgratiatem and our network management tools enableustomers to centrally
manage storage systems and servers handling bsiirigsal data. Our products deliver a rich seS8N management information that can
be accessed both locally and remotely. Data-inkensbnnections in the organization can be centraipaged to share resources with other
points on the network. All of these factors comttiméelp organizations reduce the overall costsiarrease the efficiency of their data
network.

THE BROCADE STRATEGY

Our objective is to maintain our position as thediag provider of SAN switching solutions. The legments of our strategy include the
following:

Leverage our SAN switching market leadership. Weelse we were the first company to provide a corhprsive Fibre Channel fabric
solution and that we are the market leader based tig number of switch ports shipped. We intenckaitalize on our first mover advante
and in-depth customer and product knowledge. Wielzlve are well positioned to anticipate the fattequirements of the SAN
marketplace.

Capitalize on leadership in Fibre Channel techniegnd standards. We have been a leader in tledog@vent of Fibre Channel technoloc
and the implementation of ANSI Fibre Channel stadslaOur technology efforts are led by some ofrtfust widely recognized members of
the Fibre Channel industry. In addition, our teclahpersonnel have substantial expertise in stofdgesystem, routing algorithms and
network management technologies. We have alsogedvinajor contributions to many of the ANSI Fibiiea@nel standards that have been
developed to date. We believe that taking a cortimroactive role in this expanding market will leleaus to extend our leading market
position.

Leverage core architecture. We are leveraging org switching expertise, ASIC architectures, Brackdbric Operating System and Fibre
Channel technology to expand our family of SilkWagomducts to address the expanding SAN market. 8ve been focusing on the
workgroup, midrange, and enterprise segments db# market, and intend to leverage our leaderphgition in these segments to broaden
our reach into other segments of the SAN switchketaais they emerge. We expect that the demandAidrsSvitching solutions in entry level
applications will increase, particularly as WindoWi$-based servers are increasingly used in datsepsing centers. We have recently
introduced products designed to address the speéds of organizations that use Windows NT-baeedkrs in anticipation of this growth.

Continue to expand network of original equipmentafacturers and system integrators. We intend mdirmoe to expand our relationships
with key computer storage system and server ofligigaipment manufacturers and system integrataits, domestically and abroad.
Currently, our major original equipment manufactungstomers include Amdhal, Compag Computer, CNatallseneral (a division of EMC
Corporation), Dell Computer, IBM, Groupe Bull, McOA Corporation (a division of EMC Corporation), NERetwork Appliance, Sequent
Computer Systems, SGI, Fujitsu/Siemens ComputdeBysand StorageTek. These relationships allow lesserage the systems and
services capabilities of these industry-leadingiodl equipment manufacturers. We have also recentiered into relationships with system
integrators including Advanced Systems Group, IBerkshire Computer Products, Inc., Ciprico, Comg®hnology, Inc., Cranel, dcVAS
DataDirect Networks, Hitachi Data Systems Canaaegrated Systems Technologies, Inc., Kanatek Taobies Inc., Kingswell Computer
Company, LSI Logic's MetaStor(R) Storage Solutidrestch Technology, Midrange Computer Solutionse@®®ystems Solutions, Inc., PC
RAID Power, Rorke, Stonebridge Technologies, StotNe, Sysix Technologies, Tokyo Electron Ltd., ue Digital, and XIOtech. We
expect that our relationships with leading systatagrators will allow us to penetrate the markeiarpunities by leveraging the reach of th
distribution channels.



Develop strategic partnerships. We are buildingtetyic relationships with Fibre Channel componeit@evice vendors and storage
management software companies. For example, iniRbge1999, we entered into a strategic relationgfiip Veritas Software Corporation
to jointly develop technology for centralized maeagnt of SANs. By partnering with these organizatjave believe we can enhance SAN
applications and interoperability, thereby accdiagathe time to market and overall deployment ndttionality of our products.

PRODUCTS

Brocade provides the SilkWorm family of Fibre Chahswitches, which creates a switch interconnewhéng any-to-any connectivity
between storage devices and servers. SilkWorm lsgstcan be used individually for server clustedngtorage consolidation, or cascaded
with other switches to form a powerful networkimgrastructure, the Brocade Fabric. Brocade's soéwalutions provide network
administrators with tools to manage the switchastar SAN. Brocade also provides extensive Falericiges, in order to optimize the
Brocade Fabric for an enterprise's particular nelldseover, Brocade SOLUTIONware provides instromsi to enterprises on implementing
SANSs.

SilkWorm Family of Switches

In March 1997, Brocade introduced the Silkworm 1€ily of products, beginning with a configuralilé-port switch, used to connect
servers to storage devices to create a SAN. Inl APE8, Brocade introduced SilkWorm Express, amtefprt Fibre Channel switch.

In June 1999, Brocade introduced the SilkWorm 2@@@iuct line that delivers improved reliability,ahability, and serviceability. The three
products introduced were the SilkWorm 2800, a 18-fatric switch, the SilkWorm 2400, anp@t fabric switch, and the SilkWorm 2100,
8-port loop switch.

In November 1999, we announced the SilkWorm 20Q6ydavel product line. This product line includise SilkWorm 2010, a managed hub
alternative and the SilkWorm 2040 and 2050.

The SilkWorm family of switches share a commonfplaih designed to provide the following features apdefits:

- High throughput. Each port delivers a 1-gigalgit pecond, full-duplex data rate regardless of agtwonnectivity.

- Hardware-based data path. SilkWorm reduces lgtbp@liminating software processing from the patilata frames.

- Management. SilkWorm supports customers' existiagagement solutions, such as local and wide at@aorks, SCSI tools and web toc

- In-order delivery of data frames. SilkWorm gudess that frames are delivered to a destinatithdrsame order as received by the switch
from the originator.

- Cutthrough frame routing. Frames are sent withoutingifor the entire frame or for a response backifits destination, thereby improvi
bandwidth utilization and minimizing transmissioslaiys.

- Cascading. SilkWorm may be connected to as mémr GilkWorm switches as there are available poeating in a meshed topology,
enabling hundreds of connections and large SANSs.

- Flexible switch buffering. If the destinationbisisy, data frames are stored by a SilkWorm swibclohly as long as is necessary, thereby
moving data faster through the switch.

- Path selection. SilkWorm identifies failures autdically and immediately, and reroutes data teradite paths, creating a highly resilient
network.

- Registered state change notification. SilkWorrnomatically detects changes in configuration and gtatus to enable quick corrective
action.



- Quickloop software. Software that emulates a lenpironment with the benefits of switching.
- Translative mode. Software that allows the inigmng of loop and fabric devices on the same SAN.

- Media independent. SilkWorm enables the SAN fgpsut diverse media, including fiber optic conners up to 10 kilometers and copper
connections.

- Auto-configuration. SilkWorm enhances scalability automatically expanding the SAN as new devaresadded or removed without
interrupting the operation of the rest of the netw&ilkWorm seamlessly incorporates more Brocawéches into the network, thereby
increasing aggregate bandwidth as connectivityeimees; network services automatically expand withdditional system resources.

Brocade Fabric Operating System

The SilkWorm family of switches is supported by Bmcade Fabric Operating System. The Brocade E&perating System provides the
intelligence for the Brocade Fabric, provides sagsifor the switch hardware, runs the value-addeddsdle Fabric services such as name
service, which is used to assist discovery of cotatedevices, monitors the status of the hardwadefabric and notifies the host operating
system as devices are added to or removed frofrheade Fabric.

The Brocade Fabric Operating System provides a acamptatform upon which system services can be .bliile Brocade Fabric Operating
System is layered with well-defined applicatioreifiaces, or APIs, that allow third parties, sucldats storage and data backup software
vendors, to write applications that leverage Bretaéabric Operating System. By incorporating Afhnology, these third party vendors
develop applications, thereby increasing the cditiabiof the overall switch fabric solution.

Fabric Services

Fabric services are product features that incrdas@unctionality of the SAN. Our current BrocadabFic Services include zoning and
multicasting.

Brocade Zoning is an aduh software product that allows the creation oftipld logical connectivity groups within a singl&S. By creatinc

a zone, the SAN provides the network with bengffitsg would otherwise only be possible using mudtiBlANs. Through zoning, systems that
have different operating environments, such as Ul Window NT, can be isolated from each othewahlg both operating systems to co-
exist on a single SAN. Zoning can be used to crieatetional areas in the fabric and designate daser groups for greater security and
control. Also, zoning facilitates time-sensitivenfitions, such as creating a temporary zone uskddkup storage devices that are members o
other zones. Brocade Zoning offers dynamic conéiian and an unlimited number of zones. Finallyodde Zoning allows devices to be a
member of more than one zone thereby increasinidility.

Brocade Multicasting enables up to 32 groups ofasvto replicate data in a one-to-one method ardne-to-many method. By
accomplishing this replication through hardwaregdde is able to maintain high throughput.

SOLUTIONware

Brocade's SOLUTIONware is a set of application sttt facilitates the implementation of SAN salas incorporating products and
applications from multiple vendors, including Brdea These applications notes include specific Beitatluding equipment requirements,
software specifics, detailed installation instrans and tested application software. This enabig&al equipment manufacturers and system
integrators to replicate high performance solutidhle have delivered over 15 SOLUTIONware appligatiotes covering Brocade Tape
Backup and Restore, storage consolidation and essicontinuance applications for heterogeneousamaents.
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Management Tools

Brocade Web Tools is an adasoftware product that helps to remotely managald of our SilkWorm family of switches via the érhet ol
intranet. The information technology administratan log onto a switch from a host with a java-basksh browser. From that switch, the
administrator can monitor the status and performari@ny switch in the SAN.

SALES AND MARKETING

Our sales and marketing strategy is focused ondirect sales model executed through original egeipt manufacturers and system
integrators. Our distribution channels are suppbibiea sales and marketing organization compri¢edamagers, sales representatives and
technical and administrative support personnel. @arketing effort is focused on developing stratg@irtnerships and relationships with
industry analysts, providing customer sales suppasihaging new product planning and supportingstrgistandard initiatives.

Original equipment manufacturers. We have estaddiftey relationships with storage systems and seriginal equipment manufacturers.
Each original equipment manufacturer provides it&tan, service and technical support to its costos while we focus on high-level back-
up support. In addition to maintaining and enhag@ar relationships with our existing original ggmient manufacturer customers, we intend
to pursue relationships with additional originaugmnent manufacturers that may offer products strithution channels that complement
ours. We believe that these relationships allowousverage the systems and services capabilitiearaoriginal equipment manufacturers.

System integrators. We continue to develop ouresyshtegrator program and have established sersdegionships within this channel.
Revenues from this channel have grown in exced9%f in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999 and weéwa revenues from this channel may
continue to increase significantly in the futurack system integrator provides installation, seraod technical support to its customers,
while we focus on integration and technical backsupport. We intend to continue to develop relafops with system integrators who may
offer products or distribution channels that commpat ours.

We have entered into relationships with internatlatistributors and integrators and plan to expaundinternational sales activities
significantly. In fiscal 2000, we intend to focus expanding our international sales activities iasférn Europe and Japan.

CUSTOMERS

Our primary customers are original equipment mactufars and system integrators. Currently, our majiginal equipment manufacturer
customers include Amdhal, Compaq Computer, CNTa@neral (a division of EMC Corporation), Dell Gmuter, IBM, Groupe Bull,
McDATA Corporation (a division of EMC CorporatiofJEC, Network Appliance, Sequent Computer SysteSf, Fujitsu/Siemens
Computer Systems and StorageTek. Our major systgrators including Advanced Systems Group, Berkshire Computer Products,
Inc., Ciprico, Compsat Technology, Inc., CraneNA&T, DataDirect Networks, Hitachi Data Systems &dm Integrated Systems
Technologies, Inc., Kanatek Technologies Inc., Kimgll Computer Company, LSI Logic's MetaStor(R)r&¢e Solutions, Leitch
Technology, Midrange Computer Solutions, Open 3$gst8olutions, Inc., PCC, RAID Power, Rorke, Stoitg® Technologies, StorNet Inc,
Sysix Technologies, Tokyo Electron Ltd., Unique ifda and XIOtech.

Our revenue is derived primarily from sales of 8ikWorm family of products. In fiscal 1997, McDatad Sequent each contributed over
10% of our total revenues for a combined total4%#%f total revenues. In fiscal 1998, these sanmedustomers each contributed over 10%
of total revenues for a combined total of 83% ddltoevenues. In fiscal 1999, Compagq, Data GenbtelData, and Sequent each accounted
for 10% or more of total revenues for a combinaédltof 70%. The level of sales to any customer may from quarter to quarter. However,
we expect that significant customer concentratidhoontinue for the foreseeable future. The losamy one of these customers, or a decr
in the level of sales to any one of these custoneerdd have a material adverse impact on Brocdithelacial condition or results of
operations.



CUSTOMER SERVICE AND SUPPORT

Our customer service and support organization gess/technical support to our original equipment ufiacturers and system integrators,
enabling them to provide technical support to tleeil-users. We prepare our original equipment naatufer and system integrator
customers for product launch through a comprehertsaming program. In addition, we employ systengineers for pre- and post-sales
support and technical support engineers for figjgpsrt. Our original equipment manufacturers arsdesy integrator customers provide
primary technical support.

We have developed an extensive training coursedooriginal equipment manufacturer and systengist®r customers. The curriculum
includes Fibre Channel architecture, SAN implemimeand Brocade product training.

MANUFACTURING

We currently use a third-party contract manufactuselectron, to manufacture our products. Solecineoices Brocade based on prices and
payment terms agreed to by both parties and st ifopurchase orders issued by Brocade. The prieikes into account component costs,
Solectron's manufacturing costs and margin requares Although we use Solectron for final turnkegduct assembly, we maintain key
component expertise internally. We design and agv#le key components of our products, including@sSand software, as well as certain
details in the fabrication and enclosure of oudpiais. In addition, we determine the componentsataincorporated in our products and
select the appropriate suppliers of the components.

Although we use standard parts and componentsufoprmducts where possible, we currently purchasersl key components used in the
manufacture of our products from single or limitmairces. Our principal single source componenisidiecASICs, power supplies and
chassis, and our principal limited source companariude printed circuit boards and GBICs. In &iddi we license certain software from
Wind River Systems, Inc. that is incorporated iotw Brocade Fabric Operating System.

TECHNOLOGY
Fibre Channel

Fibre Channel is an industry-standard, open protiocserver-to-storage and server-to-server cotivigcand data-intensive transfers. Fibre
Channel combines the high-speed 1/O capabilities aiannel technology with the increased functignaf a networking technology to
seamlessly connect and transfer data from one eléwianother.

Fibre Channel was designed for storage systemgsamell suited for SANSs. It offers a single netwddk both server clustering and shared
storage. It accommodates both high throughput eanddtency dependent traffic required for largeckldata transfers and inter-processor
communication messages. We believe the followiragatteristics of Fibre Channel make it more suidbi data-intensive and storage
related applications than either gigabit Ethermea®M, two widely used networking protocols:

- Fibre Channel has an industry standard interoctmage of 1 gigabit per second per port that {eexed to increase to 2 gigabits per second
in 2000 as compared to gigabit Ethernet's, 1 gigahisecond and ATM's 622 megabits per secondispee

- Fibre Channel is designed to transmit large paoinformation and is therefore well-suited étata-intensive applications as compared to
gigabit Ethernet and ATM, which use smaller packets are designed for smaller but more frequera glahsfers;

- Fibre Channel relies more on hardware than seéwlaring data transfers and therefore, is bettiéed to handle the higher speeds and low
latency required during data transfers;

- In addition to supporting networking protocolsliding IP, Fibre Channel also supports I/O stogageocols like SCSI;
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- Unlike gigabit Ethernet and ATM, which can logedoop packets due to congestion, Fibre Channebgespacket flow to ensure delivery;
and

- Fibre Channel relieves each port from the resipditg of station management and instead delegtitasresponsibility to the interconnect
device. Therefore, each Fibre Channel port onlythasanage a single point-to-point connection betwi¢éself and an interconnect device.

SilkWorm Architecture

Brocade is focused on implementing Fibre Chanraeldsirds in the Brocade Fabric. We utilize a layaretiitecture to provide a high
performance, flexible, and extensible solution.sTdichitecture is comprised of media interfacesyitching platform, the Brocade Fabric
Operating System and value-added services.

- Media interfaces. Media interfaces comprise tveeist layer of our architecture. Fibre Channeldatis specify numerous media interfaces.
The SilkWorm architecture supports removable gigedyper interfaces up to 13 meters, short wavéelager interfaces up to 500 meters
and long wavelength laser interfaces up to 10 kiltars. Removable media interfaces provide flexiioteluct configurations and simple
product maintenance.

- Switching platform. Our SilkWorm products are &d®n a central memory time multiplexed switchingh#éecture. The architecture is
implemented through the use of highly integrated@sS The use of ASIC technology is required to pteuvthe high bandwidth and low
latency necessary for Fibre Channel switching terd@ both high throughput and low latency dasssfer. The switching architecture is non-
blocking and utilizes cut through routing technigjte achieve low latency. The data path of theitgcture is completely implemented in
hardware and the CPU and operating system aranio¢ idata path.

- Brocade Fabric Operating System. The architeaifitbe Brocade Fabric Operating System is higtdycsured, modular, hardware
independent and layered with well-defined interfadehis extensible architecture is easy to mairdaih upgrade with new features. The base
operating system is a UNIX-like realtime operataygtem with extensive libraries and services. Blyerss of the Brocade Fabric Operating
System include hardware drivers, a board level stgackage, a Fibre Channel layer, services aplicapion program interfaces.

- Value added services. Value-added services cemfine top layer of our architecture. Brocade vallged services include Brocade Zon
and multicasting. The Brocade value-added servige®n top of the Brocade Fabric Operating Systaough well-defined application
program interfaces.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We believe that our future success depends onlmlittydo continue to enhance our existing produantsl to develop new products that
maintain technological competitiveness. We focuspraduct development activities on solving thedseef SAN users. We work closely
with our original equipment manufacturers and sysitgtegrators to monitor changes in the marketepl&¢e design our products around
current industry standards and will continue topgupemerging standards that are consistent wittpmduct strategy. During fiscal 1997,
1998 and 1999 our research and development expemrsess7.7 million, $14.7 million and $15.3 milliorespectively.

Our products have been designed around a coramsysthitecture, which facilitates a relatively styanoduct design and development cycle
and reduces the time to market for new productseaires. We intend to continue to leverage ochitacture to develop and introduce
additional products and enhancements in the future.

COMPETITION

Although the competitive environment in the Fibiea@nel switching market has yet to develop fullg, anticipate that the current and
potential market for our products will be highlynepetitive, continually
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evolving and subject to rapid technological cham¢mw SAN products are being introduced by majoveseand storage providers, and
existing products will be continually enhanced. @erently face competition from other manufactur@SAN switches, including Ancor
Communications, Inc. We also face competition frmamufacturers of hubs, including Gadzoox Netwoltks, and Vixel Corporation. In
addition, as the market for SAN products growsmay face competition from traditional networkingqeanies and other manufacturers of
networking equipment who may enter the SAN markigt their own switching products. It is also possithat customers could develop and
introduce products competitive with our produckdifigs. We believe the competitive factors in therket segment include product
performance and features, product reliability, @ribility to meet delivery schedules, customeviserand technical support.

Some of our current and potential competitors Hamger operating histories, significantly greasaurces and name recognition, and a
larger installed base of customers than we have fsult, these competitors may have greaterhfiégivith our existing and potential
customers. They also may be able to adopt moresagige pricing policies and devote greater resauic¢he development, promotion and
sale of their products than we can to ours, whiokla/allow them to respond more quickly than we twanew or emerging technologies and
changes in customer requirements. In addition, saino@r current and potential competitors haveaalyeestablished supplier or joint
development relationships with divisions of ourreut or potential customers. These competitors logagble to leverage their existing
relationships to discourage these customers frarchasing additional Brocade products or persuaeim tto replace our products with their
products. Such increased competition may resydtice reductions, lower gross margins and lossuofhearket share. There can be no
assurance that we will have the financial resoyrteehnical expertise or marketing, manufacturdigtribution and support capabilities to
compete successfully in the future. There can ladsno assurance that we will be able to competeesstully against current or future
competitors or that competitive pressures will materially harm our business.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We rely on a combination of patents, copyrightsdémarks, and trade secrets, as well as confitignigreements and other contractual
restrictions with employees and third parties,dtaklish and protect our proprietary rights. Desfiiese precautions, there can be no
assurance that the measures we undertake willdgate to protect our proprietary technology, at they will preclude competitors from
independently developing products with functionatit features similar to our products. There camdassurance that the precautions we
take will prevent misappropriation or infringemeftour technology. We currently have 2 design patand 8 pending patent applications in
the United States, 5 utility applications and 3visimnal applications, with respect to our techiggloHowever, it is possible that patents may
not be issued for these applications. Our issuéehpmmay not adequately protect our technologyfifringement or prevent others from
claiming that our technology infringes that of thparties. Failure to protect our intellectual pdp could materially harm our business. In
addition, our competitors may independently develiofilar or superior technology. It is possiblettliggation may be necessary in the future
to enforce our intellectual property rights, totea our trade secrets or to determine the valwity scope of the proprietary rights of others.
Litigation could result in substantial costs andedsion of our resources and could materially haumbusiness.

We have received, and may receive in the futurg¢c@of claims of infringement of other partiesdprietary rights. Infringement or other
claims could be asserted or prosecuted againstthe ifuture, and it is possible that past or fe@ssertions or prosecutions could harm our
business. Any such claims, with or without merituld be time-consuming, result in costly litigatiand diversion of technical and
management personnel, cause delays in the devetb@ame release of our products, or require us ¥@lde non-infringing technology or
enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Sugtalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may be available on terms acceptable to
us, or at all. For these reasons, infringementdaiould materially harm our business.
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BACKLOG

Brocade's order backlog as of October 31, 1999apasoximately $44 million. Sales of Brocade's pidiare generally made pursuant to
standard purchase orders that are cancelable wisignificant penalties. In addition, purchase osd&re subject to price renegotiations and to
changes in quantities of products and delivery dalas in order to reflect changes in customersiirements and manufacturing availability.
As a result, a portion of backlog at any given timay never be realized by Brocade. Brocade's bssiisecharacterized by short lead time
orders and quick delivery schedules. In additiomcBde's actual shipments depend on the manufiagtcaipacity of Brocade's suppliers and
the availability of products from such suppliers @result of the foregoing factors, Brocade dagsalieve that backlog at any given time is
a meaningful indicator of future sales.

EMPLOYEES

As of October 31, 1999, we had 182 full-time emples. None of our employees are represented byauaibon. We have not experienced
any work stoppages and consider our relations aithremployees to be good.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal administrative, sales and marketadycation, customer support and research and geweltt facilities are located in a single
office building in San Jose, California. We curfgmiccupy approximately 35,000 square feet of effipace in the San Jose facility under the
terms of a lease that expires in November 2000alafe lease office space for sales and marketitdNpshua, New Hampshire.

In December 1999, Brocade entered into an agreetmégdse approximately 210,000 square feet of@ffiaboratory, and administrative
space in San Jose, California for its corporat@fearters. The term of the lease agreement is @éptel, 2000 through August 31, 2010,
and represents a lease commitment of $6.2 millarypar to Brocade. Brocade intends to occupyheesin September 2000 and sub-lease
any excess space.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Brocade's former contract manufacturer filed a agé#inst Brocade, alleging that Brocade is liabtebfeaching certain contracts with the
contract manufacturer. The suit claimed damagesa@ess of $3.0 million plus interest, an unspediimount of consequential and incidental
damages, costs and attorneys' fees. Brocade fiteasa complaint against the contract manufactforerarious credits Brocade claimed on
account with the contract manufacturer. The sug settled in December 1999. The settlement oflittgation did not have a material impact
on Brocade's financial statements.

Brocade is subject to various claims that aristaénnormal course of business. In the opinion afiag@ment, the ultimate disposition of these
claims will not have a material adverse effectlmnfinancial position of Brocade.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
Not Applicable
PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Brocade's common stock has been quoted on the d&&tional Market under the symbol "BRCD" since oitial public offering on May
24, 1999. Prior to this time, there was no publarket for our stock.
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See "ltem 6. -- Selected Financial Data" for thghtand low closing sales prices per share of ommeon stock as reported on the Nasdaq
National Market, for the periods indicate

We currently expect to retain future earningsnif,&or use in the operation and expansion of asiriess and do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. At Oat@ie 1999, there were approximately 292 stockhsldérecord of Brocade's common
stock.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should bedrgaconjunction with our financial statements aathted notes, "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations,"” and other financial information appeaelsewhere in this Annual Report.
The statement of operations data set forth belowedch of the years in the three-year period etgdber 31, 1999 and the balance sheet
data as of October 31, 1998 and 1999 are deriwed, fand qualified by reference to, our auditedrfgial statements appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report. The statement of operationa é@tthe period from inception on August 24, 19®®ctober 31, 1995 and for the year
ended October 31, 1996 and the balance sheetslafeOctober 31, 1995, 1996 and 1997 are derivad frudited financial statements not
included herein.

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

NEt FEVENUES.......ccvveevieeieciieeie s .. $ - $ - $8,482 $24,246 $68,69 2
Cost Of revenues..........ccceeeevneeee e, .- -- 6,682 15,759 33,49 7

GroSS Margin.......ccceeecveeeeeeniieeeenniinnes - - - 1,800 8,487 35,19 5
Operating expenses:

Research and development..............ccceeeeee ... 124 3,091 7,666 14,744 15,26 7

Sales and marketing...........cccceeviiieeeenne - - 152 2,112 5,154 13,28 8

General and administrative....................... e B2 575 1,464 3,813 3,84 9

Amortization of deferred compensation............ .- -- -- 7 1,93 7

Total operating exXpenses.............ccceee.... ... 176 3,818 11,242 23,718 34,34 1

Income (loss) from operations...... ... (176) (3,818) (9,442) (15,231) 85 4
Interest income (expense), net ... 10 (116) (177 120 1,73 7
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes.... ... (166) (3,934) (9,619) (15,111) 2,59 1
Provision for income taxes............cccoeuveee.. - - -- - - 10 6
Net income (I0SS)......cceevvveeeviveeiieeinen. ... $(166) $(3,934) $(9,619) $(15,111) $2,48 5
Basic net income (loss) per share.................. e $ - $(4.75) $(241) $ (2.22) $ 0.1 0
Diluted net income (loss) per share................ e $ - $(4.75) $(2.41) $ (2.22) $ 0.0 5
Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) pe r

Share......cccoovvvviiiiee e - - 828 3,994 6,800 26,09 4
Shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per

Share......cooviiiiiiiiiiec e - - 828 3,994 6,800 51,14 6
Pro forma basic net income (loss) per share

(unaudited)......c.ceeeiiiiiiiiie e, $ (0.42) $ 0.0 6
Pro forma diluted net income (loss) per share

(unaudited)........cccoveeeeieiiiie e, $ (0.42) $ 0.0 5
Shares used in computing pro forma basic net income

(loss) per share (unaudited)..................... 35,830 43,07 4
Shares used in computing pro forma diluted net inco me

(loss) per share (unaudited)..................... 35,830 51,14 6
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BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investments.........ccccooeeeeieeeninnne $1,16

Working capital... e 92

Total asSets........ocovvveveirivereennnns 1,54

Long-term portion of debt and capital lease
obligations..........ccceeveeeeininnen. -

Redeemable convertible preferred stock...... 1,41

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)........ (16

AS OF OCTOBER 31,

© N o

1
6)

1996 1997 1998 1999

(IN THOUSANDS)

$ 700 $18,472 $10,420 $89,305
104 15,334 5,276 79,295
2,605 26,100 21,301 117,280

874 1,954 2,209 42
4613 30,359 35,261 -
(3,957) (13,458) (27,355) 84,206

Note: all references to earnings per share anduheer of common shares have been retroactivelgtessto reflect a tw-for-one stock spli

effected on December 3, 1999.

QUARTERLY DATA:

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31, 1998
Net reVeNUES.........coovvvviviiiiiiiiieeeeeee
Gross margin........... .
Loss from operations..............ccccvvveveennns

NEt I0SS....uuiviiiiiiiiiieeeeee e
Per share amounts:

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31, 1999
Net revenues
Gross margin .
Income (loss) from operations......................
Net income (I0SS)......vvvvveeeeiiereeeeiiniiinnns

Per share amounts:

FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH
QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

. $7,850 $6,420 $4,569 $5,407

3,153 2,748 218 2,368
(1,398) (2,635) (8,221) (2,977)

. $(1,355) $(2,515) $(8,107) $(3,134)

. $(0.26) $(0.40) $(1.23) $(0.43)
. $(0.26) $(0.40) $(1.23) $(0.43)

5140 6,284 6,616 7,284
5140 6,284 6,616 7,284

N/A N/A N/A N/A
N/A N/A N/A N/A

. $8,007 $10,540 $20,051 $30,094

4,686 5103 10,130 15276
(1,846) (877) 1,011 2,566
(1,839) (848) 1,611 3,561

. $(0.21) $(0.08) $ 0.05 $ 0.07
. $(0.21) $(0.08) $ 0.03 $ 0.06

8,698 10,330 35,672 49,672
8,698 10,330 55,014 58,282

N/A N/A  $64.50 $142.50
N/A N/A  $22.63 49.09



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith the selected financial data in Iltem 6listAnnual Report and Brocade's financial
statements and notes thereto in Item 8 of this ameyort.

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This discussion contains forward-looking statemémds relate to future events or our future finahpierformance. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by terminologiych as "may," "will," "should," "expects," "plah8anticipates,"” "believes," "estimates,"
"predicts," "intend,” "potential” or "continue" tine negative of such terms or other comparableitedogy. These statements are only
predictions. Although we believe that the expeotetireflected in the forward-looking statementsraesonable, we cannot guarantee future
results, levels of activity, performance or achiaeats. Our actual results could differ materiattyni those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of various faciaduding the risks outlined under "Risk Factoraalsewhere in this annual report. All
forward-looking statements included in this docutrame based on information available to Brocad¢éherdate hereof. Brocade assumes no

obligation to update any such forward-looking statets.

OVERVIEW

Brocade is a leading provider of switching solusidor Storage Area Networks ("SANs"). We sell o&N\Sswitching solutions through
leading storage systems and server original equipmanufacturers, including Amdhal, Compaq CompuENT, Data General (a division
EMC Corporation), Dell Computer, IBM, Groupe BIMcDATA Corporation (a division of EMC CorporatiomMEC, Network Appliance,
Sequent Computer Systems, SGI, Fujitsu/Siemens GEmfystems and StorageTek and through systegrattes. These original
equipment manufacturers and our system integratstomers combine our switching solutions with ofyetem elements and services for
enterprise data centers.

Our revenue is derived primarily from sales of 8ilkWorm family of products. In fiscal 1997, McDaad Sequent each contributed over
10% of our total revenues for a combined total4%#9f total revenues. In fiscal 1998, these sanmedustomers each contributed over 10%
of total revenues for a combined total of 83% ddltoevenues. In fiscal 1999, Compagq, Data GenbtelData, and Sequent each accounted
for 10% or more of total revenues for a combinddiltof 70%. The level of sales to any customer wey from quarter to quarter. However,
we expect that significant customer concentratidhoontinue for the foreseeable future. The losamy one of these customers, or a decr
in the level of sales to any one of these custoneerdd have a material adverse impact on Brocdithelacial condition or results of
operations.

As noted above, we currently sell a large percentdgur products through several major originalipment manufacturers. The initial
evaluation and product qualification cycle withginial equipment manufacturers typically takes sistelve months and includes technical
evaluation, integration, testing, product laundnping and execution. Our sales strategy alsodesluecruiting system integrators with a
Fortune 500 data center presence and the techiegmlrces to design, implement and support SANslate, substantially all of our sales
have been in the United States. However, we haueleed sales and marketing efforts in Western Eueop Japan.

Revenue is recognized when products are shippedistomers, unless at the time of shipment prodiatms cannot be estimated or
significant support services are required to susfodlg launch the customer's products. As of Oct@de 1999, several of our customers were
implementing SAN solutions, including our produot, their endusers for the first time. In addition, several oasérs were implementing ¢
new SilkWorm 2000 family of products for the fitghe. Given the recent adoption of the SAN model Brocade's solution and because
substantial Brocade services are required to stpip@icustomer's product launches, the revenutetkta shipments to these customers has
been deferred pending successful customer produnthes. The deferred revenue will be recognizeal @rmstomer-byustomer basis as et
customer successfully completes its product lauSahilarly, revenue is deferred for new products thave not
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completed the beta test phase. As of October 39,1%7.7 million of revenue was deferred and caediprincipally of revenue associated
with shipments of our new SilkWorm 2000 family abducts made in the fourth quarter of fiscal 198% expected that this deferred
revenue will be recognized in the first and secgualrters of fiscal year 2000 as customers begimmelshipments of these solutions that
incorporate the Brocade SilkwWorm 2000 family ofguots. We believe that, as the SAN market matthésrevenue deferral method for n
customers may not be necessary.

Between fiscal 1998 and fiscal 1999 our averageseiiing price decreased. We expect continuedmesin our average unit selling price
due to anticipated increases in per customer salese, the impact of competitive pricing presswuaerd new product introductions. Howe
in the near future, we do not anticipate that cosg margins will be affected by declines in averagit selling prices due to anticipated
product cost reductions.

In July 1998, we outsourced our manufacturing dednhajority of our supply chain management openatiéccordingly, a significant
portion of our cost of revenues consists of paysiembur contract manufacturer, Solectron CorporatiVe conduct quality assurance,
manufacturing engineering, documentation contrdl @pairs at our facility in San Jose, California.

Research and development expenses consist priroasblaries and related personnel expenses, fégdgconsultants and outside service
providers, prototyping expenses related to thegiesievelopment, testing and enhancements of ol€#\&nd software and the costs of
computer support services. We believe that continmeestment in research and development is crificaur strategic product and cost-
reduction objectives. As a result, we expect tleegeenses to increase in absolute dollars in thedut

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilyadéries, commissions and related expenses feopeel engaged in marketing, sales and
customer engineering support functions, as wetioss$s associated with promotional and travel expend/e believe that continued
investment in sales and marketing is critical ® sbiccess of our strategy to expand our relatipsshith leading original equipment
manufacturers, to expand our presence in the syistegration channel, and to maintaining our lealdigr position in the SAN market. As a
result, we expect these expenses to increase atuddslollars in the future.

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries and related expenses for execuiiivance and human resources personnel,
recruiting expenses, professional fees and othgocate expenses. We expect general and administeatpenses to increase in absolute
dollars as we add personnel and incur additionstiso@lated to the growth of our business.

In connection with the grant of certain stock optido employees, we recorded deferred compensatti®d07,000 and $5.1 million during
fiscal 1998 and 1999, respectively, representiegdifference between the deemed value of our conmstamk for accounting purposes and
option exercise price of these options at the daggant. Deferred compensation is presented aduaction of stockholders' equity and
amortized ratably over the vesting period of thpliapble options. We amortized $1.9 million of deéel compensation during the year ended
October 31, 1999. We will expense the balance lataler the remainder of the vesting period of tipions. See note 7 to our financial
statements.

As of October 31, 1999, we had operating loss éanwards of approximately $44.0 million for fedematome tax purposes and $14.7 mill
for state tax purposes. The federal net operatisg tarryforwards expire on various dates betw8&0 2nd 2019, and the state net operating
loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2003. Wave provided a full valuation allowance againstdeferred tax assets, consisting
primarily of net operating loss carryforwards, hesmof the uncertainty regarding their realization.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table sets forth certain financiataléor the periods indicated as a percentage af tevenues.

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1997 1998 1999

Net reVeNUES......cocoeeviiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee 100% 100% 100%
CoSt Of rEeVENUES.....covviviiieiiiieeeeieeees 79 65 49
GroSS MargiN...cccoeeevuveeeeiiiiieeeesieeees 21 35 51
Operating expenses:
Research and development.........ccccocceeee. L 90 61 22
Sales and marketing......cccoocevveeviices 25 21 19
General and administrative..........cccceeeeeee. L 17 16 6
Amortization of deferred compensation.......... . ... -- - 3
Total operating expenses.........ccoeeeeeeeeee i 132 98 50
Income (loss) from operations.........cccoeeeeeeeee. L (111) (83) 1
Interest income (expense), Net....cccceeeeeveeeees L 2) 1 3
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes.... ... (113) (62) 4

Provision for income taxes.......cccccoeeeeeeeeeee. L. -- - -

Netincome (10SS)....cccovvveeiiiiiiieiiices (113)% (62)% 4%

Revenues. We shipped our first commercial produtiié second quarter of fiscal 1997, generatingmags of $8.5 million for the year enc
October 31, 1997. Net revenues increased by 183824® million in fiscal 1998 and by 183% to $6&illion in fiscal 1999. The increase
net revenues from fiscal 1997 to fiscal 1998 réflen increase in sales to a significant origigligment manufacturer customer and the
introduction of the SilkWorm Express product. Therease in net revenues from fiscal 1998 to fi$889 was due to increased unit
shipments of our SilkWorm 1000 family of produatsain increasing customer base, an increase intsadeseral significant original
equipment manufacturer customers and increasesl isatlee system integrator channel. Net revenuethéoyear ended October 31, 1999
exclude $7.7 million in deferred revenue associati shipments to new customers and shipmentsiohew SilkWorm 2000 family of
products. In fiscal 1999, revenues from four cugmraccounted for 70% of total net revenues. The lef sales to any customer may vary
from quarter to quarter; however, we expect thgttificant customer concentration will continue foe foreseeable future.

Gross margin. Gross margin increased from $1.8anitbr 21.3% of net revenues in fiscal 1997, tb38illion or 35.0% in fiscal 1998, and

to $35.2 million or 51.2% in fiscal 1999. The inase from fiscal 1997 to fiscal 1998 was due to lbeeenponent and manufacturing costs,
and the allocation of fixed manufacturing costsravgreater revenue base. In addition, beginnirfig@al 1998, gross margins increased as a
result of the decision to outsource all manufaotactivities during the year. The increase in gioargin from fiscal 1998 to fiscal 1999 v
due to lower component and manufacturing costdtamallocation of fixed manufacturing costs overeater revenue base. In addition, for
fiscal 1998, gross margin was adversely affectethbywrite-off of obsolete inventory and the writ-of certain inventory and equipment
related to a change in contract manufacturers.

Research and development expenses. Research aidpieent expenses increased from $7.7 millionseoafi 1997, to $14.7 million in fiscal
1998 and to $15.3 million in fiscal 1999. Thesa@ases reflect significant research and developefémts required to bring the SilkWorm
family of products to the marketplace. The incradadéscal 1998 expenses also reflects restruoguemsts associated with the cancellation of
new product development and simulation projects.
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Sales and marketing expenses. Sales and markefegses increased from $2.1 million in fiscal 19875.2 million in fiscal 1998, and to
$13.3 million in fiscal 1999. The increases reflie hiring of additional sales and marketing persb and increased direct selling expenses
associated with increased revenues.

General and administrative expenses. General anthadrative expenses increased from $1.5 millianfiscal 1997, to $3.8 million for fisc
1998 and fiscal 1999. The increase from fiscal 1t@dfiscal 1998 was primarily due to increasedfstgfand associated expenses necesse
manage and support our increased scale of opesatiistal 1998 expenses were also affected by related to a business restructuring
which totaled $1.2 million, primarily related toetermination of employees. Fiscal 1999 expendtcteosts associated with increased
staffing and other expenses necessary to managsugpadrt our increased scale of operations.

Amortization of deferred compensation. During fist®898 and 1999 we recorded deferred compensati8@y,000 and $5.1 million,
respectively, in connection with stock option geameferred compensation is amortized over vegtergpds of the applicable options,
resulting in amortization expense of $7,000 an® $illion in fiscal 1998 and 1999, respectively.

Interest income, net. Net interest income incredised $120,000 in fiscal year 1998 to $1.7 milliorfiscal 1999 due to interest earned or
funds associated with the closing of our initiabfici offering in May 1999.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have funded our operations to date primarilpdlgh the sale of preferred stock, capital equiprtesgte lines, bank debt and, in May 1¢
we raised $66.0 million in our initial public offag. Our principal sources of liquidity as of Océot81, 1999 consisted of $89.3 million in
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.

During fiscal 1997, cash used in operating actsitivas $7.3 million compared to $11.6 million scél 1998. In fiscal 1999, we generated
$16.5 million in cash from operations. The incremseash used in operations in fiscal 1998 reflduésincreased working capital required to
fund expanding operations and increases in inviErg@nd accounts receivable. The cash providegbsating activities in fiscal 1999

reflects net income of $2.5 million in fiscal 198@mpared to a net loss of $15.1 million in fisc@9®, plus favorable changes in the balances
of operating assets and liabilities.

Net cash provided by investing activities for fist898 was $12.1 million compared to net cash useéalvesting activities of $19.3 million f
fiscal 1997. The period to period change was duialsnt sales of short-term investments duringdist998. Net cash used in investing
activities for fiscal 1999 was $67.1 million comedrto net cash provided by investing activitie$b2.1 million for fiscal 1998. The period
period change was due mainly to the purchasesaof-sgrm investments during fiscal 1999.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $28ibion, $7.3 million and $65.7 million for fiscdl997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.
primary source of cash generated from financindiémal 1997 related to the issuance of redeemainigertible preferred stock and warrants.
For fiscal 1998, the primary source of cash gemmrdtom financing related to the issuance of rexalele convertible preferred stock and
warrants, proceeds from the issuance of notes gyatd borrowings under a credit facility. Duriiigcal 1999, the primary source of cash
generation from financing activities was the sdlemnmon stock in our initial public offering.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalemtsshort-term investment balances and cash fipecated to be generated from future
operations, will be sufficient to meet our capiduirements at least through the next 12 monttigyugh we could be required, or could
elect, to seek additional funding prior to thatdin®ur future capital requirements will depend @anynfactors, including the rate of revenue
growth, the timing and extent of spending to suppooduct development efforts and expansion ofssatel marketing, the timing of
introductions of new products and enhancementsistireg products, and market acceptance of ourystsd There can be no assurances that
additional equity or debt financing, if required]le available on acceptable terms or at all.
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In December 1999, Brocade entered into an agreeimésdse approximately 210,000 square feet of@ffeaboratory, and administrative
space in San Jose, California. The term of theeleagseement is September 1, 2000 through Augug®1, and represents a lease
commitment of $6.2 million per year to Brocade. &de intends to occupy the space in September@@d8ub-lease any excess space. In
conjunction with entering into the lease agreem@rdcade signed an unconditional, irrevocable fatferedit for $6.2 million as security for
the lease. In connection with our occupation o thiilding, Brocade intends to make significanat@rimprovement. Brocade intends to
finance these tenant improvements and the leasenitorant with internally generated funds.

YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE

Impact of the year 2000 computer problem. The 880 computer problem refers to the potential §stesm and processing failures of date-
related data as a result of computer-controlletksys using two digits rather than four to define dpplicable year. For example, computer
programs that have time-sensitive software maygeieze a date represented as "00" as the year H#0€rithan the year 2000. This could
result in a system failure or miscalculations cagslisruptions of operations, including among othérgs, a temporary inability to process
transactions, send invoices, or engage in simdamal business activities.

To date, we have not experienced any year 200@sssith any of our internal systems or our produstsl we do not expect to experience
any in the future. To date, we have not experiermagdyear 2000 issues related to any of our ke fhérty suppliers and customers nor do
we expect to experience any in the future. Cosils@ated with remediating our internal systems wetematerial.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 1998, the AICPA issued Statement oitiBn®98-9, "Modification of SOP 92; Software Revenue Recognition, With Respe
Certain Transactions," ("SOP 98-9"). SOP 98-9 are&dP 97-2 and SOP 98-4 by extending the defefrthkeaapplication of certain
provisions of SOP 97-2 amended by SOP 98-4 thrdigghl years beginning on or before March 15, 199Bother provisions of SOP 98-9
are effective for transactions entered into indig@ars beginning after March 15, 1999. Brocadertwd had significant software sales to date
and management does not expect the adoption ofd8&to have a significant effect on the financiahdition or results of operations.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued Statement No. 133, "Accounting for Daike Instruments and hedging
Activities" ("SFAS 133") which provides a comprebker and consistent standard for the recognitimhraeasurement of derivatives and
hedging activities. The statement is effectiveffecal years commencing after June 15, 2000. Breckds not believe that SFAS 133 will
have a material impact on earnings or financiaddoon.

RISK FACTORS
WE HAVE AN ACCUMULATED DEFICIT OF $26.3 MILLION AND  MAY NOT MAINTAIN PROFITABILITY

We have incurred significant losses since our itioapAs a result, as of October 31, 1999, we hada@umulated deficit of $26.3 million.
Although our revenues have grown in recent quartard we achieved profitability in our third andifth quarters of fiscal 1999, we cannot
be certain that we will be able to sustain thessvir rates or that we will realize sufficient reuves to maintain profitability. We expect to
incur significant product development, sales andketang and administrative expenses and, as atregilwill need to generate significant
revenues to achieve and maintain profitability.

In addition, we have a limited operating historppefefore, we cannot forecast future operating tesased on our historical results. We plan
our operating expenses based in part on futurentevprojections. Our ability to accurately foreaast quarterly revenue is limited for the
reasons discussed below in "-- We Expect Our QuafRevenues and Operating Results to Fluctuate fdumber of Reasons Which Could
Cause Our Stock Price to Fluctuate." Moreover, rnbsur expenses are fixed in the short-term ouiiresd in advance of receipt of
corresponding revenue. As a result, we may nobleeta decrease our spending to
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offset any unexpected shortfall in our revenuethiff were to occur, we would expect to incur digant losses.

WE EXPECT OUR QUARTERLY REVENUES AND OPERATING RESU LTS TO FLUCTUATE FOR A NUMBER OF REASONS
WHICH COULD CAUSE OUR STOCK PRICE TO FLUCTUATE

Our quarterly revenues and operating results havied significantly in the past and are likely try significantly in the future due to a
number of factors, any of which may cause our sfate to fluctuate. The primary factors that méfeet us include the following:

- fluctuations in demand for our SilkWorm family pfoducts and services;

- the timing of customer orders and product impletagons, particularly large orders from and prddomplementations of our original
equipment manufacturer customers;

- our ability to develop, introduce, ship and suppew products and product enhancements;
- announcements and new product introductions Ibyomnpetitors;
- the expected decline in the prices at which wessl our SilkWorm family of products to our custers;

- our ability to obtain sufficient supplies of salelimited sourced components, including appl@matspecific integrated circuits, or ASICs,
gigabit interface converters, or GBICs, and powsgipdies, for our SilkWorm family of products;

- increases in the prices of the components wehaises
- our ability to attain and maintain production wmles and quality levels for our SilkWorm familymbducts;
- the mix of our SilkWorm and SilkWorm Express shiés sold and the mix of distribution channelsugrowhich they are sold;

- increased expenses, particularly in connectidh air strategy to continue to expand our relatipswith key original equipment
manufacturers and system integrators;

- widespread adoption of SANs as an alternativextsting data storage and management systems;
- decisions by end-users to reallocate their infdrom resources to other purposes, including yéao oreparedness; and
- deferrals of customer orders in anticipation efvrproducts, services or product enhancementgdunted by us or our competitors.

Accordingly, you should not rely on the resultsaafy past periods as an indication of our futurdgerance. It is likely that in some future
period, our operating results may be below expiectatof public market analysts or investors. IEthccurs, our stock price may drop.

OUR SUCCESS IS DEPENDENT UPON THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE EMERGING MARKET FOR SANS AND SAN
SWITCHING PRODUCTS

Our SilkWorm family of Fibre Channel switching praxs is used exclusively in storage area netwarkSANs. Accordingly, widespread
adoption of SANs as an integral part of data-intensnterprise computing environments is criticabtir future success. In addition, our
success depends upon market acceptance of our Bidhing solutions as an alternative to the uskuifs or other interconnect devices in
SANs. The markets for SANs and SAN switching prdadinave only recently begun to develop and arallapivolving. Because these
markets are new, it is difficult to predict theotpntial size or future growth rate. In additiodN& are often implemented in connection with
deployment of new storage systems and servers aratevtherefore dependent to some extent on thisem#& otential end-user customers
who have invested substantial resources in théstieg data storage and management systems magfumtant or slow
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to adopt a new approach, like SANs. Our succegsierating revenue in these emerging markets efiedd, among other things, on our
ability to educate potential original equipment mfacturers and system integrator customers, asasgibtential endsers, about the benei
of SANs and SAN switching technology and our apild maintain and enhance our relationships wididileg original equipment
manufacturers and system integrators. In additan products are designed to conform to the Fillran@el interconnect protocol and certain
other industry standards. Some of these standaagiswot be widely adopted, and competing standaadsemerge that will be preferred by
original equipment manufacturers or end-users.

WE CURRENTLY ONLY OFFER OUR SILKWORM PRODUCT FAMILY AND MUST DEVELOP NEW AND ENHANCED
PRODUCTS THAT ACHIEVE WIDESPREAD MARKET ACCEPTANCE

We currently derive substantially all of our revesdrom sales of our SilkWorm family of productse\xpect that revenue from this product
family will continue to account for a substantialrfion of our revenues for the foreseeable futlifeerefore, widespread market acceptance of
these products is critical to our future successa&of our products have been only recently intceduand therefore, the demand and market
acceptance of our products is uncertain. Factatsntiay affect the market acceptance of our prodoctsde market acceptance of SAN
switching products, the performance, price and tmiat of ownership of our products, the availdpiéind price of competing products and
technologies, and the success and development afriginal equipment manufacturers and system nategs. Many of these factors are
beyond our control.

Our future success depends upon our ability toesddthe rapidly changing needs of our customedebgloping and introducing high-
quality, cost-effective products, product enhanaeisiand services on a timely basis and by keepeg piith technological developments
and emerging industry standards. We have new ptdauicches and upgrades to our existing produetsngld for fiscal year 2000. Our futi
revenue growth will be dependent on the succesiseske new product launches. We have in the pastiexged delays in product
development and such delays may occur in the futoraddition, as we introduce new or enhanced yets] we will have to manage
successfully the transition from older productsider to minimize disruption in our customers' g patterns, avoid excessive levels of
older product inventories and ensure that enougpl®s of new products can be delivered to meetastomers' demands. Our failure to
develop and introduce successfully new productspaoduct enhancements, which are not broadly aedeptould reduce our revenues.

WE DEPEND ON A FEW KEY ORIGINAL EQUIPMENT MANUFACTU RER CUSTOMERS AND THE LOSS OF ANY OF
THEM COULD SIGNIFICANTLY REDUCE OUR REVENUES

We depend on a few key original equipment manufacttustomers. For example, in the year ended @ctdh 1999, sales to four custonr
accounted for 70% of our total revenues. We ardteiphat our operating results will continue toetepon sales to a relatively small number
of original equipment manufacturers. Therefore,ltfss of any of our key original equipment manufiaets, or a significant reduction in sales
to these original equipment manufacturers couldi@antly reduce our revenues.

FAILURE TO EXPAND OUR DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS AND MAN AGE OUR DISTRIBUTION RELATIONSHIPS COULD
SIGNIFICANTLY REDUCE OUR REVENUES

Our success will depend on our continuing abilitylevelop and manage relationships with significaiginal equipment manufacturers and
system integrators, as well as on the sales effmdssuccess of these customers. Our customersva@yate our products for up to a year
before they begin to market and sell them and tasgithese customers through the evaluation pratessrequire significant sales and
marketing and management efforts on our part, paatily if we have to qualify our products with rtiple customers at the same time. In
addition, once our products have been qualified agmeements with our customers have no minimurohage commitments. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to expand ouribistion channels, manage our distribution relatigps successfully or that our customers
will market our products effectively. Our failure tnanage successfully our distribution relationshupthe failure of our customers to sell our
products could reduce our revenues.
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THE LOSS OF SOLECTRON CORPORATION, OUR SOLE MANUFRAGRER, OR THE FAILURE TO FORECAST ACCURATELY
DEMAND FOR OUR PRODUCTS OR MANAGE SUCCESSFULLY OUWHELATIONSHIP WITH SOLECTRON, WOULD
NEGATIVELY IMPACT OUR ABILITY TO MANUFACTURE AND SH.L OUR PRODUCTS

Solectron, a third party manufacturer for numercusmpanies, manufactures all of our products adlitgitas, California facility on a purcha
order basis. We have entered into a three-year faetowming agreement with Solectron under which wevjgle to Solectron a twelve-month
product forecast and place purchase orders wittcBoh sixty calendar days in advance of the sdeddielivery of products to our
customers. Accordingly, if we inaccurately forec@sinand for our products, we may be unable to oladequate manufacturing capacity
from Solectron to meet our customers' delivery inegpients or we may accumulate excess inventories.

We plan to regularly introduce new products andlpob enhancements, which will require that we coig our efforts with those of our
suppliers and Solectron to rapidly achieve volumgapction. While we have not, to date, experieragoply problems with Solectron, we
have experienced delays in product deliveries fom of our former contract manufacturers. If weudtidail to effectively manage our
relationships with our suppliers and Solectronf @olectron experiences delays, disruptions, ciéypaonstraints or quality control problems
in its manufacturing operations, our ability topsproducts to our customers could be delayed andaupetitive position and reputation
could be harmed. Qualifying a new contract manuf&ctand commencing volume production is expenahgtime consuming. If we are
required or choose to change contract manufactusersnay lose revenue and damage our customeioredaips.

WE ARE DEPENDENT ON SOLE SOURCE AND LIMITED SOURCE SUPPLIERS FOR CERTAIN KEY COMPONENTS
INCLUDING ASICS AND POWER SUPPLIES

We currently purchase several key components fiogiesor limited sources. We purchase ASICs andgyaupplies from single sources,
and printed circuit boards and GBICs from limitedies. In addition, we license certain softwagg th incorporated into our Brocade Fal
Operating System from Wind River Systems, Inc. éfave unable to buy these components on a timelg,bae will not be able to
manufacture our products. We use a rolling six-thdatecast based on anticipated product ordergt@rghine our component requirements.
If we overestimate our component requirements, &g have excess inventory, which would increasecosats. If we underestimate our
component requirements, we may have inadequatetionye which could interrupt our manufacturing.dddition, lead times for materials ¢
components we order vary significantly and depeméhators such as the specific supplier, conterwh$ and demand for a component at a
given time. We also may experience shortages ¢thicecomponents from time to time, which also cadgthy our manufacturing.

THE COMPETITION IN OUR MARKETS MAY LEAD TO REDUCED SALES OF OUR PRODUCTS, REDUCED PROFITS AND
REDUCED MARKET SHARE

The markets for our SAN switching products are cetitipe, and are likely to become even more contipetiincreased competition could
result in pricing pressures, reduced sales, redoadins, reduced profits, reduced market shatbeofailure of our products to achieve or
maintain market acceptance. Our products face cttigmefrom multiple sources. Some of our compestand potential competitors have
longer operating histories, greater name recognitigcess to larger customer bases, or substgrgiathter resources than we have. As a
result, they may be able to respond more quickdy tive can to new or changing opportunities, teagies, standards or customer
requirements. For all of the foregoing reasonsivag not be able to compete successfully againstwuent and future competitors.

THE PRICES OF OUR PRODUCTS ARE DECLINING WHICH COUL D REDUCE OUR REVENUES AND GROSS MARGINS

The average unit price of our products continuedetorease in fiscal 1999. We anticipate that thezaaye unit price of our products may
continue to decrease in the future in responséaoges in product mix, competitive pricing pressynecreased sales discounts, new product
introductions by us or our
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competitors or other factors. If we are unablefteat these factors by increasing our sales volumeasrevenues will decline. In addition, to
maintain our gross margins, we must develop anddote new products and product enhancements, amdust continue to reduce the
manufacturing cost of our products.

UNDETECTED SOFTWARE OR HARDWARE ERRORS COULD INCREA SE OUR COSTS AND REDUCE OUR REVENUES

Networking products frequently contain undetecteftvgare or hardware errors when first introduced®new versions are released.
products are complex and errors may be found fiora to time in our new or enhanced products. Intadd our products are combined with
products from other vendors. As a result, when lgrab occur, it may be difficult to identify the goa of the problem. These problems may
cause us to incur significant warranty and repasts, divert the attention of our engineering pengb from our product development efforts
and cause significant customer relations probléfnmseover, the occurrence of hardware and softwams whether caused by our or
another vendor's SAN products, could delay or pretlee development of the SAN market.

IF WE LOSE KEY PERSONNEL OR ARE UNABLE TO HIRE ADDI TIONAL QUALIFIED PERSONNEL, WE MAY NOT BE
SUCCESSFUL

Our success depends to a significant degree ugocotitinued contributions of our key managemerdgirerering and sales and marketing
personnel, many of whom would be difficult to reqdaln particular, we believe that our future ssscis highly dependent on Gregory L.
Reyes, our President and Chief Executive Officenniér Malavalli, our Vice President, Technology &walil R. Bonderson, Jr., our Vice
President, Engineering. We do not have employmemiracts with, or key person life insurance on, ahgur key personnel. We also believe
that our success depends to a significant extetit@ability of our management to operate effetyivieoth individually and as a group. In
April 1999, we hired a new Chief Financial Officand certain other members of our management teatnding Mr. Reyes, have only
recently joined us.

We believe our future success will also depenaiigd part upon our ability to attract and retaghhi skilled managerial, engineering, sales
and marketing, and finance and operations perso@oahpetition for these personnel is intense, gafigin the San Francisco Bay Area. In
particular, we have experienced difficulty in hgigualified ASIC, software, system and test, arstamer support engineers and there can be
no assurance that we will be successful in attigaind retaining these individuals. The loss ofséneices of any of our key employees, the
inability to attract or retain qualified personinethe future or delays in hiring required persdnparticularly engineers and sales personnel,
could delay the development and introduction of aegatively impact our ability to sell our produdts addition, companies in our industry
whose employees accept positions with competiteguiently claim that their competitors have engageashfair hiring practices. We cannot
assure you that we will not receive such claimthefuture as we seek to hire qualified personnéhat such claims will not result in matetr
litigation. We could incur substantial costs ineteling ourselves against these claims, regardfabgio merits.

WE MUST CONTINUE TO IMPROVE OUR OPERATIONAL SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS TO MANAGE FUTURE GROWTH

We plan to continue to expand our operations sicanitly to pursue existing and potential marketarpymities. This growth places a
significant demand on our management and our dpaediresources. In order to manage growth effebtiwwe must implement and improve
our operational systems, procedures and controsstonely basis.

WE PLAN TO INCREASE OUR INTERNATIONAL SALES ACTIVIT IES SIGNIFICANTLY, WHICH WILL SUBJECT US TO
ADDITIONAL BUSINESS RISKS

We plan to expand our international sales actiwisignificantly. In fiscal 2000, we intend to foous expanding our international sales
activities in Western Europe and Japan. Our internal sales growth in these countries will be tediif we are unable to establish
relationships with international distributors, dsish additional foreign operations, expand intéioral sales channel management, hire
additional personnel and develop relationships witbrnational service providers. Even if we aredb successfully
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expand international operations, we cannot be icetttat we will be able to maintain or increaseeinfitional market demand for our produ
Our international operations, including our saletivéties in Western Europe and Japan, are subgjegtnumber of risks, including:

- supporting multiple languages;

- recruiting sales and technical support persowitél the skills to support our products;
- increased complexity and costs of managing irtissnal operations;

- protectionist laws and business practices thairfiocal competition;

- dependence on local vendors;

- multiple, conflicting and changing governmentakt and regulations;

- longer sales cycles;

- difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

- reduced or limited protections of intellectuabperty rights; and

- political and economic instability.

To date, none of our international revenues antsdws/e been denominated in foreign currencies Assult, an increase in the value of the
U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies couldkmaur products more expensive and thus less caimpeh foreign markets. A portion of
our international revenues may be denominatedr&ida currencies in the future, including the Ewrbjch will subject us to risks associated
with fluctuations in those foreign currencies.

WE MAY BE UNABLE TO PROTECT OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPER TY WHICH WOULD NEGATIVELY AFFECT OUR
ABILITY TO COMPETE

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, éacrk and trade secret laws and restrictions aradigre to protect our intellectual prope
rights. We also enter into confidentiality or lisenagreements with our employees, consultants@pomte partners, and control access to
and distribution of our software, documentation attter proprietary information. Despite our effadsprotect our proprietary rights,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or othexwbtain and use our products or technology. Mdniy unauthorized use of our products
is difficult, and we cannot be certain that thepstere have taken will prevent unauthorized useuot@chnology, particularly in foreign
countries where the laws may not protect our petary rights as fully as in the United States. '‘Besiness -- Intellectual Property."

OTHERS MAY BRING INFRINGEMENT CLAIMS AGAINST US WHI CH COULD BE TIME-CONSUMING AND EXPENSIVE
TO DEFEND

In recent years, there has been significant litigaih the United States involving patents and othiellectual property rights. We were
previously the subject of a lawsuit alleging inf@ment of intellectual property rights. Althouglstlispute was resolved and the lawsuit
dismissed, and we are not currently involved in atiner intellectual property litigation, we may &@arty to litigation in the future to protect
our intellectual property or as a result of angsia infringement of others' intellectual propeffiiiese claims and any resulting lawsuit could
subject us to significant liability for damages andalidation of our proprietary rights. These laits, regardless of their success, would lil
be time-consuming and expensive to resolve anddwivert management time and attention. Any po&tiitellectual property litigation
also could force us to do one or more of the follamy

- stop selling, incorporating or using our produmtservices that use the challenged intellectr@berty;
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- obtain from the owner of the infringed intelleatyroperty right a license to make, use, sell,drhpnd/or export the relevant technology,
which license may not be available on reasonabtegeor at all; and

- redesign those products or services that usetsgbinology.

If we are forced to take any of the foregoing atdiove may be unable to manufacture, use, selbrigmd/or export our products, which
would reduce our revenues.

WE MAY ENGAGE IN FUTURE ACQUISITIONS THAT DILUTE OU R STOCKHOLDERS AND CAUSE US TO INCUR DEBT
OR ASSUME CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As part of our strategy, we expect to review opaittes to buy other businesses or technologigsabald complement our current products,
expand the breadth of our markets or enhance ohnigal capabilities, or that may otherwise offeswgth opportunities. While we have no
current agreements or negotiations underway, webugybusinesses, products or technologies in theduln the event of any future
purchases, we could:

- issue stock that would dilute our current stodbs' percentage ownership;

- incur debt; or

- assume liabilities.

These purchases also involve numerous risks, imgdud

- problems combining the purchased operationsntaolies or products;

- unanticipated costs;

- diversion of management's attention from our dreiness;

- adverse effects on existing business relatiosshith suppliers and customers;

- risks associated with entering markets in whiehhave no or limited prior experience; and
- potential loss of key employees of purchased rirgdions.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to swefabg integrate any businesses, products, teclyiedoor personnel that we might purchase
in the future.

YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE

Impact of the year 2000 computer problem. The 2880 computer problem refers to the potential §stesm and processing failures of date-
related data as a result of computer-controlletksys using two digits rather than four to define dpplicable year. For example, computer
programs that have time-sensitive software maygeieze a date represented as "00" as the year H#0€rithan the year 2000. This could
result in a system failure or miscalculations cagslisruptions of operations, including among othérgs, a temporary inability to process
transactions, send invoices, or engage in simdamal business activities.

To date, we have not experienced any year 200@sssith any of our internal systems or our produstsl we do not expect to experience
any in the future. To date, we have not experiermagdyear 2000 issues related to any of our ke fhérty suppliers and customers nor do
we expect to experience any in the future. Costs@ated with remediating our internal systems vwetematerial.

OUR PRODUCTS MUST COMPLY WITH EVOLVING INDUSTRY STA NDARDS AND GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS

The market for SAN products is characterized byrtbed to support industry standards as they emevgbse and achieve acceptance. To
remain competitive, we must continue to introduew products and product enhancements that meet itheisstry standards. All compone
of the SAN must utilize the same standards in ord@perate together. Our products comprise omgraof the entire SAN and we depenc
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the companies that provide other components oB#id, many of whom are significantly larger than ae, to support the industry standards
as they evolve. The failure of these providersuigpert these industry standards could adversegcathe market acceptance of our products.
In addition, in the United States, our products neasnply with various regulations and standardsngeff by the Federal Communications
Commission and Underwriters Laboratories. Inteowally, products that we develop will also be regdito comply with standards
established by authorities in various countriesiuFato comply with existing or evolving industsyandards or to obtain timely domestic or
foreign regulatory approvals or certificates comdterially harm our business.

PROVISIONS IN OUR CHARTER DOCUMENTS, CUSTOMER AGREENTS AND DELAWARE LAW COULD PREVENT OR
DELAY A CHANGE IN CONTROL OF BROCADE AND MAY REDUCHHE MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation amdaws may discourage, delay or prevent a mergacquisition that a stockholder may
consider favorable. These provisions include:

- authorizing the issuance of preferred stock withgiockholder approval;

- providing for a classified board of directorshviitaggered, three-year terms;

- prohibiting cumulative voting in the election difectors;

- requiring super-majority voting to effect certaimendments to our certificate of incorporation byéws;
- limiting the persons who may call special meetinfjstockholders; and

- prohibiting stockholder actions by written contsen

Certain provisions of Delaware law also may diseger, delay or prevent someone from acquiring ogimgrmwith us. Further, our agreeme
with certain of our customers require us to givierpnotice of a change of control of Brocade arahgcertain manufacturing rights following
the change of control.

WE EXPECT TO EXPERIENCE VOLATILITY IN OUR STOCK PRI CE WHICH COULD NEGATIVELY AFFECT YOUR
INVESTMENT

The market price of our common stock may fluctisagmificantly in response to the following factossme of which are beyond our control:
- actual or anticipated fluctuations in our opergtiesults;

- changes in financial estimates by securitiesyats|

- changes in market valuations of other technologypanies;

- announcements by us or our competitors of sicgnifi technical innovations, contracts, acquisitistr&tegic partnerships, joint ventures or
capital commitments;

- losses of major original equipment manufacturesteamers;
- additions or departures of key personnel; and
- sales of common stock in the future.

In addition, the stock market has experienced méreolatility that often has been unrelated togbgormance of particular companies. Tt
market fluctuations may cause our stock price laégardless of our performance.

OUR BUSINESS MAY BE HARMED BY CLASS ACTION LITIGATI ON DUE TO STOCK PRICE VOLATILITY

In the past, securities class action litigatiorenfhas been brought against a company followingpg@geof volatility in the market price of its
securities. We may in the future be the targeiraflar litigation. Securities litigation could reléin substantial costs and divert management's
attention and resources.
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WE MAY BE UNABLE TO MEET OUR FUTURE CAPITAL REQUIRE MENTS WHICH WOULD LIMIT OUR ABILITY TO
GROW

We believe that the net proceeds of this offeringether with our existing cash balances, creditifees and cash flow expected to be
generated from future operations, will be suffitiEnmeet our capital requirements at least thrabgmext 12 months. However, we may
need, or could elect, to seek additional fundirigrgo that time. In the event we need to raisatathl funds we may not be able to do so on
favorable terms, if at all. Further, if we issueiigy securities, stockholders may experience aolditi dilution or the new equity securities n
have rights, preferences or privileges senior éséhof existing holders of common stock. If we admaise funds on acceptable terms, we
may not be able to develop or enhance our prodiaits,advantage of future opportunities or resgormbmpetitive pressures or unanticipi
requirements.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE AB  OUT MARKET RISK

Our interest income is sensitive to changes irgreeral level of U.S. interest rates, particularhce the majority of our investments are in
short-term instruments. Due to the nature of oortsterm investments, we have concluded that tleene material market risk exposure.
Therefore, no quantitative tabular disclosuresraggired.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Bdec&ommunications Systems, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying balance she8&ohde Communications Systems, Inc. (a Delawamgocation) as of October 31, 1999
and 1998 and the related statements of operatiedesemable convertible preferred stock and stodensl equity (deficit) and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Ocihel999. These financial statements and the séheeferred to below are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Oyarsibility is to express an opinion on these fiahstatements and schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with geneaaltepted auditing standards. Those standardsedhat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethenthedial statements are free of material misstatema@naudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digeesn the financial statements. An audit alsoudek assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managememtell as evaluating the overall financial statetpeesentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc. as of October 31, H9@91998 and the results of its operations anthih flows for each of the three yeal
the period ended October 31, 1999 in conformithwieénerally accepted accounting principles.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming aniop on the basic financial statements takenab@le. The schedule listed in Item 14(a)
(2) is presented for purposes of complying with Seeurities and Exchange Commissions rules andaineart of the basic financial
statements. This schedule has been subjected &uthing procedures applied in the audit of theidbfinancial statements and, in our
opinion, fairly states in all material respects financial data required to be set forth thereinelation to the basic financial statements taken
as a whole.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

San Jose, California
November 24, 199
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments...............ccccvveees

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-ter
iNVestmMents..........ccceeeeviiieenn.
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtfu
accounts of $285 and $2,447, respectively......
INVENTONIES......eviei e
Prepaid expenses and other current assets........

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net....
Other assets........ccccoeveieeiiniiiieeeeiien.

Total assets........cceevvvevcivvvinennns

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable..........cccccccveveniennnnnn.
Accrued employee compensation....................
Other accrued liabilities........................
Deferred revenue...........coccceeevvveeeennns
Current portion of capital lease obligations.....
Current portion of debt.............cccceeee
Borrowings under line of credit

Total current liabilities.................

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations...
Long-term portion of debt........................
Commitments and contingencies (Note 4)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, no par valu
Authorized -- 9,791,280 and no shares at Octobe
1998 and 1999, respectively.
Issued and outstanding (Series A, B, C and
D) -- 9,235,483 shares at October 31, 1998; no
at October 31, 1999........cccccovvveeeennns

Warrants to purchase redeemable convertible prefe

Total long-term liabilities...............

Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Common stock, $.001 par value:

Authorized -- 200,000,000 shares at October 31,
Issued and outstanding -- 10,389,530 shares at
31, 1998 and 53,520,040 shares at October 31,

Additional paid-in capital..............ccceeeeen.

Deferred stock compensation...............c.c.....

Notes receivable from stockholders.................

Accumulated defiCit..........cccovevriineeeinnns

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)......

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
(deficit)...veveniiiiiiiiiee

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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OCTOBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT
SHARE DATA)

......... $10,420 $25,536

......... - 63,769

m

......... 10,420 89,305
|

......... 3,430 17,139
......... 1,744 3,686
......... 220 2,197
......... 15,814 112,327
......... 5,323 4,947
......... 164 6
......... $21,301 $117,280
......... $ 3,247 $10,664
......... 628 4,414
......... 2,433 9,830
......... 543 7,688
......... 784 436
......... 1,231 -
......... 1,672 -
......... 10,538 33,032
......... 478 42
......... 1,731 -

e:

r31,

shares

......... 35,261 -
rred

......... 648 -
......... 38,118 42
1999

October

1999..... 10 53

......... $21,301 $117,280




BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net revenues.........ccceevveeeveviiieiiiiiinn,
Cost of revenues

GroSS Margin........ooccveeeeeenvieeeennnnns

Operating expenses:
Research and development.............ccceeeee..
Sales and marketing..............

General and administrative
Amortization of deferred compensation

Total operating expenses.............c........

Income (loss) from operations......................
Interest income (expense), Net.......ccccceeenn.

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes....
Provision for income taxes

Net income (I0SS).......cccvveeeeiiiiieeeiiinenn.
Basic net income (loss) per share..................
Diluted net income (loss) per share

Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) pe

Pro forma basic net income (loss) per share (unaudi
Pro forma diluted net income (loss) per share (unau

Shares used in computing pro forma basic net income
per share (unaudited)

Shares used in computing pro forma diluted net inco
per share (unaudited)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1997 1998 1999

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
......... $ 8,482 $ 24,246 $68,692
......... 6,682 15,759 33,497

......... 1,800 8,487 35,195

......... 7,666 14,744 15,267

......... 2,112 5,154 13,288
......... 1,464 3,813 3,849
......... -- 7 1,937

......... 11,242 23,718 34,341

......... (9,442)  (15,231) 854
......... (177) 120 1,737

......... (9,619)  (15,111) 2,591
......... - 106

......... $(9,619)  $(15,111) $2,485

......... $(241) $ (222) $0.10

......... $(241) $ (222) $0.05

r
......... 3,994 6,800 26,094
per

......... 3,994 6,800 51,146
ted)..... $ (0.42) $ 0.06
dited)... $ (0.42) $ 0.05
(loss)

......... 35,830 43,074
me (loss)

......... 35,830 51,146
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOC K AND
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

REDEEMABLE C ONVERTIBLE COMMON
PREFERRED STOCK STOCK ADDITIONAL WAR RANTS DEFERRED
--------------- PAID-IN  FOR COMMON STOCK
SHARES AMOUN T WARRANTS SHARES AMOUNT CAPITAL ST OCK  COMPENSATION
(IN THOUSANDS)
Balances at October 31, 1996...... 2,241 $ 4,6 13 $188 89838 $9 $ 255 % - $ (121)
Exercise of options............... - - - 768 1 89 - -
Issuance of stock for notes
receivable from stockholders.... - - - 500 -- 75 - -
Repurchase of common stock........ - - - (430) -- 5) - -

Issuance of Series C Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock, net

of issuance costs of $49........ 3,333 9,9 52 -- - - - - -
Issuance of Series D Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock, net

of issuance costs of $42........ 2,796 15,7 94 - - - - - -
Issuance of warrants related to

leases and notes payable........ - - 135 [ — - - -
Issuance of warrants - - 325 — - - - -
Balances at October 31, 1997...... 8,370 30,3 59 648 9,826 10 414 - (88)
Exercise of options............... - - - 402 - 55 - -
Compensation charges - - - - - 1,067 - 88
Deferred compensation - - - - - 307 - (307)

Amortization of deferred

compensation.................... - - - - - - - 7
Issuance of Series D Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock, net

of issuance costs of $98........ 865 4,9 02 - - - - - -
Issuance of stock for notes

receivable from stockholders.... - - - 450 - 375 - -
Stock in exchange for services.... - - - 36 - 41 - -
Repurchase of common stock........ - - - (324) -- (44) - -
Net [0SS.....cccvvveeviiieenen. -- -- -- - - -- - -
Balances at October 31, 1998...... 9,235 35,2 61 648 10,390 10 2,215 - (300)

Issuance of Series D Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock,

(015 OO 299 2.3 22 (326) - - - - -
Conversion of Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock to

common stock . (9,534) (37,5 83) (322) 29,250 29 37,554 322 -
Issuance of common stock.......... -- - - 8,920 8 67,977 - -
Issuance of stock for notes

receivable from stockholders.... - - - 4,704 5 6,407 - -
Repayments on notes receivable

from stockholders............... - - - - - - - -
Exercise of warrants for common

SLOCK. .o - - - 568 1 381 ( 322) -
Compensation charges.............. - - - - - 80 - -
Deferred compensation............. - - - - - 5,077 - (5,077)
Amortization of deferred

compensation.................... - - - - - - - 1,937
Repurchase of common stock........ - - - (312) -- (93) - -
Netincome........c.cecvevennnne - - - - - - - -
Balances at October 31, 1999...... - $ - $ -~ 53520 $53 $119,598 $ - $(3,440)

NOTES TOTAL
RECEIVABLE STOCKHOLDERS
FROM ACCUMULATED  EQUITY
STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT (DEFICIT)
( N THOUSANDS)
Balances at October 31, 1996...... $ - $(4,100) $(3,957)
Exercise of options............... - - 90

Issuance of stock for notes

receivable from stockholders.... (75) - -
Repurchase of common stock........ -- - (5)
Issuance of Series C Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock, net

of issuance costs of $49........ - - -
Issuance of Series D Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock, net

of issuance costs of $42........ - - -
Issuance of warrants related to

leases and notes payable........ - - -



Issuance of warrants.... - - -
- - 33

Deferred compensation...

Net [0SS.....cccvvveeviireennen. - (9,619) (9,619)
Balances at October 31, 1997...... (75) (13,719) (13,458)
Exercise of options............... - - 55
Compensation charges - - 1,155

Deferred compensation............. - - -
Amortization of deferred

compensation.................... - - 7
Issuance of Series D Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock, net

of issuance costs of $98........ - - -
Issuance of stock for notes

receivable from stockholders.... (375) - -
Stock in exchange for services.... - - 41
Repurchase of common stock........ -- - (44)
Net l0SS.....cccouveeriiienninn. - (15,111) (15,111)
Balances at October 31, 1998...... (450) (28,830) (27,355)
Issuance of Series D Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock,

(115 USRI - - -
Conversion of Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock to

common StocK.........ccceuenn. - - 37,905
Issuance of common stock.......... - - 67,985
Issuance of stock for notes

receivable from stockholders.... (6,412) - -
Repayments on notes receivable

from stockholders............... 1,202 - 1,202
Exercise of warrants for common

StOCK....eveiiiiiiieies - - 60
Compensation charges - - 80
Deferred compensation - - -
Amortization of deferred

compensation.................... - - 1,937
Repurchase of common stock........ -- - (93)
Net income.......cccoccveenennnen. - 2,485 2,485
Balances at October 31, 1999...... $(5,660) $(26,345)  $ 84,206

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (I0SS)......uuvvveeeeviereeeeiiniiinnns
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net ¢
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization....................
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable.......
Noncash compensation expense.....................
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable....
INVeNtories.......cccceevveveee i
Prepaid expenses and other assets.............
Accounts payable............ccccooiiiienen.
Accrued employee compensation.................
Other accrued liabilities.....................
Deferred revenue...........cocceevrcnenenne

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activitieS........coccveriieniiinens

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment................
Purchases of short-term investments................
Proceeds from disposition of short-term investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities........cocoveviiiniiincns

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible pr
stock and warrants...........cccceeeveiveeeenne

Proceeds from issuance of common stock.............

Exercise of warrants for common stock........ .

Payments received on loans to stockholders.........

Repurchase of common stock.............cccceeeees

Line of credit borrowings.........

Line of credit repayments

Proceeds from capital lease financing..............

Payments on capital lease obligations....

Proceeds from notes payable.................

Repayments of notes payable

Net cash provided by financing activities...

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents..........
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period.....

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period...........

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest............cccceeeennns

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred st
initial public offering..........c..cccoo...

Issuance of stock for notes receivable from
stockholders.......cccccoeeeeiiiiiiciiiinnns

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

32

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1997 1998 1999

(IN THOUSANDS)

........ $(9,619) $(15,111) $ 2,485

ash

........ 1,093 2,374 3,693
........ 100 185 536
........ 33 1,202 2,017
........ (2,746) (969) (14,245)
........ (471) (1,273) (1,942)
........ (140) 205 (1,819)
........ 3,023 (45) 7,417
........ 474 154 3,786
........ 693 1,682 7,397
........ 285 9 7,145
........ (7,275) (11,587) 16,470
........ (3,423) (3,775) (3,317)
........ (15,920) - (75,769)
........ - 15,920 12,000
........ (19,343) 12,145 (67,086)
eferred

........ 26,070 4,902 1,996
........ 90 56 67,985
........ - - 60

........ - - 1,202
........ (5) (44) (93)
........ 500 1,672 -
........ - (500) (1,672)
........ 1,258 - -
........ (504) (677) (784)
........ 1,091 2,594 247
........ (30) (693) (3,209)
........ 28,470 7,310 65,732
........ 1,852 7,868 15,116
........ 700 2,552 10,420
........ $ 2,552 $10,420 $ 25,536
........ $ 351 $ 557 $ 359
ock upon

........ $ - $ - $37,905
........ $ 75 $ 375 $ 6412




BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF BROCADE

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (Brocade)im@sporated on August 24, 1995. Effective May 1999, Brocade reincorporated in
the State of Delaware. In connection with the reiporation, Brocade was authorized to issue 5000@0shares of common stock with a par
value of $.001 per share and 5,000,000 sharesd&signated preferred stock with a par value of Bj8r share. On October 5, 1999, the
board of directors approved an increase in theoaizéd shares of common stock to 200,000,000 sh&rdsequent to October 31, 1999,
Brocade effected a two-for-one split of its comnstock. All share and per share information havenbbegoactively adjusted to reflect this
split.

Brocade provides Fibre Channel switching solutimnsleployment in storage area networks ("SANsthdade's SilkwWorm family of Fibre
Channel switches operate at gigabit speeds anteaesavitch interconnect enabling any-to-any cotiviég between storage devices and
servers. Brocade sells its products and servidespily to leading storage system and server oalggguipment manufacturers and system
integrators.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Stateents

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdss#ts and liabilities and disclosure of contingesets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and the reported amountswatues and expenses during the reporting periath Estimates relate to the useful live
fixed assets, allowances for doubtful accountsm@oduct returns, inventory and warranty reservesrged liabilities and other reserves.
Actual results could differ from those estimated anch differences may be material to the finarstatements.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

All highly liquid investment securities with orighhmaturities of three months or less are consileash equivalents, while investment
securities with original maturities of more thaneh months but less than one year are consideogtitehm investments.

Brocade's short-term investments consist of U.8aJuries and Federal Agency debt securities witfinad maturity dates between 90 days
and one year. The carrying value of short-term $twents approximate fair value.

All of Brocade's investments are classified aslatg-for-sale. Unrealized holding gains and lossesreported as a separate component of
other comprehensive income. At October 31, 1996:alized holding gains and losses were not matdRedlized gains and losses are
included in interest income in the statement ofrafiens. The cost of securities sold is based ersfecific identification method.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject Brde to concentrations of credit risk consist pritpaf cash equivalents and short-term
investments and accounts receivable. Brocade imegdy in high credit quality short-term debt instrents and limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one entity. A majority of Brocadegsle receivable balance is derived from salesigpnal equipment manufacturers in the
computer storage and server industry. At Octobed 898 approximately 76% of accounts receivable saaEentrated with four customers.
At October 31, 1999 approximately 74% of accouat®ivable was concentrated with four customersc#te performs on going credit
evaluations of its customers and generally doesatptire collateral on accounts receivable. Brogadeides reserves for credit losses and
product sales returns.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONTINUED)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etatksing the first in, first out method. Inventagsts include material, labor and overhead.
Deferred charges represent the product costs assdavith product shipments that are recorded ferded revenue. Inventories consisted of

the following, (in thousands):

OCTOBER 31,

1998 1999
Raw materialS......cccovvvvvvvivccccieninee $1,203 $ 878
WOrK-iN-proCess......ccooveeiiivveeeiniiaeeaeeee 6 173
Finished goods, including deferred charges......... ... 535 2,635

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depiatia computed using the straight-line methodrdkie estimated useful lives of the assets,
generally three to four years. Leasehold improveamare amortized using the straidinie method over the shorter of the assets usiefed br
the remaining term of the lease. Property and eneiy consisted of the following, (in thousands):

OCTOBER 31,
1998 1999
Computers and equipment.........cccoeeeveveeeees $8,186 $10,530
Furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements.. ... 779 711
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization.... ... (3,642) (6,294)

$5,323 $4,947

Included in property and equipment are assets sedjunder capital lease obligations with a costratated accumulated amortization of
approximately $2.6 million and $2.5 million, respieely, at October 31, 1999.

Software Development Costs

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accountandards ("SFAS") No. 86, "Accounting for thes@oof Computer Software to be
Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed," Brocade abpds eligible computer software development coptsn the establishment of
technological feasibility, which it has definedamsnpletion of designing, coding and testing adteit For the years ended October 31, 1997,
1998 and 1999, the amount of costs eligible foitafipation, after consideration of factors suchrealizable value, were not material and,
accordingly, all software development costs havenleharged to research and development expenise actcompanying statements of
operations for all periods presented.

Accrued Employee Compensation

Accrued employee compensation consist of accrueptsyacommissions and payroll taxes, vacation paygerrformance bonuses yet to be
paid, payroll deductions for the employee stoclchase plan and other benefit payroll deductions.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONTINUED)
Other Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consisted of the follogiifin thousands):

OCTOBER 31,

1998 1999
Accrued Warranty.......cccoeeeeceencceesceenees $1,350 $1,856
Purchase commitments reserve........ccococvveeeee. i - 3,629
Other e 1,083 4,345

Stock-Based Compensation

Brocade accounts for its stock option plans anéiitployee Stock Purchase Plan in accordance watipithivisions of Accounting Principles
Board Opinion 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued tofitoyees" ("APB 25"). In 1995, the Financial Accting Standards Board issued SFAS
No. 123, "Accounting for Sto-Based Compensation”, which establishes a faireveased method of accounting for stock-based plans.
Companies that elect to account for stock-basegeosation plans in accordance with APB 25 are redub disclose the pro forma net
income (loss) that would have resulted from theafdbe fair value based method. Accordingly, ppomfa disclosures that are required under
SFAS No. 123 are included in Note 7.

Stock Split

On November 8, 1999, Brocade's board of directppsaved a two-for-one split of Brocade's commorelstd he stock began trading on a
split-adjusted basis on December 3, 1999. All exiees in the accompanying financial statementaroirggs per share and the number of
common shares have been retroactively restategflart the common stock split and the increasaith@ized common and preferred stock.

Revenue Recognition

Product revenue is generally recognized when pitsdare shipped. Revenue recognition is deferredigpments to new customers where
product returns cannot be reasonably estimateijoifisant support services are required to sudodigdaunch the customer's product. Th:
revenues are recognized when the customer hasssfigite integrated and launched its products arat&de has met its support obligations.
Allowances for warranty costs, credit losses anisnaded future returns are provided for upon shipmBeferred revenues as of October 31,
1998 and 1999 were approximately $543,000 and ®illibn, respectively.

In fiscal 1997, two customers contributed 67% an%h2respectively of our total revenues. In fisca®8, these same two customers accot
for 72% and 11%, respectively of our total revenliediscal 1999, four customers accounted for 3498, 12%, and 10%, respectively of
total revenues. The level of sales to any custamagr vary from quarter to quarter. However, we expleat significant customer
concentration will continue for the foreseeablesfat The loss of any one of these customers, eceedse in the level of sales to any one of
these customers, could have a material adversectropaBrocade's financial condition or results pérations.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONTINUED)
Computation of Basic and Diluted Net Income (Ld2s) Share and Pro Forma Basic and Diluted Net leddmss) Per Share

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per commoneshes presented in conformity with SFAS No. 12&rtings Per Share," ("SFAS No.
128") for all periods presented. Pursuant to Séesrand Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bmlldo. 98, common stock and
convertible preferred stock issued or granted &omimal consideration prior to the anticipated effecdate of an initial public offering must
be included in the calculation of basic and dilutetlincome (loss) per common share as if suctk $tad been outstanding for all periods
presented. To date, Brocade has not had any isssiangrants for nominal consideration.

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, basic net incdogs) per common share has been computed usingetigbted average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during the period; &emres subject to repurchase. Diluted net incémss)(per share is computed on the basis
of the weighted average number of common shares@mdnon equivalent shares outstanding during theggeCommon equivalent shares
result from the assumed exercise of outstandintksiptions that have a dilutive effect when applyihe treasury stock method. Brocade has
excluded all convertible preferred stock, warrdatsconvertible preferred stock, outstanding stopkions and shares subject to repurchase
from the calculation of diluted net loss per comnsbare for the years ended October 31, 1997 an8, b@@ause all such securities are
antidilutive. The total number of shares excludeadrfthe calculations of diluted net loss per comrsloare were 35,123,546 and 39,012,626
for the years ended October 31, 1997 and 1998ectisply. See Notes 6 and 7 for further informationthese securities. Basic and diluted
pro forma net income (loss) per common share haee lbomputed as described above and also give,affeter Securities and Exchange
Commission guidance, to the conversion of the cdille preferred stock (using the if-converted noeghfrom the original date of issuance.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONTINUED)

The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted and pro forma basic and dilutedimedme (loss) per common share (in
thousands, except per share data).

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1997 1998 1999

Netincome (I0SS).....ccccevvvvevvveevieeiceeeee $(9,619) $(15,111) $ 2,485
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:
Weighted average shares of common stock outstandi ng....... 9,188 10,348 30,264
Less: Weighted average shares subject to repurcha S€..un. (5,194) (3,548) (4,170)
Weighted average shares used in computing basic net income
(loss) pershare......cccoocveeevccieeennceeee 3,994 6,800 26,094
Dilutive effect of common share equivalents........ ... - - 25,052
Weighted average shares used in computing diluted n et income
(loss) pershare......cccoecveeevcceeeennceees 3,944 6,800 51,146
Basic net income (loss) per common share........... ... $(241) $ (2.22) $ 0.10
Diluted net income (loss) per share.........c....... ... $(2.41) $ (2.22) $ 0.05
Pro forma net income (loss) per share:
Netincome (I0SS).....cccovevvveiiceciiiaeaee $(15,111) $2,485
Weighted average shares used in computing basic n et income
(loss) pershare.....cocveeeeeeeeeeeaeenes 6,800 26,094
Pro forma adjustment to reflect weighted effect o f assumed
conversion of convertible preferred stock
(unaudited).....cocovviiiiiiiiiieeeeee 28,436 16,794
Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed exercise and
conversion of preferred stock warrants to purc hase
593,762 common shares in 1998 and 1999 at an e xercise
price of $6.78 per share (unaudited)......... .. 594 186
Weighted average shares used in computing pro for ma basic
net income (loss) per share (unaudited)....... ... 35,830 43,074
Dilutive effect of common share equivalents (unau dited)... - 8,072
Weighted average shares used in computing pro for ma
diluted net income (loss) per share (unaudited ) IR 35,830 51,146
Pro forma basic net income (loss) per share (unau dited)... $ (0.42) $ 0.06

Pro forma diluted net income (loss) per share
(unaudited).....cccovvviiiiiiiiiiieeeeees $ (0.42) $ 0.05

Comprehensive Income

In June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensigerhe,” ("SFAS No. 130"). SFAS
No. 130 was adopted by Brocade beginning on NoverhpE997. This standard defines comprehensiveniecas the changes in equity of
enterprise except those resulting from stockhdidarsactions. Accordingly, comprehensive incomed)iancludes certain changes in equity
that are excluded from net income (loss). Spedific8FAS No. 130 requires unrealized holding gaind losses on available-for-sale
securities to be included in accumulated other celmmnsive income (loss). Unrealized holding gdiosses) on available-for-sale securities
for all periods presented are not significant acebadingly, comprehensive income (loss) for allipds presented approximated net income
(loss).
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Reportable Segments

In June 1997, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@@ssued SFAS No. 131 "Disclosures About Segnafras Enterprise and Related
Information.” ("SFAS No. 131"). SFAS No. 131 wasptkd by Brocade beginning on November 1, 1997.SRA. 131 establishes
standards for disclosures about operating segmanmtsucts and services, geographic areas and ma#gtomers. Brocade is organized and
operates as one operating segment, the designpgevent, manufacturing, marketing and selling dfdfFiChannel switching solutions for
SAN's. Service revenues to date have not beerfisigmi. Brocade operates principally in one geogir@prea, the United States. Major
customers are discussed above.

Capitalization of Internally Used Software

In March 1998, the AICPA issued Statement of Pasitilo. 981, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer SoftwamvBloped or Obtained f
Internal Use," ("SOP No. 98-1"). SOP No. 98-1 regsiientities to capitalize certain costs relateidtiernal-use software once certain criteria
have been met. Brocade adopted SOP 98-1 beginnibhgpeember 1, 1998. The adoption did not have @n@timpact on Brocade's
financial position or results of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 1998, the AICPA issued Statement oitiBn®98-9, "Modification of SOP 92; Software Revenue Recognition, With Respe
Certain Transactions," ("SOP 98-9"). SOP 98-9 ara&@P 97-2 and SOP 98-4 by extending the deferthbapplication of certain
provisions of SOP 97-2 amended by SOP 98-4 thrdigghl years beginning on or before March 15, 199bother provisions of SOP 98-9
are effective for transactions entered into indigears beginning after March 15, 1999. Brocadertd had significant software sales to date
and management does not expect the adoption ofdB&Ro have a significant effect on the financiahdition or results of operations.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued Statement No. 133, "Accounting for Daiire Instruments and hedging
Activities" ("SFAS 133") which provides a comprebkare and consistent standard for the recogniti@hraeasurement of derivatives and
hedging activities. The statement is effectivefiecal years commencing after June 15, 2000. Breches not believe that SFAS 133 will
have a material impact on earnings or financiaddoon.

3. LINE OF CREDIT AND DEBT

In June 1997, Brocade entered into a revolving diheredit agreement with a bank under which itlddaorrow up to $4,000,000. The line of
credit bore interest at the bank's prime rate aasl paid upon expiration in August 1999.

As of October 31, 1998, Brocade had approximat8Il9 $nillion payable to the same bank under an eneiyi loan agreement. The equipn
loan agreement provided for borrowings of up t®$8,000. Borrowings were secured by the relatedaagmuipment, bore interest at the
bank's prime rate plus 1.0% and were payable thirduge 30, 2002. As of October 31, 1999, all boimga under this loan agreement were
repaid.
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Notes payable as of October 31, 1998 and 1999 stexdsof the following, (in thousand:

OCTOBER 31,
1008 1999
Note payable to bank...........cccovvvvvvvvvceeee. L $-2962 -$ --
Less: current portion.......ccceeeevvcevevenneeees Ll (1,231)
Long-term portion.......cccccvvevevvevieneeeeens L $-1731-$ --

4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Brocade leases its facilities under operating leggeements expiring through November 2000. Theeleeequire that Brocade pay all cost
maintenance, utilities, insurance and taxes. Remerese for the years ended October 31, 1997, 1998 @99 was $495,475, $804,057 and
$1,284,178, respectively.

Brocade leases computers, office equipment andtfmenunder long-term lease agreements that assifiled as capital leases. The leases
expire through January 2001 and require a finabbtupayment at the end of the lease term.

Future minimum lease payments, including the buypayiments, under all lease arrangements at Oc8ihdr999 were as follows (in
thousands):

OPERATING CAPITAL

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31, LEASES LEASES
Fiscal year 2000........cccccovvveviveevvveeeee $847 $476
Fiscal year 2001.......ccccovvvvvieiiiiinaaaieeee -- 42

Total minimum lease payments.........ccccceeeeeeeee. $847 518
Less: imputed interest (15.27% -- 17.65%)........... ... (40)
Present value of payments under capital leases..... ... 478

Less: current portion........cccccvvvevvvvennenes (436)
Long-term capital lease obligations................ . .. $ 42

Subsequent to year end, Brocade entered into @ feraew office space (See Note 10).

Brocade's former contract manufacturer filed a agéinst Brocade, alleging that Brocade is liabtebfeaching certain contracts with the
contract manufacturer. The suit claimed damagesdess of $3.0 million plus interest, an unspegiimount of consequential and incidental
damages, and costs and attorneys' fees. Brocadeafitross complaint against the contract manufactor various credits Brocade claimed
on its account with the contract manufacturer. e was settled in December 1999. The settlemfthi®litigation did not have a material
impact on Brocade's financial statements.

Brocade is subject to various claims which aristh@énnormal course of business. In the opinion ahagement, the ultimate disposition of
these claims will not have a material adverse effieche financial position of Brocade.

5. RESTRUCTURING OF OPERATIONS

In the third quarter of fiscal 1998, Brocade irtiid a plan to restructure its operations to redigsdereak even revenue level. The plan was
developed by management and approved by the Bé&textors with the expectation that changes ifaie programs and arrangements,
with related head count reductions, would immedifateduce operating expenses and improve cash flble restructuring plan included the
termination of the former Chief Executive Officer 1.1 million, the cancellation and abandonméitivo
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research and development projects, one to devetdppmrt fibre channel switch and another to dgvalmrage area network simulation for a
total of $300,000, a change in contract manufactamangements for $1.2 million, and a reductiofabor force. In connection with this ple
Brocade recorded a $3.2 million charge to operatixgenses as follows: $1.3 million is included @stoof revenues, $700,000 is included in
research and development expense and $1.2 miflioluded in general and administrative expensbearl998 statement of operations. The
restructuring charge includes $1.7 million of enygle related expenses for 20 employee terminat®nsafufacturing employees, 4 research
and development employees and 8 employees from départments), including severance for Brocadelmér Chief Executive Officer, $1
million for the writeoff of excess or abandoned equipment (specifidattying and fixtures) and inventories related tecdntinued and new
established contract manufacturer arrangements$ad@,000 for write-offs of other abandoned targéohd intangible assets and facilities in
Southern California related to cancelled new prodevelopment and simulation projects. Employeaevi@mally notified of their
termination beginning on July 31, 1998 and contiguhrough August 4, 1998. The termination of 1playees was immediate. The
remainder of the terminations occurred through dan81, 1999. As of October 31, 1999, Brocade hadrred all costs related to the
restructuring.

6. PREFERRED STOCK

Brocade is authorized to issue, from time to timene or more series, 5,000,000 shares of prefatack at a $.001 par value. The board of
directors may determine the rights, preferencasilgges and restrictions granted or imposed uponseries of preferred stock. As of
October 31, 1999, no preferred stock is outstanding

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In August 1995, Brocade issued 1,425,000 sharis 8eries A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Sttiéries A"). In June 1996, Brocade
issued 816,250 shares of its Series B Redeemalnlec@ible Preferred Stock ("Series B"). In Decemb@96, Brocade issued 3,333,333
shares of its Series C Redeemable Convertible fPeeffStock ("Series C"). In fiscal years 1997, 1888 1999 Brocade issued 2,795,848
shares, 865,052 shares and 298,522 shares, regpgaif its Series D Redeemable Convertible PreteStock ("Series D"). Effective May
24, 1999, the Series A, Series B, Series C an@$Erishares automatically converted into commoekatpon the closing of Brocade's initial
public offering. Prior to the conversion into commstock, the rights with respect to Series A, SeBeSeries C and Series D were as follc

Redemption. At the request of the holders of thgoritg of voting power of the then outstanding me€d stock any time after August 28,
2002, Brocade shall, to the extent funds are lggadhilable, redeem the preferred stock in incremewer a three-year period. In such event,
Brocade shall pay $1.00 per share for Series Asgder share for Series B, $3.00 per share foeS&iand $5.78 for Series D plus any
declared but unpaid dividends.

Voting. Each share of Series A, Series B, SerianSeries D has voting rights equal to an equivaiember of shares of common stock
which it is convertible.

Dividends. Holders of Series A, Series B, Seriem@ Series D are entitled to receive noncumulativielends when and as declared by the
Board of Directors at a rate of $0.08, $0.32, $@2d $0.46 per share, respectively, per annumr ftgment of such dividends, any
additional dividends declared will be paid to tteéders of common stock and preferred stock in mbunt as they would be entitled to
receive if their shares had been converted inteeshaf common stock. No dividends have been detlare

Liguidation. In the event of any liquidation, disstion or winding up of Brocade, including a mergersale of all or substantially all of the
assets, the holders of Series A, Series B, SermsdCSeries D are entitled
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to receive pari passu a distribution of $1.00, 84%8.00 and $5.78 per share, respectively, plydenlared but unpaid dividends prior to and
in preference to any distribution to the holdersa@ihmon stock. The remaining assets, if any, fieatlistributed ratably among the holders of
the common stock, Series A, Series B, Series CSamigs D, based on the number of shares held (asgwonversion of the Series A, Series
B, Series C and Series D).

Conversion. Each share of Series A, Series B, $€&iand Series D is convertible into common statkhe holder's option or upon the
consent of the holders of a majority of the thetstanding Series A, Series B, Series C and Sersalles voting as a single class. The Series
A, Series B, Series C and Series D shares aralipitionvertible into common stock at a ratio afteifor one, four for one, two for one and
two for one, respectively. The conversion ratespaotected by certain andidution provisions. No adjustment in the futurangersion price ¢
Series A, Series B, Series C or Series D shall ddenfior the issuance of additional shares of comsbaek other than for a common stock
split, dividend, or distribution unless at the tiofassuance of the common stock the price peresfradditional shares of common stock
issued is less than the conversion price in effedthe Series A, Series B, Series C and Seriggdpectively.

Warrants

Since inception, Brocade has issued warrants tchage an aggregate of 51,197, 17,500 and 48,00€ssbiaSeries A, Series B and Series C,
respectively. These warrants were issued in coforeatith equipment and facilities lease agreemesercise prices range from $1.00 to
$4.50 per share. As of October 31, 1999, all thremeants have been exercised.

In connection with the initial sale and issuanc&efies D, investors were issued warrants to psechf@% of the number of Series D shares
purchased by each investor at an exercise pri6.38 per share. The total number of shares o&S&ripurchasable upon exercise of these
warrants was 296,881. As of October 31, 1999 halt¢ warrants have been exercised.

7. COMMON STOCK

Brocade completed an initial public offering on thasdag National Market on May 28, 1999 whereby ,d00 shares of common stock,
including the exercise of the underwriters oveotatient option, were sold with proceeds to Brocadk66.0 million.

At October 31, 1999, Brocade had reserved 7,938h86es related to stock option plans of authormédinissued shares of common stock
for future issuance.

Deferred Compensation

In connection with the grant of certain stock opsido employees during the years ended Octobetr@®B and 1999, Brocade recorded
deferred compensation of approximately $307,000% million, respectively, representing the diéiece between the deemed value of the
common stock for accounting purposes and the ogti@ncise price of such options at the date oftgsunch amount is presented as a
reduction of stockholders' equity and amortizedlyyt over the vesting period of the applicable anpdi

Approximately $7,000 and $1.9 million was expendadng the years ended October 31, 1998 and 188pectively, and the balance will be
expensed ratably over the period the options Beferred compensation expense is decreased iretiedf forfeiture for any accrued but
unvested compensation arising from the early teation of an option holder's services. No compeosaikpense related to any other periods
presented has been recorded.
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1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approvedateption of Brocade's 1999 Employee Stock PurcR&se (the "Purchase Plan™), and
Brocade's shareholders approved the PurchaserPhguril 1999. Per the terms of the Purchase Plapaximum number of shares of
Brocade's common stock available for sale undePtirehase Plan is 400,000 shares, plus an anranebse to be added on the first day of
Brocade's fiscal year, equal to the lesser of 2(Bllshares, or 2.5% of the outstanding sharaschtdate. Accordingly, on November 1,
1999, 1,338,001 additional shares were made al@aifabsale under the Purchase Plan. The PurcHaseBrmits eligible employees to
purchase shares of common stock through payroliatemhs at 85% of the fair market value of the camrstock, as defined in the Purchase
Plan.

1999 Stock Plan

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved Budes 1999 Stock Plan (the "1999 Plan") and Brdsat@reholders approved the 1999
Plan in April 1999. The 1999 Plan provides for ¢ginant of incentive stock options to employees.tReterms of the 1999 Plan, the maxim
number of shares of Brocade's common stock availalsale under the 1999 Plan is 15,214,000 shphgsan annual increase to be added
on the first day of Brocade's fiscal year, equahtlesser of 5,000,000 shares, or 5% of the andiing shares at such date. Accordingly, on
November 1, 1999, 2,676,002 additional shares watge available for sale under the 1999 F

1999 Director Option Plan

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved1B89 Director Option Plan (the "Director Plan") @bcade's shareholders approved the
Director Plan in April 1999. The Director Plan pides for the grant of common stock to non-emplajieectors. A total of 400,000 shares of
common stock have been reserved for issuance timel&irector Plan.

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan

In September 1999, the Board of Directors appr@®matade's 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan 'O Plan"). The NSO Plan
provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock omitmemployees and consultants. A total of 2,0aDdares of common stock have been
reserved for issuance under the NSO Plan.

Stock Options

Brocade, under various stock option plans (ther'®a grants stock options for shares of commoaoksto employees, directors and
consultants of Brocade. In accordance with thefldre stated exercise price shall not be less8B&& of the estimated fair market value of
common stock on the date of grant. Incentive S@pkons ("ISOs") may not be granted at less th@?4.0f the estimated fair market value
of the common stock and stock options grantedgeraon owning more than 10% of the combined vationger of all classes of stock of
Brocade must be issued at 110% of the fair mar&letevof the stock on the date of grant. The Plaosige that the options shall be
exercisable over a period not to exceed ten yaarsthe options generally vest over a period of f@ars. The options typically vest 25% «
year after the date of grant and the remainingesheest in equal monthly amounts over the followdégmonths

At October 31, 1999, an aggregate of 2,072,568shaere available for future option grants undeofahe Plans.

Brocade accounts for the Plans and the PurchasarPéecordance with APB No. 25 whereby the diffieebetween the exercise price and
the fair value at the date of grant is recognizedampensation expense. Had compensation expant$e fstock option plans been
determined under the provisions of SFAS
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No. 123, net income (loss) would have decreaséuncoeased, respectively, to the following pro foramounts, (in thousands except per s

data):

Net income (loss) as reported.............cceeeee
Net loss Pro Forma..........ccccevveveiniinncenne

Net income (loss) per share as reported............
Net loss per share Pro Forma.............cccccuue.

YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31,

1997 1998 1999

. $(9,619) $(15,111) $ 2,485
. $(9,666) $(15,522) $(1,933)
$ (2.22) $ 0.10
$ (2.29) $(0.07)

The fair value of each option grant was estimatethe date of grant using the Black-Scholes ogtiacing model with the following
weighted average assumptions used for grants i, 1988 and 1999, respectively: risk-free interatt of 5.71% to 6.63%, 5.58% to 5.86%
and 5.02% to 5.26%; expected dividend yields of zercent for all three periods; expected lifesofears beyond vesting for all three
periods; and expected volatility of .0001% forpriods except the year ended October 31, 199%Harh a volatility factor of 60% was

used.

The following table summarizes stock option plaftivity under all of the Plans:

YEAR ENDE
OCTOBER 31,

SHARES EXE
Outstanding at beginning of
1,168,000
2,631,000
(1,261,332)
(427,334)

Exercisable at end of year.....
Weighted fair value per
share......cccooeevnens $

Exercised....
Cancelled..........cooceiviiiiiiiiieeeee,

Outstanding at end of period......................

Exercisable at end of period......................
Weighted fair value per share
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D YEAR ENDED
1997 OCTOBER 31, 1998
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE AVERAGE
RCISE PRICE ~ SHARES  EXERCISE PRICE
$.10 2,110,334  $.16
$.17 6,309,824  $1.10
$.13 (851,140)  $.52
$.11 (523,190)  $.53
$.16 7,045828  $.92
$.11 931,614  $.76
$ .1512
YEAR ENDED
OCTOBER 31, 1999
WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
SHARES  EXERCISE PRICE
7045828  $ .92
5,356,024  $20.87
(6,151,368)  $1.27
(384,872) $ .94
5865612  $18.78
449,754
$ 9.6708
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OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE WEIGHTED AVERAGE

OCTOBER 31, 1999 REMAINING AVERAGE EXERCISE

RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES NUMBER YEARS EXERCISE PRICE NUMBER PRICE

$0.100 -$ 0.900.................. 911,364 7.07 $0.36 153,674 $0.33

$1.125-% 4.000.................. 3,545,448 9.07 $1.90 296,080 $1.15

$49.063 - $109.938.................. 1,408,800 9.81 $72.31 - --

$0.100 - $109.938..........c...... 5,865,612 8.93 $18.78 449,754  $0.87

At October 31, 1999, 3,621,806 shares issued upertise of stock options with a weighted averagea@se price of $.3524 were subject to
repurchase by Brocade.

8. INCOME TAXES

Brocade accounts for income taxes pursuant to S¥A09, "Accounting for Income Taxes" ("SFAS NO91). A valuation allowance has
been recorded for the total deferred tax assedsrasult of uncertainties regarding realizatiothef assets based upon the limited operating
history of Brocade, the lack of profitability totdaand the uncertainty of future profitability. To@mponents of net deferred tax assets are as
follows (in thousands):

OCTOBER 31,

1998 1999
Net operating loss carryforwards................... ... $ 8,100 $16,300
Tax credit carryforwards............ccccceeuneeen. ... 1,400 2,000
Capitalized startup COStS...........cccccvvvrnnns 300 200
Reserves and accruals.............cccoeeeevnnenn. ... 2,200 7,900
Capitalized research expenditures.................. 700 1,400
Total deferred tax assets..........ccccceevuveene. ... 12,700 27,800
Less: Valuation allowance.............cccccce..... .... (12,700) (27,800)

Net deferred tax assets..........c.ccoeeviens e - 8 -

As of October 31, 1999, Brocade had federal netatjmg loss carryforwards of approximately $44.0lion and state net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $14.7 million. TrezlEral net operating loss and other tax crediyfamwards expire on various dates
between 2010 through 2019. The state net operktasgcarryforwards will expire beginning in 2003.

Under current tax law, net operating loss and tearyforwards available to offset future incomeany given year may be limited upon the
occurrence of certain events, including significelminges in ownership interests.
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The following table summarizes the difference betwthe U.S. Federal statutory rate and Brocadesre tax provision for financial
statement purposes (in thousands):

OCTOBER 31,

1999
Provision for income taxes at statutory rate....... ... $ 907
State taxes, net of federal benefit............... .. 149
Losses for which no tax benefit recognized......... . ... (1,912)
Stock compensation not deductible for tax......... . ... 822
Other. oo 140
Provision for income taxes.......c.ccccecvveeeee L $ 106

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During fiscal 1997, 1998, and 1999, Brocade sol@,&00, 450,000 and 4.7 million shares, respectj\aflyts common stock to officers and a
director of Brocade in consideration for full recee promissory notes in the aggregate amount 8fi8lion. Should the officers terminate
employment, these shares are subject to a riglepafrchase by Brocade. The right of repurchasetapsger a four-year period. The notes
bear interest at various rates ranging from 4.49%%% per annum and mature at various dates thrvlay 2006.

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED)

In December 1999, Brocade entered into an agreeimésdse approximately 210,000 square feet of@ffeaboratory, and administrative
space in San Jose, California. The term of theelegseement is September 1, 2000 through Augu&®1, and represents a lease
commitment of $6.2 million per year to Brocade. &de intends to occupy the space in September@@)8ub-lease any excess space to
offset the rental expense. In conjunction with antginto the lease agreement, Brocade signed aongitional, irrevocable letter of credit -
$6.2 million as security for the lease.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable
PART Il

Certain information required by Part Il is incorpted by reference from Brocade's definitive PrBigtement to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission in connection with thecgation of proxies for Brocade's fiscal 2000 AnhMeeeting of Stockholders (the "Pro
Statement”).

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The following table sets forth certain informatimgarding our executive officers and directorsfddecember 30, 1999:

NAME AGE POSITION

Gregory L. Reyes................ 37 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Paul R. Bonderson, Jr. ......... 47 Vice Presid ent, Engineering

Michael J. Byrd................. 39 Vice Presid ent, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer

Kumar Malavalli................. 56 Vice Presid ent, Technology

Victor M. Rinkle................ 46 Vice Presid ent, Operations

Charles W. Smith................ 38 Vice Presid ent, Worldwide Sales

Peter J. Tarrant................ 39 Vice Presid ent, Marketing and Business Development

Jean Zorzy............ .. 47 Vice Presid ent, Program Management

Seth D. Neiman(1)... ... 45 Chairman of the Board

Neal Dempsey(1)(2).............. 58 Director

Mark Leslie(2).......ccccee..... 53 Director

Larry W. Sonsini................ 58 Director

(1) Member of audit committee.
(2) Member of compensation committee.

Gregory L. Reyes has served as our President aiafl EXecutive Officer and a member of our boardioéctors since July 1998. From
January 1995 to November 1997, Mr. Reyes serv&hagman of the board of directors, and from Jaynd805 to June 1998, served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Wireleséss, Inc., a wireless data communications predimnpany. From January 1991 to
January 1995, Mr. Reyes served as Divisional Viesigent and general manager of Norand Data Systedwta collection company. Mr.
Reyes also serves as a director of Proxim, In@irgless networking company. Mr. Reyes received% B Economics and Business
Administration from Saint Mary's College in Morag@zalifornia.

Paul R. Bonderson, Jr. co-founded Brocade in Au@j896 and has served as Vice President, Engineginiog August 1995. From March
1986 to August 1995, Mr. Bonderson held severalregging positions at Sun Microsystems, Inc., meséntly as Director of Engineering.
Mr. Bonderson received a B.S. in Electrical Engiireefrom California Polytechnic State Universif§an Luis Obispo.

Michael J. Byrd joined Brocade in April 1999 and:lme our Vice President, Finance and Chief FinhQiffecer effective May 3, 1999.
From February 1994 to April 1999, Mr. Byrd served\dce President, Finance and Chief Financial @ffiaf Maxim Integrated Products,
Inc., a designer, developer and manufacturer eflirand mixedignal integrated circuits. From 1982 to 1994, Biyrd held various positior
at Ernst & Young, most recently as Partner. Mr.dsgceived a B.S. in Business Administration froadifrnia Polytechnic State University,
San Luis Obispo.
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Kumar Malavalli co-founded Brocade in August 1996 &ias served as our Vice President, Technologe sdttober 1995. From July 1993
to October 1995, Mr. Malavalli served as ManageAhitecture and Standards in the Canadian Netvgr&ration at Hewlett-Packard
Company. Mr. Malavalli was a member of the induséigm that originated the Fibre Channel architegtinas helped guide the technology
through the industry standards committees and wtlyrehairs the ANSI T11 Technical Committee, whalrersees all standards related to
development of Fibre Channel. From 1993 to 1999,Malavalli was the chairman of the Fibre Channs$éciation Technical Committee.
Mr. Malavalli received both a B.S. in Physics andtihematics and a B.S. in Electrical Engineeringniftbe University of Mysore, India.

Victor M. Rinkle has served as our Vice Presid@perations since January 1998. From April 1989 ¢odinber 1997, Mr. Rinkle held
several managerial positions at Apple Computer, most recently as Vice President, Global SupglgeBManagement. Mr. Rinkle received
a B.B.A. in Marketing and Production Logistics frdhe University of Houston.

Charles W. Smith has served as our Vice Presiiféotldwide Sales since February 1997. From June 1@%@&bruary 1997, Mr. Smith
served as Director, Corporate Account Sales at IBidm July 1990 to February 1996, Mr. Smith heldous senior sales management
positions at Conner Peripherals, Inc., a storagjgisns company, most recently as Vice PresidefstSadles, Western Region. Mr. Smith
received an A.S. in Aeronautics and Business fitmenQollege of San Mateo and a B.S. in Business §ement from San Jose State
University.

Peter J. Tarrant has served as our Vice Presilfiamketing and Business Development since Decen@@r.1-rom October 1994 to
December 1997, Mr. Tarrant served as Vice Presidntuct Management and Vice President, BusinesglBpment at Bay Networks, In
a computer networking company. From April 1990 widber 1994, Mr. Tarrant held several product mansnt positions at SynOptics, a
predecessor of Bay Networks, Inc. most recentlpiasctor, Product Management. Mr. Tarrant receiadglSc. in Electronic Engineering
from the University of Southampton, United Kingdom.

Jean E. Zorzy has served as our Vice Presidergr&roManagement since May 1999. From February 1©88ay 1999, Ms. Zorzy served
our Director of Supplier Management. From July 1886&ebruary 1998, Ms. Zorzy held several positian8pple Computer, most recently
Director, External Operations. Ms. Zorzy receive.A. in Psychology from American University in Wasgton, D.C. and an M.B.A. from
San Jose State University.

Seth D. Neiman has served as Chairman of the mfatidectors of Brocade since August 1995. Mr. Neinfiormerly served as our Chief
Executive Officer from August 1995 to June 1996.c8i August 1994, Mr. Neiman has held various pmsstiat Crosspoint Venture Partners,
a venture capital firm, and has been a partnero$&point since January 1996. From September 103dly 1994, Mr. Neiman was Vice
President of Engineering at Coactive Networks,callarea networks company. Mr. Neiman also sermeb®@ boards of directors and
compensation committees of numerous private conegaMr. Neiman received a B.A. in Philosophy fromid@State University.

Neal Dempsey has served as a director of Brocate §lecember 1996. Since May 1989, Mr. Dempseybtas a General Partner of E
Partners, a venture capital firm. Mr. Dempsey akswes on the boards of directors and compensetiomittees of numerous private
companies. Mr. Dempsey received a B.A. in Busitfiesa the University of Washington.

Mark Leslie has served as a director of Brocadeesitanuary 1999. Mr. Leslie has served as the Ehiedutive Officer and a member of the
board of directors of VERITAS Software Corporatiarstorage management software company, since &ght090. Mr. Leslie also serves
on the board of directors of Versant Object Tecbgy] as well as on the board of directors of agig\xcompany. Mr. Leslie received a B.A
Physics and Mathematics from New York University.

Larry W. Sonsini has served as a director of Brecsidce January 1999. Mr. Sonsini has been a pastriee law firm of Wilson Sonsini
Goodrich & Rosati, P.C., since 1973 and is curgethté Chairman of the Executive Committee of thefiMr. Sonsini serves on numerous
advisory boards and committees, including the SB@idsory Committee on Capital Formation and RetpulaProcesses, the ABA
Committee on
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Federal Regulation of Securities and the Legal salyi Committee to the Board of Governors, New Y8ttick Exchange. Mr. Sonsini sen
on the boards of directors of Novell, Inc., Latt®emiconductor Corporation and Pixar Animation &tsidas well as on the boards of
directors of several private companies. Mr. Son@neived an A.B. from the University of CalifornBerkeley and an L.L.B. from Boalt H:
School of Law, University of California, Berkeley.

The information required by this section is incagied by reference from the information in the iseceéntitled "Election of Directors” in the
Proxy Statement. The required information conceymirecutive officers of the Company is containethisection entitled "Executive
Officers and Directors of the Registrant" in Paof this Form 10-K.

Item 405 of Regulation S-K calls for disclosure ofny known late filing or
failure by an insider to file a report required ®gction 16 of the Exchange Act. This disclosurepistained in the section entitled "Section 16
(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance"hie Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this section is incagded by reference from the information in the i@t entitled "Election of Directors --
Directors' Compensation"”, "Executive Compensatamd "Stock Price Performance Graph" in the ProxgeBtent.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this section is incagted by reference from the information in the isecentitled "Election of Directors --
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS

The information required by this section is incagted by reference from the information in the isecentitled "Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions" in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(&) The following documents are filed as part @ fhorm 10-K

(1) Financial Statements:

Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statésraf Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. urtéen B in Part Il of this Form 10-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

The following financial statement schedule of Be&&ommunications Systems, Inc. for the years e@adber 31, 1997, October 31, 19
and October 30, 1999 is filed as part of this AnfReport and should be read in conjunction withFheancial Statements of Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc.

Schedule Il -- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts... ... Page 52
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(3) Exhibits:

The exhibits listed below are required by Item 60Regulation S-K. Each management contract or @rsgtory plan or arrangement

required to be filed as an exhibit to this FormKLBas been identified.

(1) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-747d4d 3ymended.

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUM

3.2(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of In

3.4(2) Bylaws of the Registrant.

4.1(3) Form of Registrant's Common Stock cert

10.1(4) Form of Indemnification Agreement ente
Brocade with each of its directors and

10.2(5) 1995 Equity Incentive Plan and forms o
thereunder.

10.3(6) 1998 Equity Incentive Plan and forms o
thereunder.

10.4(7) 1998 Executive Equity Incentive Plan a
thereunder.

10.5(8) 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

10.6(9) 1999 Director Option Plan and form of

10.7(10) 1999 Stock Plan and forms of agreement

10.8(11) Sublease between Symmetricom, Inc. and
1997.

10.9(12) Security and Loan Agreement between Br
Bank dated June 19, 1997.

10.10(13) Amendment to Loan Documents between Br
Bank dated January 30, 1998.

10.11(14) Second Amendment to Loan Documents bet
Imperial Bank dated August 17, 1998.

10.12(15) Third Amendment to Loan Documents betw
Imperial Bank dated December 15, 1998.

10.13(16) Master Equipment Lease Agreement betwe
Leasing, Inc. and the Registrant dated

10.14(17)+ Master Purchase Agreement between Dell
Brocade dated November 1, 1998.

10.15(18)+ Purchase Agreement between Sequent Com
and Brocade.

10.16(19)+ Supplement No. 1 to Purchase Agreement
Computer Systems, Inc. and Brocade dat

10.17(20)+ OEM Agreement between Storage Technolo
Brocade dated May 1, 1998.

10.18(21) Acknowledgment between Wind River Syst
dated April 22, 1999.

10.19(22) Confidential Agreement and General Rel
Bruce J. Bergman, The Bergman Family T
September 23, 1998.

10.20(23) Letter Agreement with Michael J. Byrd

10.21(24)+ OEM and License Agreement between Broc
Corporation, dated April 27, 1999.

10.22(25) 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan an
thereunder.

10.23+ VVolume Pricing Agreement between Broca
Corporation dated October 1, 1998.

10.24+ Manufacturing Agreement between Brocad
California Corporation dated July 30,

10.25 Master Lease Agreement between Brocade
Properties dated .

23.1 Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP, Indepe
Accountants.

271 Financial Data Schedule.
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(2) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reglish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(3) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(4) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regflish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(5) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
(6) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reglish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
(7) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
(8) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
(9) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
(10) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
(11) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(12) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(13) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(14) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(15) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(16) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(17) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(18) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(19) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(20) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(21) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(22) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(23) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(24) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
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No.

No.
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No.

333-747d4d pmended.
333-747dd pmended.
333-747d4d pmended.
333-95653).
333-95653).
333-95653).
333-95653).
333-95653).

. 333-95653).
333-747d4d pmended.
333-747d44 pmended.
333-747d4 pmended.
333-747d4d pmended.
333-747d44 pmended.
. 333-74744 pmended.
333-747d44 pmended.
333-747d4d pmended.
333-747d44 pmended.
333-747d4d pmended.
333-747d44 pmended.
333-747d4d pmended.
333-747d44 pmended.

333-747d4d pmended.



(25) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Resgien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74744 pmended.

+ Confidential treatment requested as to certartigres, which portions are omitted and filed sepayawith the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K
None
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SCHEDULE I

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997, 1998, AND 1999

BALANCE AT
BEGINNING OF

DESCRIPTION

PERIOD

CHARGED TO REVERSALS TO BALAN
COSTS AND COSTS AND END
EXPENSES EXPENSES (DEDUCTIONS) PER

(IN THOUSANDS)

$ 100  $- $-- 8
178 - -
596 (4) (52)
$ - 8- $- %
7 - -
1,622 - - 1,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regi¢ has duly caused this Amendment
No. 1 to this report to be signed on its behalfh®/undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on Y2 2000

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.

By: /s/ GREGORY L. REYES

Gregory L. Reyes
President, Chief Executive Officer,
and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the Registrant and in the capacities and on theiddtcated:

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
* Preside nt, Chief Executive Officer, January 28, 2000
and D irector

Gregory L. Reyes

* Vice Pr esident, Finance and Chief January 28, 2000
Finan cial Officer

Michael J. Byrd

* Chairma n of the Board January 28, 2000

Seth D. Neiman

* Directo r January 28, 2000

Neal Dempsey

* Directo r January 28, 2000

Mark Leslie

Directo r January 28, 2000

Larry W. Sonsini

*By: /s/ MICHAEL J. BYRD

Michael J. Byrd
Attorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUM

3.2(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of In

3.4(2) Bylaws of the Registrant.

4.1(3) Form of Registrant's Common Stock cert

10.1(4)  Form of Indemnification Agreement ente
Brocade with each of its directors and

10.2(5) 1995 Equity Incentive Plan and forms o
thereunder.

10.3(6) 1998 Equity Incentive Plan and forms o
thereunder.

10.4(7) 1998 Executive Equity Incentive Plan a
thereunder.

10.5(8) 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

10.6(9) 1999 Director Option Plan and form of

10.7(10) 1999 Stock Plan and forms of agreement

10.8(11) Sublease between Symmetricom, Inc. and
1997.

10.9(12) Security and Loan Agreement between Br
Bank dated June 19, 1997.

10.10(13) Amendment to Loan Documents between Br
Bank dated January 30, 1998.

10.11(14) Second Amendment to Loan Documents bet
Imperial Bank dated August 17, 1998.

10.12(15) Third Amendment to Loan Documents betw
Imperial Bank dated December 15, 1998.

10.13(16) Master Equipment Lease Agreement betwe
Leasing, Inc. and the Registrant dated

10.14(17)+ Master Purchase Agreement between Dell
Brocade dated November 1, 1998.

10.15(18)+ Purchase Agreement between Sequent Com
and Brocade.

10.16(19)+ Supplement No. 1 to Purchase Agreement
Computer Systems, Inc. and Brocade dat

10.17(20)+ OEM Agreement between Storage Technolo
Brocade dated May 1, 1998.

10.18(21) Acknowledgment between Wind River Syst
dated April 22, 1999.

10.19(22) Confidential Agreement and General Rel
Bruce J. Bergman, The Bergman Family T
September 23, 1998.

10.20(23) Letter Agreement with Michael J. Byrd

10.21(24)+ OEM and License Agreement between Broc
Corporation, dated April 27, 1999.

10.22(25) 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan an
thereunder.

10.23+ Volume Pricing Agreement between Broca
Corporation dated October 1, 1998.

10.24+ Manufacturing Agreement between Brocad
California Corporation dated July 30,

10.25 Master Lease Agreement between Brocade
Properties dated .

23.1 Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP, Indepe
Accountants.

271 Financial Data Schedule.
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(1) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-747d44 pmended.
(2) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-747dd 3ymended.
(3) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-747d44 pmended.

(4) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggish Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-747dd ymended.



(5) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No
(6) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No
(7) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No
(8) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No

(9) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regfish Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No

(10) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
(11) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(12) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(13) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(14) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(15) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(16) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(17) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(18) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(19) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(20) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(21) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Reggien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(22) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(23) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.
(24) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.

(25) Incorporated by reference from Brocade's Regdien Statement on Form S-1 (Reg.

+ Confidential treatment requested as to certartigres, which portions are omitted and filed sepalyawith the Securities and Exchange

Commission.
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EXHIBIT 10.23
VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT 2085
VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT NO. 2085
BUYER: DATA GENERAL CORPORATION
SUPPLIER: BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
TERM: Three (3) Years

MATERIAL: FIBRE CHANNEL SWITCHES ("SWITCHES") A ND
GIGABIT INTERFACE CONVERTERS ("GBICs" )

Page 1 of 4!



VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT 2085
VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT

This Volume Pricing Agreement Number 2085 (the "@gmnent") is made as of October 1, 1998 (the "Hffed@ate") between Data General
Corporation, a Delaware (U.S.A.) corporation witprancipal place of business at 4400 Computer DiWestboro, Massachusetts 01580
(U.S.A) (hereinafter referred to as "DGC") and &de Communications Systems, Inc., a Delaware catipa with a principal place of
business at 1901 Guadalupe Parkway, San Jose, £3195

(U.S.A) (hereinafter referred to as "SUPPLIER"BES")

In consideration of the mutual covenants contaima@in and other consideration, DGC and BCS agrégetfollowing terms and conditions:
1. MATERIAL, ORDER ENTRY PERIOD AND METHOD OF ORDER

1.1 The "Order Entry Period" (period during whics D is entitled to place orders for MATERIAL) sheimmence on the Effective Date of
this Agreement, and shall continue until Septen®@12001 unless earlier terminated pursuant tb§tpw. The Order Entry Period shall then
continue after such date unless and until eitheypgarminates the Order Entry Period by not Iésst[*] days' written notice. (Provided that
the Agreement is not terminated for material brdacDGC, such termination shall not affect ordesued before the designated termination
date.)

1.2 BCS agrees to sell the MATERIAL listed in Attagent A (a) to DGC; (b) to the Affiliated Companies defined in Section 1.6 below);
(c) for use solely in the course of manufacturerofducts for DGC, to DGC's contract manufactureifs$atisfaction of purchase orders
issued in writing during the Order Entry Periodastordance with the terms and conditions of tljseBment. The hardware components of
the MATERIAL ("Hardware") and the GBICs shall confoto all specifications referenced in Attachmerdrgl the software components of
the MATERIAL ("Software") shall substantially confa to all specifications referenced in Attachmentrigluding without limitation DGC's
Specifications for safety [*] and RF emissions ésldcommunications compliance [*]. Further, all MBRIAL shall be "Year 2000
Qualified". For purposes of the foregoing, "Yeaf@®@ualified" means that MATERIAL will correctly pcess, calculate, compare and
sequence date data from, into and between theigtleind the twenty-first centuries, including lgagar calculations, when used in
accordance with the associated product documentatiovided that all hardware, firmware and sofsvased in combination with
MATERIAL properly exchange accurate date data iprapriate Year 2000 format. Except as set fortieimer(i) neither party may make any
changes to the specifications set forth in thechtteents hereto without written consent of the offaaty, and (ii) only DGC shall be entitlec
request modifications to the MATERIAL (excluding GB).

1.3 DGC shall order MATERIAL under this Agreementyoby means of its written purchase order(s). petme or facsimile
communications will be accepted to initiate ordergessing, subject to a written confirmation by D@&CDGC's purchase order within [*]
days thereof; in such case, the time of order phace shall relate back to the initial communicatiBaobject to the terms and conditions of
Agreement, BCS agrees to accept all purchase oistersd in accordance with this Agreement durirgQ@nder Entry Period. BCS agrees to
notify DGC in writing of any improper order, with[#] business days of receipt.

1.4 This Agreement shall apply to all orders foy MATERIAL listed in Attachment A which are identd by DGC's Specification Number
(s). Any term of a Purchase Order which conflictshver

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT 2085

adds to the terms of this Agreement shall be dbnee or effect; the parties agree that Purchasiei@rshall only serve to state the
MATERIAL ordered, the desired delivery date, metloddhipment, "Ship-To" address and taxability ofer status. In addition, this
Agreement shall also apply to any other Replacesn@md Repair and Refurbishment services, providedRGC's purchase order includes
the following legend:

"This Purchase Order is placed under Volume Priédiggeement No. 2085 dated October 1, 1998, whieli sticlusively govern this
Purchase Order."

1.5 DGC estimates that it will purchase an averpgaterly quantity of units of MATERIAL as listechdttachment A of this Agreement
during the term of this Agreement. However, [*]thf purchases for the previous two (2) quartdrbédow [*] percent of the average
quarterly quantity mentioned in this paragraphahn8 detailed in Attachment A, upon which initialgomg is herein based, BCS has the right
to adjust prices on subsequent orders placed by y&@ written notice to DGC. BCS will allow DGC [tays to place sufficient non-
cancelable orders to bring the actual quantitieshmased in line with the forecast herein state®GiC's actual purchases of MATERIAL are
[*] or more above the original forecast, DGC caguest pricing be adjusted on subsequent new orders.

1.6 Any DGC divisions, plants, and companies cdlatidby, controlling or under common control witlsQ (being DGC's "Affiliated
Companies") may purchase MATERIAL, ReplacementsR@plair and Refurbishment services, all as othermisvided in this Agreement.

2. PRICES, F.O.B. POINT, PAYMENT TERMS

2.1 Prices for MATERIAL purchased hereunder shalbb stated in Attachment A, F.O.B. [*], Place bipgnent, at BCS's contract
manufacturer's U.S. facility (hereafter, the "F.OP®int"). Freight terms shall be freight chargekect. DGC shall not be liable for damage
due to improper packaging of MATERIAL or for MATERL improperly [*], or for any concealed damage la¢ time of tender at the F.O.B.
Point.

2.2 Payment shall be due, against BCS's invoideated to DGC, [*] days after the date of invoitiless otherwise agreed, invoices shall
not issue until delivery of the MATERIAL at the FB Point.

2.3 BCS agrees that the [*] will be [*] than thg Py BCS to any of its customers [*] products if} {i{pon [*]. In the event that BCS offers [*]
or other [*] to other customers for [*] in [*] upoff] during the term of this Agreement, then BC&bli] similar [*] in [*] and [*] to DGC.

DGC and BCS will meet quarterly to review pricingdaif mutually agreed in a signed writing, impleamerice adjustments based on the
current market conditions and other related factohe revised pricing, if any, will only apply toATERIAL purchased from the review date
forward, or upon a date agreed to in writing byhbparties, and be in effect until the next priciegiew or other pricing action. Upon DGC
receipt of any amended pricing schedule or otheud@nt reflecting BCS's adjustments in price, pgdiereunder shall be deemed amended
by substitution of such amended pricing scheddi@cument.

2.4 DGC acknowledges that MATERIAL, including docemtation and other technical data, are subject

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT 2085

to export controls imposed by the U.S. Export Adstimation Regulations, and the laws of other cdaatworldwide (the "Export Laws").
DGC warrants and represents to BCS that it willexqiort or re-export (directly or indirectly) anyAMERIAL, or documentation or other
technical data therefor, in whole or in part, inlation of the Export Laws and the regulations ¢eder. DGC, at its costs, shall obtain all
necessary export documentation, licenses and azdltions for international shipments, and BCS agjteaise commercially reasonable
efforts to assist DGC in such effort.

3. LEAD TIME; DELIVERY- DEFINITIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

3.1 Timeliness of delivery of MATERIAL pursuanttioe requirements of this Agreement is of the esseBES will use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause MATERIAL to be deligei@ DGC's designated "Ship-To" location no lakert the "Date Due" specified on the
purchase order(s) submitted pursuant to Sectioaliode, provided that DGC allows no less that ¢fagl time(s) stated in Attachment A (for
MATERIAL) and Attachment D (for Replacements). Boich purpose, lead time shall mean the time betB&Sis receipt of DGC's order
and the "Date(s) Due" specified for such order. BG&ll not deliver MATERIAL more than four

(4) days before the specified "Date Due". BCS sisdl commercially reasonable efforts to accommaaladeaccept orders allowing less than
the required lead time. BCS will provide writterkaowledgement of committed delivery dates for @B© orders within 5 business days a
BCS's receipt of DGC's order.

3.2 By the tenth (10th) business day of each md»&(C shall provide BCS with a written rolling 26-@leforecast of its anticipated
MATERIAL requirements.

3.3 Except as provided in Section 4.2, orders mbvéred in a timely manner (as described in Sacdid) shall be subject to rescheduling, at
DGC's option and without charge, and without limiita of DGC's other remedies.

3.4 In the event that BCS determines that it mayrisble to make timely delivery of MATERIAL not éatthan the committed delivery dates,
then BCS shall promptly: (1) make commercially meeble efforts (e.g., use of overtime, expeditextprement of parts and components,
expedited shipment (such as use of air freightjhituimize the delay, and (2) inform DGC of the ation, the actions so taken and to be te
by BCS, and when BCS expects to be able to effdotaty. BCS is responsible for all incrementaltsaising from actions taken to
minimize late deliveries, including without limitah any incremental freight charges associated ®iftedited shipments.

3.5 Except as expressly otherwise stated herethsabject to each term and condition of this AgreetnBCS will supply the MATERIAL
described in Attachment A throughout the statechtef this Agreement. BCS shall provide [*] daysitten notice of intent to discontinue the
manufacture, sale or distribution of any or all MBRIAL ("End of Life" or "EOL"). DGC may place ordefor any demand during the [*]
days of such notice for delivery of affected MATERI prior to the end of the notice period. To théemt that such orders exceed DGC's
previous forecast in Section 3.2 for MATERIAL, tbeders shall be non-cancelable. Unless BCS agneesting to the contrary, BCS shall
accept only forecasted orders in the last [*] dafythe stated notice period, and such orders bleafi) for delivery within four (4) months
after the date such orders are placed, and (ijaamicelable.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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4. RESCHEDULING; CANCELLATION; CHANGE OF DESTINATIQ

4.1 Rescheduling: Deferred Deliveries --- DGC mdipst the "Date Due" to a later date specified I6¥@in its notice, subject to the

following conditions and restrictions:

NOTICE PERIOD

0-30 days before Date Due

[*¥] days before Date Due

[*] days or greater before

Date Due

4.2 Rescheduling: Accelerated or Less-Than-Leadbeleveries --- BCS shall accommodate DGC's recpuesaiccelerate the date(s) of
deliveries and/or to manufacture and deliver MATER(specifically excluding GBICs which are not igrated into SWITCHES) in a

DEFERMENT SCHEDULE

RESCHEDULING C

No reschedulin

MATERIAL can b
date shall be

the Date Due s

or the end of

Quarter, which

Unlimited resc
that the MATER
Attachment A a

shorter period than the applicable lead time, #svis:

NOTICE PERIOD

0- 30 days before Date Due

[¥] days before Date Due

[¥] days before Date Due

[*¥] days or greater before
Date Due, or prior to BCS's
leadtime, whichever is

earlier

For these purposes, "Monthly Forecasted Demand!'sig@n the average of the last [*] months actbgbment quantities and the forecast

ONDITIONS

g permitted

e rescheduled; rescheduled
no later than 90 days from
tated on DGC's initial order
the current BCS Fiscal
whichever comes first.

heduling permitted provided
IAL is not identified in
s DGC UNIQUE MATERIAL

ACCELERATION SCHEDULE

CONDITIONS
BCS shall use
efforts to sat

BCS shall acco
insofar as not
Forecasted Dem

BCS shall acco
insofar as not
Forecasted Dem

BCS shall acco
insofar as not
Forecasted Dem
its commercial
accommodate an

acceleration a

the next 4 months, which forecast has been sultit®CS pursuant to
Section 3.2 above no less than 30 days prior tol@te of the request for acceleration.

The parties agree that DGC shall not have the regaegt forth in
Section 3.3 above on account of BCS's failure tetr&C's accelerated Due Dates.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with

respect to the omitted portions.
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mmodate DGC's requirements,
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mmodate DGC's requirements,
exceeding [*] above Monthly
and. Further, BCS shall use
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bove that level.
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4.3 Cancellation -BGC may cancel any order, by notice given not ltten delivery of the MATERIAL to the F.O.B. Paifthere shall be r
cancellation charges for orders canceled with ecaeqeriod greater than the specified lead timaHerMATERIAL being canceled, nor for
cancellation of any MATERIAL described below whiishcanceled with at least the below-specified motic

CANCELLATION SCHEDULE

NOTICE PERIOD CANCELLA TION CHARGES

E)SOday; before Date Due 100% of thePurchase Price
31-89 days before Date Due [*] of t he Purchase Price
90 days or greater before Date No liabi lity for cancellation

Due, or prior to the specified
leadtime, whichever is earlier

All other cancellations may be subject to cancielfatharges to be negotiated between the partigishvehall not exceed the lesser of (i)
BCS's direct damages, or (ii) [*]. Without limitati, if cancelled MATERIAL is not customized for, @proprietary product of, DGC, then if
BCS can find an alternate customer to purchaseetladdVMATERIAL within three (3) months after thetdaipon which DGC would have
been obliged to take delivery of such MATERIAL, B@@rees that its restocking charges, if assertéidnet exceed [*] of the Purchase
Price.

4.4 Change of Destination -- By written notice givet later than [*] days before shipment of MATERR| DGC may change the "ship-to"
destination designated in DGC's orders. Non-domesipments shall require 30 days written noticeunfh change.

5. WARRANTIES

5.1 BCS agrees that the warranty extended to DG€irhéor the MATERIAL is the same or better thaattextended by BCS to any of its
customers purchasing comparable products (the d8tdniVarranty"). In the event that BCS offers mianerable standard warranty terms
(e.g., extended length of the warranty granted stardard BCS products) to other customers punchasimparable products during the te
of this Agreement, then BCS shall immediately edteimilar terms to DGC and its Affiliated Companfes MATERIAL ordered after the
date upon which such more favorable terms are gdant

5.2 All MATERIAL shall be new (except repaired @furbished MATERIAL provided to DGC under warrasgrvice by BCS) and, in the
case of Hardware, in compliance with DGC's spediiiims as referenced in Attachment B and, to thenéxot inconsistent, BCS's
specifications, and in the case of Software, irsuitial compliance with DGC's specifications denenced in Attachment B and, to the
extent not inconsistent, BCS's specifications. Ftiome to time, BCS may issue notice of "Mandatoigid-Changes", which are changes to
MATERIAL required to satisfy governmental environmi&, safety or other standards, reliability comseor to guarantee a continuity of
supply. BCS will make commercially reasonable affdo provide DGC with [*] days' prior written no& of Mandatory Field Changes prior
to implementing such changes; however this periagi be

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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reduced if the change involves safety or reliahilir if otherwise required by law. BCS shall isddiendatory Field Change Orders
("MFCOs") to effect such changes. The parties shaliually agree on how DGC shall implement the MBCRFCOs shall include all
documentation necessary to properly define andémpht any such change, and BCS shall at its exlatiser to DGC kits of all parts and
materials necessary to effect MFCOs on all MATERIgteviously delivered as soon as practical undercttcumstances. BCS will reimbu
DGC's actual and reasonable costs incurred in imgfing such MFCOs.

5.3 All Hardware shall be free from defects durihg "Standard Warranty" stated in Attachment A, alh&oftware shall be materially free
defects during the Standard Warranty for Softwéaited in Attachment

A. BCS agrees to repair or replace all defectivedare and Software (as verified by BCS in its sekessonable discretion) which is returned
to BCS during the Standard Warranty, and to resuieh Hardware or Software to DGC within the "WatyaDycle Time for MATERIAL"
stated in Attachment A or as specified under DGB&tvanced Exchange" terms stated below. In the &ethext Hardware or Software returr
is not defective, DGC will be responsible for figigosts for return shipment to DGC. Defective Maark or Software which is not repaired
or replaced, and returned, within the stated pestall be subject to revocation of acceptance, upn BCS shall refund to DGC the then-
current purchase price (less any previous credifsnds or discounts) for such Hardware and SofwGC shall comply with BCS's
reasonable Return Material Authorization ("RMA"ppedures when making returns under this AgreenB£2§ shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to provide RMAs to DGC (or DGd&signated contractors) within

[*] of request. DGC shall be responsible for alaodes arising from return of warranty claims to B&@ BCS shall be responsible for
payment of all shipping charges relative to refrvarranty claims to DGC.

5.4

"Advanced Exchange" -- BCS agrees to suppor
requirements by delivering replacement MATE
defective MATERIAL from DGC. The parties ac
Exchange requests shall generally take betw
days.

5.4.1 Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon written

"Expedited Next-Day Advanced Exchange", BCS
day shipment of replacement MATERIAL for MA
of this Agreement that is covered by BCS's
designated U.S. or Canadian location (excep
weekends and holidays, which shall be deliv
day) for a [*] per incident charge, unless
Expedited Next-Day Advanced Exchange is att
the delivery of MATERIAL or spare Field Rep

of (normal) Advanced Exchange MATERIAL repl
serviced under BCS's warranty, to DGC by BC

t DGC's "Advanced Exchange"
RIAL prior to receipt of
knowledge that such Advance
een [*] and [*] calendar

request from DGC for

will provide next business
TERIAL listed on Attachment A
Standard Warranty to any DGC
ting only requests made on
ered on the second business
the necessity for exercising
ributable to delinquencies in
laceable Units ("FRUs"), or
acements, or of MATERIAL

S.

5.5 BCS agrees to maintain an adequate inventor y of replacement MATERIAL for
DGC to cover the estimated or actual annual replacement MATERIAL rate,
as stated in Attachment C of this Agreement .

5.6 Regardless of whether or not DGC avails its elf of the Expedited Next-Day

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with

Advance Exchange mechanism described in Sec
required to return all defective MATERIAL t

(15) days after the replacement MATERIAL ha
the defective MATERIAL are not returned by
after receipt of the replacement MATERIAL,
then-current purchase price, with payment d
after receipt of the invoice from BCS.

respect to the omitted portions.
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DGC within thirty (30) days
BCS will invoice DGC at the
ue no later than [*] days



5.7
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Dead-on-Arrival ("DOA") MATERIAL and Catast

5.7.1 Dead on Arrival: Insofar as requested by DG

5.7.2

business requirements, BCS agrees to use co
to provide expedited assistance and replace
defective upon initial inspection or use at

[*¥] days after receipt by BCS of the return

"Catastrophic failures" are defined as MATE
rates materially in excess of [*] times tho
applicable specifications (under defect-per
mean-time-between-failure and any other app
agrees that if a repair, recall or replacem
will make commercially reasonable efforts a
(A) provide sufficient replacement MATERIAL
repair, recall or replacement is initiated
base, (B) repair, replace or accept for cre
a jointly agreeable manner, (C) reimburse D
retrofit DGC's installed base, and (D) upon
technical and business support at DGC and D
reimburse DGC for all freight and freight r
connection with verified catastrophic warra

rophic Failures of MATERIAL

C in writing to meet its
mmercially reasonable efforts
ment of MATERIAL found to be
DGC, in no event longer than
ed DOA MATERIAL.

RIAL demonstrating failure

se predicted by the

-million,

licable parameters). BCS also
ent is required, then BCS

nd at its sole discretion to:

no later than [*] days after

to retrofit DGC's installed

dit all affected MATERIAL in
GC for all actual and [*] to
request, provide appropriate
GC's customer sites. BCS will
elated charges arising in

nty claims on such MATERIAL.

5.8 Mutual Warranties. Each party certifies and represents to the other
party that as of the Effective Date, it has full power, right and
authority to execute this Agreement, to ful fill all its rights and
obligations herein.

5.9 Restrictions. The foregoing Standard Warran ty shall not apply to
MATERIAL that have been (i) damaged by acci dent, Acts of God, shipment,
improper installation, abnormal physical or electrical stress, misuse or
misapplication, as determined by BCS in its sole reasonable discretion,
or (ii) modified without BCS's express writ ten authorization.

5.10 GBICs. BCS warrants that the GBICs are new, and that the GBICs will

5.11 Exclusive Remedy. DGC acknowledges and agre

conform to the specifications established b
GBICs. Except as set forth herein, BCS make
with respect to the performance of the GBIC
manufacture of MATERIAL. As a remedy for de
provide replacement parts as a service to D
failures that occur within twelve (12) mont

DGC, as set forth in Attachment A. Such rep
administered in the same manner as warranty
(e.g., RMA process, Advanced Exchange capab
etc.).

exclusive remedy for breach of the Standard
this Section 5.

y the manufacturer of the

s no warranties of any kind
s that BCS may use in the
fective GBICs, BCS will

GC for verified GBICs

hs of the date of shipment to
lacements will be

claims concerning Switches
ility, Warranty Cycle Time,

es that its sole and
Warranty is as set forth in

THE FOREGOING WARRANTIES ARE
L OTHER REPRESENTATIONS,
IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR

HE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF
CHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR

5.12 Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS STATED IN SECTION 7,
IN LIEU OF, AND BCS EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS, AL
WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS, WHETHER EXPRESS,
OTHERWISE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, T
NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY RIGHTS, MER
A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

5.13 Indemnification by DGC. DGC agrees to defen
harmless from any and all losses, damages,
expenses (including but not limited to reas
costs of litigation) incurred by BCS as a r
claim, regardless of the form of action, ar
(i) to MATERIAL made by BCS at the request
BCS to DGC or any DGC-affiliated entity ent

d, indemnify and hold BCS
liabilities, costs and

onable attorneys' fees and
esult of any third party

ising from a modification:

of DGC for MATERIAL sold by
itled to purchase MATERIAL

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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hereunder pursuant to Section 1.2 above, whicimaleduld not have arisen but for the modificatioguested, or (ii) by DGC of the
Documentation (as defined herein); provided thaSBZomptly notifies DGC of any such claim in wriingives DGC sole control of the
defense and all related settlement negotiatiordscanperates with DGC in defending or settling aagh claim.

6. QUALITY

6.1 It is BCS's intention and commitment to delitdardware and GBICs to DGC which is free of defertd Software which is materially
free of defects. To that end, BCS will take thostoas and make those reports to DGC as descrnibattachment C ("Quality
Requirements”). BCS shall establish and maintalnoamented quality system as a means to ensureltftdardware and GBICs processes
and operations conform, and all Software proceasdsoperations substantially conform, to the applie specifications of this Agreement.

6.2 Product Changes/Concerns in MATERIAL Manufaetlipy or for BCS (Specifically Excluding GBICS)BES shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to provide DGC with [*] daystioe of changes to MATERIAL (specifically excludit@BICs) that affect the form, fit or
function of such MATERIAL ("Engineering Change Ortler "ECO"). The ECO shall contain the reasontfe change and test data to
support the change. If requested, BCS shall coantlyr make samples available for evaluation. BCSI stiso notify DGC promptly should a
concern arise regarding the quality of MATERIALeddy delivered, e.g., any condition which might awipsubstantial compliance with
specification, reliability, or safety, or increabe rate of defects. If DGC does not respond to BO&riting with respect to an ECO within
fifteen (15) business days following receipt of sECO, the ECO will be deemed accepted by DGChéretvent that DGC objects in writing
to an ECO in the stated time period, then DGC nrayide BCS with written notice of such objectiondashall be entitled to (in addition to
placing orders for the changed MATERIAL) submit ghaise orders for the unchanged MATERIAL prior te #ffective date of the
implementation of the ECO, for delivery no morerttmanety (90) days after the effective date of simsplementation and in quantities which
do not exceed the total quantity of such MATERIAidered by DGC in the six (6) months immediatelyceding the date of notice of ECO.

6.3 Required Quality Levels for Hardware -- Withtiatitation, the parties shall evaluate qualityusing Defect Per Million (DPM) statistics
and other pertinent methods. BCS warrants thaadigeegate DPM of the Hardware shall meet or extteethreshold(s) stated in Attachment
C. BCS agrees to seek to make continuous improveim@&PM statistics during each succeeding yeath®term.

6.4 Non-Conforming MATERIAL -- DGC reserves thehigo reject MATERIAL which in its reasonable detgnation does not conform to
the specifications as referenced in Attachment BCDreserves the right to defer inspection untiktiof actual use of MATERIAL by DGC 1
the end user, as the case may be, but not longefthdays from shipment. Returns of rejected MARIEL shall be by BCS's standard RM
procedure, with DGC shipping the MATERIAL prepaidBCS's U.S. repair facility and BCS shipping pidpaturn to DGC's U.S.
warehouse.

6.5 Corrective Actions: Performance Review -- la @vent BCS is unable to maintain the quality Ievefuired herein, BCS will promptly
initiate corrective action pursuant to the termd eonditions of Attachment F (Service and Suppedrrements). A permanent process
modification and root cause analysis will be madailable within thirty (30) days or such other reaable timeframe that is mutually agreed
upon. Results of the failure or root cause analyisél be provided to DGC in a written report détgithe results of the investigation and
corrective actions plans to prevent its

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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recurrence. DGC agrees to limit requests for failurroot analysis in situations where the resutiald be important to DGC's business or
DGC's customer satisfaction. DGC and BCS shall meet quarterly basis to review BCS's performance.

6.6 SEE ARTICLE 8.3 and ATTACHMENT F

7. PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

7.1 Intellectual Property Rights Infringement |

7.1.1 Hardware and Software. BCS warrants that no
(specifically excluding the GBICs) infringe
under any of the [*] or any copyright or ot
third party. BCS shall defend at its expens
awards and damages, based on any claim that
excluding the GBICs) or its sale or use inf
under any of the [*] or any copyright or ot
third party, provided that DGC promptly not
provides its full cooperation and grants BC
shall have the right to be represented by i
expense). If use of MATERIAL (specifically
enjoined, BCS shall make commercially reaso
either (i) to gain rights to make, use and
(specifically excluding the GBICs) as set f
modify the MATERIAL (specifically excluding
becomes non-infringing while remaining in ¢
respects with specifications. Otherwise, at
the MATERIAL (specifically excluding the GB
the [*] of MATERIAL (specifically excluding
previous credits, refunds or discounts) and

7.1.2 GBICs. In the event that the GBICs are foun
rights of any third party, BCS will use com
to assist DGC in procuring non-infringing G
and/or vendor from which BCS procures GBICs
its rights to pursue (as subrogated party)
may have against the GBIC manufacturers and
procures GBICs sold hereunder solely with r
DGC by BCS hereunder.

7.2 Restrictions. BCS will not be obligated to
and damages to the extent that infringement
out of or is related to (a) a modification
excluding the GBICs) requested by DGC or ma
excluding the GBICs) by DGC or a third part
MATERIAL (specifically excluding the GBICs)
provided by BCS if use of the MATERIAL (spe
GBICs) alone would not have so infringed an
contemplated by BCS's written specification
descriptions for the MATERIAL (specifically
use of other than the latest unmodified rel
(specifically excluding the GBICs) made ava
infringement would have been avoided by the

7.3 Limitations. THE FOREGOING SECTIONS 7.1 AND
LIABILITY OF BCS FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
MATERIAL OR GBICs FURNISHED UNDER THIS AGRE

7.4 Trademark License. Subject to the terms of
DGC a non-exclusive, non-transferable right
trademarks, service marks, and trade names

ndemnification.

part of the MATERIAL

s any patent established

her proprietary right of any

e all claims, and pay all

the MATERIAL (specifically
ringes any patent established
her proprietary right of any
ifies BCS of such claim,

S control of its defense. DGC
ts own counsel (at DGC's
excluding the GBICs) is
nable efforts at its expense
sell the MATERIAL

orth herein, or (ii) to

the GBICs) so that it
onformity in all material
DGC's option, DGC may return
ICs), and BCS shall refund
the GBICs) (less any

accept its return.

d to infringe the proprietary
mercially reasonable efforts
BICs from any manufacturer

. Further, BCS assigns to DGC
any rights and remedies BCS
vendors from which BCS
espect to those GBICs sold to

defend or be liable for costs

, or a claim thereof, arises

to MATERIAL (specifically
de to MATERIAL (specifically
y, (b) use or combination of
with products or data not
cifically excluding the

d if such combination was not
s or written product
excluding the GBICs), (c)
ease of MATERIAL

ilable to DGC by BCS if such
use thereof.

7.2 STATE THE ENTIRE
RIGHTS INFRINGEMENT BY
EMENT.

this Agreement, BCS grants to
and license to use those BCS

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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described in Exhibit | (herein "Trademarks") in D& @arketing of MATERIAL, provided that such usénsaccordance with BCS's then
current guidelines for using the BCS Trademarksuas guidelines may be amended from time to tiMighout limiting the foregoing, such
use must reference the Trademarks as being ownB€By Nothing in this Agreement grants DGC owngrgiriany rights in or to use the
Trademarks, except in accordance with this SecB@s will have the exclusive right to own, use,ch@pply for registration for, and register
the Trademarks during the term of, and after thgrakon or termination of, this Agreement; provid&owever, that nothing herein shall li
DGC's ability to use any component part of any €madrk if such component part is a word or term ithgeneric, descriptive or otherwise
not under proprietary control of BCS. DGC will et take nor authorize any activity inconsisterthveuch exclusive right. DGC will not u
any Trademark as part of DGC's trade name, semaré, or trademark or other signifying mark, oaimanner that is confusingly similar;
provided, however, that nothing herein shall liB{&C's ability to use any component part of any €radrk if such component part is a word
or term that is generic, descriptive or otherwiseunder proprietary control of BCS or in which B&8lds no enforceable trademark rights.
Upon request, but no less frequently than quart&C shall regularly submit specimens of DGC'safsthe Trademarks to BCS, in no
event less than quarterly, and DGC agrees to imatedglichange or discontinue any improper Tradernaekas requested by BCS, and su
corrected specimens thereof for review by BCS.

7.5 Authorized Reseller. During the term of thisrégment, DGC may indicate to End Users and to titdigthat it is an authorized reseller
of MATERIAL.

7.6 Ownership. Except for the specific licensesiggd herein, the Software and Documentation (aseidbelow) are and will remain the s
and exclusive property of BCS and its supplierany, including without limitation all intellectugkoperty rights of BCS in and to the
Software and the Documentation, and all modifigadito, and derivative works based upon, the Soéwad the Documentation, except as
expressly provided in Section 10.1.2.

8. FIELD SERVICE SUPPORT
8.1 REPLACEMENTS

8.1.1 BCS shall maintain at the stocking location (s) described in Attachment D

("Description of Replacements, Prices, Lead
Replacements for all MATERIAL in reasonable
routine and emergency requirements, includi
Replacements listed in Attachment D. BCS sh
MATERIAL available to DGC throughout the "R
Period" stated in Attachment D.

8.1.2 The provisions of this Agreement relative t

in every respect to Replacements, except as

8.1.3 Replacements for Hardware and Software (Spe

GBICs)-BCS will sell Hardware Replacements
stated in Attachment D. All Hardware Replac
to new and shall conform to all applicable
including without limitation all packaging
from defects for the "Period of Warranty fo
Attachment D. BCS will sell Software Replac
price(s) stated in Attachment D. All Softwa
or equal to new and shall substantially con
specifications hereunder, including without
specifications, and be materially free from
Warranty for
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Times and Warranty Terms")
quantities to service DGC's
ng without limitation those

all make Replacements for
eplacements Availability

0 MATERIAL shall also apply
otherwise stated.

cifically Excluding

to DGC for the price(s)
ements shall be new or equal
specifications hereunder,
specifications, and be free

r Replacements" stated in
ements to DGC for the

re Replacements shall be new
form to all applicable
limitation all packaging
defects for the "Period of



8.1.4 GBICs Replacements. BCS will sell GBICs Rep

8.2

8.2.1 BCS shall Repair and Refurbish MATERIAL and

8.2.2 BCS agrees to Repair or Refurbish MATERIAL

8.3
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Replacements" stated in Attachment D. BCS a
all defective Replacements (as verified by
discretion) which are returned to BCS durin
warranty period, and to return such items t
Cycle Time for Replacements" stated in Atta

price(s) stated in Attachment A. All GBICs
BCS agrees to replace all defective GBICs R
BCS in its sole reasonable discretion) whic
the relevant Replacements return period, an
DGC within the "Warranty Cycle Time for Rep
Attachment D.

OUT-OF-WARRANTY REPAIR AND REFURBISHMENT

such third parties as DGC may from time to
the rates stated in Attachment E ("Out-of W
"Repair" and "Refurbishment" shall have the
Attachment E, and shall be at no charge for
covered by warranty.

and to return items to DGC within the "cycl

E. DGC shall be responsible for reimburseme
relative to Repairs and Refurbishments. All
shall be free from defects for the "Period
Attachment E.

SERVICE AND SUPPORT REQUIREMENTS

8.3.1 BCS will make available to DGC appropriate

installation, adjustment, operation, and ma
hereunder per Attachment F.

8.3.2 BCS will provide DGC and DGC will provide i

9.

9.1

9.2

9.3

defined in Attachment F.
DEFAULT AND TERMINATION

Default. The occurrence of any of the follo
constitute default of this Agreement: (a) t
observe or perform any material covenant or
Agreement, or (b) such party becomes insolv
appointment of a receiver, or making an ass
creditors; or proceedings are commenced aga
bankruptcy, insolvency or debtor's relief |
vacated or set aside within sixty (60) days
commencement thereof;

Termination. In the case of default, if suc
within thirty (30) days after a party has r
default from the other party, the party giv
(final) Notice of Intent to Terminate, dire
DGC to its Vice President, Manufacturing, a
Vice President, Finance and Administration.
such default is not cured within five calen
such Notice of Intent to Terminate, the par
terminate this Agreement by written notice
such default continues.

Effect of Termination. Upon the expiration
Agreement, however arising: (a) DGC will ce
authorized reseller of MATERIAL, but may co
regarding MATERIAL to end users; (b) DGC wi
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grees to repair or replace
BCS in its sole reasonable

g the relevant Replacements
o0 DGC within the "Warranty
chment D.

lacements to DGC for the
Replacements shall be new.
eplacements (as verified by
h are returned to BCS during
d to replace such GBICs to
lacements" stated in

Replacements for DGC and
time designate in writing at
arranty Service Schedule").
meanings stated in

MATERIAL and Replacements

and Replacements as ordered,
e time" stated in Attachment
nt of all shipping charges
Repairs and Refurbishments
of Warranty" stated in

training relative to the use,
intenance of MATERIAL sold

ts customers the support

wing acts or events shall

he failure by such party to
obligation under this

ent, suffering the

ignment for the benefit of
inst such party under any
aw, if such proceeding is not
after the date of

h default has not been cured
eceived written notice of

ing notice may give a second
cted in the case of notice to
nd in the case of BCS, to its
In the event thereafter that
dar days after the receipt of
ty giving notice may

at any time thereafter while

or termination of this

ase holding itself out as an
ntinue to provide support

Il cease its use of the BCS
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Trademarks; and (c) each party will cease i
Information of the other party, and will re
party's direction, all such Confidential In
portions thereof which are incorporated int
except that DGC may retain a mutually agree
Confidential Information which is reasonabl
out its support obligations to its reseller
expressly acknowledges that the provisions
in full force and effect after the terminat
however arising.

If BCS has terminated this Agreement due to
terms of this Agreement, the parties agree
amounts owed by DGC to BCS as of the effect
or termination shall accelerate, and such p
as of such effective date, whether or not |
originally been established. Otherwise, DGC
full payment period for the payment of amou
effective date of termination.

9.3.2 After termination of this Agreement and pro

9.4

9.5

10.

this Agreement due to DGC's material breach
Agreement, DGC may submit orders for MATERI
to approval by BCS in its sole discretion,

for such MATERIAL at the time such purchase
The parties agree that orders submitted as

shall not be considered approved by BCS unt
notified DGC of its acceptance of such orde

No Damages for Termination. NEITHER PARTY W
FOR DAMAGES OF ANY KIND, INCLUDING SPECIAL,
DAMAGES, SOLELY ON ACCOUNT OF THE TERMINATI
AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TERMS.

Nonexclusive Remedy. The exercise by either
this Agreement will be without prejudice to
this Agreement or otherwise.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

10.1 Documentation. Promptly following the Effec

to DGC BCS's standard technical documentati
including but not limited to data sheets, B

and other manuals distributed to resellers
technical manuals), all of which BCS will s
relating to MATERIAL purchased by DGC for u
Thereafter, during the term of this Agreeme
updates and corrections thereto when first

10.1.1 Technical Documentation. Subject to the ter

hereby grants to DGC a nonexclusive, nontra
to reproduce and use BCS's technical docume
BCS hereunder, solely for DGC's internal pu
marketing and support of MATERIAL. The fore
documentation shall not be transferable exc

to: (a) the Affiliated Companies, and the r
Affiliated Companies, for use solely in the
MATERIAL; (b) DGC's contract manufacturer(s
course of manufacture of products for DGC;
Companies' service contractor(s) for use so
and support of MATERIAL on behalf of DGC or
DGC's "Certified Maintenance Organizations"
who have been qualified by DGC to be self-m
containing MATERIAL and to whom DGC is maki
comparable technical DGC documentation), pr
of BCS technical documentation to such CMOs
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ts use of the Confidential
turn or destroy, at the other
formation and any copies or
o documents or archives,

d number of copies of BCS's
y required in order to carry

s and end users. DGC

of Section 10.4 shall remain
ion of this Agreement,

DGC's material breach of the
that the timing for all

ive date of such expiration
ayment shall become payable
onger payment periods had
shall be entitled to the

nts due and payable as of the

vided that BCS has terminated
of the terms of this

AL, which orders are subject
provided that DGC pays BCS
ordered are accepted by BCS.
set forth in this Section

il and unless BCS has

rin writing.

ILL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER
INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL
ON OR EXPIRATION OF THIS

party of any remedy under
its other remedies under

tive Date, BCS will provide

on ("Documentation")

CS Manuals (as defined below)
of MATERIAL (such as

upply in electronic format,

se as set forth herein.

nt, BCS will provide all

made commercially available.

ms of this Agreement, BCS
nsferable worldwide license
ntation provided to DGC by
rposes in connection with the
going license to technical

ept by means of sublicense
esellers of DGC and

course of support of

), for use solely in the

(c) DGC's and Affiliated

lely in the course of service
Affiliated Companies; (d) to
("CMOs", being DGC customers
aintainers of DGC products
ng disclosure of DGC's own
ovided that such disclosure
be upon no more
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liberal or favorable terms as the disclosur
technical documentation.

10.1.2 Manuals. Subject to the terms of this Agree

DGC a nonexclusive, nontransferable license
manual(s) (including manual text and layout
Manuals"), subject to BCS's approval as des
reproduce and distribute such revised versi
"DGC Manuals") worldwide with DGC's product
will own all right, title and interest in a
modifications of the BCS End User Manuals,
the underlying BCS End User Manuals. BCS wi
Manuals as to form and content with respect
use or distribution. Such approval shall no

and shall be made within seven (7) business

of the proposed DGC Manuals.

10.1.3 Expenses. DGC is solely responsible for all

modifying, reproducing, distributing and us

10.1.4 Warranty and Disclaimers of Warranty.

(@) Limitations. BCS grants the license
hereunder solely on an "AS IS" basis.

(b) Limited Warranty. BCS warrants that
infringes any copyright of any third party.

(c) Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS STATED HEREIN

e of DGC's comparable

ment, BCS hereby grants to

to modify the BCS End User
s) for MATERIAL ("BCS

cribed below, and to

ons of the BCS Manuals (the
s. BCS acknowledges that DGC
nd to any such DGC

subject to BCS' ownership of

Il review and approve the DGC
to MATERIAL prior to their

t be unreasonably withheld
days following BCS's receipt

expenses incurred by DGC in
ing the Documentation.

s in this Section 10.1 to DGC

no part of the Documentation

, BCS DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS,
STATUTORY, REGARDING THE DOCUMENTATION, INC
IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANT ABILITY, NON

WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR
LUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION THE
-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY

RIGHTS, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE
shall have no liability for errors introduc

Documentation in the process of modifying,
Documentation.

10.2 Software License Agreement. The Software is

in Attachment G.

10.3 Diagnostic Support Tools, Information and F

and make available to DGC throughout the "R
Period" stated in Attachment D all diagnost
information for the MATERIAL which do not r
for use, as may be reasonably requested by
support of the MATERIAL provided under this
DGC's products. BCS shall provide to DGC al
corrections thereto which do not require a

for use as soon as the same are commerciall
provides to DGC hereunder a license (which
Affiliated Companies, DGC's maintenance and
DGC's authorized third party CMOSs) to use a
firmware for such support and maintenance p

10.4 Confidentiality -- All information relating

items or services to be sold hereunder, ins
confidential or proprietary information of
identified as such at the time of disclosur
writing within 30 days after disclosure, sh
the terms of this Section. Each party recei
information shall exercise such care as the
respect to its own confidential information
disclose any such information to any third
dissemination of such information to its em
need-to-know basis only; all such employees
bound by written contract, enforceable by t
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. The parties agree that BCS
ed by DGC into the
reproducing and using the

licensed to DGC as set forth

irmware -- BCS will maintain
eplacements Availability

ic support tools and

equire license key activation
DGC for maintenance and
Agreement and in support of
| software bug fixes and

paid license key activation

y available. BCS grants and
DGC may sublicense to DGC's
service contractors, and

Il tools, information and
urpose.

to this Agreement or the
ofar as marked as being the
the disclosing party or

e and confirmed as such in
all be protected according to
ving such confidential
receiving party uses with
of a similar nature, not to
party and to limit

ployees or contractors on a
and contractors shall be

he
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disclosing party, to respect such confidenc
paragraph shall survive this Agreement in p
and Documentation, and for a period of [*]
but shall not apply to information: already

at time of disclosure without breach of agr
independently developed by the receiving pa
the receiving party by a third party withou

or available by lawful inspection of availa
provisions shall not supersede any non-disc
otherwise bind the parties.

10.5 Advertising -- This Agreement aligns DGC an

relationship. Each party will permit a join
following the execution of this Agreement o
upon time. The timing, nature and wording o
relating to this relationship shall be only
parties.

10.6 Subcontracting -- Except as to purchase of

subassemblies for which no approval shall b
DGC's approval (not to be unreasonably with
before subcontracting to other than a BCS A
a company controlled by, controlling or und

10.7 Equal Opportunity Clauses -- (A) When the M

furnished are for use in connection with a
subcontract, FAR 52.222-26 (Equal Opportuni
52.222-35 (Affirmative Action for Special D
Veterans, 41.CFR 60-250.5); and FAR 52.222-
Individuals with Disabilities, 41.CFR 60-74
shall, within 30 days of written request of
appropriate certifications of compliance wi
hereby acknowledges notice of requirements
non-segregated facilities. Unless BCS is ex
Executive Order 11246 concerning equal empl
shall not maintain any segregated facilitie
establishments and shall complete a certifi
required by the May 9, 1967 Order of the Se
United States.

10.8 Survival of Terms -- The following provisio

survive the term of this Agreement: [*].

10.9 Notices -- Except as otherwise stated, all

this Agreement shall be in writing and shal
by certified mail or air express, return re
nationally-recognized delivery service prov
personally delivered to a party. Notice by
shall be deemed received on actual receipt
attention it is directed, addressed as foll

If to BCS: Attention: Chie
BROCADE COMMUNI
1901 Guadalupe
San Jose, CA 95

If to DGC: Attention: Dire
DATA GENERAL CO
Technology Driv
Apex, NC. 27502

es. The provisions of this
erpetuity for the Software
years for the Hardware,
known to the receiving party
eement or law, or

rty, or properly disclosed to

t restriction or condition,

ble goods or services. These
losure agreement(s) as may

d BCS in a strategic

t press announcement

r at another mutually agreed
f all press announcements
as mutually agreed by the

commodity supplies or

e required, BCS shall obtain
held, delayed or conditioned)
ffiliated Company (defined as
er common control with BCS).

ATERIAL, work or performance
U.S. government contract or
ty, 41.CFR.60-1); FAR

isabled and Vietnam Era

36 (Affirmative Action for

1.5) shall apply. Further BCS
DGC, furnish DGC with

th such requirements. (B) BCS
for certification of

empt from the provisions of
oyment opportunities, BCS

s at any of its

cation to the effect as

cretary of Labor of the

ns of this Agreement shall

notices to be given under

| be sufficient only if sent
ceipt requested, or other
iding proof of delivery, or
mail or by personal delivery
by the person to whose
ows:

f Financial Officer
CATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
Parkway

131

ctor of Purchasing
RPORATION
e

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.

Page 15 of 4!



VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT 2085
10.10 Limitation of Liability--

10.10.1 NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE OR
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION LOST PROFITS, LOST REVENUES, LOSS OF DATA OR
INTERRUPTION OF SERVICE, ARISING FROM BREACH OF T&EIIAGREEMENT.

10.10.2 WITH THE EXCEPTION OF DAMAGES PAYABLE BY BETO DGC UNDER SECTION 5 ("WARRANTIES"), WHICH
DAMAGES SHALL NOT EXCEED THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID BY 5C TO BCS IN RESPECT OF THE AFFECTED MATERIAL IN
THE WARRANTY PERIOD IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE DATHLIABILITY IS IMPOSED, IN NO EVENT WILL BCS's
LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT FOR ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, HOWEVER CAUSED AND ON WHATEVER THEORY OF
LIABILITY, EXCEED AN AMOUNT EQUAL TO THE GREATER OR(i) TEN PERCENT (10%) OF THE AMOUNTS PAID TO BCSYB
DGC IN RESPECT OF THE AFFECTED MATERIAL IN THE TWBIE (12) MONTHS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE EVENT
GIVING RISE TO SUCH DAMAGES, OR (ii) TWO MILLION DQLARS ($2,000,000).

10.11 Whole Agreement; Amendment; Construction; W aiver -- This Agreement is

the exclusive statement of the contract bet
the subject matter herein, and may be amend
executed by each party. Captions are for co
affect interpretation. This Agreement shall
its terms, neither for or against either pa

by the substantive laws of the State of [*]
conflict of law rules and the application o
International Sale of Goods. If any provisi
tribunal, then this Agreement shall be deem
requirements for validity as declared at su
party to insist in any instance upon perfor
shall not be construed as a waiver.

10.12 "Year 2000" Assurance -- BCS agrees to take

changes necessitated in its business by the
millennium on January 1, 2000. Without limi
performance of its obligations under this A
MATERIAL to DGC will not be materially impa
arising from such change of date, and that
2000 Qualified" as stated in Section 1.2. B
DGC relative to Year 2000 issues. BCS will
BCS's state of Year 2000 readiness and of a
that the foregoing assurances will not be f
reasonable commercial efforts to require th
suppliers whose services or products are re
performance of its obligations under this A
production of MATERIAL or Replacements for
contractually bound by these undertakings.

ween the parties concerning
ed only in writing, duly
nvenience only and shall not
be construed according to
rty, and under and governed
(U.S.A), excluding its

f the UN Convention on the
on is declared invalid by any
ed adjusted to conform to the
ch time. Failure of either
mance by the other party

proper actions to anticipate
transition to the next

tation, BCS agrees that BCS's
greement and provision of
ired or interrupted by causes
all MATERIAL shall be "Year
CS agrees to cooperate with
keep DGC informed relative to
ny significant BCS concerns
ulfilled. BCS will use

at its contractors and

quired by BCS in the
greement, or in the

DGC hereunder, are

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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EXECUTED UNDER SEAL:

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS

SYSTEMS, INC. DATA GENERA
("BCS") ("DGC")
By: /s/ CHARLES SMITH By: /s/ WIL
Charles Smith William
Vice President of Worldwide Sales Director
Technology
Date: 8/4/99 Date: 7/29/

ATTACHMENTS:

A. Description of MATERIAL, Prices, Lead Times aWdarranty Terms

o8]

. Specifications

C. Quality Requirements

)

. Description of Replacements, Prices, Lead TiaresWarranty Terms

E. Out-of Warranty Service Schedule

T

. Service and Support Requirements
G. Software License Agreement
H. Patent Coverage List

I. BCS Trademarks
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ATTACHMENT A
DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL, PRICES, LEAD TIMES AND WAR RANTY TERMS

A.1 Description of Hardware Components of MATERIAL and Prices:

DGC Average
Specification Vendor Part Quarterly
Number Number Description Price Volume
[*] B-1630-016 Silkworm 16 P ort Fibre $[*] *See Below
Channel Switc h, with
("]
[*] B-1630-008 Silkworm 8 Po rt Fibre $ 1] *See Below
Channel Switc h, with
("]
[*] BR-2802-0000  Silkworm 2800 , 16 Port $[* *See Below
Fibre Channel Switch with
Dual Power Su pply and
[*]
[*] BR-2402-0000  Silkworm 2400 , 8 Port Fibre $[* *See Below
Channel Switc h with Dual
Power Supply and [*]
TBD BR-2101-0000  SilkWorm 2100 , 8 Port Fibre $[* *See Below
Channel Switc h with single
power supply and

(]

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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A.2. Description of Software Components of MATERIAKLd Prices:

[*] and Version 1.1 [*] (as descr ibed in $[*]
[*1 Exhibit A to Attachment G)
[*] and Version 2.1 [*] (as descr ibed in $[*]
[*] Exhibit A to Attachment G)
TBD SW-200008-01  [*] version 2 .1 for $[*]
[*] (BR-2802-
0000) or [*]
(BR-2402-000)
TBD SW-200024-02 [*] for BR $[*]
2101-0000 (DG PN TBD)

A.3 Description of GBICs and Prices:

[*] X1017 GBICs Module Copper $ [*] Per switch
requirement

[*1 X1006 GBICs Module S/W Optical $ [*] Per switch
requirement

A.4  Description of Extended Warranty and Prices

TBD TBD [*] Warranty for $ 1]
118030714
TBD TBD [*] Warranty for $ 1]
118030715
TBD TBD Extended Warr anty-per year [*] of the
MATERIAL

purchase price

*Average Quarterly Volume is [*] switches. The vole may be comprised of any qty. of the 4 variouiscémtypes.
B. Minimum Lead Times: 90 days to F.O.B. point.

C. Standard Warranty (exclusive of GBICs; for GBKgg below): [*] months after date of delivery he .0.B Point for Hardware, and [*]
days for the Software. An optional extended wagrafif*] years in duration may be exercised by D@ithin [*] from the date of purchase
from BCS for Hardware.

D. Warranty Cycle Time for MATERIAL: [*] days

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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E. GBICs: Defective GBICs shall be replaced foedaqd of twelve (12) months after date of deliverythe F.O.B. Point.

F. No Trouble Found (NTF) Repair Charges: BCS neayiest NTF Evaluation Charges, as stated belowgidiied NTF MATERIAL in
excess of [*] of the total return of MATERIAL to BXover the previous 2 quarter period. The chardlenei exceed the Repair Pricing shc
on Attachment E of this Agreement. In the event D&€harged for a NTF that is returned to DGC drad MATERIAL continues to fail,
BCS agrees to re-verify the failure in a similanfiguration.

Part Number Description NTF Evaluation Charges
[lB-1630008) gportswich o
[*](B-1630-016) 16 Port Switch il
[*](BR-2402-0000) 8 Port Switch *
[*](BR-2802-0000) 16 Port Switch il

*Or the repair pricing shown on Attachment E, wigehr is less.
G. DGC UNIQUE MATERIAL: None.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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ATTACHMENT B
SPECIFICATIONS
DGC Specifications:

118026931
118029629
118029645
118029646
118030714
118030715

are referenced herein and made part of this VolBnwng Agreement.

Additional applicable DGC Specifications shall lukeled to this reference page as approved by mugueément of the parties in a signed
writing.
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B.
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DGC BCS

Part Number

Part Number

*} B-1630-016
[*] B-1630-008
[*] BR-2402-0000
[*] BR-2802-0000
DGC BCS
Part Number Part Number
[*] B-1630-016
[*] B-1630-008

[]
1

BR-2402-0000
BR-2802-0000

DGC BCS

Part Number

Part Number

4] B-1630-016
&l B-1630-008

M BR-2402-0000
M BR-2802-0000

DOA Rate: [*]
Plug & Play Rate: [*]

B. TRACKING: BCS's commitments relative to idergdtion of MATERIAL and Replacements (e.g. by semiaber tracking or date code
Tracking shall be by BCS Model Number, Serial NumBevision Number and via barcode label on the MRTAL.

C. ADMINISTRATION: BCS shall make reasonable effott report to DGC's designated Quality Engineegirayp on a quarterly basis,

ATTACHMENT C

QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

Defects per Million
escription- (DPM) Target

6 Port Switch *]
Port Switch [*]
Port Switch [*]

6 Port Switch *]

escription- MTBF Target

6 Port Switch *]
Port Switch [*]
Port Switch [*]

6 Port Switch *]

Annual
escription- Replacement Rate

6 Port Switch [*
Port Switch [*
Port Switch [*]

6 Port Switch [*1

pertinent statistics relating to MATERIAL hereundiecluding, without limitation, the following:

MTBF data
Failure rates
Repair history

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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D. BCS's other pertinent data relative to MATERIAhd Replacement quality data shall also be aveitabDGC, as and upon DGC's
reasonable requests from time to time. The inigabrting contact for purposes of this paragrapityjds

Attention: Director Purchasing Data General Corpiora
Technology Drive, P.O. Box 786, Apex, NC 27502
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ATTACHMENT D
DESCRIPTION OF REPLACEMENTS,
PRICES, LEAD TIMES AND WARRANTY TERMS

A. For so long as MATERIAL is available for purcleasereunder, Replacements Pricing shall be BCE's as listed on Attachment A or D
below, of this Agreement for Replacements upordgite of purchase.

Thereafter, commencing upon the anniversary oféhmination of the last Order Entry Period, andrup6 days' notice to DGC, BCS may
increase the price for any Replacement annuallynbtual agreement of the parties reduced to a digmiing.

B. Period of Warranty for Replacements: Three (8hths after date of delivery to the F.O.B. Pointta remainder of the original Standard
Warranty for the Hardware, whichever is longerd@@s for Software.

C. Warranty Cycle Time for Replacements: [*] days

D. "Replacements Availability Period" shall mear tferiod commencing upon the effective date of Algieeement and ending, for any
Replacement,

[*] years after EOL notification to DGC of the MATHHAL to which such Replacement relates.
E. U.S. Stocking location(s): BCS shall stock aetiver Replacements at the following stocking lomas: San Jose, California.

F. Replacements shall include, but not be limitethe items listed in Exhibit RPL (being, as of #ifective date, the "Recommended
Replacements List", attached hereto).

SilkWorm Il Switches are Field Replaceable UnitR(I5) with no replacement parts internal to the gwiThe GBICs are FRUSs. Pricing for
replacement GBICs is as listed on Attachment A.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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EXHIBIT RPL
RECOMMENDED REPLACEMENTS LIST

SilkWorm 2400 (118030714) and 2800 (118030715) iaekl Replaceable Units (FRU) and the pricingsgalows:

Part Number Description P ricing
XBR-000010 Power Supply - $ [*]
XBR-000008 2400 Fan Tray $ [
XBR-000013 2800 Fan Tray $ [*]
XBR-000007 2400 Main Board $ [
XBR-000012 2800 Main Board $ [*]
XBR-000009 2400 Chassis $ [
XBR-000014 2800 Chassis $ [*]

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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ATTACHMENT E

OUT-OF-WARRANTY SERVICE SCHEDULE

A. Cycle Time to effect Out-of-Warranty Repair oefrbishment: [*] days
B. Period of Warranty for Repaired/Refurbished Nate[*] days.

C. Cost (price) for Repair and Refurbishment: Alt-of-warranty MATERIAL submitted for repair or Riegement will be returned with a
DGC Purchase Order referencing a BCS RMA numbes.0OBGC Purchase Order will include an evaluatiorrghaf $ 500 per unit returned.
This evaluation charge will be applied toward tepair cost, which repair cost will be billed at BE®en-current rates for such out-of-
warranty repair, except as set forth below relativBITE Repair Pricing. Upon return of all out-o&wanty MATERIAL, BCS will evaluate
and submit to DGC within 5 days of the receipt AMERIAL, a "Cost to Repair Proposal.” No repair wavill be initiated until formal
written approval to proceed and authorizing Puref@gler is received by BCS from DGC. The repait gl completed and shipped back to
DGC within 30 days of receipt of the written appabv

At no time shall the Repair and Refurbishment NTép&r Pricing for the Mainboard assembly exceedtiee listed below for the
SilkWorm 1000 8-Port switch (118029629) or 16-Fwvitch (118029631).

Part Number Description N TE Repair Pricing

XDG-1001 Silkworm Il Mainboard $ [*]

At no time shall the Repair and Refurbishment NTép&r Pricing for the Mainboard assembly exceedtiee listed below for the
SilkWorm 2400 8-Port switch (118030714) or 2800Pddt switch (118030715).

Part Number Description N TE Repair Pricing
XBR-000007 2400 Mainboard $ [*]
XBR-000012 2800 Mainboard $ [*]

BCS will use reasonable efforts to evaluate thanaplity of the mainboard in its sole discretion.
Should DGC decide not to Repair and Refurbish MATAHR DGC has the option to scrap the MATERIAL at BC

D. Description of Repair and Refurbishment Actidti To effect Repair/Refurbishment of any MATERIARCS shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to achieve both Functional Regsawell as Refurbishment, as described below:

1. Functional Repair:
All actions required to clean, repair and resto®MTERIAL to the form, fit, and function establisheg the specifications, including:
Verify and repair functional failures Install alO®/FCOs which affect form, fit, or function to lateDG authorized revision.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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Replace any broken, chipped, dented, or crackedriabaffecting form, fit or function.
Perform adjustments and alignments as required.aresverify functional performance.
Clean and remove dirt, dust, grease, and custanséatied labels.
Provide functional failure/repair report.
Packaging and shipping of the repaired unit stmiferm to Specification for MATERIAL.
Exchange units or subassemblies in lieu of thammalgnaterial are acceptable.
2. Refurbishment:
Functional Repair, as well as all actions requicedorrect cosmetic defects, blemishes, and disatitms.
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ATTACHMENT F
A. SERVICE AND SUPPORT REQUIREMENTS
1.0 Service and Support Requirement

DGC will be responsible for working directly withe end users, and BCS Support will work directifhvidGC to support DGC personnel, as
set forth below. DGC represents and warrants thsteixperienced in, capable of, and staffed twipey Level 1 and Level 2 support (as
defined below). BCS offers training programs tastdn attaining this level of expertise on MATERIABCS will accept calls only from

DGC level Il engineers who have successfully comepleourses 2 and 3 set forth below and/or who hadergone formal DGC training on
MATERIAL.

BCS will provide Level 3 support (as defined below)

2.0 Support Level Definitions

2.1 Level 1 Support: Level 1 support is the finse| direct end user contact, most likely via apélone call handling group provided by DGC.
Level One support includes:

* First contact direct DGC/End User interaction

* Information collection and analysis

* |dentification of whether the problem is knowndalmas a known solution

* Troubleshooting and problem reproduction

* Problem report administration and tracking

The parties agree that End Users shall not havagheto contact BCS directly for questions rethte the Products.

2.2 Level 2 Support: Level 2 support is "technmabport” provided by DGC personnel. Level 2 suppotypically provided by experts in the
applicable Product and who serve as the escalption for Level 1. Level 2 support personnel arpasted to resolve all known problems,
installation and configuration issues, assistimivare or driver updates at the End User site cbeRCS posted Technical Notes and other
technical information supplied that will assistproviding problem resolutions. All pertinent dateal be entered in DGC's problem tracking
database.

Should the Level 2 analyst be unable to resolveoblpm, either because of lack of expertise, extegusoubleshooting knowledge, or
expiration of the allotted Level 2 resolution tintlee Level 2 analyst may escalate the problem te&L® for resolution as set forth below.
Level 2 personnel of DGC will continue to diliggntvork with Level 3 personnel of BCS to accompliskolution. Level 2 personnel of DC
will communicate all resolutions back to the Encetss

Escalations should be presented to BCS engine¢hg iform of a problem tracking data base recottl afl pertinent configuration detail and
failure information or symptoms documented in detai

In an effort to maintain an efficient support orgation and crisp exchange of information, DGC it the number of support personnel
(Level 2) authorized to contact BCS (Level 3) tpapximately 5 (or their designated alternates).
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2.3 Level 3 Support: Level 3 support is providedBfyS System Engineers (SE) and/or Technical Supragineers (TSE). Level 3 is the fi
point of contact for technical issues between B&&RGC. Once the parties mutually agree that alprolshould be escalated to Level 3,
BCS will be responsible for resolution and willlizie commercially reasonable resources to resaled problem.

Prior to escalating to Level 3, it is expected (D&C shall provide the following information andadonentation:
* Any error information from the device connectediie switch and from the switch.

* All names and revisions of hardware equipment.

* All firmware revisions of the drivers.

* Any log files from the devices connected to theétsh.

* Any trace file from the devices connected to singtch.

* The configuration information of the equipmenirgeused.

* Detailed definition of all steps taken to reprodwand resolve this situation prior to escalatmhevel 3.

Assigned Level 3 support personnel (SE and/or TcaB)be contacted via direct dial, email to an distadd "support” alias, web site initiated
input, and by calling BCS's 1-888-ATFIBRE suppariber. Direct access to BCS support personnebwilpossible during normal BCS
business hours (8 AM to 5 PM PST, M-F). Emergerityations for Severity 1 problems are handled v Z4 pager coverage at 1-888-
ATFIBRE

(1-888-283-4273)
3.0 BCS Severity Definitions and Support Goals

The goal for initial response time to all telephsm@port requests is thirty (30) minutes or lessngunormal BCS working hours. For after
hours telephone requests, the goal is one (1) ¢toless. The targeted response time for requebtaiged by other means, such as email, or
fax, is four (4) hours.

Severity Definition Service Objective Resolution Ti me

1 BCS Product is completely non- Respond to initial request Lessthan5d ays,
functional, or deemed a safety hazard, within 30 minutes during using commerc ially
situation has high impact on normal BCS business hours, reasonable ef forts

development or delivery efforts.
Installation problems.

and 1 hour for non-business
hours. Resources applied until
a solution or acceptable work-
around is found.

2 BCS Product is functionally impaired, Respond to initial request Less than 10 days
has substantially degraded performance within 1 (one) hour during
but is not completely dysfunctional. normal BCS business hours.
There are no available work-arounds. Resources applied
Situation has medium impact on DGC continuously, during business
activity hours, until a solution or
work-around is found.
3 BCS Product or advertised functionality Resources applied on a Next maintena nce

may be slightly impaired but is
operational, has low to no impact on
DGC activity, and there are work-
arounds available.

priority basis, until a solution release.
or a work-around is found.
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Answer generic questions or
provide path to answers within
reasonable time frames. The
BCS web site will be the
prime repository for this type
of information. Enhancement
requests will be reviewed and
implemented in the next major
release, where feasible, or

to meet specific commitments
made.

4.0 Firmware/Software Enhancements and Bug Fixes

Commercially

reasonable ef forts for

generic quest ions.
Enhancement r equests
are processed ona

case by case basis.

BCS periodically releases new versions of firmwthed provide enhancements to functionality andbfigs (Severity 1,2, and 3 in the
foregoing table). In addition, new firmware versanay enhance current features or enable new é&satBCS provides license keys to enable
features (i.e., Webtools, Zoning, SES, etc.). DGICneed to obtain a license key to enable newuiesst

Iltem 118029629 and 118029631 Per Copy or

New Firmware Release on *1
SilkWorm 1000 with Licensed
Feature

New Feature [*1
Item 118030714 and 118030715 Per Copy or
New Firmware Release on *]

Silkworm 1000 with Licensed

Feature

New Features for 118030714-2400 *
Switch BFOS*

New Features for 118030715-2800 *
Switch BFOS*

New Features for Software Bundle [*1
(Webtools, Zoning, and SES)

Per Incident

Per Incident

*BFOS = Brocade Fabric Operating System (all firmevand functionality that is standard with eachtsji

Note: [*]

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with

respect to the omitted portions.
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B. TECHNICAL TRAINING PROGRAM

1. BCS TRAINING OUTLINE

COURSE D AYS COST

2 Switch intro & features: 3 $3,000
Audience: Sales/Marketing/SE's

3 Install/Config/Troubleshoot/Mgmt tools: 2 $3,000
Audience: SE's, Tech support

FULL COURSE (2 AND 3) 5 $6,000

Note: Includes nc-reproducible copy of all course materials for epelson. Additional binders of training materialaynbe purchased from
BCS.

1.1 Courses will be offered at BCS's offices in Sase, CA or at such other facility notified to D&EGm time to time. A minimum of five (£
students will be required to attend, or the coursguestion may, at BCS's sole option, be canc®&®&ILC agrees that it shall pay any and all
travel and lodging expenses related to such trgiCS will make these courses available to End dgstomers, on terms to be negotiate

BCS's then-current rates for end user training sesir
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ATTACHMENT G
SOFTWARE LICENSE AND DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

This Software License and Distribution Agreemehe (tSoftware Agreement”) is entered into as Octdhd999 ("Effective Date") by and
between Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.,@cation organized under the laws of the stateadif@nia, U.S.A., and having its
principal place of business at 1901 Guadalupe Payk®an Jose, California 95131, ("BCS") and Datadgea Corporation a Delaware
corporation having its principal place of businasd400 Computer Drive, Westboro, MA. 01580 ("DGC")

RECITALS

WHEREAS, DGC has agreed to purchase MATERIAL fro@3under Volume Pricing Agreement No. 2085 ("VPA&Z0, including
Software. (Unless otherwise indicated, capitalizths shall have the same meaning assigned in \0BA.P

WHEREAS, BCS and DGC desire to extend their originmmipment manufacturer relationship to include Software, subject to the terms
and conditions of this Software Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, BCS and DGC enter into this Sofavagreement on the following terms and conditic
1. Definitions.

1.1 Scope of Definitions. The definitions in thiscBon 1 shall apply to this Software AgreementoHtla definition in this
Section 1 conflicts with a definition in VPA 208&en the definition in this Section 1 shall apmithis Software Agreement, and the
definition in VPA 2085 shall apply therein.

1.2 "Enhancements"” shall mean new releases of Sadtwith improved features and capabilities foraka fee will be charged.

1.3 "DGC Products" shall mean DGC products, ineigdiut not limited to servers, data storage, fiddrennel interconnect technology, total
enterprise solutions, and any and all related prbihformation, programs or specifications.

1.4 "Hardware" shall mean BCS's hardware produndssabassemblies, as further described in VPA 208&h are the subject of VPA 2085
and which DGC shall purchase under VPA 2085.

1.5 "Software" shall mean BCS's proprietary sofenfar use with the Hardware, as further describelixhibit A hereto and as may be
amended from time to time by BCS in its usual cewsbusiness.

1.6 "Updates" shall mean patches and bug fixea/fach no fee will be charged.
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2. Prices.

2.1 Prices. The prices for licenses of SoftwareEmidancements to DGC will be as set forth in Extibihereto or provided to DGC by BCS
from time to time. DGC and BCS shall adjust sudhgw for Software from time to time according te #thedule set forth in VPA 2085.

2.2 Taxes. In addition to the prices shown on ExlEBbDGC agrees to pay any applicable federatestar local taxes which may be levied on
the license or use of Software or will provide B®@i#h an appropriate reseller tax exemption cewiiéc

3. Terms for Licensing of Software

3.1 Controlling Terms. The terms and conditioniagnses set forth in this Software Agreement applgach order accepted or fulfilled by
BCS and will supersede the terms of DGC's purcbeder or other business forms notwithstanding B@&¢tgptance or acknowledgment of
such business forms.

3.2 Supply and Activation. BCS shall pre-instalftd@are on Hardware to be shipped to DGC. DGC acKkedges that the Software must be
activated by loading the appropriate license ké&yieénse Keys") onto the Software. DGC further amkiedges that each License Key may
be specific to a particular Hardware unit and Hegiarate License Keys may be required to actihatsame Software function on separate

Hardware units. Enhancements will also require hseeKeys. Updates will be delivered to DGC in a neammutually agreed by the parties.

3.3 Prepaid License Keys. At BCS's sole discref@®C may order License Keys by prepaying for a ¢jtyanf License Keys and
subsequently requesting License Keys for specificdWare units until the number of prepaid Licenggy«in DGC's prepaid account is
reduced to zero. BCS shall maintain records otibense Keys (including their corresponding Hardevanits) charged against DGC's
prepaid account. From time to time, DGC may realslyn@quest BCS to provide a copy of such recand3®&C. Such records shall be
deemed to be a correct and accurate accountin@@f'®prepaid account unless DGC provides writtdification to BCS of an error in such
records; DGC will use commercially reasonable eésfpromptly to review and report any discrepanoiged therein. Any unused prepaid
amounts are not refundable.

3.4 Acceptance. All orders for License Keys argeeitio acceptance in writing by BCS and are nodinig until written acceptance or
authorization of the License Keys, whichever idiearin the case of acceptance by authorizatiohy the portion of the order authorized s
be considered binding. Notwithstanding the foregp#ach DGC purchase order will be deemed accémt&LS unless BCS provides
written notice to DGC of its decision to reject fherchase order within [*] business days after BG8teipt of that order.

3.5 Cancellation. BCS reserves the right to caanglaccepted orders, or to refuse to deliver axydeélivery of authorized License Keys, if
DGC fails to meet the obligations of this Softwagreement within the cure period set forth in Smt.2 or if VPA 2085 is terminated due
to DGC's breach.

3.6 Payment. All BCS invoices will be due and pdgab U.S. dollars within [*] calendar days of tHate of the invoice, and BCS will not
send any invoice to DGC prior to the date of acaepd covered by the invoice.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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3.7 License Grant to DGC. Subiject to the termsamdliitions of this Software Agreement, BCS graatBGC a nonexclusive,
nontransferable, non-sublicensable license:

(i) to use the program modules or features of tfén#re which have been activated by License Keykfar which DGC has paid the
requisite fees for the purpose of manufacturingesting DGC Products incorporating such Softwawk lardware;

(ii) to distribute the Software to DGC's customendy in object code form as embedded in Hardwatenporated into DGC Products sold or
leased to such customers;

(i) to distribute the Enhancements and Updatd3®&C's customers only in object form, including glactronic means provided that DGC
uses commercially reasonable efforts to implemeutiggtions for the storage and transmission oBhieancements and Updates to ensure
that such electronic means are not circumventeahigythird party in contravention of the restricsdn this Software Agreement.

3.8 Software Use by Second-Tier OEMs. Subjectéaé¢nms and conditions of this Software AgreemB@iS grants to DGC a nonexclusive,
nontransferable, non-sublicensable license:

(i) to grant to DGC's OEMs ("Second-Tier OEMs") afythe rights of Section 3.7 above or Sectiont®Rw, provided that any such use
shall be governed by a written agreement betwee@ B@ Second-Tier OEM no less favorable to andeptivie of BCS than the license
rights and restrictions of this Software Agreemannil

(ii) to distribute the Software to Second-Tier OEbdy in object code form as embedded in Hardwageriporated into DGC Products sold
or leased to such Second-Tier OEMs.

3.9 Software Use by DGC's Customers. Subject teettms and conditions of this Software Agreeme@SRyrants to DGC a limited right to
distribute (i) the Software or Enhancements whiabehbeen activated by License Keys and for whiehrélgjuisite fees have been paid to
BCS, (ii) Updates, to (A) DGC resellers with thght to further distribute to DGC customers, and DBC's customers, without the right to
further to distribute or sublicense, to use thegpaion modules or features; provided that any use @yystomer shall be governed by the End-
User Software License Agreement attached herefxlaibit C or a written sublicense agreement betw2&¢ and DGC's customer no less -
favorable to and protective of BCS than the Endrl$dtware License Agreement attached hereto ahExh

3.10 Provision of License Keys. Upon DGC's reque€!$S and DGC shall use reasonable efforts to miytagtee upon a procedure for the
distribution of License Keys from BCS to DGC's ausers and Second-Tier OEMs.

3.11 Limitations. Except as otherwise expresslyiged under this Software Agreement, DGC shall haveight, and DGC specifically
agrees not to remove the Software from the Hardivmanénich it is embedded.

3.12 Ownership. DGC agrees that the foregoing $iesmo not grant any title or other right of owhé@rdo the Software and that BCS and/or
its licensors shall continue to own all right,ditind interest in and to the Software.
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3.13 Proprietary Notices. DGC agrees (i) not toaeenor destroy any copyright, trademark, patengtber notice, legends or markings of
proprietary or confidential rights placed upon ontained within the Software, and (ii) to placetsunotices, legends and markings on and
within the DGC product incorporating the Softwattee("DGC Product") or on or within the documentatielated to the DGC Product in
accordance with the reasonable written instructafi3CS.

3.14 Restrictions. DGC, on behalf of itself, the ©@&ffiliated Companies and the DGC contract mantufias(s), agrees that it will not: (a)
disassemble, decompile, or reverse engineer artw&ef, (b) except as authorized herein, copy ogemttse reproduce any Software, in wk
or in part; or (c) except as set forth herein oA 2085, create derivative works from, adapt, ifyp&hange or enhance Software without
BCS's prior written consent. DGC's rights in thét®are will be limited to those expressly grantadhis Agreement. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the parties agree that DGC shall haeeitiht to modify the Software as may be requireddnnection with DGC's setup of the
Software for a reseller or an end user, but stalemo rights to otherwise modify the Software.#ghts not granted to DGC by BCS in the
Software are reserved to BCS.

3.15 Restricted Rights. The Software shall be diagsas "commercial computer software" as defiirethe applicable provisions of the
Federal Acquisition Regulation (the "FAR") and slgppents thereto, including the Department of DedgiidoD) FAR Supplement (the
"DFARS"). The parties acknowledge that the Softwaas developed entirely at private expense andhihaiart of the Software was first
produced in the performance of a Government contifahe Software is supplied for use by DoD, Swftware is delivered subject to the
terms of this Software Agreement and either (@décordance with DFARS 227.7202-1(a) and 227.72@2-8¢ (ii) with restricted rights in
accordance with DFARS 253.227-7013(c)(1)(ii) (OCIBR), as applicable. If the Software is supplieduse by a Federal agency other than
DoD, the Software is restricted computer softwagvered subject to the terms of this Software Agnent and (i) FAR 13.212(a); (ii) FAR
53.227-19; or (iii) FAR 53.227-14(ALT Ill), as apghble.

4. Limited Warranty; Limitations of Liability.

4.1 Limited Warranty. BCS warrants that the Sofevaill substantially conform to its published sgeitions for a period of ninety (90) de
from the later of receipt of the Hardware contagnihe Software or receipt of access to the SoftwHnes limited warranty extends only to
DGC as the original licensee. DGC's sole and ek@dugmedy and the entire liability of BCS andstgpliers under this limited warranty w
be, at BCS or its service center's option, repaplacement, or, if neither repair nor replacenisbmmercially practicable in BCS's sole
discretion, refund of the Software if reported (gopn request, returned) to BCS or its designe& B@:s not warrant that the Software is
error free or that DGC will be able to operate $tudtware without problems or interruptions. Thisrraaty does not apply if the Software or
the Hardware containing the Software (a) is licerfee beta, evaluation, testing or demonstratiorppses for which BCS does not receive a
license fee, (b) has been altered, except by BE3as not been installed, operated, repaired,adntained in accordance with instructions
supplied by BCS,

(d) has been subjected to abnormal physical otredatstress, misuse, negligence, or accideng)pis used in ultrahazardous activities.

4.2 BCS warrants that all Software shall be "Y&20®@Qualified". For purposes of the foregoing, "lv2800 Qualified" Software will
correctly process, calculate, compare and
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sequence date data from, into and between theigtleind the twenty-first centuries, including lgagar calculations, when used in
accordance with the associated product documentatid provided that all hardware, firmware andvgafe used in combination with such
products properly exchange accurate date dataproppate Year 2000 format. Neither party may makg changes to specifications without
written consent of the other party.

4.3 Disclaimer of Warranty. BCS MAKES NO WARRANTIE3R

REPRESENTATIONS AS TO PERFORMANCE OF THE SOFTWARR DGC PRODUCTS, EXCEPT AS SET FORTH ABOVE. ALL
IMPLIED WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS, INCLUDING BUT NO LIMITED TO IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF
MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSEMD (EXCEPT AS STATED BELOW) NONINFRINGEMENT, ARE
HEREBY DISCLAIMED. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED FOR THIS SECTION 4, THE SOFTWARE IS PROVIDED "AS"IS

4.4 Limited Liability. THE LIABILITY OF BCS, IF ANY, FOR DAMAGES RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS SOWARE
AGREEMENT OR THE SUPPLY OF SOFTWARE HEREUNDER, WHHEHER RESULTING FROM A TORT (INCLUDING
NEGLIGENCE), BREACH OF CONTRACT OR OTHER FORM OF AN, SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE LIABILITY CAP SET
FORTH IN

SECTION 10.10.2 OF THE VPA 2085, AND SHALL IN NO BEXT INCLUDE LOSS OF PROFITS, COST OF PROCURING
SUBSTITUTE GOODS OR SERVICES, OR ANY INCIDENTAL, INRECT OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OF ANY KIND, EVE!
IF BCS IS AWARE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGESND NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL
PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED UNDER THISG&-TWARE AGREEMENT.

4.5 Support and Service. DGC will provide serviod aupport directly to its resellers and custonfi@rshe Software, Enhancements and
Updates; BCS has no obligations to provide supgiogctly to DGC customers or resellers. BCS withyide service and support for the
Software, Enhancements and Updates to DGC asrfieticAttachment F to VPA 2085.

4.6 Indemnity. The provisions of Section 7.1.1 &fA/2085 are incorporated herein by reference.
5. Term and Termination.
5.1 Term. The term of this Software Agreement shalthe same as the term of VPA 2085.

5.2 Right to Terminate. Either party may terminthie Software Agreement (i) immediately upon teration of VPA 2085; or (ii) upon the
occurrence of a default, as follows".

(1) The occurrence of any of the following acteweents shall constitute default of this Agreeméatthe failure by such party to observe or
perform any material covenant or obligation undés Agreement, or (b) such party becomes insoharifers the appointment of a receiver,
or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditarproceedings are commenced against such padgrany bankruptcy, insolvency or
debtor's relief law, if such proceeding is not wadeor set aside within sixty (60) days after theecbf commencement thereof.

(2) In the case of default, if such default hasbrexn cured within thirty (30) days after a parég lheceived written notice of default from the
other party, the party giving notice may give aoset(final) Notice of Intent to Terminate, directedhe case of notice to DGC to its
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Vice President, Manufacturing, and in the caseatice to BCS, to its Vice President of Finance Addinistration. In the event thereafter
that such default is not cured within five (5) mess days after the receipt of such Notice of e erminate, the party giving notice may
terminate this Agreement by written notice at dmetthereafter while such default continues.

5.3 Effect of Termination for Default. In the evehat BCS terminates this Software Agreement onwaticof DGC's default, BCS may: (i)
declare all amounts owed by DGC to be immediataly @hd payable and refuse to deliver any furtheerise Keys or ship any further
Hardware under VPA 2085 until such amounts have lpaé; (ii) require C.O.D. payment; and (iii) puesany other remedies at law or in
equity available to it. Termination of the Softwa@greement shall not terminate or otherwise aféeut licenses previously distributed by
DGC hereunder.

5.4 Liability for Termination. NEITHER PARTY SHALBE LIABLE TO THE

OTHER AS A RESULT OF THE EXPIRATION OR ANY TERMINAIDN OF THIS SOFTWARE AGREEMENT, INCLUDING FOR
ANY MONEYS EXPENDED, DAMAGES SUFFERED OR LIABILITIE INCURRED BY EITHER IN THE CONDUCTING OR
PROMOTING OF THEIR BUSINESS, OR FOR LOST PROFITS OBNSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OF ANY KIND.

5.5 Survival. DGC's obligations to pay BCS all amisudue hereunder, as well as Sections 1, 3.2-(8tlusive), 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8 shall
survive the expiration and any termination of thaftware Agreement. The licenses under Sections3387and 3.9 and the warranties under
Section 4 shall survive the expiration and termaoraof this Software Agreement.

6. Confidentiality

The confidentiality obligations set forth in VPA&®shall apply equally to information disclosed enthis Software Agreement. (The
provisions entitled "Protection of Information” itxhibit C shall not apply to DGC).

7. General

The general provisions in VPA 2085 concerning tifving subject matter, if any, are incorporateddin by reference and shall apply
equally to this Software Agreement: Controlling@woverning Law, Venue, Arbitration or Alternate Digp Resolution (relative only to clail
solely between the parties and not involving tipiadties), Assignment, Injunctive or Equitable ReglRelationship of the Parties, Compliance
with Laws including Export Laws, Severability, Nogs, Force Majeure, Headings, Modification, andwa/ai

8. Conflict Provision.

8.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the exhibigeto, and the relevant portions of VPA 2085 (Wldce fully incorporated herein by this
reference) constitute the entire agreement betwreeparties pertaining to the subject matter heraud supersede in their entirety any pric
contemporaneous written or oral agreements betteeparties.

Page 37 of 4!



VOLUME PRICING AGREEMENT 2085

8.2 Conflicts. Except as expressly set forth herglimother terms and conditions of VPA 2085 shathain in full force and effect. In the ew

of conflict between this Software Agreement and VBI85, the terms and conditions of this Softwareeggent shall apply to Software and
the terms and conditions of VPA 2085 shall applidsvdware.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused thfsa@me License Agreement to be executed by thdy duthorized representatives.

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS

SYSTEMS, INC. DATA GENE RAL CORPORATION
("BCS") ("DGC")
By: /s/ Charles Smith By: /s/ W illiam F. O'Neill
Charles Smith Willia m F. O'Neill
Vice President of Worldwide Sales Direct or, New Products & Technology
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EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION OF SOFTWARE*

BCS Software Bundle | (Version 1.1) PN SW-0000000007-0002
BCS Software Bundle Il (Version 2.1) PN SW-200007-02
QuickLoop PN SW-2000008-01

*Includes WebTools, Zoning, and SCSI Enclosure Seiees (SES)
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EXHIBIT B

PRICES
BCS Software Bundle | PN SW-0000000007-0002 $ [*] per license per switch
BCS Software Bundle Il PN SW-200007-02 $ [*] per license per switch
QuickLoop PN SW-2000008-01 $ [*] per license per switch

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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EXHIBIT C
END-USER SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT

PLEASE READ THIS END-USER SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMEN T CAREFULLY BEFORE USING THE SOFTWARE
CONTAINED IN THIS EQUIPMENT.

BY USING THE EQUIPMENT THAT CONTAINS THIS Softwaré,OU ARE CONSENTING TO BE BOUND BY THIS AGREEMENT.
IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO ALL OF THE TERMS OF THIS AGEEMENT, PROMPTLY RETURN THE EQUIPMENT AND DO NOT
USE THE Software.

SINGLE USER LICENSE. Subject to the terms and ctmals of this Agreement, Brocade Communicationg&ys, Inc. ("BCS") and its
suppliers grant to Customer ("Customer") a nonestelicense to use (a) BCS software which provitiesasic operating environment for
BCS equipment, and (b) the specific BCS programutesdor features which have been enabled by saftkeys supplied by BCS or its
authorized distributors and for which Customer baisl any applicable license fees (collectively, tBeftware"), both of the foregoing in
object code form only: (i) solely as embedded inB&uipment owned or leased by Customer, and(iikdy-enabled software, solely on t
single central processing unit corresponding tosthifevare key(s) supplied by BCS and to the licdess paid by Customer.

LIMITATIONS. Except as otherwise expressly providetter this Agreement, Customer shall have no rayd Customer specifically agre
not to:

(i) make error corrections to or otherwise modifyadapt the Software nor create derivative worlsetaipon the Software, or to permit third
parties to do the same;

(i) copy, in whole or in part, decompile, revesggineer, disassemble or otherwise reduce the Saftte human-readable form; or
(iii) remove the Software from the equipment in ehit is embedded.

Only to the extent required by law, if any, BCSlspeovide Customer with the interface informatioeeded to achieve interoperability
between the Software and another independentlyettgamogram, upon Customer's request and upon paysh8CS's applicable fee.
Customer shall observe strict obligations of casffiiality with respect to such information.

UPGRADES AND ADDITIONAL COPIES. For purposes ofghiigreement, "Software" shall include (and the g&and conditions of this
Agreement shall apply to) any upgrades, updatagfikas or modified versions (collectively, "Upgexl) or backup copies of the Software
licensed or provided to Customer by BCS or an ai#hd distributor for which Customer has paid tpplecable license fees and holds the
corresponding software keys. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY BER PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT: (1) CUSTOMER HASIN
LICENSE OR RIGHT TO USE ANY SUCH ADDITIONAL COPIESR UPGRADES UNLESS CUSTOMER, AT THE TIME OF
ACQUIRING SUCH COPY OR UPGRADE, ALREADY HOLDS A VAD LICENSE AND THE CORRESPONDING Software KEYS TO
THE ORIGINAL Software; AND (2) USE OF UPGRADES ISMITED TO BCS EQUIPMENT FOR WHICH CUSTOMER IS THE
ORIGINAL END USER PURCHASER OR LESSEE.

NOTICES OF PROPRIETARY RIGHTS. Customer agrees amntain and reproduce all trademark, copyrightepatand notices of oth
proprietary rights on all copies, in any form, bétSoftware in the same form and manner that sadeinark, copyright, patent, and notice
other proprietary notices rights are included an3loftware. Except as expressly authorized inAgigement, Customer shall not make any
copies or duplicates of any Software without themwritten permission of BCS. Customer may makehsoackup copies of the Software as
may be necessary for Customer's lawful use, provZigstomer affixes to such copies all trademargydght, confidentiality, and patent, a
notices of other proprietary notices rights thgiear on the original.
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PROTECTION OF INFORMATION. Customer agrees thateasp of the Software and associated documentatioiiding the specific
design and structure of individual programs, céutgitrade secrets and/or copyrighted material@BBCustomer shall not disclose, provide,
or otherwise make available such trade secretsmyrighted material in any form to any third pantigthout the prior written consent of BCS.
Customer shall implement reasonable security meaguorprotect such trade secrets and copyrightéeriala Title to Software and
documentation shall remain solely with BCS.

LIMITED WARRANTY. BCS warrants that the Softwarelirgubstantially conform to its published specifioas for a period of ninety (90)
days from the later of receipt of the equipmenttaiming the Software or receipt of access to thiagwe. This limited warranty extends only
to Customer as the original licensee. Customelésal exclusive remedy and the entire liabilityB@S and its suppliers under this limited
warranty will be, at BCS or its service center'§@p repair, replacement, or refund of the Sofeviireported (or, upon request, returned) to
BCS or its designee. Except as expressly grantddsmiAgreement, the Software is provided AS ISSBdbes not warrant that the Software is
error free or that Customer will be able to opethteSoftware without problems or interruptions.

This warranty does not apply if the Software orB@&S equipment in which the Software is embeddgds(icensed for beta, evaluation,
testing or demonstration purposes for which BCSsdu receive a license fee, (b) has been altese@pt by BCS, (c) has not been installed,
operated, repaired, or maintained in accordande ingtructions supplied by BCS, (d) has been stibjeto abnormal physical or electrical
stress, misuse, negligence, or accident, or (@esdl in ultrahazardous activities.

DISCLAIMER. EXCEPT AS SPECIFIED IN THIS WARRANTY, AL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED CONDITIONS, REPRESENTATIONS,
AND WARRANTIES INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY | MPLIED WARRANTY OR CONDITION OF
MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSEYONINFRINGEMENT, SATISFACTORY QUALITY OR ARISING
FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICERE HEREBY EXCLUDED TO THE EXTENT ALLOWED BY
APPLICABLE LAW.

IN NO EVENT WILL BCS OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FORNY LOST REVENUE, PROFIT, OR DATA, OR FOR SPECIAL,
INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES HOWEVER CAUSED AND REGARDLESS OF THE
THEORY OF LIABILITY ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF OR INBILITY TO USE THE Software EVEN IF BCS OR ITS SUPIERS
HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGE. IN NO EVENT SHALL BCS'S OR ITS SUPPLIERS' LIABILY
TO CUSTOMER, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING BGLIGENCE), OR OTHERWISE, EXCEED THE PRICE PAID t
CUSTOMER. THE FOREGOING LIMITATIONS SHALL APPLY EVHE IF THE ABOVE-STATED WARRANTY FAILS OF ITS
ESSENTIAL PURPOSE. BECAUSE SOME STATES OR JURISDIGNS DO NOT ALLOW LIMITATION OR EXCLUSION OF
CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, THE ABOVE LIMTATION MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU.

TERM AND TERMINATION. This Agreement is effectiventil terminated. Customer's license rights under Agreement will terminate
immediately without notice from BCS if Customerdaio comply with any provision of this Agreemeldpon termination, Customer must
destroy all copies of Software and the correspandoftware keys in its possession or control.

CUSTOMER RECORDS. Customer grants to BCS and dtlspendent accountants the right to have conduitterjgh a mutually acceptable
third party auditor, under a suitable confidentjafigreement, an audit of Customer's books, rec@mdsaccounts during Customer's normal
business hours to verify compliance with this Agneet. In the event such audit discloses materiatagmnpliance with this Agreement,
Customer shall promptly pay to BCS the appropliaensee fees.

EXPORT. SOFTWARE, including technical data, is sabjo U.S. export control laws, including the UERport Administration Act and its
associated regulations, and may be subject to erpanport regulations in other countries. Custoagrees to comply strictly with all such
regulations and acknowledges that it has the resipitity to obtain licenses to export, re-exporntjmport Software.
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RESTRICTED RIGHTS. The Software shall be classiisdcommercial computer software" as defined énapplicable provisions of the
Federal Acquisition Regulation (the "FAR") and slgppents thereto, including the Department of DedgiidoD) FAR Supplement (the
"DFARS"). The parties acknowledge that the Softwaas developed entirely at private expense andhihaiart of the Software was first
produced in the performance of a Government contifaihe Software is supplied for use by DoD, Saftware is delivered subject to the
terms of this Agreement and either (i) in accor@anih DFARS 227.7202-1(a) and 227.7202-3(a), ipm(ith restricted rights in accordance
with DFARS 252.227-7013(c)(1)(ii) (OCT 1988), agphmable. If the Software is supplied for use biyeaeral agency other than DoD, the
Software is restricted computer software delivesghiject to the terms of this Agreement and (i) Fi&R12(a);

(i) FAR 52.227-19; or (iii) FAR 52.227-14(ALT ll))as applicable.

GENERAL. This Agreement shall be governed by anasttmed in accordance with the laws of the Sta@adifornia, United States of
America, as if performed wholly within the statedamithout giving effect to the principles of comfliof law. If any portion hereof is found to
be void or unenforceable, the remaining provisiohthis Agreement shall remain in full force anfeef. This Agreement constitutes the
entire agreement between the parties with respebetuse of the Software
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[l

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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EXHIBIT 10.24
MANUFACTURING AGREEMENT

Solectron California Corporation ("Solectron") whqgwinciple place of business is located at 84 t&bidr Drive, Milpitas, California 95035
and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. ("Brogadbkbse principle place of business is located®@tliGuadalupe Parkway, San Jose,
California 95131 in their desire to formulate astgic business relationship and to define thgieetations regarding this relationship, her
agree as follows:

1.0 PRECEDENCE:

1.1 This Standard Manufacturing Agreement (the ¥&gnent") is intended by Solectron and Brocade &vaip as a basic set of operating
conditions regarding their respective businesgiogiship whereby Solectron would manufacture cenaodels of Brocade's products as
described in more particularity in the addendaits Agreement (the "Products”). Product-specifguissments along with specific business
terms and conditions with respect to each Prodiltbermutually agreed to and documented by an eeetaddendum to this Agreement.

1.2 It is the intent of the parties that this Agnemt and its addenda shall prevail over the temdscanditions of any purchase order,
acknowledgment form or other instrument. In theng\af a conflict between the terms of this Agreetraard the terms contained in any
addenda to this Agreement, the terms of the addsimalabe controlling. Addenda shall not be bindimgil executed by authorized
representatives of each party.

1.3 This Agreement may be executed in one or moweterparts, each of which will be deemed the palyibut all of which will constitute
but one and the same document. The parties agseagreement and its addenda may not be modifiegdgin writing signed by both
parties.

1.4 Nothing in this Agreement shall be construede®med to prevent or otherwise inhibit Brocadeikty or right to manufacture, at
Brocade's facility or at a third party facility Bfocade's choice, the Products. Further, nothirtbismAgreement shall be construed or deemed
to (i) require Brocade to order any units of thedricts to be manufactured by Solectron, or (iiypnt or otherwise inhibit Brocade's ability

or right to design, develop, manufacture, have rfeantured, market, use, sell, and or distribute fatlpw-on products or derivatives of the
Products.

2.0 TERM

2.1 The effective date of this Agreement shall 89/ 1999 ("Effective Date"). This Agreement slmmmence on the Effective Date, and
shall continue for an initial term of three (3) ygalhereafter, this Agreement shall automaticladiyrenewed for successive one (1) year
renewal terms unless either party requests invgitat least one hundred twenty (120) days pridhécanniversary date of the then-current
term, that this Agreement not be so renewed.
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3.0 PRODUCT FORECAST

3.1 Itis agreed that Brocade will provide Solexfron a monthly basis, a ndamding rolling twelve (12) month Product forecashis sectior
as appropriate, may be modified in an addendurafteat specific Product requirements. Solectrorl stiew all such forecasts as
Confidential Information as provided in Section 11.

4.0 MATERIAL PROCUREMENT

4.1 Solectron is authorized to purchase materiitsgustandard purchasing practices including, btitimited to, acquisition of material
recognizing Economic Order Quantities, ABC buy ppland long lead time component management in aodereet the PO and long lead
time requirements of Brocade, solely in accordamitle the authorization procedures set forth in Bect.2. Brocade recognizes its financial
responsibility for the material purchased by Salaton behalf of Brocade.

4.2 Solectron will purchase specified quantitietooy lead time material and Brocade unique mdtasauthorized by Brocade in advance
and in writing. Solectron will compile and maintdand provide an updated version to Brocade on mthhobasis that reflects Brocade's
current requirements) a report concerning this leag time material which will contain:

* Brocade part number

* Solectron part number

* Manufacturer name

* Manufacturer part number

* Manufacturer description

* Lead time

* Where used

* Quantity per unit of Product

* Purchase quantity authorized by Brocade
* Purchase price authorized by Brocade
* Extended price

It is understood and agreed that if Brocade or8etsctron to stop production of Products for Bratadonvenience, prior to the consump

of all material authorized for purchase by Brocpdesuant to this Section 4.2, Brocade will purchabenaterial as provided in

Section 4.3. It is the intention of both partieattSolectron effectively manages the long lead time Brocade unique material inventory such
that the inventory will be completely consumed g &nd-of-support of the Products, and Brocadeawilisequently not have any such
material inventory liability.

4.3. In the event of a termination or a cancellfatba purchase order or a material release, Soleshall provide to Brocade within ten (10)
business days the cost of material inventory ahgevadd, whether in raw form, work in process,inished goods, and not returnable to the
vendor or usable for other customers, the costaiérial on order which cannot be canceled, andvangor cancellation charges incurred
with respect to material canceled or returned ¢ovéendor.
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4.4. Solectron shall undertake reasonable effortsihcel all applicable component purchase ordets@duce component inventory through
return for credit programs or allocate componeotsafternate programs if applicable. Charges vélfibalized within thirty (30) business
days.

4.5. Solectron shall define manufacturing capdtityeach major step in the manufacturing proceslstatal manufacturing capacity for each
Product and/or family of Products. Solectron widlcaprovide component supplier supply capacityrimfation with the exception of Brocade
Managed Components, as defined below in Sectiofcél®ctively "Capacity Information"). Capacityfbrmation along with up-to-date
information on Solectron's manufacturing capacitydei and cycle time plan will be provided to Broeamh the first day of each month in a
monthly report or as requested by Brocade. Compgawaplier capacity information will be provided an as-needed basis.

4.6. During the term of this Agreement, Solectrgreas to aggressively monitor lead times and ayciles for the various Products as broken
down into the following major categories:

* Order processing cycle time

* Material lead time

* Manufacturing cycle time

* Pack out and shipping cycle time

This information will be reported to Brocade on anthly basis, or as otherwise requested by Bro¢damad time Reports"). Solectron agr
to aggressively work with Brocade to develop sgie which will lead to ongoing reductions in laades and cycle times for the various
categories. The Lead time Reports will includedbtails and results of the implementation of sucdiagies.

4.7. Solectron will perform a preferred suppliemgarison on an ongoing basis to ensure optimabliSelectron's preferred supply base.

4.8. Upon written request by Brocade, Solectror@gjto increase or decrease the quantity of Pr@dabeduled to be delivered to Brocad
follows:

']

Solectron agrees to use commercially reasonabietetio meet the [*] in the table above. The abibebility percentages are the limit for
the sum of requested changes during any rollingl#j planning cycle.
[*]. The maximum cumulative reschedule delay isys(60) days.

5.0 PURCHASE ORDERS AND PRICE REVIEWS

5.1 Brocade agrees to provide Solectron Purchader©or Material Releases
[*] calendar days in advance of the scheduled dejidate (or as otherwise provided by an

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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addendum) and shall become effective upon acceptairitie order by Solectron. Solectron shall acoepéject all Purchase Orders within
two (2) business days of receipt or such Purchader®shall be deemed accepted by Solectron. Surdhroation must include acceptance
requested delivery dates. If Solectron is unabkctept Brocade's requested delivery dates, Sotentust immediately advise Brocade of the
reason such delivery dates cannot be met. Chaunigesoshall be provided by written or electronicaligpatched notice from Brocade.
Solectron shall notify Brocade of acceptance diange order within two (2) business days afteriptad Brocade's change order.

5.2 In the event of termination or cancellatioragfurchase order, the terms of Section 4.3 shplyap

5.3 Solectron and Brocade will meet every [*] mantbr more frequently upon the request of eithetypduring the term of this Agreement
to review pricing and determine whether any pricgéase or decrease is required. Any price chamgeapply only to purchase orders or
material releases issued after the effective diase@h price change, unless otherwise agreed ®olsctron and Brocade.

6.0 DELIVERY

6.1 Solectron acknowledges and agrees that Safestral make commercially reasonable efforts totrtteetarget goal of 100% on-time
delivery to Brocade's customer, defined as thenséig of Product by Solectron within a maximum windaf O days early and O days late
based on the acknowledged delivery due date. Bloisos, as appropriate, may be modified by an adidento reflect specific Product
requirements.

6.2 All shipments shall be F.O.B. origin (Solectsotiock). Title and risk of loss shall pass to Bide upon Solectron's tendered delivery t
common carrier or Brocade's designee.

6.3 Upon learning of any potential delivery delagslectron will notify Brocade within one (1) buess hour as to the cause and extent of
such delay.

6.4 If Solectron fails to make deliveries at thedfied time and such failure is caused by Solect8blectron will, at no additional cost to
Brocade, employ accelerated measures such as ahaquediting fees, premium transportation costélmor overtime required to meet the
specified delivery schedule or minimize the latengfsdeliveries; however, [*].

6.5 Should Brocade require Solectron to undertakent activity on behalf of Brocade, Brocade agreesubmit requested export informat
to Solectron pursuant to Solectron Guidelines fardAde-Driven Export Shipments as provided in tideada.

6.6 All Products shall be packaged and preparedHimment in a manner which (i) follows the reqments set forth in Brocade's Purchase
Order, (ii) follows good commercial practice, (ii§) acceptable to common carriers for shipment,(ands adequate to ensure safe arrival.
Each shipment shall be accompanied by a packipdtsit includes Brocade's part numbers, purchates oumber and the quantity shipped.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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7.0 PAYMENT TERMS
7.1 Solectron and Brocade agree to payment terrft$ after the date of shipment of Product or Stden's invoice, whichever is later.
7.2 Currency will be in U.S. Dollars unless spexifiy negotiated and reflected in the addenda.

7.3 Solectron and Brocade agree that the pricesafon unit of Product manufactured by SolectrorBfmcade pursuant to the Agreement
shall be set forth in the applicable addenda, antthér agree that such prices shall be generafigdapon a formula of different percentage
mark-ups or margins contained in such applicabteeada for the different components, depending wgloether the various components are
either (i) components for which Solectron is resgibie for all aspects of the management of thdioglship with the supplier ("Solectron
Managed Components"), or (ii) components for wiscbcade is responsible for all aspects of the mamegt of the relationship with the
supplier ("Brocade Managed Components"). The agplecaddenda for the products manufactured by Biemaa of the Effective Date shall
be Exhibit 1 attached hereto.

8.0 QUALITY

8.1 Solectron shall manufacture the Products inm@@nce with the process quality requirements dstafs, specifications and expectations as
set forth in Exhibit 2 ("Quality System and Prod@utality Requirements").

8.2 Solectron will use best industry standards amufiacturing, assembly and test, consistent witatimg Brocade's product specifications.
As far as practical, Solectron will use documerntetlistry standards (ASME, IPC, SPI, etc.).

8.3 Workmanship standards for the PCBA are IPC @&llass 1l and IPC-R-700C Class Il. Workmanship déads for the system level are
Cosmetic Specifications of Molded Parts: SPI 198itien. As needed, Solectron and Brocade can miytagtee to add industry or product-
specific standards.

9.0 ENGINEERING CHANGES

9.1 Brocade may, upon advance written notice te@adn, submit engineering changes (ECOs) for pm@tion into the Product. It is
important that this notification include documeidatof the change to effectively support an in\gegtiion of the impact of the engineering
change. Solectron will use all reasonable effartetiew the engineering change and report to Rteeethin two (2) business days). If any
such change affects the price, delivery, or qual@sformance of said Product, an equitable adjustweél be negotiated between Solectron
and Brocade prior to implementation of the change.

9.2 The parties agree that five (5) business dags@asonable time period to permit Solectrorvéduate ECO impact regarding potential
excess material liability, price, and delivery.

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.
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9.3 Solectron agrees not to undertake significa
changes, or process step discontinuance aff
and/or mechanical form and fit without prio
concurrence of Brocade.

9.4 Brocade shall pay Solectron for their costs
rate of [*] each. [*] per sustaining produc
charged to Brocade. ECOs that are just for
charged to Brocade. ECOs before a product r
(GA) maturity will not be charged to Brocad

10.0 INVENTORY MANAGEMENT

10.1 Solectron agrees to purchase components acc
vendor list (AVL)

10.2 All tools, tooling equipment, test equipmen
furnished to Solectron by Brocade (See Atta
at contract signing date) or paid for by Br
connection with this Agreement will be clea
and will remain the property of Brocade and

* Be clearly marked and remai
Brocade.

* Be kept free of liens and e

* Be certified by Brocade to
GAO's Y2K guidelines.

10.3. Unless otherwise agreed, Brocade is respons
maintenance of Brocade tooling/equipment. S
burn-in ovens, hi-pot tester and test fixtu
Brocade, but will charge Brocade for parts

10.4. Brocade hereby appoints Solectron its baile
the Brocade Property, and Solectron accepts
that it will not issue any negotiable bills
Property and shall neither file nor permit
filed against any of the Brocade Property.
or claim is filed, Solectron shall promptly
take all action necessary to cause such lie
Brocade Property to be released or otherwis
(45) days. If such lien or claim is not rel
(45) days, then Solectron shall be deemed t
Property at the then current replacement co
and such amount shall be immediately payabl

10.5. Solectron shall hold Brocade Property at it
modify the property without the written per
property will be used by Solectron only for
Upon Brocade's request, Solectron shall red
Brocade in the same condition as originally
the exception of reasonable wear and tear.
lost, damaged or destroyed, Solectron's lia
limited to the book value of the property.

11.0 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND PROPRIETARY RI
11.1 Solectron and Brocade have executed as of A

this Agreement, a Nondisclosure Agreement f
of confidential information (the

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with

respect to the omitted portions.
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"NDA Agreement"), as attached hereto as Att achment 2 and incorporated
herein by reference.

11.2 Subject to the terms of the NDA Agreement a nd the proprietary rights of
the parties, Solectron and Brocade agree to exchange, at least
semi-annually, relevant process development information and business
plans to include market trends, process tec hnologies, product
requirements, new product developments, ava ilable capacity and other
information to support technology advanceme nts by both Solectron and
Brocade.

11.3 Solectron acknowledges and agrees that all

and to the Products manufactured by Solectr
this Agreement shall remain with Brocade (a
applicable).

12.0 WARRANTY

12.1. Solectron warrants for a period of [*] from
the manufacture of the Product, that (i) th
specifications applicable to such Product a
manufacture, which are furnished in writing
Solectron; (ii) such product will be of goo

material supplied by Brocade) and workmansh

which Solectron is responsible in the manuf
will be free and clear of all liens and enc
will convey good and marketable title to su

12.2. All Products are subject to Brocade's inspe
Brocade's facility or facility of the purch
final acceptance. If any Product delivered
the specifications provided by Brocade and
Brocade shall notify Solectron of such fail
up to five (5) business days after receipt
either repair or replace the Product at Sol
Solectron-caused problems. If Solectron fai
Product within such five (5) business day p
have the right, without liability, to requi
conforming Product at Solectron's sole cost

12.3. In the event that any Product manufactured

with the foregoing warranties, Solectron sh
expense, replace, repair or correct such Pr
of such defective Product. Solectron shall

in order to effect the replacement of such
Brocade. Solectron agrees to maintain a rep
under warranty. If Solectron is unable to r
such product, then Solectron shall credit B
paid by Brocade for such Product.

12.4. The foregoing constitutes Brocade's sole re

breach of warranty claims.

12.5. Solectron shall have no responsibility or o
warranty claims with respect to Products th
abuse, misuse, accident, alteration, neglec

12.6. Solectron shall have no liability or respon
damages, or failures to the extent that any
(i) Solectron's compliance with Brocade's s
the negligence of Brocade in supplying the

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confid@rireatment has been requested with

respect to the omitted portions.

7 of 12

right, title and interest in
on for Brocade pursuant to
nd/or its suppliers, as

the date of completion of

e Product will conform to the

t the time of its

by Brocade and accepted by
d material (except for

ip and free from defects for
acture; (i) such Product
umbrances and that Solectron
ch Product.
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of defective Product, to
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shall not be in conformity

all, at Solectron's sole
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t or unauthorized repair.
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information in connection with the design,
and configuration of the product, (iii) mod
product by a party other than Solectron, (i
incorporation of product by either Brocade
representative, (v) inherent design flaws t
intermittent failures, (vi) and transportat
freight carriers.

development, distribution,
ification or alteration of

V) incorrect installation or

or Brocade's authorized field
he product which may induce
ion damage from approved

12.7 THE WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN THIS SECTION AR
EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS AND BROCADE WAIVES ALL
WARRANTIES, EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR
OR PERFORMANCE, CUSTOM, USAGE IN THE TRADE
WITHOUT LIMITATION THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES O
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE.

E IN LIEU OF, AND SOLECTRON
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS AND
ARISING BY COURSE OF DEALING
OR OTHERWISE, INCLUDING

F MERCHANTABILITY, TITLE AND

13.0 TERMINATION

13.1. If either party fails to meet any one or mo re of the terms and

conditions as stated in either this Agreeme
and Brocade agree to negotiate in good fait
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the defau
such default or submit an acceptable writte
non-defaulting party in its sole discretion
within thirty (30) days following the date
the nondefaulting party shall have the righ
by furnishing the defaulting party with thi

of termination.

13.2. Each party shall have the right to terminat

termination notice, which termination shall
days after mailing, if the other party:

13.2.a. files an application for or consent
appointment of, or takes of possess
custodian, trustee or liquidator of
such other party's property, whethe
wherever located;

13.2.b. makes a general assignment for the

13.2.c. commences or has the intention of ¢
under the federal bankruptcy laws (
in effect);

13.2.d. is part of an adjudication that suc
insolvent;

13.2.e. files or has the intent to file a p
advantage of any other law providin

13.2.f. acquiesces to or fails to have dism
days, any petition filed against su
involuntary case under such bankrup

13.2.g. terminates, dissolves, or ceases to

substantially all of its business a
substantial portion of its assets.
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13.3 Either Solectron or Brocade may terminate t
by giving one hundred twenty (120) days adv
other party.

13.4 The following Sections shall survive the ex
termination of this Agreement: sections 4.2
16, and 17.

14.0 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

14.1 In the spirit of continued cooperation, the
establish the following dispute resolution
the unlikely event any controversy should a
performance of this Agreement.

14.2. In the event of a dispute or claim arising
matter relating to this Agreement, either p
proceedings by written notice to the other
particulars of the dispute. Upon receipt of
agree to meet in good faith within two (2)
notice, to jointly define the scope of and
dispute. If such meeting does not resolve t
management of Solectron and Brocade are aut
personally within ten (10) days to confer i
resolve the matter. The parties will use di
meetings or telephone conferences as needed
negotiations.

14.3. Should any disputes remain existent between
conclusion of the time periods set forth ab
promptly submit any dispute to mediation wi
In the event mediation is not successful in
sixty (60) days of the beginning of the two
forth above, the parties agree to submit th
arbitration in accordance with the rules of
Mediation Services/Endispute in San Jose, C
"JAMS"), and judgment upon the award may be
jurisdiction. A single arbitrator shall be
rules within thirty (30) days of submission
The arbitrator shall conduct the arbitratio
California Evidence Code. Except as express
discovery of any kind shall be taken by eit
consent of the other party, provided, howev

his Agreement without cause
ance written notice to the

piration or earlier
,4.3,8,11, 12, 13, 14, 15,

parties intend to and hereby
procedure to be utilized in
rise out of or concerning the

between the parties on any
arty may initiate negotiation
party setting forth the

such notice, the parties
weeks of the date of such
a method to remedy the

he dispute, then senior
horized to and will meet

n a bona fide attempt to
ligent efforts to arrange

to facilitate these

the parties at the

ove, then the parties shall
th an independent mediator.
resolving the dispute within
-step resolution process set
e dispute to binding

the Judicial Arbitration and
alifornia (hereinafter
entered in any court having
selected according to JAMS
of the dispute to the JAMS.
n in accordance with the

ly provided above, no

her party without the written
er, that either party may

seek the arbitrator's permission to take any dépaosivhich is necessary to preserve the testimdraywitness who either is, or may become,
outside the subpoena power of the arbitrator ogretfse unavailable to testify at the arbitratioheTarbitrator shall have the power to enter
any award that could be entered by a Judge of dper®r Court of the State of California sittingtout a jury, and only such power, except
that the arbitrator shall not have the power toravpaunitive damages, treble damages, or any otlirmades which are not compensatory,

if permitted under the laws of the State of Cafifaror any other applicable law. The arbitratioraedvmay be enforced in any court having
jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matfehe arbitration. Notwithstanding the forgoirthe parties irrevocably submit to the -
exclusive jurisdiction of the Superior Court of tBtte of California, Santa Clara County, and thédddl States District Court for the Northe
District of California, San Jose Branch, in anyi@tto enforce an arbitration award.
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15.0 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

IN NO EVENT, WHETHER AS A RESULT OF BREACH
TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILI
OTHERWISE, SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, EXEMPLARY DAMAGE
EITHER PARTY WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY

OF CONTRACT, WARRANTY, OR
TY, PRODUCT LIABILITY, OR

THE OTHER FOR ANY SPECIAL,

S OF ANY KIND WHETHER OR NOT
OF SUCH DAMAGE.

16.0 PATENT, COPYRIGHT AND TRADEMARK INDEMNITY

17.0

17.1.

17.2.

17.3.

17.4.

Each party (the "Indemnifying Party") shall
harmless the other party from any claims by
infringement of intellectual properties res
Indemnifying Party pursuant to this Agreeme
party (i) gives the Indemnifying Party prom
(ii) renders reasonable assistance to the |
and (iii) permits the Indemnifying Party to
settlement of such claims.

GENERAL

Each of the parties shall at all times duri
act as, and shall represent itself to be, a
not an agent or employee of the other.

Each party to this Agreement will maintain
from claims (i) by the party's employees, a
under Worker's Compensation and Disability
because of injury to or destruction of tang
of any negligent act, omission or willful m
party's employees or subcontractors, (iii)
injury, sickness, disease or death of its e
arising out of any negligent act, omission,
party or the party's employees, agents or s

Neither party shall delegate, assign or tra
obligations under this Agreement, whether i
written consent of the other party, except
Agreement to a successor in interest in the
acquisition or purchase of all or substanti
assets of Brocade. A waiver of any default
terms and conditions of this Agreement shal
continuing waiver or a waiver of any other
or condition, but shall apply solely to the
waiver is directed. The exercise of any rig
Agreement shall be without prejudice to the
right or remedy provided by law or equity,
by this Agreement.

In the event any provision of this Agreemen
illegal or unenforceable, the validity, leg
any of the remaining provisions shall not i
impaired.
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defend, indemnify, and hold
a third party of

ulting from the acts of the
nt, provided that the other
pt notice of any such claims,
ndemnifying Party thereon,
direct the defense of the

ng the term of this Agreement
n independent contractor, and

insurance to protect itself
gents and subcontractors
Acts, (ii) for damages

ible property resulting out
isconduct of the party or the
for damages because of bodily
mployees or any other person
or willful misconduct of the
ubcontractors.

nsfer its rights or

n whole or part, without the
that Brocade may assign this
event of a merger,

ally all of the stock or
hereunder or of any of the

| not be deemed to be a
default or of any other term
instance to which such

ht or remedy provided in this
right to exercise any other
except as expressly limited

tis found to be invalid,
ality and enforceability of
n any way be affected or



17.5. Except for purchase orders which may belsgnbrmal carrier, all notices and communicatioegehnder are required to be sent to the
address or telecopier number stated below (or etledr address or telecopier number as subsequesttfied in writing to the other party): |
By facsimile with confirmation of transmission,)(personal same or next day delivery or (iii) d@htommercial overnight courier with
written verification of delivery. All notices sovgn shall be deemed given upon the earlier of ptcgione (1) day after dispatch.

Any notices sent to Brocade hereunder should betsen

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. 1901 Guaddapevay San Jose, CA 95131 Attn: Jean Zorzy Fax4G8) 487-8091
with a copy to:

Maureen S. Dorney, Esq.

Gary Cary Ware & Freidenrich
400 Hamilton Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94301
Fax No. (650) 327-3699

Any notices sent to Solectron hereunder shoulcebets:

Solectron Corporation 847 Gibraltar Drive, Bldg. M8pitas, CA 95035 Attn: Jayne Carthy Fax No. 4885-6056

with a copy to:

Solectron Corporation 847 Gibraltar Drive, Bldg. M8pitas, CA 95035 Attn: Legal Department Fax M@8-957-2717

17.6. Neither party shall be liable for any failaredelay in its performance under this Agreemer th acts of God, acts of civil or military
authority, fires, floods, earthquakes, riots, warrany other cause beyond the reasonable conttbealelayed party provided that the delayed
party: (i) gives the other party written noticesnfch cause within fifteen (15) days of the discgwdrthe event; and (ii) uses its reasonable
efforts to remedy such delay in its performanc&dfectron is unable to deliver in accordance agheed delivery Schedule, the terms of
section 6.4 shall apply.

17.7. This Agreement shall be governed by, andtooed in accordance with the laws of the Stateatff@nia, excluding its conflict of laws
provisions. In any action to enforce this Agreemémd prevailing party shall be awarded all coodts and reasonable attorney fees incurred.
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17.8. Neither party shall object to the use of atpbopy of the original of this Agreement for therpose of making any required or allowed
public filings.

17.9. This Agreement, the NDA Agreement and theiliithhereto are intended as the complete, findlextlusive statement of the terms of
the agreement between the parties regarding thjectubatter hereof and supersedes any and all ptigeror contemporaneous agreemen
understandings, whether written or oral, betweemtinelating to the subject matter thereof. Thise®gnent may not be modified except in
writing executed by both parties.

Agreed:

Solectron California Corporation Brocade Com munications Systems, Inc.
By: /s/ MICHAEL T. LING By: /s/ VIC TOR RINKLE

Name: Michael T. Ling Name: Victo r Rinkle

Title: VP Ops Title: VP O ps

Date: 7-30-99 Date: 7-30- 99
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Amendment No. 1 To The Manufacturing Agreement

This Amendment No. 1 ("Amendment") to the Standdedhufacturing Agreement (the "Agreement") which weasered into effective 7/30,
1999, is by and between Brocade Communication 8ystic., with a place of business at 1901 GuadaRarkway, San Jose, California
95131 ("Brocade") and Solectron California Corpioratwith its place of business at 847 GibraltaivBy Milpitas, California 95035
("Solectron™).

RECITALS
WHEREAS, the parties have entered into an agreemleateby Solectron acts as a contract manufactoré&rocade; and

WHEREAS, under limited circumstances, Brocade dssio grant [*] with a place of business at [*] ki limited right to purchase products
direct from Solectron.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisesmauntual covenants contained in this Agreementptréies hereby agree as follov
AGREEMENT

1. All capitalized terms not defined herein shallVé the meaning set forth in the Agreement.

2. A new Section 18 is hereby added to this Agreenas follows:

18.1 In the event Brocade provides written notac&olectron, [*] shall be entitled to purchase preid directly from Solectron pursuant to
terms and conditions of this Agreement and at #imesprices at which [*] could otherwise purchasehguroducts from Brocade.

18.2 Brocade shall provide Solectron with a lispaodducts which Solectron may offer to [*] and tsociated prices at which said products
shall be offered. Such list shall be deemed confidband subject to the non-disclosure agreemestited between Solectron and Brocade.

18.3 Solectron shall remit to Brocade, in accoréanith procedures to be mutually agreed upon, iffierence in the price paid by [*] and tl
price which Brocade is charged under this Agreerfargach product.

18.4 Solectron acknowledges that in the event Rtedails to notify Solectron that [*] right to byroducts directly from Solectron has aris
[*] may provide a copy of the agreement betweerafifl Brocade as evidence to exercise such rigiat. terallowing [*] to buy directly,

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.



Solectron shall notify Brocade of the request fifjto exercise this provision.
3. Except as amended by the terms of this Amendraérither terms and conditions of the Agreemshall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties, through their dalithorized officers, have executed this Amendment.

Brocade: Solectron:

Brocade Communication Systems, Inc.  Solectron C alifornia Corporation
By: /s/ VICTOR RINKLE By: /s/ MIC HAEL T. LING

Print Name: VICTOR RINKLE Print Name: -Mlc-hae_ITng
Title: VP Ops Title: VP O ps

Date: 7-30-99 Date: 7-30- 99

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portions.



EXHIBIT 1
PRICING
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS MANUFACTURING AGREEMENT -- 7 /20/98
ASSUMPTIONS:
1) [
2.) [']
3.) [']
4) 0]

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portior



BROCADE COMMUNICATION SOLECTRON(R) SLR QUOTE # R05036-98

UNIT PRICING
ASSEMBLY # 40-0000220-02 REV. E SILKWORM Il CPU
RECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)
VOLUME/Quarter | [*] [
Material Cost | ] [*]
Material Margin " [ [
Material Price ] [*] [*]
Assembly Labor * [*] [*]
ICT Labor ] [*] [*]
TOTAL UNIT PRICE | [*] ]

MATERIAL LEAD TIME [*]
NONRECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

Manufacturing Tooling (taxable)
Stencil [*

Wave Fixture [*
TOTAL Taxable Mfg

Mfg. Engineering (nontaxable)
Programming/Engineering *]
TOTAL Non-Taxable Mfg [*1
Test Tooling (taxable)

ICT Fixture [*1
TOTAL Taxable Test [*]

Test Engineering (nontaxable)

ICT Program [*
TOTAL Non-Taxable Test [*1
TOTAL Assembly NRE [*]

ICT ATE: HP307X UNIQUE TO 40-0000220-02

A. Basic test program to cover:
- this device will use TestJet only: U16, U31, UL22, U17, U20
- this device will use TestJet + Library Test: W4, U9,

ul10
B. This test is based on the following assumptions:
- based on (estimated) node count: 625
LEAD TIME 3-4 weeks (upon receipt of all necessargdocumentation and P.O. #)
Solectron Confidential SLS-10-021924 Rev: - Pagé  June 16, 1998

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portior



BROCADE COMMUNICATION SOLECTRON(R) SLR QUOTE # R05036-98
UNIT PRICING

ASSEMBLY # 40-0000273-01 REV.K G PORT

RECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

VOLUME/Quarter | [*] [
Material Cost $[*] $ [ $[*]
Material Margin * [ [*]
Material Price $[*] $ [*] $[*]
Assembly Labor ] [ [
ICT Labor [*] [*] [
TOTAL UNIT PRICE  $[¥] $ [ 31

MATERIAL LEAD TIME [*]
NONRECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

MANUFACTURING TOOLING (TAXABLE)

Stencil $[*]

Pick & Place Fixture $[*]
Wave Fixture $*]
TOTAL Taxable Mfg. $[*]

Mfg. Engineering (nontaxable)
Programming/Engineering $*]
TOTAL Non-Taxable Mfg. $[*]
Test Tooling (taxable)

ICT Fixture 8
TOTAL Taxable Test $*]

Test Engineering (nontaxable)

ICT Program $*]
TOTAL Non-Taxable Test $[*]
TOTAL ASSEMBLY NRE $[*]

ICT ATE: HP307X UNIQUE TO 40-0000273-01

A. Basic test program to cover:

- this device will use TestJet only: U1, U2, U3

B. This test is based on the following assumptions:

- based on (estimated) node count: 200

LEAD TIME 3 weeks (upon receipt of all necessary dcumentation and P.O. #)
Solectron Confidential SLS-10-021924 Rev: Page 8 &fine 16, 1998

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portior



BROCADE COMMUNICATION SOLECTRON(R) SLR QUOTE# R05036*98
UNIT PRICING

ASSEMBLY# 40-0000623-01 REV. 15 FLA NNEL PORT BOARD

RECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

VOLUME/Quarter | [*] [
Material Cost $[*] $ [ $[*]
Material Margin * [ [*]
Material Price $[*] $ [*] $[*]
Assembly Labor ] [ [
ICT Labor [*] [*] [
TOTAL UNIT PRICE  $[¥] $ [ 31

MATERIAL LEAD TIME [*]
NONRECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

Manufacturing Tooling (taxable)

Stencil $[*]

Pick & Place Fixture $[*]
Wave Fixture $*]
TOTAL Taxable Mfg. $[*]

Mfg. Engineering (nontaxable)
Programming/Engineering $*]
TOTAL Non-Taxable Mfg. $[*]
Test Tooling (taxable)

ICT Fixture 8
TOTAL Taxable Test $*]

Test Engineering (nontaxable)

ICT Program $*]
TOTAL Non-Taxable Test $[*]
TOTAL ASSEMBLY NRE $[*]

ICT ATE: HP307X UNIQUE TO 40-0000623-01

A. Basic test program to cover:

- this device will use TestJet only: U8, U9, U1d,1U

B. This test is based on the following assumptions:

- based on (estimated) node count: 235

LEAD TIME 3 weeks (upon receipt of all necessary dcumentation and P.O. #)
Solectron Confidential SLS-10-021924 Rev: - Pagé & June 16, 1998

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portior



BROCADE COMMUNICATION SOLECTRON (R) SLR QUOTE # R05 036*98
UNIT PRICING
ASSEMBLY # 40-0000749-01 REV. A SILKWORM Il MOTHER BOARD

RECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

VOLUME/Quarter " [ [
Material Cost $[*] $ [*] $[*]
Material Margin [ [ [
Material Price $[*] $ [*] $[*]
Assembly Labor ] [ [
ICT Labor [*] [*] [
TOTALUNIT PRICE  $[¥] $ [ 81

MATERIAL LEAD TIME [*]
NONRECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

Manufacturing Tooling (taxable)

Stencil $[*]

Pick & Place Fixture $[*]
Wave Fixture $*]
TOTAL Taxable Mfg. $[*]

Mfg. Engineering (nontaxable)
Programming/Engineering $*]
TOTAL Non-Taxable Mfg. $[*]
Test Tooling (taxable)

ICT Fixture $*]
TOTAL Taxable Test $*]

Test Engineering (nontaxable)

ICT Program $[*]
TOTAL Non-Taxable Test $[*]
TOTAL ASSEMBLY NRE $[*]

ICT ATE: HP307X UNIQUE TO 40-0000749-01

A. Basic test program to cover:

- this device will use TestJet only: U1, U2, U3, )28, U29, U30, U31, U32, U33, U34, U35
- this device will use TestJet + Library Test: UB-2

B. This test is based on the following assumptions:

- based on (estimated) node count: 1275

LEAD TIME 4-5 weeks (upon receipt of all necessargocumentation and P.O. #)

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Confta@grreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portior
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BROCADE COMMUNICATION SOLECTRON(R) SLR QUOTE #R05036-98

UNIT PRICING

ASSEMBLY# 70-0000370-03 REV. 1 SILKWORM I

RECURRING EXPENSE (NRE)

VOLUME/Quarter * [* ] [
Material Cost $[*] $[* ] $[*]
Material Margin i [* ] [*]
Material Price $[*] $[* ] $*]
Assembly Labor [ [* 1 [*]
System Test [ [ ] [
Haas Test i [* ] [
TOTALUNIT PRICE  $[*] $[* ] $1

Solectron Confidential SLS-10-021924 Rev: Page 8 &fne 16, 1998

* Certain information on this page has been omitted filed separately with the Commission. Conftagrreatment has been requested with
respect to the omitted portior



1 PURPOSE

EXHIBIT 2

QUALITY SYSTEM & PRODUCT QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

1.1 This document outlines the Quality System amdifct Quality Requirements to Solectron. While tthocument defines quality
requirements that are the responsibility of Sotettit is important to note that it is Brocade'teition to establish an open quality
management relationship with Solectron.

2 SCOPE

2.1 The Quality System and Product Quality Requ
document are for the Fibre Channel Switches
circuit boards manufactured by Solectron.

2.2 Where the requirements called out in this d
requirements called out elsewhere, the orde
follows:

2.2.1 Contractual agreements

2.2.2 Brocade Communications Purchase Order, Broc
Engineering drawing or specification noted

2.2.3 This document
3 DEFINITIONS

3.1 Unless otherwise specified the terms used i
in:

3.1.1 1SO 8402-1986, Quality Vocabulary

3.1.2 ANSI/ASQC A3-1987, Quality Systems Terminol

3.2 Unit: In this document a unit is considered
circuit board (e.g. a CPU board), a subasse
chassis, or a fully assembled switch made u
subassemblies, displays, and chassis.

4 RESPONSIBILITY

4.1 The Supply Base Engineer reporting to the M
Quality in the Brocade Communications-Opera
for implementing the requirements of this d

5 REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

5.1 1SO STANDARD 840 Quiality Vocabulary

5.2 IS0 9000:1994 Quality management
standards -Guide li

5.3 IS0 9002:1994 Quality Systems- Mo
design/development,
servicing.
5.4 ANSI/ASQC A3-1987  Quality Systems Ter
5.5 ANSI/ASQC Q1 1986 Guide Lines for Qua

5.6 MIL STD 105E Sampling procedures
by Attributes

irements called out in this
and associated printed

ocument conflict with
r of precedence is as

ade Communications
in the Purchase Order

n this document are defined

ogy
to be an assembled printed

mbly (e.g., power supply), a
p of printed circuit boards,

anager, Product and Process
tions function is responsible
ocument.

and quality assurance
nes for selection and use

del for quality assurance in
production, installation and
minology

lity System Audits

and Tables for inspection

6 EQUIPMENT REQUIRED (HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE) (NONEEQUIRED)

7 QUALITY SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS
7.1 Quality System Requirements:

Brocade Communications' Quality System requiremardgdefined in the document 1ISO 9002:1994. Salattrconformance to these
requirements will be determined by a Quality Assesst organized by the Supply Base Engineer anékdaout with the



assistance of other Brocade Communication grc



7.1.1 Brocade Communications reserves the
proper notification, periodic revie
Quality Control system. These revie
materials management, manufacturing
associated with products and servic
Brocade Communications by Solectron

7.2 If the Quality Assessment shows that Solect
9002 requirements, the deficiencies will be
may be required. (See the ANSI/ASQC Q1 1986
System Audits).

7.3  Process Definition:

Prior to the start of production, Brocade C
Engineer (SBE) and Solectron's representati
steps of the process flow. The key steps of
documented using either Brocade's or Solect

7.4  Process Changes:

Once the key process steps are defined, the
written notification and approval from the
Quality Engineer prior to the implementatio
process changes are: using parts not called
List (AVL), alterations to the agreed on pr
pass/fail parameters, increasing or decreas
test equipment, relocation of the process t

7.5 Process Reporting:

Prior to the start of volume production Bro
Engineer and Solectron's representative wil
format, and frequency of the Process Report

7.5.1 The Process Reports will include, a
operation, defect paretos at each o
actions to address the significant
include data from the On-Going Reli
the Box Audit (OOBA).

7.5.2 Brocade will, as far as practical,
collection process and reports, pro
requirements. The data will be sent

7.6 Process Qualification and Improvement

7.7  Prior to the start of volume shipments the
conduct a Product Verification Test (PVT).
of a predetermined number of units with the
capability of the process to produce defect
efficient way.

7.7.1 The Brocade Quality Engineer and So
determine prior to the start of the
yield for the PVT build.

7.7.1.1 If the target yield is reached, the
capable and ready for volume produc

7.7.1.2 If the target yield is not met, the
and Solectron's representative will
action plan to improve the process
actions have been implemented, a se
If this build meets the predetermin
production can begin. If the yield
action process will be duplicated u
criterion is reached.

7.7.2 Once volume production starts, the
and Solectron's representative will
plan. The Yield Improvement Plan (Y
quarterly yield or process improvem
are not reached, the Brocade and So
corrective actions are necessary to

7.8 On-Going Reliability Test

Brocade Communications uses an On-going Rel
measure of the production process performan
volume production Brocade's Supply Base Eng
representative will agree on the how the

right to conduct, with

ws of Solectron's Process and
ws can include all aspects of

, test, and quality records

es sold or provided to

ron is does not meet the ISO
noted and corrective action
: Guide Lines for Quality

ommunications' Supply Base
ve will determine the key

the process flow will be
ron's documentation.

y can not be changed without
Brocade Communications'

n of the changes. Examples of
out on the Approved Vendor
ocess flow, changing

ing test times, changes in

o a different location, etc.

cade Communications' Quality
| agree on the content,
s.

t a minimum, yields at each
peration, and corrective
defects. The reports will
ability Test and the Out-Of

use Solectron's data
vided they meet Brocade's
electronically.

Brocade and Solectron will
The PVT is a controlled build
purpose of demonstrating the
free product in a cost

lectron's representative will
volume production the target

process is considered
tion.

Brocade Supply Base Engineer
jointly develop a corrective
yield. When the corrective

cond PVT build will be done.

ed goals, the volume

is not met, the corrective

ntil the predetermined yield

Brocade Supply Base Engineer
agree on a yield improvement
IP) will set targets for

ents. If the quarterly goals
lectron will determine what
reach the quarterly goals.

iability Test (ORT) as a
ce. Prior to the start of
ineer and Solectron's






On-going Reliability test will be implemented. Timeplementation will follow the guidelines calledtdn the Brocade Communications'
Process number 99-0000401-01

June 18, 1999 Page 3 of 4 Quality System
and
Product Quality Requirements



7.8.1

7.9

7.10

7.10.

7.11

7.11.

June

If there is a failure in the ORT, S
notify Brocade's Supply Base Engine
representative and Brocade's SBE wi
failure analysis process and take a
necessary. When the failure analysi
SBE will inform Brocade's Manager o
of the findings and the status of t

Failure Analysis:

Solectron is required to do failure analysi
returned from Brocade's customers. At Broca
required to perform the first level failure
failed component) within one working day af
unit. The root-cause analysis (analysis of

be done within ten working days after the r

Epidemic Failure:

Epidemic failures are unit failures that ar
material, workmanship, and/or other deficie
within the control of Solectron, including

use of components with inherent or latent d
maladjustments during manufacture. The Epid
as three times the Normal Annualized Failur
Product Specification.

1 If the unit manufactured by Solectr
is found to fail at an Epidemic rat
Communications will mutually agree
to be carried out by Solectron, at
and replace the defective units.

Field Failure Rates as a Measure of Solectr

Solectron's performance in delivering a qua
the Field Failure Rate and is measured as t
Rate. This is rate is calculated as the ave
the last three months divided by the instal
twelve to give an annualized rate.

1 If the Field Failure Rate of the un
for Brocade Communications exceeds
Rate called out in the Product spec
Brocade Communications will mutuall
determine the root causes of the Fi
implement corrective actions.

18, 1999 Page 4 of 4

olectron will immediately

er. Solectron's

Il immediately start the

ny corrective action

s is completed, the Brocade

f Process and Product Quality
he corrective action.

s on all in-warranty units

de's request Solectron is
analysis (determine the

ter receiving the failed

the defective component) must
eceipt of the failed unit.

e the result of defects in
ncies attributable to or

but not limited to, incorrect
efects, or consistent

emic Failure rate is defined
e rate specified in the

on for Brocade Communications
e, Solectron and Brocade

on a corrective action plan
Solectron's expense to repair

on Performance:

lity product is determined by
he Annualized Field Failure
rage number of returns over
led base, then multiplied by

it manufactured by Solectron
the Normal Annualized Failure
ification, Solectron and

y implement a program to

eld Failure Rate and
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ATTACHMENT 1 BRC CONSIGNED EQUIPMENT LIST

Item Equip. Description

1

2

3

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

Dell Monitor 17"
Dell Monitor 17"

PC CPU DELL Dimension
Xps 166

Dell Monitor 17", lab

PC CPU HP Vectra XA

HP Vectra- PC

Sony Monitor 200ES

Sony Monitor 200ES

HP Vectra- CPU

HP- CPU

Ascend P50 - SLR -GW
Dell Laptop Latitude

Dell XPS CPU

LinkSys 16 port 10bT Hub
LinkSys 16 port 10bT Hub
Bur-In Oven #1

Bur-In Oven #2

Bur-In Oven #3

Bur-In Oven #4

Bur-In Oven #5

Bur-In Oven #6

Bur-In Oven #7

Run-In Oven #1

Run-In Oven #2

Run-In Oven #3

ICT Fixture 40-0000749-01
ICT Fixture 40-0000623-01
ICT Fixture 40-0000220-01
ICT Fixture 40-0000004-01
ICT Fixture 40-0000273-01

ICT Fixture 40-0000003-01

Serial N
7117360

04036a60

88jpx

04036a7f

us741523

us751506

4036166

4034244

75150693

us751507

7196010

7147346b

88jg8

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

SMT Stencil 40-0000623-04 Top

SMT Stencil 40-0000623-04 Bot

SMT Stencil 40-0000749-01 Top

SMT Stencil 40-0000749-01 Bot

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

SMT Stencil 40-0000220-03 T & B N/A

SMT Stencil 40-0000273-03 Top

N/A

umber BRC AssetNo. SLRID# Comments
100018
6p 100007
100013
iv 102079
34 107074
85 107159
100302
100306
100307
07 100345
106349
yk8642 106365
102064
107401
107402
N/A BRCOVEN1
N/A BRCOVEN2
N/A BRCOVEN3
N/A BRCOVEN4
N/A BRCOVENS
N/A BRCOVENG6
N/A BRCOVEN7
N/A BRCOVENS
N/A BRCOVEN9
N/A BRCOVEN10
N/A Located on C
N/A Located on C
N/A Located on C
N/A Located on C
N/A Located on C
N/A Located on C
N/A Located on F
Shelf SMT
N/A Located on F
Shelf SMT
N/A Located on F
Shelf SMT
N/A Located on F
Shelf SMT
N/A Located on F
Shelf SMT
N/A Located on F

4 shelf

1 shelf

1 shelf

1 shelf

1 shelf

1 shelf

01

02

03

04

05

06



38

39

40

41

42

SMT Stencil 40-0000273-03 Bot

SMT Stencil 40-0200003-03 Top

SMT Stencil 40-0200003-03 Bot

SMT Stencil 40-0000001-01 T & B

SMT Stencil 40-0000727-05 Top

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Shelf SMT

Located on F
Shelf SMT

Located on F
Shelf SMT

Located on F
Shelf SMT

Located on F
Shelf used o
proto run SM

Located on F
Shelf SMT

07

09

08

10

11



Item Equip. Description

43

44

45

46

a7

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

Serial

SMT Stencil 40-0000727-05 Bot N/
SMT Stencil 40-0000004-03 Top N/
SMT Stencil 40-0000004-03 Bot N/
SMT Stencil 40-0000003-01 Top N/
SMT Stencil 40-0000003-01 Bot N/
Functional Test Fixture 2400

Functional Test Fixture 2400

Functional Test Fixture 2800

Functional Test Fixture 2400

Functional Test Debug Fixt. 2400
Functional Test Debug Fixt. 2800

Dell Optiplex PC UN6JL

Dell Monitor 84779-

6681A Power Supply US3640
6681A Power Supply US3640
6680A Power Supply US3648
6680A Power Supply US3648

Number
A

DVYN-29

0338

0327

0139

0130

BRC Asset No. SLRID#

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Located
Shelf S

Located
Shelf S

Located
Shelf S

Located
Shelf S

Located
Shelf S

BRC2400 F/T 1

BRC2400 F/T 2

BRC2800 F/T 1

BRC2800 F/T 2

BRC2400 F/T DBG 1

BRC2800 F/T DBG 1

Used On

Used On

Used On

Used On

Used On

Used On

Comment

on F12
MT

on F13

on F14

MT

on F15
MT

on F16
MT

ESS Chamber

ESS Chamber

ESS Chamber

ESS Chamber

ESS Chamber

ESS Chamber



ATTACHMENT 2 MUTUAL NONDISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

All parties below acknowledge that, by reason efrthelationship, they may have access to certdormation and materials concerning the
other's business, plans, products and technicalwdaich are confidential and of substantial valirclv would be impaired if such informati
were disclosed to third parties. Accordingly, floe fpurposes of protecting and preserving the cenfidl and/or proprietary nature of
information to be disclosed or made available lyhgazarty to the others under this Mutual NondisatesAgreement (“Agreement”), the
parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Confidential Information. For the purposes a$ thgreement, Confidential Information means arghtecal, business, financial, contract
terms and conditions or other information or dataished by one party to the other: (i) in writ@mother tangible form marked with a
proprietary legend, or (ii) in oral or visual foridentified as being confidential at the time of tfisclosure and thereafter summarized in a
writing which identifies the Confidential Informati and is transmitted to the receiving party wittiimty

(30) days after such oral or visual disclosure.

2. Period of Protection. The period of protectiaminlg which Confidential Information received puasiti to this Agreement shall be subject to
an obligation of confidentiality and protectiorfiige (5) years from the date of first receipt of tBonfidential Information.

3. Standard of Care. The standard of care which party shall be required to employ in protecting &andling a Confidential Information
received pursuant to this Agreement is the sameedegf care which the receiving party uses to ptaad safeguard its own Confidential
Information of the kind, but not less than a readde degree of care.

4. Restrictions on Use. Confidential Informatiomkibe used solely for internal evaluation and pesgaining to the purpose of this Agreerr
and shall not otherwise be used for the benetih@freceiving party or others. Confidential Infotioa shall be disclosed only to the
employees of the receiving party who have a "neddhbw" and executed an internal nondisclosureeageat.

5. Information Not Subject to Confidentiality. TR®nfidential Information of a party shall not indliand the foregoing obligations shall not
apply to information or data which: (i) was genbralvailable to the public at the time of receigrh the disclosing party, or thereafter to
have become generally available to the publicjgiRnown to the receiving party on a non-confidiriasis prior to its receipt from the
disclosing party; (iii) disclosed with the prior itien consent of the disclosing party; (iv) becorkeswn to the receiving party from a source
other than the disclosing party without breachhif Agreement by the receiving party; (v) was reegiito be disclosed pursuant to law; (vi)
developed independently by personnel of the recgiparty who had no substantive knowledge of teeldsing party's Confidential
Information at the time of such independent devesient.

6. No License. The disclosure of Confidential Imi@tion shall not be construed as granting eitHieease under any patent, patent
application or any right of ownership in said Cdefitial Information.

7. Equitable Relief. The receiving party acknowlkesl@nd agrees that in the event of a breach atéhred breach of any provision of this
Agreement, the disclosing party shall have no adegremedy at law and shall therefore be entitteshforce any such provision by
temporary or permanent injunctive or mandatoryefedbtained in any court without the necessity roving damages, posting any bond or
other security, and without prejudice or diminutmfrany other rights or remedies which may be abéd at law or in equity. This Agreement
shall be construed in accordance with the laws®fState of California.

8. Termination. This Agreement may be terminate@iltyer party giving the other parties a thirty 8@y termination notice in writing. Upon
expiration or termination of this Agreement, eaealnty shall cease all use of the other party's @enfiial Information and return to the other
party all tangible copies of the other party's Gaarftial Information



AGREED:

SOLECTRON Brocad

/sl Kelly Priest Isl Je

Authorized Representative's Signature Author

KELLY PRIEST Jean Z
Name Name
DIRECTOR OF SALES DIRECT
Title Title
4-15-98 4/21/9
Date Date

1901 G
MILPITAS, CA San Jo
Address Addres

SLRNDA3P doc (Date 11/22/95)

e Communications Systems, Inc.

f Other Party Name of Othe
an Zorzy

ized Representative's Signature Authorized R

orzy

Name
OR, SUPPLIER MGMT
Title
8
Date
uadalupe Pkwy e
se, CA 95131
s Address

Confidential



EXHIBIT 10.25

BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

LEASE DATE: Decem
(same as date in first paragraph of Lease)

TENANT: Broca
corpo

TENANT'S NOTICE ADDRESS: 1901
SanJ

TENANT'S BILLING ADDRESS: 1901
SanJ

TENANT CONTACT: Mr. Victor Rinkle, PHONE
Vice President, Operations FAX N

LANDLORD: Spiek
partn

LANDLORD'S NOTICE ADDRESS: 1735
SanJ

LANDLORD'S REMITTANCE ADDRESS: P.O.

San F

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: That
the p
north
Parkw
South
City

BUILDING DESCR
known
Techn
depic

PREMISES: Appro
seven
which
the B
attac

TEMPORARY PREMISES: Appro
four
locat
Calif
BUILD
attac

Appro
(39,0
locat
Calif
BUILD
attac
thous
locat
Premi
thous
feet
Tempo

PERMITTED USE: Gener
twent
Premi
labor

OCCUPANCY DENSITY: 450p

PARKING DENSITY: 3.6s
Premi

PARKING CHARG
nonre

OFFICE NET

ber 17, 1999

de Communications Systems, Inc., a Delaware
ration

Guadalupe Parkway
ose, California 95131

Guadalupe Parkway
ose, California 95131

NUMBER: 408/487-8100
UMBER: 408/487-8101

er Properties, L.P., a California limited
ership

Technology Drive, Suite 125
ose, CA 95110

Box 45587 Dept. #12196
rancisco, CA 94145-0587

certain Class A office project located on
arcel bounded by Airport Parkway on the

, Technology Drive on the East, Guadalupe
ay on the West and Skyport Drive on the

, Situated in the County of Santa Clara,

of San Jose, State of California.

IPTION: That certain real property commonly
as Concourse VI, and located at 1745

ology Drive, San Jose, California, and as

ted on Exhibit B attached hereto.

ximately two hundred ten thousand six hundred
ty-seven (210,677) rentable square feet,
consists of one hundred percent (100%) of
uilding and as depicted on Exhibit B

hed hereto.

ximately seven thousand eight hundred sixty
(7,864) rentable square feet at the building

ed at 2055 Gateway Place, San Jose,

ornia (the "PHASE | TEMPORARY PREMISES
ING"), and as depicted on Exhibit D,

hed hereto.

ximately thirty-nine thousand forty-three

43) rentable square feet at the building

ed at 1741 Technology Drive, San Jose,
ornia (the "PHASE Il TEMPORARY PREMISES
ING"), and as depicted on Exhibit E,

hed hereto. Approximately twenty-seven
and seven (27,007) rentable square feet are
ed on the 5th floor of the Temporary

ses Building and approximately twelve

and thirty-six (12,036) rentable square

are located on the 2nd floor of the

rary Premises Building.

al office and administrative, and up to

y percent (20%) of the rentable area of the
ses may be used for communications
atory purposes.

er 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises.

paces per 1,000 usable square feet of the
ses.

E: Initially at $0 per space/per month for
served parking spaces during the initial



Term
adjus

SCHEDULED TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE: Septe
to th

SCHEDULED LENGTH OF TERM: One h
Term

of this Lease, thereafter subject to
tment pursuant to Paragraph 37 hereof.

mber 1, 2000, subject to adjustment pursuant
e terms of this Lease.

undred twenty (120) months following the
Commencement Date.



SCHEDULED TERM EXPIRATION DATE: Augus t 31, 2010, subject to adjustment pursuant

to th e terms of this Lease.

BASE RENT: With respect to the Premises, see Paragraph 39. A
hereo f. With respect to each of the Phase |
Tempo rary Premises and the Phase |l Temporary
Premi ses, see Paragraph 39.D(1) and (2) hereof.

SECURITY DEPOSIT: SixM illion One Hundred Ninety-Three Thousand
Nine Hundred Four Dollars and No/100
($6,1 93,904.00) Letter of Credit delivered in
accor dance with the terms of Paragraph 39.E
(subj ect to adjustment as provided in Paragraphs
39.E and 19 hereof).

TENANT'S NAICS CODE: 51121

TENANT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF BUILDING:  100.0 0%

TENANT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF PROJECT:  23.73 %

The foregoing Basic Lease Information is incorpedainto and made a part of this Lease. Each referegnthis Lease to any of the Basic
Lease Information shall mean the respective inféionaabove and shall be construed to incorpordtef ahe terms provided under the
particular Lease paragraph pertaining to such métion. In the event of any conflict between thasiBéd ease Information and the Lease, the
latter shall control.

LANDLORD T ENANT
Spieker Properties, L.P., B rocade Communications Systems, Inc.
a California limited partnership a Delaware corporation

By: Spieker Properties, Inc.,
a Maryland corporation, B y:
its general partner

Michael J. Byrd
Its: Vice President, Finance,
Chief Financial Officer

By: B y:

John W. Petersen Victor Rinkle
Its: Vice President Its: Vice President, Operations
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LEASE

THIS LEASE is made as of the 17th day of Decemb@®9, by and between Spieker Properties, L.P.|ifo@da limited partnership
(hereinafter called "LANDLORD"), and Brocade Comnuations Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporationginefter called "TENANT").

1. PREMISES

Landlord leases to Tenant and Tenant leases frardlbal, upon the terms and conditions hereinaftefath, those premises (the
"PREMISES") outlined in red on EXHIBIT B and des®d in the Basic Lease Information. The Premise$ bk all or part of a building (the
"BUILDING") and of a project (the "PROJECT"), whichay consist of more than one building and add#idacilities, as described in the
Basic Lease Information. The Building and Projeet@utlined in blue and green respectively on EXHIB. Landlord and Tenant
acknowledge that physical changes may occur froma tb time in the Premises, Building or Project] #irat the number of buildings and
additional facilities which constitute the Projaetay change from time to time, which may resultriredjustment in Tenant's Proportionate
Share, as defined in the Basic Lease Informatismravided in Paragraph 7.A.

2. POSSESSION AND LEASE COMMENCEMENT
A. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.

B. CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS. The term commeneatdate ("TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE") shall be therker of

the date on which: (1) Tenant commences businematpns in the Premises, as evidenced by, amdmag ttings, the presence in all or a
portion of the Premises of business files and,nduniormal business hours, employees (excluding@epk or other agents of Tenant
installing and testing Tenant's equipment, fureitand fixtures); or (2) substantial completionha Base Building Work and Tenant
Improvements as described in EXHIBIT C attacheatwgror (3) September 1, 2000. If for any reasomdl@d cannot deliver possession of
the Premises to Tenant on the scheduled Term Cogememt Date, Landlord shall not be subject to &bjlity therefor, nor shall Landlord
be in default hereunder nor shall such failureciffee validity of this Lease, and Tenant agreesctept possession of the Premises at such
time as such improvements have been substantathpteted, which date shall then be deemed the Tymmencement Date. Tenant shall
not be liable for any Rent for any period priotite Term Commencement Date (but without affectimg @bligations of Tenant under any
improvement agreement appended to this Leasd)elevent of any dispute as to substantial compietfavork performed or required to be
performed by Landlord, the certificate of Landlsrdfchitect or general contractor shall be conetussubstantial completion (as defined in
EXHIBIT C hereto) shall have occurred notwithstangdiTenant's submission of a punchlist to Landlaraich Tenant shall submit, if at all,
within fifteen (15) business days after the Termm@wencement Date or otherwise in accordance withrapyovement agreement appended
to this Lease. After the Term Commencement Dateupath Landlord's request, Tenant shall promptlycateeand return to Landlord a "Start-
Up Letter" in which Tenant shall agree, among othergs, to acceptance of the Premises (subjdcanalord's obligation to correct punchlist
items as submitted by Tenant to Landlord in acaocdawith the term of this Paragraph 2.B) and todermination of the Term
Commencement Date, in accordance with the ternisiof ease, but Tenant's failure or refusal toalslsall not negate Tenant's acceptan
the Premises or affect determination of the Terrm@encement Date.

C. DELIVERY OF POSSESSION. Landlord shall delivespession of the Premises to Tenant with Base iBgiM/ork substantially
complete (except for life safety testing) on ordsefJuly 6, 2000. In the event Landlord fails ttveéa possession of the Premises to Tenar
or before July 6, 2000, Landlord shall grant to dmnfor each day after July 6, 2000 until the Hagdlord delivers possession of the
Premises to Tenant with the Base Building Work arigally complete, a credit against Base Rennimmount equal to the daily amount of
Base Rent in effect for the first month of the Tarhthis Lease. The credit described in the pragpdentence shall be granted against
Tenant's obligation to pay Base Rent in the secoodth of the Term. Tenant may terminate this Ldgsdelivering written notice to
Landlord on or before January 31, 2001 if:

(i) Landlord has not substantially completed thed@Building Work (as defined in EXHIBIT C) to bermtructed by Landlord as described in
EXHIBIT C to this Lease by December 31, 2000); Ti@nant has given Landlord at least twenty (20xtpasior written notice ("TENANT'S
TERMINATION NOTICE PERIOD") of Landlord's failuretdo so, except for punchlist items, and exceptiédays caused by Tenant or
other third parties (including delays caused bycigtractor or anyone else performing servicesairali of Tenant) or by events beyond
Landlord's control and other force majeure evantduding, but not limited to, strikes, materiabstages, delays of governmental agencies
and Acts of God, which delays will not be causetéomination hereunder; and (iii) Landlord has ratof the expiration of Tenant's
Termination Notice Period, substantially completeel Premises and delivered possession of the ReeitaisTenant. In the event of such
termination, Landlord shall return any Security Dgipto Tenant as well as any other sums paid Inelexuby Tenant to Landlord. All
obligations of Tenant and Landlord under this Lests#l thereafter terminate and no party shall reawefurther obligations under this Lease.

3. TERM

The term of this Lease (the "TERM") shall commeanghe Term Commencement Date and continue iridtde and effect for the number
of months specified as the Scheduled Length of Tierthe Basic Lease Information or until this Le&sterminated as otherwise provided
herein. If the Term Commencement Date is a daterdbian the first day of the calendar month, theriTghall be the number of months of
Length of Term in addition to the remainder of dadendar month following the Term Commencement Date

4. USE

A. GENERAL. Tenant shall use the Premises for thienitted use specified in the Basic Lease Inforom(fPERMITTED USE") and for n



other use or purpose. Tenant shall control Tenantjgloyees, agents, customers, visitors, invileEssees, contractors, assignees and
subtenants (collectively, "TENANT'S PARTIES") incsua manner that Tenant and Tenant's Parties ctiveljado not exceed the occupant
density (the "OCCUPANCY DENSITY") or the parkingrdity (the "PARKING DENSITY") specified in the Badiease Information at any
time. Tenant shall pay the Parking Charge specifigbe Basic Lease Information as Additional R@st hereinafter defined) hereunder. So
long as Tenant is occupying the Premises, TenahTanant's Parties shall have the nonexclusive tighse, in common with other parties
occupying the Building or Project, the parking aredriveways and other common areas of the Buildimdj Project, including at no cost to
Tenant during the initial Term of this Lease, Landls fithess facility, subject to the terms ofthease and such rules and regulations as
Landlord may from time to time prescribe. Landloederves the right, without notice or liability Tenant, and without the same constituting
an actual or constructive eviction, to alter or fpthe common areas from time to time, includihg tocation and configuration thereof, and
the amenities and facilities which Landlord mayedetine to provide from time to time, provided thay such alteration or modification shall
not materially adversely affect Tenant's use ofRhemises or the parking area as provided hereuadémrovided further that any such
alteration or modification shall not detract frone ffirst-class quality of the Building. In the evémat any alteration or modification of the
common area materially and adversely affects Témane of the parking areas of the

4



Project, Landlord may provide to Tenant a reasanaltérnate parking area for Tenant's and TenBattes' use. During the Term hereof,
provided that Tenant comply with the reasonableiregqnents of Landlord's security system, Tenanll slaze the right to access the Prem
via Landlord's security system, twenty-four (24utwoper day, three hundred sixty-five (365) daysga¢endar year, in accordance with the
terms and conditions of this Lease, subject to Llamts repair and maintenance obligations purstatitis Lease which obligations may
require the performance of after-hours repair ointeaance work by Landlord which work may tempdyaprevent after-hours access to the
Building. As of the date of this Lease, Landlordpdoys a roving security service covering the ProjBlotwithstanding the foregoing, nothi
in this Lease shall be deemed to require that laadddrovide security services to Tenant or anyriep&the Project at any time.

B. LIMITATIONS. Tenant shall not permit any odossnoke, dust, gas, substances, noise or vibratioesiainate from the Premises or from
any portion of the common areas as a result of fii&nar any Tenant's Party's use thereof, nordalgeaction which would constitute a
nuisance or would disturb, obstruct or endangeraihgr tenants or occupants of the Building or @&bpr elsewhere, or interfere with their
use of their respective premises or common aréasmge outside the Premises of materials, veharl@gy other items is prohibited. Tenant
shall not use or allow the Premises to be usedrigrimmoral, improper or unlawful purpose, nor sfi@hant cause or maintain or permit any
nuisance in, on or about the Premises. Tenant sbatiommit or suffer the commission of any wasteon or about the Premises. Tenant ¢
not allow any sale by auction upon the Premiseplamre any loads upon the floors, walls or ceilimgggch could endanger the structure, or
place any harmful substances in the drainage systéhe Building or Project. No waste, materialgefuse shall be dumped upon or
permitted to remain outside the Premises. Landiball not be responsible to Tenant for the non-diampe by any other tenant or occupant
of the Building or Project with any of the abovéderenced rules or any other terms or provisionsugh tenant's or occupant's lease or other
contract.

C. COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS. Subject to puncHhlisems, if any, provided by Tenant to Landlordaccordance with Paragraph
2.B above, when entering the Premises, Tenant et Premises in the condition existing as oftiée of such entry. Tenant shall at its
sole cost and expense strictly comply with all gxgsor future applicable municipal, state and fatland other governmental statutes, rules,
requirements, regulations, laws and ordinance$ydity zoning ordinances and regulations, and canexn easements and restrictions of
record (to the extent Tenant has actual or cortstriknowledge of such restrictions of record) goveg and relating to Tenant's Permitted
Use or other specific use by Tenant or Tenant'8g2aoccupancy or possession of the Premisezrari's use of the common areas, or t
use, storage, generation or disposal of Hazardatsrdls (hereinafter defined) by Tenant or TesdPdrties (collectively
"REGULATIONS"). Tenant hereby acknowledges thatdland has provided information regarding restrieti@f record existing as of the
date of this Lease. Tenant shall at its sole cadtexpense obtain any and all licenses or perraitessary for Tenant's use of the Premises.
Tenant shall at its sole cost and expense pronaptiyply with the requirements of any board of firelarwriters or other similar body now or
hereafter constituted. Tenant shall not do or peamything to be done in, on, under or about thggeet or bring or keep anything which will
in any way increase the rate of any insurance tipefremises, Building or Project or upon any catstéherein or cause a cancellation of
said insurance or otherwise affect said insuran@ny manner. Tenant shall indemnify, defend (lynsel reasonably acceptable to
Landlord), protect and hold Landlord harmless framd against any loss, cost, expense, damage,&tfiees or liability arising out of the
failure of Tenant to comply with any Regulationthe extent that such compliance is required of menader this Lease. Tenant's obligations
pursuant to the foregoing indemnity shall survive éxpiration or earlier termination of this Ledsandlord represents that, on the date
Landlord delivers possession of the Premises tafithe Premises shall comply in all material eespwith those Regulations applicable to
real property located in Santa Clara County anthpeng to the Premises. Landlord shall be respgador complying with Regulations
(including ADA and Title 24 to the extent any swdmpliance requirement of Landlord is expresslyestéerein) pertaining to the common
areas of the Project prior to and except to therexdrising out of Tenant's occupancy or use oPtieenises or common areas or construction
of any Tenant Improvements or Alterations made grobehalf of Tenant, whether by Landlord or otfise and whether performed before
or after the Term Commencement Date, or installatioany equipment, fixtures, furniture or othergmnal property in or about the Premi:
Tenant shall have the sole responsibility for conmgl, at Tenant's cost, with any and all provisiohthe Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990, as it has been and may later be amended ("ADQRAwith respect to the Premises; and (ii) widispect to the common areas of the
Project where in the case of this clause (ii) stminpliance has been brought about by: (A) any Telmaprovements or Alterations to the
Premises or to the common areas made by or onfledhEénant, whether by Landlord or otherwise, aedformed after the Term
Commencement Date; (B) requirements of Tenant'd@mes, or any changes to Tenant's use of the Bespor (C) any architectural barri
caused by Tenant's installation of any equipmextyres, furniture, or other personal property irabout the Premises (items (i) and (ii)
collectively, "TENANT'S ADA RESPONSIBILITIES"). Teant shall indemnify, defend and hold Landlord aigents and employees harml
from and against any and all claims, damagesabililies (including, without limitation, reasonabdttorneys' fees and costs) arising directly
or indirectly from Tenant's failure to satisfy anfyTenant's ADA Responsibilities. Landlord shatiémnify, defend and hold Tenant, its
agents and employees harmless from and againstrehgll claims, damages or liabilities arising dilgor indirectly from Landlord's failure
to comply with any obligations of a landlord undee ADA, other than such claims, damages or lisédiarising from Tenant's failure to
satisfy any of Tenant's ADA Responsibilities; paed, however, that Landlord may treat costs of Adpliance with respect to the
common areas of the Project to the extent incuafet the date Landlord delivers possession oPitleenises to Tenant as an Operating
Expense. Notwithstanding anything to the contramytained in Paragraph 7.A of this Lease, costsdAAnd Title 24 compliance brought
about by alterations to the common areas perfotmeéate the date Landlord delivers possession oPteeiises to Tenant for Tenant's
construction of the Tenant Improvements, or whighexpressly made Landlord's responsibility unber itease, will be borne solely by
Landlord and shall neither be treated as an Opegr&kpense nor be the responsibility of Tenantepkto the extent provided herein.
Landlord represents that, as of the date Landlefidets possession of the Premises to Tenantgtbélst of Landlord's actual knowledge, the
Premises and the Building shall comply in all malerespects with the ADA and Title 24 as the ADAddTitle 24 have, as of the date
Landlord delivers possession of the Premises tafimeen interpreted in Santa Clara County anipeio the Premises and the Building.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaiimethis Lease, regardless of whether the cost ofdiance with Regulations shall be bo
by Tenant, or Tenant and other tenants of the Bragan Operating Expense (as defined hereinglaehshall perform or cause to be
performed any compliance with Regulations itemdesribed in this Lease which items are locateiéncommon area or are structural in
nature; provided, however, that the costs of swchptiance items shall be allocated in accordancewith



D. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. As used in this Lease, "HARDOUS MATERIALS" shall include, but not be limited, hazardous, toxic
and radioactive materials and those substancesedkéfis "hazardous substances," "hazardous matetiegardous wastes," "toxic
substances," or other similar designations in agguRation. Tenant shall not cause, or allow anyafant's Parties to cause, any Hazardous
Materials to be handled, used, generated, stogéshged or disposed of in, on, under or about temiBes, the Building or the Project or
surrounding land or environment in violation of dRggulations. Tenant must obtain Landlord's writtensent prior to the introduction of &
Hazardous Materials onto the Project. Notwithstagdhe foregoing, Tenant may handle, store, used@mbse of products containing small
guantities of Hazardous Materials for "generalagffpurposes” (such as toner for copiers) to thenéxdustomary and necessary for the
Permitted Use of the Premises; provided that Teslaait always handle, store, use, and disposeyo$arh Hazardous Materials in a safe and
lawful manner and never allow such Hazardous Maleto contaminate the Premises, Building, or Rtaje surrounding land or
environment. Tenant shall immediately notify Lardlin writing of any Hazardous Materials' contantioa of any portion of the Project of
which Tenant becomes aware, whether or not caus@@fiant. Landlord shall have the right at all ogeable times and if Landlord
determines in good faith that Tenant may not bempliance with this Paragraph 4.D to inspect tfarfses and to conduct tests and
investigations to determine whether Tenant is imgiance with the foregoing provisions,
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the costs of all such inspections, tests and ifgegsdns to be borne by Tenant. Tenant shall indBmdefend (by counsel reasonably
acceptable to Landlord), protect and hold Landladnless from and against any and all claims, litads, losses, costs, loss of rents, liens,
damages, injuries or expenses (including reasorstimeys' and consultants' fees, and court ¢cas)ands, causes of action, or judgments
directly or indirectly arising out of or relatedtfee use, generation, storage, release, or dispbstzardous Materials by Tenant or any of
Tenant's Parties in, on, under or about the Premtse Building or the Project or surrounding lamaénvironment, which indemnity shall
include, without limitation, damages for personabodily injury, property damage, damage to theimmment or natural resources occurring
on or off the Premises, losses attributable to mittidn in value or adverse effects on marketahititg cost of any investigation, monitoring,
government oversight, repair, removal, remediatiestoration, abatement, and disposal, and theapatpn of any closure or other required
plans, whether such action is required or necegs@yto or following the expiration or earlierteination of this Lease. Neither the consent
by Landlord to the use, generation, storage, releaslisposal of Hazardous Materials nor the stachpliance by Tenant with all laws
pertaining to Hazardous Materials shall excuse mefiam Tenant's obligation of indemnification puast to this Paragraph 4.D. Tenant's
obligations pursuant to the foregoing indemnitylishizrvive the expiration or earlier terminationtbfs Lease.

5. RULES AND REGULATIONS

Tenant shall faithfully observe and comply with thelding rules and regulations attached heret@>ddIBIT A and any other rules and
regulations and any modifications or additions ¢b@mhich Landlord may from time to time prescribeavriting for the purpose of
maintaining the proper care, cleanliness, safedffi¢ flow and general order of the Premises @ Building or Project. Tenant shall cause
Tenant's Parties to comply with such rules andletigus. Landlord shall not be responsible to Terfi@nthe non-compliance by any other
tenant or occupant of the Building or Project wétty of such rules and regulations, any other téhanibccupant's lease or any Regulations.

6. RENT

A. BASE RENT. Tenant shall pay to Landlord and Uandl shall receive, without notice or demand thiomgt the Term, Base Rent as
specified in the Basic Lease Information, payablmonthly installments in advance on or beforefitts¢ day of each calendar month, in
lawful money of the United States, without deduttio offset whatsoever, at the Remittance Addrpssified in the Basic Lease Information
or to such other place as Landlord may from timénb@ designate in writing. Base Rent for the fftdt month of the Term for the Premises
shall be paid by Tenant upon Tenant's executidghisfLease. Such payment of Base Rent for theftitisinonth of the Term shall be applied
to the first full month of the Term by Landlord upits receipt thereof so that, upon such applicalbip Landlord of such payment, no
additional payment of Base Rent allocable to tret full month of the Term shall be due from Tenéitthe obligation for payment of Base
Rent commences on a day other than the first daynobnth, then Base Rent shall be prorated anprdrated installment shall be paid on the
first day of the calendar month next succeedingrgren Commencement Date. The Base Rent payablehgnt hereunder is subject to
adjustment as provided elsewhere in this Leasapplécable. As used herein, the term "Base Rergll stean the Base Rent specified in the
Basic Lease Information as it may be so adjusteeh fime to time.

B. ADDITIONAL RENT. All monies other than Base Reeguired to be paid by Tenant hereunder, includug not limited to, Tenant's
Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses, asfeakii Paragraph 7 of this Lease, charges to mklpaTenant under Paragraph 15, the
interest and late charge described in Paragrapbs 26d E., and any monies spent by Landlord putsioaParagraph 30, shall be considered
additional rent ("ADDITIONAL RENT"). "RENT" shall man Base Rent and Additional Rent.

7. OPERATING EXPENSES

A. OPERATING EXPENSES. In addition to the Base Reqjuired to be paid hereunder, Tenant shall padalitional Rent, Tenant's
Proportionate Share of the Building and/or Profastapplicable), as defined in the Basic Leaserimftion, of Operating Expenses (defined
below) in the manner set forth below. Tenant shajl the applicable Tenant's Proportionate Shaeacti such Operating Expenses. Landlord
and Tenant acknowledge that if the number of bagdiwhich constitute the Project increases or @se or if physical changes are made to
the Premises, Building or Project or the configimrabf any thereof, Landlord may reasonably adjiestant's Proportionate Share of the
Building or Project to equitably and fairly reflatte change. Landlord's determination of Tenamtgéttionate Share of the Building and of
the Project shall be conclusive so long as itésoaably and consistently applied. "OPERATING EXBHES" shall mean all expenses and
costs of every kind and nature which Landlord spail or become obligated to pay, because of commection with the ownership,
management, maintenance, repair, preservatioraaeyplent and operation of the Building or Projedt is;msupporting facilities and such
additional facilities now and in subsequent yearmay be determined by Landlord to be necessadgsirable to the Building and/or Project
(as determined in a reasonable manner) other tiume texpenses and costs which are specificalljpattible to Tenant or which are expressly
made the financial responsibility of Landlord oesjfic tenants of the Building or Project pursutmthis Lease. Operating Expenses shall
include, but are not limited to, the following:

(1) TAXES. All real property taxes and assessmaiassessory interest taxes, sales taxes, persaperpy taxes, business or license taxes or
fees, gross receipts taxes, service paymentsurofisuch taxes or fees, annual or periodic licemsgse fees, excises, transit charges, and
other impositions, general and special, ordinay extraordinary, unforeseen as well as foreseeanykind (including fees "in-lieu" of any
such tax or assessment) which are now or hereaftmssed, levied, charged, confirmed, or imposethpyublic authority upon the Building
or Project, its operations or the Rent (or anyiparbr component thereof), or any tax, assessmeigeamposed in substitution, partially or
totally, of any of the above. Operating Expensesdl gtiso include any taxes, assessments, reassessmeother fees or impaositions with
respect to the development, leasing, managemenitenance, alteration, repair, use or occupandh@Premises, Building or Project or any
portion thereof, including, without limitation, loyr for Tenant, and all increases therein or reassests thereof whether the increases or
reassessments result from increased rate andicaticnl (whether upon a transfer of the Buildind?ooject or any portion thereof or a



interest therein or for any other reason). Opegairpenses shall not include inheritance or eséates imposed upon or assessed against the
interest of any person in the Building or the Prgjer taxes computed upon the basis of the neniiecof any owners of any interest in the
Building or the Project. If it shall not be lawfidr Tenant to reimburse Landlord for all or anytpEfrsuch taxes, the monthly rental payable to
Landlord under this Lease shall be revised to agidlord the same net rental after imposition of sungh taxes by Landlord as would have
been payable to Landlord prior to the payment gfsarch taxes.

(2) INSURANCE. All insurance premiums and costsjuding, but not limited to, any deductible amoypiemiums and other costs of
insurance incurred by Landlord, including for theurance coverage set forth in Paragraph 8.A.merei

(3) COMMON AREA MAINTENANCE.

(a) Repairs, replacements, and general mainterarased for the Building and Project and public @edhmon areas and facilities of and
comprising the Building and Project, including, Ioot limited to, the roof and roof membrane, windo@elevators, restrooms, conference
rooms, health club facilities, lobbies, mezzanitedconies, mechanical rooms, building exteriolana systems, pest extermination,
landscaped areas, parking and service areas,



driveways, sidewalks, loading areas, fire sprinklstems, sanitary and storm sewer lines, utibtyises, heating/ventilation/air conditioning
systems, electrical, mechanical or other systestephone equipment and wiring servicing, plumblighting, and any other items or areas
which affect the operation or appearance of thédihg or Project, which determination shall be antlord's discretion, except for: those
items to the extent paid for by the proceeds afriasce or paid by Tenant or other third parties; #uose items attributable solely or jointly
specific tenants of the Building or Project.

(b) Repairs, replacements, and general maintersradkinclude the cost of any improvements madar tassets acquired for the Project or
Building that in Landlord's discretion may reducsy ather Operating Expenses, including presentituré repair work, are reasonably
necessary for the health and safety of the occaparthe Building or Project, or for the operatmfithe Building systems, services and
equipment, or are required to comply with any Ratioh, such costs or allocable portions theredfed@mortized over such reasonable period
as Landlord shall determine which period is sulisliyin accordance with generally accepted actiogrprinciples, together with interest

the unamortized balance at the publicly announpeidhe rate" charged by Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Saancisco) or its successor at the t
such improvements or capital assets are constrectadquired, plus two (2) percentage points, adh@énabsence of such prime rate, then ¢
U.S. Treasury six-month market note (or bond, itlssignated) rate as published by any nationahéisé publication selected by Landlord,
plus four (4) percentage points, but in no evententban the lesser of (i) ten percent (10%) ortki® maximum rate permitted by law, plus
reasonable financing charges.

(c) Payment under or for any easement, licensepipesperating agreement, declaration, restrictioeenant or instrument relating to the
Building or Project.

(d) All expenses and rental related to servicescasts of supplies, materials and equipment usegénating, managing and maintaining the
Premises, Building and Project, the equipment theaed the adjacent sidewalks, driveways, parkimijservice areas, including, without
limitation, expenses related to service agreenmregiarding security, fire and other alarm systeanstgrial services, window cleaning,
elevator maintenance, Building exterior maintenata@dscaping and expenses related to the adnaitissty management and operation of
Project, including without limitation salaries, wesgand benefits and management office rent.

(e) The cost of supplying any services and utdlitihich benefit all or a portion of the Premisesilding or Project, including without
limitation services and utilities provided pursutmParagraph 15 hereof.

(f) Legal expenses and the cost of audits by éedtipublic accountants; provided, however, thaalegpenses chargeable as Operating
Expenses shall not include the cost of negotidtiages, collecting rents, evicting tenants norl $hialclude costs incurred in legal
proceedings with or against any tenant or to eeftine provisions of any lease.

(9) A management and accounting cost recovery dé¢onexceed four percent (4%) of the sum of tregeet’'s revenues.

If the rentable area of the Building and/or Projseatot fully occupied during any fiscal year oétherm as determined by Landlord, an
adjustment shall be made in Landlord's discretiocomputing the Operating Expenses for such ye#radlrenant pays an equitable portion
of all variable items (e.qg., utilities, janitorisérvices and other component expenses that actetffey variations in occupancy levels) of
Operating Expenses, as reasonably determined byldral) provided, however, that in no event shalhdlard be entitled to collect in excess
of one hundred percent (100%) of the total Opegafirpenses actually incurred by Landlord from &lhe tenants in the Building or Project,
as the case may be.

Operating Expenses shall not include the cost@fiding tenant improvements or other specific castsirred for the account of specific
tenants of the Building or Project other than Tente initial construction cost of the Building, @ebt service on any mortgage or deed of
trust recorded with respect to the Project othan thursuant to Paragraph 7.A(3)(b) above. Moredf/eandlord does not provide janitorial
service to the Premises, Operating Expenses wsfhe to the Premises shall not include the cogtritiorial service. In addition,
notwithstanding anything in the definition of Opimg Expenses in this Lease to the contrary, Opeydixpenses shall not include the
following, except to the extent specifically progdl costs of capital improvements, replacemenésjaipment and any depreciation or
amortization expenses thereon, except to the eitelided in Operating Expenses in Paragraph 7 #hisfLease; marketing costs, including
leasing commissions, attorneys' fees in conneetitimthe negotiation and preparation or enforcenoéhtters, deal memos, letters of intent,
leases, subleases and/or assignments, space glawosis, and other costs and expenses incurrezhimection with lease, sublease and/or
assignment negotiations and transactions with pteseprospective tenants or other occupants oBtlikling or the Project; except to the
extent included in Operating Expenses in Paragraf{8) above, interest, principal, points and feeglebt or amortization payments on any
mortgage or deed of trust or any other debt instntnencumbering the Building or Project or the landvhich the Building or Project is
situated; and advertising and promotional expenektuLandlord's general corporate overhead andrgeagministrative expenses not related
to the operation of the Building or the Project(uding executive salaries), except as specificadyforth in Paragraph 7.A of this Lease.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contraryany instance wherein Landlord, in Landlord's reasde discretion, deems Tenant tc
responsible for any amounts greater than TenardfsoRionate Share, Landlord shall have the righdltocate costs in any manner Landlord
reasonably deems appropriate. Landlord shall nteatdrom the tenants of the Project an amounaigethan 100% of the Operating
Expenses incurred in the Project.

The above enumeration of services and facilitiedl stot be deemed to impose an obligation on Lanadio make available or provide such
services or facilities except to the extent if éimgt Landlord has specifically agreed elsewhetbigiLease to make the same available or
provide the same. Without limiting the generalifyttte foregoing, Tenant acknowledges and agredsttsiaall be responsible for providii



adequate security for its use of the PremisesBthieing and the Project and that Landlord shalldhao obligation or liability with respect
thereto, except to the extent if any that Landluad specifically agreed elsewhere in this Leagzduoide the same.

B. PAYMENT OF ESTIMATED OPERATING EXPENSES. "ESTIMAD OPERATING EXPENSES" for any particular yearlsh@ean
Landlord's estimate of the Operating Expensesufoh siscal year made with respect to such fiscal ys hereinafter provided. Landlord shall
have the right from time to time to revise its fisgear and interim accounting periods so longhageriods as so revised are reconciled with
prior periods in a reasonable manner. During thertaonth of each fiscal year during the Term, as@ thereafter as practicable, Landlord
shall give Tenant written notice of the Estimatgue€ating Expenses for the ensuing fiscal year. fiestaall pay Tenant's Proportionate Share
of the Estimated Operating Expenses with installmenBase Rent for the fiscal year to which thériated Operating Expenses applies in
monthly installments on the first day of each cdblermonth during such year, in advance. Such paymen
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shall be construed to be Additional Rent for aligmses hereunder. If at any time during the coafske fiscal year, Landlord reasonably
determines that Operating Expenses are projectearyofrom the then Estimated Operating Expensemdse than five percent (5%),
Landlord may, by written notice to Tenant, revise Estimated Operating Expenses for the balansadlf fiscal year, and Tenant's monthly
installments for the remainder of such year shalhbjusted so that by the end of such fiscal yeaamt has paid to Landlord Tenant's
Proportionate Share of the revised Estimated Oipgr&txpenses for such year, such revised installmeunts to be Additional Rent for all
purposes hereunder.

C. COMPUTATION OF OPERATING EXPENSE ADJUSTMENT. "GBRATING EXPENSE ADJUSTMENT" shall mean the diffecen
between Estimated Operating Expenses and actuahtdeExpenses for any fiscal year determinedessihafter provided. Within one
hundred twenty (120) days after the end of eadtaffigear, or as soon thereafter as practicableqdlbash shall deliver to Tenant a statement of
actual Operating Expenses for the fiscal yeargusied, accompanied by a computation of Operatingpiise Adjustment. If such statement
shows that Tenant's payment based upon Estimateth@m Expenses is less than Tenant's Proporédizdre of Operating Expenses, then
Tenant shall pay to Landlord the difference witthiimty (30) days after receipt of such statememthspayment to constitute Additional Rent
for all purposes hereunder. If such statement shibatsTenant's payments of Estimated Operating Esggeexceed Tenant's Proportionate
Share of Operating Expenses, then (provided thaafias not in default under this Lease) Landldrdllspay to Tenant the difference within
thirty (30) days after delivery of such statementénant. If this Lease has been terminated of énm hereof has expired prior to the date of
such statement, then the Operating Expense Adjustshall be paid by the appropriate party withiintyh(30) days after the date of delivery
of the statement. Should this Lease commence mirtate at any time other than the first day offteeal year, Tenant's Proportionate Share
of the Operating Expense Adjustment shall be pedaréiased on a month of 30 days and the numbetefdar months during such fiscal y:
that this Lease is in effect. Notwithstanding amghto the contrary contained in Paragraph 7.A.Br, Landlord's failure to provide any
notices or statements within the time periods djgetin those paragraphs shall in no way excuseiiefiom its obligation to pay Tenant's
Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses. Duhiag'erm hereof, and only in the event Landlordaiglimg a Letter of Credit (as defined in
Paragraph 39.E hereof) as a Security Deposit oalbehTenant, Landlord shall credit to Tenant bgywof an Operating Expense Adjustment
an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the ahiferm charged by the issuing bank for the Lette€Cidit up to an amount not to exceed
Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000).

D. NET LEASE. This shall be a triple net Lease &ade Rent shall be paid to Landlord absolutelyohetl costs and expenses, except as
specifically provided to the contrary in this Leashe provisions for payment of Operating Expersabsthe Operating Expense Adjustment
are intended to pass on to Tenant and reimbursdl@ahfor all costs and expenses of the naturerdestin Paragraph 7.A. incurred in
connection with the ownership, management, maimesaepair, preservation, replacement and operafithe Building and/or Project and
its supporting facilities and such additional faigb now and in subsequent years as may be detedny Landlord to be necessary or
desirable to the Building and/or Project.

E. TENANT AUDIT. If Tenant shall dispute the amouwget forth in any statement provided by LandlordemParagraph 7.B. or 7.C. above,
Tenant shall have the right, not later than th{g®) days following receipt of such statement apdruthe condition that Tenant shall first
deposit with Landlord the full amount in dispute niotify Landlord of such dispute and to requesaadit in writing, and within sixty (60)
days after Landlord's receipt of such written matio cause Landlord's books and records with ot$peperating Expenses for such fiscal
year to be audited by certified public accountaeiected by Tenant and subject to Landlord's reddemight of approval. The Operati
Expense Adjustment shall be appropriately adjustethe basis of such audit. If such audit discl@skability for a refund in excess of six
percent (6%) of Tenant's Proportionate Share oOperating Expenses previously reported, the dostich audit shall be borne by Landlord;
otherwise the cost of such audit shall be paid &yant. If Tenant shall not request an audit in edamoce with the provisions of this Paragr.
7.E. within thirty (30) days after receipt of Landl's statement provided pursuant to Paragraphor.B.

7.C., such statement shall be final and bindingafbpurposes hereof. Tenant acknowledges and s¢fraeany information revealed in the
above described audit may contain proprietary amditive information and that significant damagaldoesult to Landlord if such
information were disclosed to any party other tlanant's auditors, Tenant's executives and finan@aagers and Tenant's legal counse
of whom Tenant shall require to keep confidentrgl enformation discovered through such audit, whiehuirement of confidentiality shall
survive the termination of this Lease. Except ®dRtent required by an order of a court with prgpesdiction, Tenant shall not in any
manner disclose, provide or make available anyrinéion revealed by the audit to any person otentithout Landlord's prior written
consent, which consent may be withheld by Landioiits sole and absolute discretion. The infornmaticsclosed by the audit will be used by
Tenant solely for the purpose of evaluating Lardilbobooks and records in connection with this Ragy7.E.

8. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION

A. LANDLORD'S INSURANCE. All insurance maintained handlord shall be for the sole benefit of Landl@and under Landlord's sole
control.

(1) PROPERTY INSURANCE. Landlord agrees to mainfaioperty insurance insuring the Building agairehdge or destruction due to r
including fire, vandalism, and malicious mischiefan amount not less than the replacement cogidfhén the form and with deductibles and
endorsements as selected by Landlord. At its electiandlord may instead (but shall have no obiigato) obtain "All Risk" coverage, and
may also obtain earthquake, pollution, and/or flomirance in amounts selected by Landlord.

(2) OPTIONAL INSURANCE. Landlord, at Landlord's apt, may also (but shall have no obligation to)ygdp insurance against loss of
rent, in an amount equal to the amount of Base ReshtAdditional Rent that Landlord could be reqdite abate to all Building tenants in the
event of condemnation or casualty damage for aged twelve (12) months; and (ii) liability insun@e and such other insurance as Landlord
may deem prudent or advisable, in such amount®arsich terms as Landlord shall determine. Landibadl not be obligated to insure, and
shall have no responsibility whatsoever for any dgento, any furniture, machinery, goods, inventargupplies, or other personal propert



fixtures which Tenant may keep or maintain in therfises, or any leasehold improvements, additiomdterations within the Premises.

B. TENANT'S INSURANCE. Tenant shall procure at Tetgmsole cost and expense and keep in effect tihendate of this Lease and at all
times until the end of the Term the following:

(1) PROPERTY INSURANCE. Insurance on all persomapprty and fixtures of Tenant and all improvemeatklitions or alterations made
by or for Tenant to the Premises on an "All Risk&Slis, insuring such property for the full replacemealue of such property.

(2) LIABILITY INSURANCE. Commercial General Liabtly insurance covering bodily injury and propertyragaye liability occurring in or
about the Premises or arising out of the use andpancy of the Premises and the Project, and amypaeither, and any areas adjacent
thereto, and the business operated by Tenant anypwther occupant of the Premises. Such insurstmaéinclude contractual liability
insurance coverage insuring all of Tenant's indéyotligations under this Lease. Such coveragd Baak a minimum combined single lin
of liability of at least Two Million Dollars ($2,00000.00), and a minimum general aggregate limithoke Million Dollars ($3,000,000.00),
with an "Additional Insured - Managers or Lessors



of Premises Endorsement.” All such policies shallitten to apply to all bodily injury (includindeath), property damage or loss, personal
and advertising injury and other covered loss, h@rveccasioned, occurring during the policy terhalsbe endorsed to add Landlord and
any party holding an interest to which this Leasg/ioe subordinated as an additional insured, aaltl gtovide that such coverage shall be
"PRIMARY" and non-contributing with any insuranceimtained by Landlord, which shall be excess instgaonly. Such coverage shall also
contain endorsements including employees as additiasureds if not covered by Tenant's Commef@eieral Liability Insurance. All such
insurance shall provide for the severability okieists of insureds; and shall be written on an "ORRENCE" basis, which shall afford
coverage for all claims based on acts, omissiofjgy and damage, which occurred or arose (or tiseoof which occurred or arose) in wr

or in part during the policy period.

(3) WORKERS' COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITYNSURANCE. Workers' Compensation Insurance as reguiy any
Regulation, and Employers' Liability Insurance maunts not less than One Million Dollars ($1,00@)08ach accident for bodily injury by
accident; One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) poligsnlit for bodily injury by disease; and One Millidvollars ($1,000,000) each employee for
bodily injury by disease.

(4) COMMERCIAL AUTO LIABILITY INSURANCE. Commercialauto liability insurance with a combined limitwt less than One
Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily injury angroperty damage for each accident. Such insuraredecover liability relating to any auto
of Tenant (including owned, hired and non-owneasguand automobiles used within the scope of enmpéoy under Tenant).

(5) ALTERATIONS REQUIREMENTS. In the event Tenahi# desire to perform any Alterations, Tenant ktlaliver to Landlord, prior to
commencing such Alterations (i) evidence reasons#isfactory to Landlord that Tenant carries "Beils Risk" insurance covering
construction of such Alterations in an amount asrdnfapproved by Landlord, (ii) such other insuraasé.andlord shall nondiscriminatorily
and reasonably require, and (iii) a lien and comqubebond or other security in form and amountsfatitory to Landlord in Landlord's
reasonable discretion (which amount of such borattoer security shall be approximately one hundifedpercent (150%) of the total cost
completion of the portion of the Tenant Improvensdot which Landlord requires such additional seégurLandlord shall in no event be
required to accept an instrument of security fappaes of the foregoing sentence which instrumesécurity is not customarily accepted by
Landlord for such purposes in the ordinary courfdeandlord's business operations.

(6) GENERAL INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. All coveragesstribed in this Paragraph 8.B. shall be endoxs&dl provide Landlord

with thirty

(30) days' notice of cancellation or change in teramd (ii) waive all rights of subrogation by thsurance carrier against Landlord. If at any
time during the Term the amount or coverage ofriasce which Tenant is required to carry underRaisagraph 8.B. is, in Landlord's
reasonable judgment, materially less than the atmmutype of insurance coverage typically carrigcblarners or tenants of properties located
in the general area in which the Premises areddoahich are similar to and operated for similampmses as the Premises or if Tenant's u
the Premises should change with or without Landordnsent, Landlord shall have the right to regjliienant to increase the amount or
change the types of insurance coverage requireerihi Paragraph 8.B. All insurance policies resgito be carried by Tenant under this
Lease shall be written by companies rated A X ¢iebén "Best's Insurance Guide" and authorizedddusiness in the State of California.
With respect to the Tenant named hereunder (Bro€Cademunications Systems, Inc."), in any event dédiecamounts under all insurance
policies required to be carried by Tenant undey tigase shall not exceed One Hundred ThousandrB¢#400,000.00) per occurrence,
provided that Tenant maintains a tangible net woftat least Fifty Million and No/100 Dollars ($®®0,000.00) as reasonably determined by
Landlord, or, if Tenant's net worth is less thaftyFillion and No/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00)csudeductible amounts shall not exceed
Twenty-Five Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($25,00pp# occurrence. With respect to any other patiickwbecomes "Tenant" under this
Lease, by assignment or operation of law, or otierwn any event deductible amounts under allrarste policies required to be carried by
Tenant under this Lease shall not exceed Five TaralBollars ($5,000.00) per occurrence. Tenant giedéiler to Landlord on or before the
Term Commencement Date, and thereafter at legesefif

(15) days before the expiration dates of the edpi@icies, certified copies of Tenant's insurapackcies, or a certificate evidencing the same
issued by the insurer thereunder; and, if Tenaait &l to procure such insurance, or to delivects policies or certificates, Landlord may, at
Landlord's option and in addition to Landlord'seasthemedies in the event of a default by Tenargumter, procure the same for the account
of Tenant, and the cost thereof shall be paid twdlard as Additional Rent.

C. INDEMNIFICATION. Tenant shall indemnify, defefy counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord, prated hold Landlord, Spieker
Properties, Inc., and each of their respectivecttirs, shareholders, partners, lenders, memberggess, contractors, affiliates and
employees (collectively, "LANDLORD INDEMNITEES") haless from and against any and all claims, litibgi losses, costs, loss of rents,
liens, damages, injuries or expenses, includingarable attorneys' and consultants' fees and costs, demands, causes of action, or
judgments, directly or indirectly arising out of @lated to: (1) claims of injury to or death ofgens or damage to property or business
occurring or resulting directly or indirectly frothe use or occupancy of the Premises, BuildingrojeBt by Tenant or Tenant's Parties, or
from activities or failures to act of Tenant or &etis Parties; (2) claims arising from work or laperformed, or for materials or supplies
furnished to or at the request or for the accofifiiemant in connection with performance of any wddne for the account of Tenant within
the Premises or Project; (3) claims arising from lareach or default on the part of Tenant in thégumance of any covenant contained in
this Lease; and (4) claims arising from the neglageor intentional acts or omissions of Tenantemant's Parties. The foregoing indemnity
by Tenant shall not be applicable to claims todki&nt arising from the gross negligence or wilthisconduct of Landlord or Landlord's
agents, employees, or contractors or Landlordadbref a material term of this Lease beyond anyieage cure periods. Landlord shall not
be liable to Tenant and Tenant hereby waives alired against Landlord for any injury to or deathafdamage to any person or property or
business loss in or about the Premises, Buildingroject by or from any cause whatsoever (other ttendlord's gross negligence or willful
misconduct or Landlord's breach of a material tefrihis Lease beyond any applicable cure periodd) without limiting the generality of tl
foregoing, whether caused by water leakage of aayacter from the roof, walls, basement or othetiguo of the Premises, Building or
Project, or caused by gas, fire, oil or electridityon or about the Premises, Building or Projacts of God or of third parties, or any ma



outside of the reasonable control of Landlord. ph®risions of this Paragraph shall survive the matmin or earlier termination of this Lease.

9. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

Landlord and Tenant each waives any claim, losost it might have against the other for any injiryr death of any person or persons, or
damage to or theft, destruction, loss, or losssefaf any property (a "LOSS"), to the extent theesés insured against (or is required to be
insured against under the terms hereof) under eopepty damage insurance policy covering the Boddthe Premises, Landlord's or

Tenant's fixtures, personal property, leasehold@avwgments, or business, regardless of whetherdfkgence of the other party caused such
Loss.



10. LANDLORD'S REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

Landlord shall maintain in good repair, reasonat®ar and tear excepted, the structural soundndse ebof, foundations, and exterior walls
of the Building. The term "exterior walls" as ugwegtein shall not include windows, glass or platesg] doors, special store fronts or office
entries. Any damage caused by or repairs necessibtgtany negligence or act of Tenant or Tenat'sd® may be repaired by Landlord at
Landlord's option and Tenant's expense. Tenanit gtwahptly give Landlord written notice of any defer need of repairs in such
components of the Building for which Landlord ispensible upon Tenant's knowledge of the samea, wfieh Landlord shall have a
reasonable opportunity and the right to enter tieenfises at all reasonable times to repair samedlbahshall make commercially reasonable
efforts to cause its agents, employees and coontsaetho enter the Premises to use commerciallyoredse efforts not to unreasonably
interfere with Tenant's Permitted Use of the Premitandlord's liability with respect to any defgcepairs, or maintenance for which
Landlord is responsible under any of the provisiohthis Lease shall be limited to the cost of staghairs or maintenance, and there shall be
no abatement of rent and no liability of Landlogdrbason of any injury to or interference with Tet®mbusiness arising from the making of
repairs, alterations or improvements in or to aostipn of the Premises, the Building or the Projacto fixtures, appurtenances or equipment
in the Building, except as provided in ParagraphR4bject to punchlist items described in Paragéaphhereof, by taking possession of the
Premises, Tenant accepts them "as is," as beiggdd order, condition and repair and the conditiowhich Landlord is obligated to deliver
them and suitable for the Permitted Use and Tenariénded operations in the Premises, whetheotoamy notice of acceptance is given.
Landlord shall promptly commence the correctiothef punchlist items described in Paragraph

2.B hereof, if any, following Landlord's receiptariy such punchlist items list in accordance wiik tease.

11. TENANT'S REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

Tenant shall at all times during the Term at Tesa®pense maintain all parts of the Premises acid gortions of the Building as are within
the exclusive control of Tenant in a first-classod, clean and secure condition and promptly mékesaessary repairs and replacements, as
reasonably determined by Landlord, with materiald workmanship of the same character, kind andtgued the original. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenhatl sat its expense, promptly repair any damagbeedPremises or the Building or Project
resulting from or caused by any negligence or &demant or Tenant's Parties.

12. ALTERATIONS

A. Tenant shall not make, or allow to be made, @tgrations, physical additions, improvements atifans, including without limitation the
attachment of any fixtures or equipment, in, almub the Premises ("ALTERATIONS") without obtaigithe prior written consent of
Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonalitlyheld or delayed with respect to proposed Alferas which: (a) comply with all
applicable Regulations; (b) are, in Landlord's osable opinion, compatible with the Building or thmject and its mechanical, plumbing,
electrical, heating/ventilation/air conditioningssgms, and will not cause the Building or Projectuech systems to be required to be modified
to comply with any Regulations (including, withdimitation, the Americans With Disabilities Act)nless Tenant in its sole discretion agrees
in writing to pay for all costs and expenses asgedi with such compliance requirement (which agergrahall survive termination of this
Lease); and (c) will not interfere with the use asdupancy of any other portion of the BuildingRspject by any other tenant or its invitees.
Specifically, but without limiting the generality the foregoing, Landlord shall have the right aften consent for all plans and
specifications for the proposed Alterations, cangton means and methods, all appropriate permidieenses, any contractor or
subcontractor to be employed on the work of Alierat, and the time for performance of such workl, aray impose reasonable rules and
regulations for contractors and subcontractorsoperihg such work. Tenant shall also supply to Lamdlany documents and information
reasonably requested by Landlord in connection dthdlord's consideration of a request for apprtreabunder. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Tenant shall have the right, withoutsemt of, but upon at least ten (10) business g¢aigs' written notice (as provided under
Paragraph 12.B below) to, Landlord, to make nouestiral, cosmetic Alterations within the interidrtbe Premises (and which are not visible
from the outside of the Premises), which do notainfhe value of the Building, and which cost, e taggregate, less than Twenty-Five
Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) in any twelve (12nthgeriod during the Term of this Lease, provitteat such Alterations shall
nevertheless be subject to all of the remainingireqents of this Paragraph 12, including withdauithtion, subparagraphs (a) through (c)
above, other than the requirement of Landlordsrgronsent. In addition, all Alterations shall lexfprmed by duly licensed contractors or
subcontractors reasonably acceptable to Landleodf pf insurance shall be submitted to Landlordezpiired under Paragraph 8.B above,
and Landlord reserves the right to impose reaserraiiés and regulations for contractors and subaoturs. Tenant shall, if requested by
Landlord, promptly furnish Landlord with complete-luilt plans and specifications for any Alterag@erformed by Tenant to the Premises,
at Tenant's sole cost and expense. Tenant shak @luAlterations to be accomplished in a firstssl, good and workmanlike manner, and to
comply with all applicable Regulations and Parabgrap hereof. Tenant shall at Tenant's sole expgeastarm any additional work required
under applicable Regulations due to the Alteratioereunder. No review or consent by Landlord abaainy proposed Alteration or additio
work shall constitute a waiver of Tenant's obliga under this Paragraph 12, nor constitute anyawsyr or representation that the same
complies with all applicable Regulations, for whiténant shall at all times be solely responsib&nant shall reimburse Landlord for all c
which Landlord may incur in connection with gramtiapproval to Tenant for any such Alterations,udahg any costs or expenses which
Landlord may incur in electing to have outside #@salts and engineers review said plans and spatidits, and shall pay Landlord an
administration fee of five percent (5%) of the cofthe Alterations as Additional Rent hereunddt.sfich Alterations shall remain the
property of Tenant until the expiration or earliemination of this Lease, at which time they sbhalland become the property of Landlord;
provided, however, that Landlord may, at Landloogison, require that Tenant, at Tenant's expeneseove any or all Alterations (excluding
the initial Tenant Improvements and any improversémstalled by Landlord on behalf of Tenant in Biease | Temporary Premises or the
Phase Il Temporary Premises (each as herein dgfimestle by or on behalf of Tenant and restore teenides by the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease, to their condition exigtprior to the construction of any such Alteraspreasonable wear and tear excepted. All
such removals and restoration shall be accomplishadirst-class and good and workmanlike manoegissnot to cause any damage to the
Premises or Project whatsoever. If Tenant failetoove such Alterations or Tenant's trade fixtunefurniture or other personal proper



Landlord may keep and use them or remove any of #red cause them to be stored or sold in accordaiticepplicable law, at Tenant's s
expense. In addition to and wholly apart from Teisasbligation to pay Tenant's Proportionate Slod@perating Expenses, Tenant shall be
responsible for and shall pay prior to delinqueany taxes or governmental service fees, possesgergst taxes, fees or charges in lieu of
any such taxes, capital levies, or other charge®a®ad upon, levied with respect to or assessedstgts fixtures or personal property, on the
value of Alterations within the Premises, and ondrd's interest pursuant to this Lease, or anyas® in any of the foregoing based on such
Alterations. To the extent that any such taxeqateseparately assessed or billed to Tenant, Teshatitpay the amount thereof as invoice
Tenant by Landlord.

At Landlord's election and notwithstanding the &mimg, however, Tenant shall pay to Landlord th& of removing any such Alterations ¢
restoring the Premises to their original conditisuch cost to include a reasonable charge for load'dl overhead and profit as provided ak

at the time Landlord grants written consent tocuested Alteration; provided, however, that Landlisinall not require that Tenant pay to
Landlord the cost of removing any such Alteratians restoring the Premises to their original caodigs described in the foregoing sente

if the following conditions precedent are satisfigdTenant: (i) Tenant (and not a sublessee ogassiof Tenant) shall be the party for which
the Alterations are requested and Tenant is ings3$sn of the portion of the Premises upon whiehAherations shall be made, and (ii) the
removal costs of such Alterations described abogalatermined by Landlord in its
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reasonable discretion to be less than a cumulaiteéof one hundred thousand and no/100 dollak8E#00.00) with respect to all existing
Alterations which Landlord may require to be rentpersuant to the terms of this Lease. Nothindvénforegoing sentence shall be
interpreted to relieve Tenant of its obligationsatéed in this Lease to remove Alterations antbreshe Premises at Tenant's cost in
accordance with this Paragraph 12, Paragraph 36éviaihather applicable terms and conditions of ttesse. In the event that Tenant does
remove any such Alterations and restores the Pesniisaccordance with the terms of this Lease, loaddahall return any monies delivered
by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with the preaggdentence. In the event Tenant fails to remolerétions and restore the Premises in
accordance with the terms of this Lease, Landloagt perform the same on Tenant's behalf apply maribscted by Landlord for such
purpose to the removal and restoration or, in tlemeLandlord does not require any such paymentdnant, the amount due from Tenant
may be deducted from the Security Deposit or ahgrasums or amounts held by Landlord under thiséea

B. In compliance with Paragraph 27 hereof, at leas{10) business days before beginning constnuctf any Alteration, Tenant shall give
Landlord written notice of the expected commencdrdate of that construction to permit Landlord tsipand record a notice of non-
responsibility. Upon substantial completion of doustion, if the law so provides, Tenant shall eaadimely notice of completion to be
recorded in the office of the recorder of the cguntwhich the Building is located.

C. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary conggin Paragraph 12.A, at the time Landlord givesdnsent for any Alterations, Tenant
shall also be notified whether or not Landlord wéljuire that such Alterations be removed uporettpration or earlier termination of this
Lease. Landlord shall respond to Tenant's writeguest within fifteen (15) business days. In then¢\andlord fails to respond to Tenant's
written request within such fifteen (15) busineay time period, Landlord shall not be in defaultdwé nor shall Tenant be deemed to have
received consent to the requested Alterations; kiew&enant is entitled to provide a second writeguest for consent to Landlord. Landlord
shall respond to Tenant's second written requestdiosent described in this Paragraph 12.C witin(10) business days after Landlord's
receipt thereof. In the event Landlord fails tarespond to Tenant's second written request, Laddloall be deemed to have consented to
Tenant's request to make Alterations; provided,éwas, that if the total cost of any proposed Altierss by Tenant during the previous six
month period is equal to or more than One Hundiealifand Dollars ($100,000.00), Landlord shall bentled to have rejected Tenant's
second request to make such Alterations.

13. SIGNS

Tenant shall not place, install, affix, paint orintain any signs, notices, graphics or banners sdeater or any window decor which is visible
in or from public view or corridors, the common aseor the exterior of the Premises or the Buildingyr on any exterior window or window
fronting upon any common areas or service areaowithandlord's prior written approval which Landlahall have the right to withhold in
its absolute and sole discretion; provided thataf¢’s name shall be included in any Building-staddor and directory signage, if any, in
accordance with Landlord's Building signage programtiuding without limitation, payment by Tenaritany fee charged by Landlord for
maintaining such signage, which fee shall congtiddditional Rent hereunder. Any installation ajfrs, notices, graphics or banners on or
about the Premises or Project approved by Landlbadl be subject to any Regulations and to anyrattgpiirements imposed by Landlord.
Tenant shall remove all such signs or graphic$byeipiration or any earlier termination of thisake. Such installations and removals shall
be made in such manner as to avoid injury to cackhent of the Premises, Building or Project andather improvements contained ther
and Tenant shall repair any injury or defacemecitnting without limitation discoloration caused sych installation or removal. Any sign
rights granted by Landlord to Tenant shall be esiglito Tenant and such rights shall not be asdighéleased or otherwise conveyed
without the prior written approval of Landlord ohigh Landlord shall have the right to withhold ia absolute and sole discretion. Tenant's
signage rights under this Paragraph are persotagtoriginal Tenant named in this Lease and stwdlinure to the benefit of any assignee
subtenants. Notwithstanding anything containedhig Paragraph 13 to the contrary, Tenant shalhtilesl to two

(2) signs to be located as follows (a) one (1) sigrthe upper-most portion of the side of the Bagdfacing Technology Drive, and (b) one
(1) sign the upper-most portion of the side of Buflding facing Guadalupe Parkway, each in a larateasonably determined by Landlord.
Such signage right is personal to Tenant and sutgjebe following terms and conditions:

1. Tenant shall submit plans and drawings for fighage to the City of San Jose and to any othigliqgpauthorities having jurisdiction and
shall obtain written approval from each such judgdn prior to installation, and shall fully conyplvith all applicable Regulations;

2. Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost and expéas@n, construct and install such signage;

3. All signs shall be subject to Landlord's priaitten approval, which Landlord shall have the tighwithhold in its absolute and sole
discretion;

4. Tenant shall maintain its signage in good camdliand repair, and all costs of maintenance apdirshall be borne by Tenant.
Maintenance shall include, without limitation, alr#g and, if such signage is illuminated, relampahgeasonable intervals. Tenant shall be
responsible for any electrical energy used in cotioe with its signs;

5. At Landlord's option, Tenant's signage rightnged hereby may be revoked and terminated upammece of any of the following even

(a) Tenant shall be in material default, as defimelaragraph 26 as determined by Landlord inals discretion, and shall not have cured
default for a period of ninety (90) days;

(b) Except with respect to Permitted Transfers diesd in Paragraph 21.A(3) hereof, Tenant shalbasthis Lease or sublet any portion of
the Premises without Landlord's prior written carise accordance with Paragraph 21, or Tenant aesugss than fifty percent (50%) of t



Premises;
(c) This Lease shall terminate or otherwise no éorize in effect.

6. Upon the expiration or earlier termination dbthease if Tenant fails to remove its signageccoadance with this Paragraph 13, or at such
other time that Tenant's signage rights are terfmthpursuant to the terms hereof, Landlord shalsedl enant's signage to be removed from
the Building and the Building to be repaired anstoeed to the condition which existed prior to igallation of Tenant's signage (including,
if necessary, the replacement of any precast ctsmpemnels), all at the sole cost and expense dfteand otherwise in accordance with
Paragraph 36 of this Lease, without further natioen Landlord notwithstanding anything to the camgrcontained in this Lease. Tenant s
pay all costs and expenses for such removal atdration within thirty (30) days following deliveryf an invoice therefor.
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14. INSPECTION/POSTING NOTICES

After reasonable notice, except in emergencies evhersuch notice shall be required, Landlord antilard's agents and representatives,
shall have the right to enter the Premises to ictsfhe same, to clean, to perform such work as Inegyermitted or required hereunder, to
make repairs, improvements or alterations to tleeniges, Building or Project or to other tenant spaberein, to deal with emergencies, to
post such notices as may be permitted or requiyddwvbp to prevent the perfection of liens againshdilard's interest in the Project or to exh
the Premises to prospective tenants, purchasersirdmancers or to others, or for any other purpsseandlord may deem necessary or
desirable; provided, however, that Landlord shedl teasonable efforts not to unreasonably intevi@re Tenant's business operations. Tel
shall not be entitled to any abatement of Rentaagon of the exercise of any such right of entgnant waives any claim for damages for
injury or inconvenience to or interference with @atls business, any loss of occupancy or quielyergat of the Premises, and any other loss
occasioned thereby. Landlord shall at all timeseheavd retain a key with which to unlock all of theors in, upon and about the Premises,
excluding Tenant's vaults and safes or speciak#gereas (designated in advance), and Landloatl Bhve the right to use any and all me
which Landlord may deem necessary or proper to spehdoors in an emergency, in order to obtairyantany portion of the Premises, and
any entry to the Premises or portions thereof abthby Landlord by any of said means, or othervghall not be construed to be a forcible
unlawful entry into, or a detainer of, the Premjs®san eviction, actual or constructive, of Tenaoin the Premises or any portions thereof.
At any time within six (6) months prior to the esgtion of the Term or following any earlier termiiza of this Lease or agreement to
terminate this Lease, Landlord shall have the righgrect on the Premises, Building and/or Pragestiitable sign indicating that the Premises
are available for lease.

15. SERVICES AND UTILITIES

A. Provided Tenant shall not be in default hereundied subject to the provisions elsewhere heremained and to the rules and regulations
of the Building, Landlord shall furnish to the Prises during ordinary business hours of generattpgaized business days, to be reasonably
determined by Landlord (but exclusive, in any eyenSaturdays, Sundays and legal holidays), watdavatory and drinking purposes and
electricity, heat and air conditioning as usuallynished or supplied for use of the Premises faswaable and normal office use as of the date
Tenant takes possession of the Premises as degertmnlLandlord (but not including above-standardantinuous cooling for excessive heat-
generating machines, excess lighting or equipmgntitorial services during the times and in thenmex that such services are, in Landlord's
judgment, customarily furnished in comparable efimildings in the immediate market area, and ébeservice, which shall mean serv
either by nonattended automatic elevators or etesatith attendants, or both, at the option of Uardl Tenant acknowledges that Tenant
inspected and accepts the water, electricity, &edtair conditioning and other utilities and seegideing supplied or furnished to the Pren

as of the date Tenant takes possession of the &sngis being sufficient for use of the Premisessfasonable and normal office use in their
present condition, "as is," and suitable for thenited Use, and for Tenant's intended operatinrieé Premises. Landlord shall have no
obligation to provide additional or after-hoursdateity, heating or air conditioning, but if Laraitl elects to provide such services at Tenant's
request, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demameasonable charge for such services as reagatetbkmined by Landlord. Tenant
agrees to keep and cause to be kept closed albwigdvering when necessary because of the suritiopoand Tenant also agrees at all
times to cooperate fully with Landlord and to abiigeall of the regulations and requirements whielmdlord may reasonably prescribe for
proper functioning and protection of electricalatieg, ventilating and air conditioning systems.akéver heat-generating machines, excess
lighting or equipment are used in the Premises lwhftect the temperature otherwise maintained byaih conditioning system, Landlord
reserves the right to install supplementary airditioning units in the Premises and the cost thigiaoluding the cost of installation and the
cost of operation and maintenance thereof, shabidie by Tenant to Landlord upon demand by Landlord

B. Tenant shall not without written consent of Lknnd use any apparatus, equipment or device ifPteenises, including without limitation,
computers, electronic data processing machinegimgpmachines, and other machines, using excelssriggor using electric current, water,
or any other resource in excess of or which wilkity way increase the amount of electricity, wateigny other resource being furnished or
supplied for the use of the Premises for reasorailenormal office use, and the Permitted Useaghe&ase as of the date Tenant takes
possession of the Premises and as determined Hfdrdnor which will require additions or alterat®to or interfere with the Building pow
distribution systems; nor connect with electricreat, except through existing electrical outletshi@ Premises or water pipes, any apparatus,
equipment or device for the purpose of using akdtcurrent, water, or any other resource. If Tarsall require water or electric current or
any other resource in excess of that being furdigiiesupplied for the use of the Premises as ofithe Tenant takes possession of the
Premises as determined by Landlord, Tenant shsilgrocure the written consent of Landlord whi@ndlord may refuse, to the use thereof,
and Landlord may cause a special meter to be iedtal the Premises so as to measure the amowvtef, electric current or other resource
consumed for any such other use. Tenant shall ppagtly to Landlord upon demand as an additionrid separate from payment of Opera
Expenses the cost of all such additional resousrgrgy, utility service and meters (and of inatédn, maintenance and repair thereof and of
any additional circuits or other equipment necgssafurnish such additional resources, energyifyibr service). Landlord may add to the
separate or metered charge a recovery of additexpanse incurred in keeping account of the exs@assr, electric current or other resource
so consumed. Following receipt of Tenant's reqteedb so, Landlord shall use good faith effortsestore any service specifically to be
provided under Paragraph 15 that becomes unawvaidaddl which is in Landlord's reasonable contreégiore; provided, however, that
Landlord shall in no case be liable for any damatiesctly or indirectly resulting from nor shalleliRent or any monies owed Landlord under
this Lease herein reserved be abated by reasd¢a)dfie installation, use or interruption of useny equipment used in connection with the
furnishing of any such utilities or services, oyamange in the character or means of supplyim@viding any such utilities or services or
any supplier thereof;

(b) the failure to furnish or delay in furnishingyasuch utilities or services when such failur@lelay is caused by acts of God or the elem
labor disturbances of any character, or otherwidgeoause of any interruption of service due toaf#s use of water, electric current or other
resource in excess of that being supplied or faedsor the use of the Premises as of the dateritéslees possession of the Premises; (c) the
inadequacy, limitation, curtailment, rationing estriction on use of water, electricity, gas or attyer form of energy or any other service or
utility whatsoever serving the Premises or Projetiether by Regulation or otherwise; or (d) thetiphor total unavailability of any such
utilities or services to the Premises or the Buifdor the diminution in the quality or quantity tbef, whether by Regulation or otherwise:



(e) any interruption in Tenant's business operatama result of any such occurrence; nor shalsanly occurrence constitute an actual or
constructive eviction of Tenant or a breach ofraplied warranty by Landlord. Landlord shall furthiexve no obligation to protect or prese
any apparatus, equipment or device installed byameim the Premises, including without limitatiop froviding additional or after-hours
heating or air conditioning. Landlord shall be #at to cooperate voluntarily and in a reasonatd@mer with the efforts of national, state or
local governmental agencies or utility suppliersaducing energy or other resource consumption.oftigation to make services available
hereunder shall be subject to the limitations of sunch voluntary, reasonable program. In additiamdlord reserves the right to change the
supplier or provider of any such utility or servitem time to time. Tenant shall have the rightli@ctly contract with or otherwise obtain ¢
electrical or janitorial service for or with respéa the Premises or Tenant's operations therem iny supplier or provider of any such
service. Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord amdsaupplier or provider of such services designatetiandlord from time to time to
facilitate the delivery of such services to Terarthe Premises and to the Building and Projectud@ing without limitation allowing

Landlord and Landlord's suppliers or providers, tadr respective agents and contractors, reaserlgess to the Premises for the purpose
of installing, maintaining, repairing, replacingugrgrading such service or any equipment or machiassociated therewith.
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C. Tenant shall pay, upon demand, for all utilifiesished to the Premises, or if not separatdlgdto or metered to Tenant, Tenant's
Proportionate Share of all charges jointly sentimg Project in accordance with Paragraph 7. Allspayable under this Paragraph 15 shall
constitute Additional Rent hereunder.

D. Tenant may contract separately with providerselgfcommunications or cellular products, systemseovices for the Premises. Even
though such products, systems or services maysi@lied or provided by such providers in the Buitdiin consideration for Landlord's
permitting such providers to provide such serviceenant, Tenant agrees that Landlord and the lbeshthdemnitees shall in no event be
liable to Tenant or any Tenant Party for any damaifeny nature whatsoever arising out of or netptd the products, systems or services
provided by such providers (or any failure, intgtran, defect in or loss of the same) or any ac@noissions of such providers in connection
with the same or any interference in Tenant's lassirtaused thereby. Tenant waives and releagashédl and remedies against Landlord and
the Landlord Indemnitees that are inconsistent thighforegoing.

16. SUBORDINATION

Without the necessity of any additional documendpexecuted by Tenant for the purpose of effecsirsyibordination, this Lease shall be
and is hereby declared to be subject and subosdatatll times to: (a) all ground leases or undeglyeases which may now exist or hereafter
be executed affecting the Premises and/or thedpod which the Premises and Project are situatdabth; and (b) any mortgage or deed of
trust which may now exist or be placed upon thddug, the Project and/or the land upon which thenftses or the Project are situated, or
said ground leases or underlying leases, or Lad@lanterest or estate in any of said items wiscépiecified as security. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Landlord shall have the right to subpaté or cause to be subordinated any such groasddeor underlying leases or any such
liens to this Lease. If any ground lease or undieglyease terminates for any reason or any mortgageed of trust is foreclosed or a
conveyance in lieu of foreclosure is made for agspbn, Tenant shall, notwithstanding any subondinaattorn to and become the Tenant of
the successor in interest to Landlord provided Tleatant shall not be disturbed in its possessialeuthis Lease by such successor in interest
so long as Tenant is not in default under this ee¥githin ten (10) days after request by Landldrehant shall execute and deliver any
additional documents evidencing Tenant's attornraetiie subordination of this Lease with respecrty such ground leases or underlying
leases or any such mortgage or deed of trustgifiotm requested by Landlord or by any ground lartjimortgagee, or beneficiary under a
deed of trust, subject to such nondisturbance remént. If requested in writing by Tenant, Landlsehdll use commercially reasonable efi

to obtain a subordination, nondisturbance andrattent agreement for the benefit of Tenant reflectire foregoing from any ground
landlord, mortgagee or beneficiary, at Tenant'sagp, subject to such other terms and conditiotiseaground landlord, mortgagee or
beneficiary may require.

17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At the request of Landlord from time to time, Tenhsinall provide to Landlord Tenant's and any guarascurrent financial statements or
other information discussing financial worth of B@hand any guarantor, which Landlord shall uselgdbr purposes of this Lease and in
connection with the ownership, management, finaneind disposition of the Project. Landlord shall disclose, provide or make available
any confidential information revealed by Tenantisgte financial information to any person or gntitithout Tenant's prior written consent.

18. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

Tenant agrees from time to time, within ten (10ydafter request of Landlord, to deliver to Landloor Landlord's designee, an estoppel
certificate stating that this Lease is in full ferand effect, that this Lease has not been modifiedtating all modifications, written or oral, to
this Lease), the date to which Rent has been gedjnexpired portion of this Lease, that therenareurrent defaults by Landlord or Tenant
under this Lease (or specifying any such defauhsl, the leasehold estate granted by this Leabe isole interest of Tenant in the Premises
and/or the land at which the Premises are situatedi such other matters pertaining to this Leaseasbe reasonably requested by Landlord
or any mortgagee, beneficiary, purchaser or prdgmepurchaser of the Building or Project or antemest therein. Failure by Tenant to
execute and deliver such certificate shall consgtitin acceptance of the Premises and acknowleddipdrgnant that the statements included
are true and correct without exception. Tenantegtieat if Tenant fails to execute and deliver szattificate within such ten (10) day period,
Landlord may execute and deliver such certificatd enant's behalf and that such certificate stabibding on Tenant. Landlord and Tenant
intend that any statement delivered pursuant soRaragraph may be relied upon by any mortgageefibary, purchaser or prospective
purchaser of the Building or Project or any intetherein. The parties agree that Tenant's obéigat furnish such estoppel certificates in a
timely fashion is a material inducement for Landlsrexecution of this Lease, and shall be an exedéfault (without any cure period that
might be provided under Paragraph 26.A(3) of tléade) if Tenant fails to fully comply or makes angterial misstatement in any such
certificate.

19. SECURITY DEPOSIT

Tenant agrees to deposit with Landlord upon exenudf this Lease, a security deposit as statedarBasic Lease Information (the
"SECURITY DEPOSIT"), which sum shall be held andhed by Landlord, without obligation to pay intefest security for the performance
of Tenant's covenants and obligations under thiseeThe Security Deposit is not an advance repfabsit or a measure of damages inct
by Landlord in case of Tenant's default. Upon tbeuorence of any event of default by Tenant, Larttfoay from time to time, without
prejudice to any other remedy provided herein olalay, use such fund as a credit to the extent isacgdo credit against any arrears of Rent
or other payments due to Landlord hereunder, apddrer damage, injury, expense or liability causgduch event of default, and Tenant
shall pay to Landlord, on demand, the amount sdiexpjm order to restore the Security Deposit soaitiginal amount. Although the Security
Deposit shall be deemed the property of Landlongl,ramaining balance of such deposit shall be ptymeturned by Landlord to Tenant



such time after termination of this Lease thab&llenant's obligations under this Lease have ldéled to Landlord's reasonable
satisfaction, reduced by such amounts as may héregcpy Landlord

(i) to remedy defaults on the part of Tenant ingghgment of Rent or other obligations of Tenantarrttlis Lease, (ii) to repair damage to the
Premises, Building or Project caused by Tenanhgri@nant's Parties, and (iii) to clean the Premisdhe extent Tenant fails to comply with
Paragraph 36 hereof. Landlord may use and commihgl&ecurity Deposit with other funds of LandloFénant hereby waives the
provisions of Section 1950.7 of the California Ci®bde, and all other provisions of any Regulatjor@awv or hereinafter in force, which
restricts the amount or types of claim that a lardiimay make upon a security deposit or imposes agandlord (or its successors) any
obligation with respect to the handling or retufrsecurity deposits.

20. LIMITATION OF TENANT'S REMEDIES

The obligations and liability of Landlord to Tendat any default by Landlord under the terms o§ théase are not personal obligations of
Landlord or of the individual or other partnersLaindlord or its or their partners, directors, offis, or shareholders, and Tenant agrees ta
solely to Landlord's interest in the Project fog tecovery of any amount from Landlord, and shatllaok to other assets of Landlord nor
seek recourse against the assets of the indivatugther partners of Landlord or its or their pars) directors, officers or shareholders. Any
lien obtained to enforce any such judgment andieny of execution thereon shall be subject and slibate to any lien, mortgage or deed of
trust on the Project. Under no circumstances Steiblnt have the right to offset against or recoaptRr other payments due and to become
due to Landlord hereunder except as expressly geedvin this Lease, which Rent and other paymerait sh
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be absolutely due and payable hereunder in accoedaith the terms hereof. In no case shall Landbardiable to Tenant for any lost profits,
damage to business, or any form of special, intliseconsequential damage on account of any brefittis Lease or otherwise,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaiirethis Lease.

21. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

A. (1) GENERAL. This Lease has been negotiatecetard is granted as an accommodation to Tenanardicgly, this Lease is personal to
Tenant, and Tenant's rights granted hereunder timciade the right to assign this Lease or sulde¢he Premises, or to receive any excess,
either in installments or lump sum, over the Rehicl is expressly reserved by Landlord as herengitovided, except as otherwise
expressly hereinafter provided. Tenant shall nsigasor pledge this Lease or sublet the Premisasypart thereof, whether voluntarily or
operation of law, or permit the use or occupancthefPremises or any part thereof by anyone otteer Tenant, or suffer or permit any such
assignment, pledge, subleasing or occupancy, withandlord's prior written consent except as preditierein. If Tenant desires to assign
this Lease or sublet any or all of the Premisdhéncase where Landlord's consent is required, estll give Landlord written notice (the
"TRANSFER NOTICE") at least thirty (30) days priorthe anticipated effective date of the proposssigament or sublease, which shall
contain all of the information reasonably requested.andlord to address Landlord's decision crtepecified hereinafter. Landlord shall
then have a period of ten (10) business days faligweceipt of the Transfer Notice to notify Tenantvriting that Landlord elects either: (i)
to terminate this Lease as to the space so affasted the date so requested by Tenant; or (Eptsent to the proposed assignment or
sublease, subject, however, to Landlord's priottemiconsent of the proposed assignee or subtendraf any related documents or
agreements associated with the assignment or sgbléd andlord should fail to notify Tenant in wimig of such election within said period,
Landlord shall be deemed to have waived optioak{gve, but written consent by Landlord of the pegubassignee or subtenant shall still be
required. If Landlord does not exercise optiorafipve, Landlord's consent to a proposed assignonesatblease shall not be unreasonably
withheld. Consent to any assignment or sublettirl 10t constitute consent to any subsequentadits to which this Paragraph 21 appl
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord hereby veaiits right to recapture a portion of the Premiassuch right is described in clause
above, in the following circumstance only: (X) Sumoposed sublease shall commence during theHirsg-six (36) months of the Term of
this Lease, and (Y) the term of such proposed ssklshall expire before the expiration of the feggond (42nd) month following the Term
Commencement Date and no extension options shalidsged in such sublease, and (Z) Tenant shall aines during such period possess
and occupy no less than fifty percent (50%) ofRinemises. With respect to any sublease that odeuiisg the initial fortytwo (42) months ¢
the Term of this Lease, the standard of "sounchfifed condition” described as a condition to Land® consent shall be based upon a
determination by Landlord, in its reasonable disore that such proposed transferee shall havagilike net worth, evidenced by audited
financial statements delivered to Landlord purstarhe terms of this Lease, that is reasonablficseriit, taking into account all expected
obligations of the transferee with respect to tteppsed transfer and all of its other contingert moncontingent obligations, to service when
due the obligations of the transferee with respethe proposed transfer.

(2) CONDITIONS OF LANDLORD'S CONSENT. Without linitg the other instances in which it may be reastenty Landlord to

withhold Landlord's consent to an assignment oledtibg, Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that d#lishe reasonable for Landlord to
withhold Landlord's consent in the following instas: if the proposed assignee does not agreelio® by and assume the obligations of
Tenant under this Lease in form and substance maagpsatisfactory to Landlord; the use of the Rsesiby such proposed assignee or
subtenant would not be a Permitted Use or woulthtéaany exclusivity or other arrangement whichdlard has with any other tenant or
occupant or any Regulation or would increase theupancy Density or Parking Density of the BuildorgProject, or would otherwise result
in an undesirable tenant mix for the Project asmeined by Landlord; the proposed assignee or sahtas not of sound financial condition
as determined by Landlord in Landlord's sole disane the proposed assignee or subtenant is a gmeartal agency; the proposed assignee
or subtenant does not have a good reputationesaatt of property or a good business reputatiaptbposed assignee or subtenant is a
person with whom Landlord is negotiating to legs&ce in the Project or is a present tenant of tbgét; the assignment or subletting would
entail any Alterations which would lessen the vadfiehe leasehold improvements in the Premiseserofi any Hazardous Materials (except
as expressly approved in this Lease) or other nexise or use which may unreasonably disturb eémants of the Project; or Tenant is in
default of any obligation of Tenant under this Lesasr Tenant has defaulted under this Lease oe (8)or more occasions during any twe
(12) months preceding the date that Tenant shallest consent. Failure by or refusal of Landlorddnsent to a proposed assignee or
subtenant shall not cause a termination of thiséetlpon a termination under Paragraph 21.A(Déhdlord may lease the Premises to any
party, including parties with whom Tenant has niget an assignment or sublease, without incuaimgliability to Tenant. At the option of
Landlord, a surrender and termination of this Lestsal operate as an assignment to Landlord of smma# subleases or subtenancies.
Landlord shall exercise this option by giving netiaf that assignment to such subtenants on or dé#fereffective date of the surrender and
termination. In connection with each request f@igrement or subletting, Tenant shall pay to Lardiloaindlord's standard fee (which amount
shall not exceed $1,500.00) for approving suchestg as well as all costs reasonably incurredamdlord and all costs incurred by any
mortgagee or ground lessor in approving each seghest and effecting any such transfer, includivithout limitation, reasonable attorneys'
fees.

(3) PERMITTED TRANSFERS. An "Affiliate" means angtdy that (i) controls, is controlled by, or isder common control with Tenant (
results from the transfer of all or substantiallyod Tenant's assets or stock, or (iii) resultanfrthe merger or consolidation of Tenant with
another entity. "Control," as used in the previsestence, means the direct or indirect ownershipak than fifty percent (50%) of the
voting securities of an entity or possession ofrigbt to vote more than fifty percent (50%) of thating interest in the ordinary direction of
the entity's affairs. Notwithstanding anything lbe tcontrary contained in this Lease, Landlord'seahis not required for any assignment of
this Lease or sublease of all or a portion of thenftses to an Affiliate so long as the followinghdd@ions are met:

(a) at least five (5) days after any such assigriroesublease, Landlord receives written noticeunfh assignment or sublease (as well as any
documents or information reasonably requested Iyglload regarding the transfer and the transferesipport of the requirements of this
Paragraph 21.A(3)); (b) Tenant is not then in défander this Lease; (c) if the transfer is an @ssient or any other transfer to an Affiliate
other than a sublease, the intended assignee assumdting all of Tenant's obligations under thisase relating to the Premises in form
satisfactory to Landlord or, if the transfer isublease, the intended sublessee accepts the sibidasm satisfactory to Landlord; (d) t



intended transferee has a tangible net worth, @eeeed by financial statements delivered to Larénd certified by an independent
certified public accountant in accordance with gale accepted accounting principles that are cziasily applied, at least equal to Tenant as
of the date of this Lease; (e) the Premises shalircue to be operated solely for the use specifigde Basic Lease Information; and (f)
Tenant shall pay to Landlord Landlord's standaed(fehich amount shall not exceed $1,500.00) foreypg assignments and subleases and
all costs reasonably incurred by Landlord and @dts incurred by any mortgagee or ground lessasifoh assignment or subletting, includ
without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees.tNmsfer to an Affiliate in accordance with thisoparagraph shall relieve Tenant named
herein of any obligation under this Lease or dlerliability of Tenant named herein for the paytmainRent or for the performance of any
other obligation to be performed by Tenant, inahgdihe obligations contained in Paragraph 25 véipect to any Affiliate.
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B. BONUS RENT. Any Rent or other consideration il by Tenant under any such sublease or assignmercess of the Rent payable
hereunder, after amortization of a reasonable agleecommission and reasonable attorneys' feesr@chy Tenant solely in connection
with the sublease or assignment, reasonable, amttialf pocket costs of tenant improvements madysim connection with the sublease or
assignment and paid for by Tenant, and reasonableyf-pocket marketing costs, shall be divided paitl, fifty percent (50%) to Tenant,
fifty percent (50%) to Landlord. In any sublettiogassignment undertaken by Tenant, Tenant sHaédtly seek to obtain the then-fair
market rental amount (as reasonably determineddngllord and Tenant) available in the marketplacedonparable space available for
leasing (using as a basis for such determinatiberdtandlord-owned Buildings and Projects of thmeatature and located in the same
geographic area in which the Premises are located).

C. CORPORATION. If Tenant is a corporation, a tfansf corporate shares by sale, assignment, bgqoksritance, operation of law or
other disposition (including such a transfer tdopra receiver or trustee in federal or state baptksy insolvency or other proceedings)
resulting in a change in the present control ohstarporation or any of its parent corporationgh®y person or persons owning a majority of
said corporate shares, shall constitute an assignfimepurposes of this Lease. Notwithstanding himg to the contrary in this Lease, the
transfer of outstanding capital stock or otheeliseéquity interests, or the purchase of outstanclipital stock or other listed equity interests,
or the purchase of equity interests issued in aialipublic offering of stock, by persons or padiother than "insiders" within the meaning of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendealgh the "over-the-counter" market or any recogthizational or international securities
exchange shall not be included in determining wretiontrol has been transferred.

D. UNINCORPORATED ENTITY. If Tenant is a partnerghjoint venture, unincorporated limited liabiliégmpany or other unincorporated
business form, a transfer of the interest of pessfirms or entities responsible for managerialtcadrof Tenant by sale, assignment, bequest,
inheritance, operation of law or other dispositiso,as to result in a change in the present cootredid entity and/or of the underlying
beneficial interests of said entity and/or a chaingte identity of the persons responsible forgbaeral credit obligations of said entity shall
constitute an assignment for all purposes of tieiade.

E. LIABILITY. No assignment or subletting by Tenapermitted or otherwise, shall relieve Tenantmof abligation under this Lease or any
guarantor of this Lease of any liability undergtsaranty or alter the primary liability of the Teiaamed herein for the payment of Rent or
for the performance of any other obligations tgpbgformed by Tenant, including obligations contdiime Paragraph 25 with respect to any
assignee or subtenant. Landlord may collect reptleer amounts or any portion thereof from anygrss, subtenant, or other occupant of the
Premises, permitted or otherwise, and apply theemtcollected to the Rent payable hereundembwstuch collection shall be deemed to be a
waiver of this Paragraph 21, or the acceptanchefssignee, subtenant or occupant as tenantetgase of Tenant from the further
performance by Tenant of the obligations of Tenartter this Lease or of any guarantor. Any assignmesubletting which conflicts with tl
provisions hereof shall be void.

22. AUTHORITY

Landlord represents and warrants that it has iigiitrand authority to enter into this Lease angedform all of Landlord's obligations
hereunder and that all persons signing this Leastsdehalf are authorized to do. Tenant and &reqn or persons, if any, signing on behalf
of Tenant, jointly and severally represent and a@rthat Tenant has full right and authority toeerto this Lease, and to perform all of
Tenant's obligations hereunder, and that all persaming this Lease on its behalf are authoripadbtso.

23. CONDEMNATION

A. CONDEMNATION RESULTING IN TERMINATION. If the wiole or any substantial part of the Premises shbelthken or condemned
for any public use under any Regulation, or by trigleminent domain, or by private purchase in tigereof, and the taking would prevent or
materially interfere with the Permitted Use of Bremises, either party shall have the right to ileate this Lease at its option. If any material
portion of the Building or Project is taken or centhed for any public use under any Regulationyaidht of eminent domain, or by private
purchase in lieu thereof, Landlord may terminate ltlease at its option. In either of such evetis,Rent shall be abated during the unexpired
portion of this Lease, effective when the physteliing of said Premises shall have occurred.

B. CONDEMNATION NOT RESULTING IN TERMINATION. If gportion of the Project of which the Premises apai should be taken or
condemned for any public use under any Regulatiohy right of eminent domain, or by private pursdan lieu thereof, and the taking
prevents or materially interferes with the Perndittése of the Premises, and this Lease is not tetetinas provided in Paragraph 23.A. ab
the Rent payable hereunder during the unexpiretiopoof this Lease shall be reduced, beginninghendate when the physical taking shall
have occurred, to such amount as may be fair asbrable under all of the circumstances, but ditdy giving Landlord credit for all sums
received or to be received by Tenant by the condegremithority, subject to the last sentence of §aph 23.C of this Lease.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaiirethis Paragraph, if the temporary use or occupaf@ny part of the Premises shall
taken or appropriated under power of eminent dordaiing the Term, this Lease shall be and remaaifaoted by such taking or
appropriation and Tenant shall continue to pawlhdll Rent payable hereunder by Tenant duringTteem; in the event of any such
temporary appropriation or taking, Tenant shalehgtled to receive that portion of any award whiepresents compensation for the use «
occupancy of the Premises during the unexpired Thritihe event a portion or the whole of Tenantenftses shall be taken or appropriated
under the power of eminent domain or conveyeden thereof and such restoration cannot be madearidlord's sole opinion, within one
hundred eight (180) days from the time of takingndllord shall notify Tenant within sixty (60) dayssuch taking and Tenant shall have the
right to cancel this Lease by giving Landlord veiittnotice of its intention to cancel within thi{B0) days of the date of Landlord's notice. If,
however, within sixty (60) days after the date tiat nature and extent of the taking are finalliedmined, Landlord notifies Tenant that
Landlord at its cost will add on to the remainirrgises so that the area and the approximate l@fdhe Premises will be substantially 1



same after the date of taking as they were befmelate of taking, and Landlord commences the nasto immediately and completes the
restoration within one hundred eighty (180) daysrafandlord so notifies Tenant, this Lease shatfitimue in full force and effect without a
reduction in Rent, except the abatement made potrsoighis paragraph.

C. AWARD. Landlord shall be entitled to (and Tenahall assign to Landlord) any and all paymentoine, rent, award or any interest
therein whatsoever which may be paid or made imeotion with such taking or conveyance and Tenall ave no claim against Landlord
or otherwise for any sums paid by virtue of suabcpedings, whether or not attributable to the valfueny unexpired portion of this Lease,
except as expressly provided in this Lease. Nos#atiding the foregoing, any compensation spedyieaid separately awarded Tenant for
Tenant's personal property and moving costs, bleadind remain the property of Tenant.

D. WAIVER OF CCP Section 1265.130. Each party waitree provisions of California Civil Code Procedexction 1265.130 allowing
either party to petition the superior court to tarate this Lease as a result of a partial taking.

24, CASUALTY DAMAGE

A. GENERAL. If the Premises or Building should kenthged or destroyed by fire, tornado, or otheralas(collectively, "CASUALTY"),
Tenant shall give immediate written notice thereofandlord upon learning of the same. Within §h{{30) days after Landlord's receipt of
such notice, Landlord shall notify Tenant whethetandlord's good faith estimation material resioraof the
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Premises can reasonably be made within one hurdgaty (180) days from the date of such notice r@egipt of required permits for such
restoration. Landlord's determination shall be bigdbn Tenant.

B. WITHIN 180 DAYS. If the Premises or Building sid be damaged by Casualty to such extent thatriabtestoration can in Landlord's
estimation be reasonably completed within one hesh@ighty (180) days after the date of such naticreceipt of required permits for such
restoration, this Lease shall not terminate. Predithat insurance proceeds are received by Lantiididly repair the damage, Landlord st
proceed to rebuild and repair the Premises diligemntd in the manner determined by Landlord, extiegt Landlord shall not be required to
rebuild, repair or replace any part of any Alteva which may have been placed on or about theiSesrar paid for by Tenant. If the
Premises are untenantable in whole or in partioiig such damage, the Rent payable hereunder dtlmingeriod in which they are
untenantable shall be abated proportionately.

C. GREATER THAN 180 DAYS. If the Premises or Buildishould be damaged by Casualty to such extenbthirial restoration cannot
Landlord's estimation be reasonably completed wititie hundred eighty (180) days after the dateidf siotice and receipt of required
permits for such rebuilding or repair, and such dgenmaterially and adversely interferes with thedewt of Tenant's business in the
Premises, then either Party shall have the righatael this Lease by giving the other party wnittetice within ten (10) days from the dati
Landlord's notice that material restoration canndtandlord's estimation be reasonably completatiwisuch one hundred eighty

(180) day period. Said cancellation shall be eiffecthirty (30) days from the first day that eithgarty gives its notice to cancel. If neither
party elects to so cancel this Lease, Landlord ghateed to rebuild and repair the Premises diligeand in the manner determined by
Landlord, except that Landlord shall not be reqlibeerebuild, repair or replace any part of anyeAdtions which may have been placed on or
about the Premises by Tenant. If the Premisesrdemantable in whole or in part following such damahe Rent payable hereunder during
the period in which they are untenantable shaliteted proportionately. Notwithstanding the abaeedlord shall not be required to rebu
repair or replace any part of any Alterations whithly have been placed, on or about the Premigesidfor by Tenant. If the Premises are
untenantable in whole or in part following such @daym®, the Rent payable hereunder during the parmiadich they are untenantable shall be
abated proportionately, but only to the extentarital abatement insurance proceeds received byldraindluring the time and to the extent
Premises are unfit for occupancy.

D. TENANT'S FAULT. Notwithstanding anything hergimthe contrary, if the Premises or any other partf the Building are damaged by
Casualty resulting from the fault, negligence, mdeh of this Lease by Tenant or any of Tenant8eBaBase Rent and Additional Rent shall
not be diminished during the repair of such dansgkTenant shall be liable to Landlord for the @st expense of the repair and restoration
of the Building caused thereby to the extent swdt and expense is not covered by insurance precpealided that Tenant shall not be
liable for that portion of the repair costs for wtiLandlord was obligated under the terms of tl@ade to carry insurance but failed to carry
such insurance.

E. INSURANCE PROCEEDS. Notwithstanding anythingdieito the contrary, if the Premises or Building damaged or destroyed and are
not fully covered by the insurance proceeds recebyelLandlord or if the holder of any indebtedngessured by a mortgage or deed of trust
covering the Premises requires that the insurarmeepds be applied to such indebtedness, then)drdrghall promptly notify Tenant of the
same and, in either case, Landlord shall haveigin to terminate this Lease by delivering writtgstice of termination to Tenant within thi
(30) days after the date of notice to Landlord ##atl damage or destruction is not fully coverednisyrance or such requirement is made by
any such holder, as the case may be, whereupohdhge shall terminate thirty (30) days after Landiidelivers such notice. In the event that
the Premises are damaged or destroyed and araliyatdvered by the insurance proceeds receivelddnyilord or if the holder of any
indebtedness secured by a mortgage or deed ofttrusting the Premises requires that the insurprmeeeds be applied to such indebtedi
and Landlord consequently determines not to repaiestore the Premises, Tenant may terminatd-#@se by providing written notice of
such termination to Landlord and such terminatioallsbe effective fifteen (15) days following Laodll's receipt of such written notice from
Tenant.

F. WAIVER. This Paragraph 24 shall be Tenant's aakt exclusive remedy in the event of damage drutg®n to the Premises or the
Building. As a material inducement to Landlord eintg into this Lease, Tenant hereby waives anytsigghmay have under Sections 1932,
1933(4), 1941 or 1942 of the Civil Code of Califiermith respect to any destruction of the Premikasdlord's obligation for tenantability of
the Premises and Tenant's right to make repairgladdct the expenses of such repairs, or undesianilar law, statute or ordinance now or
hereafter in effect.

G. TENANT'S PERSONAL PROPERTY. In the event of aaynage or destruction of the Premises or the Bigldinder no circumstances
shall Landlord be required to repair any injurydamage to, or make any repairs to or replaceméni®nant's personal property.

25. HOLDING OVER

Unless Landlord expressly consents in writing todrg's holding over, Tenant shall be unlawfully dledyally in possession of the Premises,
whether or not Landlord accepts any rent from Tepaany other person while Tenant remains in pgea of the Premises without
Landlord's written consent. If Tenant shall retairssession of the Premises or any portion therghbut Landlord's consent following the
expiration of this Lease or sooner terminationgoy reason, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord doheday of such retention the greater of
following: (i) one hundred seventy-five percent§%) of the amount of daily rental as of the lashithcprior to the date of expiration or
earlier termination, or (ii) the amount of the faiarket rental as such amount is reasonably detedrby Landlord (Landlord shall use as a
basis for its determination other buildings andgets owned by Landlord, located in the same gexgcaarea as the Premises, and of the
same class and stature as the Building and Projeatiant shall also indemnify, defend, protect boldl Landlord harmless from any loss,
liability or cost, including consequential and iental damages and reasonable attorneys' feesiddday Landlord resulting from delay



Tenant in surrendering the Premises, includindevit limitation, any claims made by the succeedémznt founded on such delay.
Acceptance of Rent by Landlord following expiratienearlier termination of this Lease, or followidgmand by Landlord for possession of
the Premises, shall not constitute a renewal sfltkase, and nothing contained in this Paragragghab waive Landlord's right of reentry or
any other right. Additionally, if upon expiratiom earlier termination of this Lease, or followingrdand by Landlord for possession of the
Premises, Tenant has not fulfilled its obligatioithwespect to repairs and cleanup of the Prentisasly other Tenant obligations as set forth
in this Lease, then Landlord shall have the rightérform any such obligations as it deems necgsddrenant's sole cost and expense, and
any time required by Landlord to complete suchgailons shall be considered a period of holding ewel the terms of this Paragraph 25
shall apply. The provisions of this Paragraph 2&lsurvive any expiration or earlier terminaticinttois Lease.

26. DEFAULT
A. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. The occurrence of any of tblowing shall constitute an event of default twe fpart of Tenant:

(1) ABANDONMENT. Abandonment or vacation of the Rrises for a continuous period in excess of fived@)s. Tenant waives any righ
notice Tenant may have under Section 1951.3 o€thié Code of the State of California, the termglu Paragraph 26.A. being deemed ¢
notice to Tenant as required by said Section 1951.3
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(2) NONPAYMENT OF RENT. Failure to pay any instaéint of Rent or any other amount due and payabkeuheler when said payment is
due, such failure continuing for three (3) daysfaftritten notice of such failure, as to which timef the essence, provided that Landlord
shall not be required to provide such notice mbamtonce during the twelve (12) month period contimgnwith the date of such notice. The
second failure to pay any such amount within tt{83elays after said payment is due during such dathmperiod shall be an event of default
hereunder without notice. Such notice shall reptatieer than supplement any statutory notice reguinder Code of Civil Procedure
Section 1161 or any similar or successor statute.

(3) OTHER OBLIGATIONS. Failure to perform any oldigon, agreement or covenant under this Lease ttharthose matters specified in
subparagraphs (1) and (2) of this Paragraph 2ér#l,in Paragraphs 8, 16, 18 and 25, such failurgreong for thirty (30) days after written
notice of such failure, as to which time is of #wsence; provided, however, that in the eventaimasuch cure cannot reasonably be
completed within such thirty (30) day period andypded further that Tenant has commenced andigedilly pursuing such cure, Tenant
shall have an additional period of fifteen (15) sl&y complete such cure. Notwithstanding anythintihé contrary contained in this Lease,
following shall constitute an event of default untlés Paragraph 26.A(3) without any such noticéapse of time: (i) failure to provide an
estoppel certificate when and as required undexgPaph 18 hereof; (ii) failure to maintain insuramequired under Paragraph 8 hereof; (iii)
failure to vacate the Premises upon the expirasiogarlier termination of this Lease; (iv) failumecomply with any obligation under this
Lease pertaining to Hazardous Materials; (v) ammgomatter provided for in another subparagrapthisfParagraph 26.A or for which anot
time limit is provided elsewhere in this Lease luiing without limitation, under Exhibit C to thisase.

(4) GENERAL ASSIGNMENT. A general assignment by &enfor the benefit of creditors.

(5) BANKRUPTCY. The filing of any voluntary petitioin bankruptcy by Tenant, or the filing of an iwatary petition by Tenant's credito
which involuntary petition remains undischargeddareriod of thirty

(30) days. If under applicable law, the trustebankruptcy or Tenant has the right to affirm thésaske and continue to perform the obligations
of Tenant hereunder, such trustee or Tenant shaljch time period as may be permitted by the haiky court having jurisdiction, cure all
defaults of Tenant hereunder outstanding as ofl#ite of the affirmance of this Lease and provideandlord such adequate assurances as
may be necessary to ensure Landlord of the cordipaeformance of Tenant's obligations under thizskee

(6) RECEIVERSHIP. The employment of a receiverattet possession of substantially all of Tenant'stass Tenant's leasehold of the
Premises, if such appointment remains undismisseddischarged for a period of fifteen (15) dayterathe order therefor.

(7) ATTACHMENT. The attachment, execution or otheticial seizure of all or substantially all of Tamt's assets or Tenant's leasehold ¢
Premises, if such attachment or other seizure msnaidismissed or undischarged for a period adiit(15) days after the levy thereof.

(8) INSOLVENCY. The admission by Tenant in writingits inability to pay its debts as they become.du
B. REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT.

(1) TERMINATION. In the event of the occurrenceasfy event of default, Landlord shall have the righgive a written termination notice
Tenant, and on the date specified in such notieaait's right to possession shall terminate, aisd_#fase shall terminate unless on or before
such date all Rent in arrears and all costs andresgs incurred by or on behalf of Landlord hereustell have been paid by Tenant and all
other events of default of this Lease by Tenathatime existing shall have been fully remediethmsatisfaction of Landlord. At any time
after such termination, Landlord may recover passasof the Premises or any part thereof and exipeélremove therefrom Tenant and any
other person occupying the same, including anyesgstt or subtenants notwithstanding Landlord'seoin® any sublease, by any lawful
means, and again repossess and enjoy the Preniikestvprejudice to any of the remedies that Lardiimay have under this Lease, or at

or equity by any reason of Tenant's default orughstermination. Landlord hereby reserves the right shall not have the obligation, to
recognize the continued possession of any subtefhatdelivery or surrender to Landlord by or ohddéof Tenant of keys, entry codes, or
other means to bypass security at the Premiselsrgtidérminate this Lease.

(2) CONTINUATION AFTER DEFAULT. Even though an evesf default may have occurred, this Lease shaitinae in effect for so long

as Landlord does not terminate Tenant's right &session under Paragraph 26.B(1) hereof. Landtall Isave the remedy described in
California Civil Code Section 1951.4 ("Landlord megntinue this Lease in effect after Tenant's breaw abandonment and recover Rent as
it becomes due, if Tenant has the right to subletssign, subject only to reasonable limitationst)any successor code section. Accordingly,
if Landlord does not elect to terminate this Leaseccount of any event of default by Tenant, Lardimay enforce all of Landlord's rights
and remedies under this Lease, including the tightcover Rent as it becomes due. Acts of mainmxgreservation or efforts to lease the
Premises or the appointment of a receiver unddicapipn of Landlord to protect Landlord's interesider this Lease or other entry by
Landlord upon the Premises shall not constitutelaction to terminate Tenant's right to possession.

(3) INCREASED SECURITY DEPOSIT. If Tenant is in daft under Paragraph 26.A(2) hereof and such defamlains uncured for ten (10)
days after such occurrence or such default occors than three times in any twelve (12) month gkricandlord may require that Tenant
increase the Security Deposit to the amount okthirees the current month's Rent at the time ofribst recent default if the Security Dep:
is less than the amount of three times the cumemith's Rent.

C. DAMAGES AFTER DEFAULT. Should Landlord terminatds Lease pursuant to the provisions of Paragg#pB(1) hereof, Landlord
shall have the rights and remedies of a Landloodided by Section 1951.2 of the Civil Code of that& of California, or any successor code
sections. Upon such termination, in addition to ather rights and remedies to which Landlord magiiitled under applicable law or



equity, Landlord shall be entitled to recover frdenant: (1) the worth at the time of award of thpaid Rent and other amounts which had
been earned at the time of termination, (2) thetlvat the time of award of the amount by whichuhpaid Rent and other amounts that
would have been earned after the date of termimatidil the time of award exceeds the amount oh$Rent loss that Tenant proves could
have been reasonably avoided:;

(3) the worth at the time of award of the amountihych the unpaid Rent and other amounts for thange of the Term after the time of
award exceeds the amount of such Rent loss thdtehant proves could be reasonably avoided; and

(4) any other amount and court costs necessamyrpensate Landlord for all detriment proximatelyszd by Tenant's failure to perform
Tenant's obligations under this Lease or whiclithéordinary course of things, would be likely ¢sult therefrom. The "worth at the time of
award" as used in (1) and (2) above shall be coedpat the Applicable Interest Rate (defined beldvine "worth at the time of award" as
used in (3) above shall be computed by discourdiralp amount at the Federal Discount Rate of theraé&eserve Bank of San Francisco at
the time of award plus one percent (1%). If thisde provides for any periods during the Term duwhgh Tenant is not required to pay
Base Rent or if Tenant otherwise receives a Ramtession, then upon the occurrence of an evergfalilt, Tenant shall owe to Landlord the
full amount of such Base Rent or value of such Rentession, plus interest at the Applicable IsteRate, calculated from the date that such
Base Rent or Rent concession would have been payabl
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D. LATE CHARGE. In addition to its other remediésindlord shall have the right without notice or dem to add to the amount of any
payment required to be made by Tenant hereundényvhith is not paid and received by Landlord obefore the first day of each calendar
month, an amount equal to an amount equal to sbepe (6%) of the delinquent amount, or $150.00ctwéver amount is greater, for each
month or portion thereof that the delinquency remaautstanding to compensate Landlord for theddsise use of the amount not paid and
the administrative costs caused by the delinquetheyparties agreeing that Landlord's damage liyeviof such delinquencies would be
extremely difficult and impracticable to computalahe amount stated herein represents a reasoesthizate thereof. Any waiver by
Landlord of any late charges or failure to claira #ame shall not constitute a waiver of otherdhtrges or any other remedies available to
Landlord.

E. INTEREST. Interest shall accrue on all sumspaid when due hereunder at the lesser of ten peft@¥) per annum or the maximum
interest rate allowed by law ("APPLICABLE INTERERRATE") from the due date until paid.

F. REMEDIES CUMULATIVE. All of Landlord's rights, rvileges and elections or remedies are cumulaiw not alternative, to the extent
permitted by law and except as otherwise provida@ih.

G. REPLACEMENT OF STATUTORY NOTICE REQUIREMENTS. Wh this Lease requires service of a notice, thateshall replace
rather than supplement any equivalent or simikatugbry notice, including any notice required byifdenia Code of Civil Procedure Section
1161 or any similar or successor statute. Wheatatstrequires service of a notice in a particmianner, service of that notice (or a similar
notice required by this Lease) in the manner reqliy this Paragraph 26 shall replace and satisfgtatutory service-of-notice procedures,
including those required by California Code of CRfocedure Section 1162 or any similar or sucaesstute.

27. LIENS

Tenant shall at all times keep the Premises an@tbject free from liens arising out of or relatedvork or services performed, materials or
supplies furnished or obligations incurred by orbetalf of Tenant or in connection with work masigffered or done by or on behalf of
Tenant in or on the Premises or Project. If Tesaall not, within ten (10) days following the imftésn of any such lien, cause the same t
released of record by payment or posting of a prbpad, Landlord shall have, in addition to all@tiemedies provided herein and by law,
the right, but not the obligation, to cause thesambe released by such means as Landlord sleait geoper, including payment of the claim
giving rise to such lien. All sums paid by Landland behalf of Tenant and all expenses incurreddnydlord in connection therefor shall be
payable to Landlord by Tenant on demand with irstea¢ the Applicable Interest Rate as AdditionahtReandlord shall have the right at all
times to post and keep posted on the Premisesaimgs permitted or required by law, or which Ladlshall deem proper, for the
protection of Landlord, the Premises, the Project any other party having an interest therein, froethanics' and materialmen's liens, and
Tenant shall give Landlord not less than ten (1®)tess days prior written notice of the commenc#ragany work in the Premises or
Project which could lawfully give rise to a claiorfmechanics' or materialmen's liens to permit Lamito post and record a timely notice of
non-responsibility, as Landlord may elect to prateeas the law may from time to time provide,idrich purpose, if Landlord shall so
determine, Landlord may enter the Premises. Testaalt not remove any such notice posted by Landltidout Landlord's consent, and in
any event not before completion of the work whiokld lawfully give rise to a claim for mechanics'materialmen's liens.

28. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED
29. TRANSFERS BY LANDLORD

In the event of a sale or conveyance by LandlortheBuilding or a foreclosure by any creditor @fndlord, the same shall operate to release
Landlord from any liability upon any of the covetsmor conditions, express or implied, herein comdiin favor of Tenant, to the extent
required to be performed after the passing of titleandlord's successor-in-interest. In such eveenant agrees to look solely to the
responsibility of the successor-in-interest of Uandl under this Lease with respect to the perforrranf the covenants and duties of
"Landlord" to be performed after the passing détib Landlord's successor-in-interest. This Lesds#dl not be affected by any such sale and
Tenant agrees to attorn to the purchaser or assigga@dlord's successor(s)-in-interest shall neeHbility to Tenant with respect to the
failure to perform any of the obligations of "Landd," to the extent required to be performed ptiothe date such successor(s)-in-interest
became the owner of the Building.

30. RIGHT OF LANDLORD TO PERFORM TENANT'S COVENANTS

All covenants and agreements to be performed byftainder any of the terms of this Lease shalldséopmed by Tenant at Tenant's sole
cost and expense and without any abatement of Rarénant shall fail to pay any sum of money, otthen Base Rent, required to be paic
Tenant hereunder or shall fail to perform any otiedron Tenant's part to be performed hereundeéuding Tenant's obligations under
Paragraph 11 hereof, and such failure shall coaetfoufifteen (15) days after notice thereof by dkmmd, in addition to the other rights and
remedies of Landlord, Landlord may make any sugtmaet and perform any such act on Tenant's pathditase of an emergency, no prior
notification by Landlord shall be required. Landlanay take such actions without any obligation asttiout releasing Tenant from any of
Tenant's obligations. All sums so paid by Landland all incidental costs incurred by Landlord ameiiest thereon at the Applicable Interest
Rate, from the date of payment by Landlord, shalphid to Landlord on demand as Additional Rent.

31. WAIVER



If either Landlord or Tenant waives the performaatany term, covenant or condition contained is tlease, such waiver shall not be
deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breatteafame or any other term, covenant or conditionadoed herein, or constitute a course
of dealing contrary to the expressed terms ofltb&se. The acceptance of Rent by Landlord (inclydiithout limitation, through any
"lockbox") shall not constitute a waiver of any geding breach by Tenant of any term, covenant ndition of this Lease, regardless of
Landlord's knowledge of such preceding breachaatithe Landlord accepted such Rent. Failure by laaddo enforce any of the terms,
covenants or conditions of this Lease for any lerdttime shall not be deemed to waive or decréaseight of Landlord to insist thereafter
upon strict performance by Tenant. Waiver by Lardilof any term, covenant or condition containethis Lease may only be made by a
written document signed by Landlord, based uparkiubwledge of the circumstances.

32. NOTICES

Each provision of this Lease or of any applicaldgegnmental laws, ordinances, regulations and agrirements with reference to sending,
mailing, or delivery of any notice or the makingasfy payment by Landlord or Tenant to the othell fizadeemed to be complied with when
and if the following steps are taken:

A. RENT. All Rent and other payments required tarisle by Tenant to Landlord hereunder shall belgaya Landlord at Landlord's
Remittance Address set forth in the Basic Leaserimétion, or at such other address as Landlordspagify from time to time by written
notice delivered in accordance herewith. Tenatigation to pay Rent and any other amounts to laddunder the terms of this Lease shall
not be deemed satisfied until such Rent and ottm@uats have been actually received by Landlord.
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B. OTHER. All notices, demands, consents and aggtsovhich may or are required to be given by eiffeaty to the other hereunder shall be
in writing and either personally delivered, sentdoynmercial overnight courier, mailed, certifiedregistered, postage prepaid or sent by
facsimile with confirmed receipt (and with an onigl sent by commercial overnight courier), andantrecase addressed to the party to be
notified at the Notice Address for such party aecgffed in the Basic Lease Information or to sutteo place as the party to be notified may
from time to time designate by at least fifteen)(d&ys notice to the notifying party. Notices slodldeemed served upon receipt or refusal to
accept delivery. Tenant appoints as its agentdeive the service of all default notices and notiteommencement of unlawful detainer
proceedings the person in charge of or apparemitharge of occupying the Premises at the time, iétitere is no such person, then such
service may be made by attaching the same on threenaance of the Premises.

C. REQUIRED NOTICES. Upon learning of the followinggjcumstances, Tenant shall promptly notify Landlm writing of any notice of a
violation or a potential or alleged violation ofy@Regulation that relates to the Premises or tlogeBY; or of any inquiry, investigation,
enforcement or other action that is institutednoeatened by any governmental or regulatory agagejnst Tenant or any other occupant of
the Premises, or any claim that is instituted ogdatened by any third party that relates to thenies or the Project.

33. ATTORNEYS' FEES

If Landlord places the enforcement of this Leasarny part thereof, or the collection of any Rem dor to become due hereunder, or
recovery of possession of the Premises in the hahals attorney, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, ugemand, Landlord's reasonable
attorneys' fees and court costs, whether incuriigitbwt trial, at trial, appeal or review. In anytiac which Landlord or Tenant brings to
enforce its respective rights hereunder, the uressfal party shall pay all costs incurred by thevailing party including reasonable attorn
fees, to be fixed by the court, and said costsadtmineys' fees shall be a part of the judgmesaid action.

34. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

This Lease shall be binding upon and inure to #meehbt of Landlord, its successors and assignsshal be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of Tenant, its successors, and to the exEsignment is approved by Landlord as provideduraler, Tenant's assigns.

35. FORCE MAJEURE

If performance by a party of any portion of thisalse is made impossible by any prevention, delagtappage caused by strikes, lockouts,
labor disputes, acts of God, inability to obtainvames, labor, or materials or reasonable subsstir those items, government actions, civil
commotions, fire or other casualty, or other calms®nd the reasonable control of the party otdidad perform, performance by that party
for a period equal to the period of that preventiteiay, or stoppage is excused. Tenant's obligatigpay Rent, however, is not excused by
this Paragraph 35.

36. SURRENDER OF PREMISES

Tenant shall, upon expiration or sooner terminatibthis Lease, surrender the Premises to Landiotide same condition as existed on the
date Tenant originally took possession thereofarable wear and tear excepted, including, buliméed to, all interior walls cleaned, all
holes in walls repaired and all floors cleaned, @and free of any Tenant-introduced marking antpey, all to the reasonable satisfaction
of Landlord. Tenant shall remove all of its delfraam the Project. At or before the time of surrendenant shall comply with the terms of
Paragraph 12.A. hereof with respect to Alteratimnthe Premises and all other matters addressaatcin Paragraph. If the Premises are not so
surrendered at the expiration or sooner terminaifahis Lease, the provisions of Paragraph 25dfesieall apply. All keys to the Premises or
any part thereof shall be surrendered to Landipahuexpiration or sooner termination of the Terrmndnt shall give written notice to
Landlord at least thirty (30) days prior to vacgtthe Premises and shall meet with Landlord fanirt jinspection of the Premises at the time
of vacating at a mutually agreeable time, but maghdontained herein shall be construed as an eatenthe Term or as a consent by
Landlord to any holding over by Tenant. In the ewarirenant's failure to participate in such jdimgpection, Landlord's inspection at or after
Tenant's vacating the Premises shall conclusivelgidemed correct for purposes of determining Té&nesgponsibility for repairs and
restoration. Any delay caused by Tenant's failareatrry out its obligations under this Paragraplv&gond the term hereof, shall constitute
unlawful and illegal possession of Premises undeadtaph 25 hereof.

37. PARKING

So long as Tenant is occupying the Premises, TarahTenant's Parties shall have the right to pge the number of parking spaces
specified in the Basic Lease Information on an s@need, nonexclusive, first come, first served ydsr passenger-size automobiles, in the
parking areas in the Project designated from titénte by Landlord for use in common by tenantthefBuilding. The parking rights grant
under this Paragraph 37 are personal to Tenanarndot transferable except: (i) pursuant to thedeof a sublease or assignment which
expressly transfers such parking rights and whahtieen approved in writing by Landlord in accoogawith the terms of this Lease, (i) a
Permitted Transfer, provided that Tenant notify dland in writing of such transfer of parking priedes, or (iii) with the express written
consent of Landlord which consent shall be graimddindlord's sole discretion.

Tenant may request additional parking spaces fiora to time and if Landlord in its sole discretiagrees to make such additional spaces
available for use by Tenant, such spaces shaltdagded on a month-to-month unreserved and noneikaibasis (unless otherwise agreed in
writing by Landlord), and subject to such parkitguges as Landlord shall determine, and shall nikerbe subject to such terms ¢



conditions as Landlord may require.

Tenant shall at all times comply and shall cau&elant's Parties and visitors to comply withRdigulations and any rules and regulations
established from time to time by Landlord relattogparking at the Project, including any keycatitker or other identification or entrance
system, and hours of operation, as applicable.

Landlord shall have no liability for any damageptoperty or other items located in the parking su@fathe Project, nor for any personal
injuries or death arising out of the use of parldngas in the Project by Tenant or any TenanteBakVithout limiting the foregoing, if
Landlord arranges for the parking areas to be opétay an independent contractor not affiliatechviandlord, Tenant acknowledges that
Landlord shall have no liability for claims arisitfsrough acts or omissions of such independentactar. In all events, Tenant agrees to |
first to its insurance carrier and to require thahant's Parties look first to their respectivaimasce carriers for payment of any losses
sustained in connection with any use of the parkireas.

Landlord reserves the right to assign specific epaand to reserve spaces for visitors, small d&abled persons or for other tenants or
guests, and Tenant shall not park and shall noivallenant's Parties to park in any such assigneéserved spaces. Tenant may validate
visitor parking by such method as Landlord may aper at the validation rate from time to time gefigrapplicable to visitor parking.
Landlord also reserves the right to alter, modi&gcate or close all or any portion of the parkimgas in order to make repairs or perform
maintenance service, or to restripe or renovat@énking areas, or if required by casualty, condaion (subject to Tenant's right of
termination provided in Paragraph 23 hereof), &&ad, Regulations or for any other reason deereadanable by Landlord.
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After the initial Term hereof, Tenant shall payLmndlord (or Landlord's parking contractor, if Soedted in writing by Landlord), as
Additional Rent hereunder, the monthly chargesidistzed from time to time by Landlord for parkimgsuch parking areas (which shall
initially be the charge specified in the Basic Leeéfformation, as applicable). Tenant shall palaodlord as Additional Rent hereunder, the
monthly charge established by Landlord then inatffer any reserved parking spaces requested bgrikemd granted by Landlord, if any.
Landlord shall have no obligation to provide sueberved parking to Tenant during the Term hereaihgrextension hereto. Such parking
charges shall be payable in advance with Tenaayspnt of Basic Rent. No deductions from the mgngiairking charge shall be made for
days on which the Tenant does not use any of tHenmgaspaces entitled to be used by Tenant.

38. MISCELLANEOUS

A. GENERAL. The term "Tenant" or any pronoun useglace thereof shall indicate and include the milase or feminine, the singular or
plural number, individuals, firms or corporatioasd their respective successors, executors, adraiioiss and permitted assigns, according to
the context hereof.

B. TIME. Time is of the essence regarding this leeasd all of its provisions.
C. CHOICE OF LAW. This Lease shall in all respemsgoverned by the laws of the State of California.

D. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Lease, together withEshibits, addenda and attachments and the Basielledormation, contains all the
agreements of the parties hereto and supersedgsarigus negotiations. There have been no repiatiems made by the Landlord or
understandings made between the parties othetthibar set forth in this Lease and its Exhibitseaih and attachments and the Basic Lease
Information.

E. MODIFICATION. This Lease may not be modified eptby a written instrument signed by the partie®to. Tenant accepts the area of
the Premises as specified in the Basic Lease Ir#tiom as the approximate area of the PremisedIfpugoses under this Lease, and
acknowledges and agrees that no other definitidgheofrea (rentable, usable or otherwise) of tleenies shall apply. Tenant shall in no
event be entitled to a recalculation of the sqiiaoéage of the Premises, rentable, usable or oikenand no recalculation, if made,
irrespective of its purpose, shall reduce Tenanifigations under this Lease in any manner, inclgdvithout limitation the amount of Base
Rent payable by Tenant or Tenant's ProportionaseeStf the Building and of the Project.

F. SEVERABILITY. If, for any reason whatsoever, asfithe provisions hereof shall be unenforceablmeffective, all of the other
provisions shall be and remain in full force anfdeff:

G. RECORDATION. Tenant shall not record this Leasa short form memorandum hereof.

H. EXAMINATION OF LEASE. Submission of this Lease Tenant does not constitute an option or offdeése and this Lease is not
effective otherwise until execution and deliverydmth Landlord and Tenant.

|. ACCORD AND SATISFACTION. No payment by Tenantafesser amount than the total Rent due nor adgreement on any check or
letter accompanying any check or payment of Reall e deemed an accord and satisfaction of fylhpent of Rent, and Landlord may
accept such payment without prejudice to Landlaigtst to recover the balance of such Rent or sy other remedies. All offers by or on
behalf of Tenant of accord and satisfaction arelmerejected in advance.

J. EASEMENTS. Landlord may grant easements on tbjg& and dedicate for public use portions ofPneject without Tenant's consent;
provided that no such grant or dedication shallemally interfere with Tenant's Permitted Use af Bremises. Upon Landlord's request,
Tenant shall execute, acknowledge and deliver tallead documents, instruments, maps and plats sapeto effectuate Tenant's covenants
hereunder.

K. DRAFTING AND DETERMINATION PRESUMPTION. The paets acknowledge that this Lease has been agrdmdioth the parties,
that both Landlord and Tenant have consulted witirgeys with respect to the terms of this Leaskthat no presumption shall be created
against Landlord because Landlord drafted this &eBgcept as otherwise specifically set forth is ttease, with respect to any consent,
determination or estimation of Landlord requirecabowed in this Lease or requested of Landlordidlard's consent, determination or
estimation shall be given or made solely by LardliarLandlord's good faith opinion, whether or nbjectively reasonable. If Landlord fails
to respond to any request for its consent withentiime period, if any, specified in this Lease, dland shall be deemed to have disapproved
such request, except as otherwise expressly pravwidiis Lease.

L. EXHIBITS. The Basic Lease Information, and thébits, addenda and attachments attached heretioeaeby incorporated herein by this
reference and made a part of this Lease as thauigtsét forth herein.

M. NO LIGHT, AIR OR VIEW EASEMENT. Any diminution ioshutting off of light, air or view by any structuwhich may be erected on
lands adjacent to or in the vicinity of the Builgiahall in no way affect this Lease or impose aalyility on Landlord.

N. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFIT. This Lease is a contraetween Landlord and Tenant and nothing heraimésnded to create any thi



party benefit.

O. QUIET ENJOYMENT. Upon payment by Tenant of thenR and upon the observance and performance of #ie other covenants, ter
and conditions on Tenant's part to be observegarfdrmed, Tenant shall peaceably and quietly hallienjoy the Premises for the term
hereby demised without hindrance or interruptiorLbgdlord or any other person or persons lawfutlgguitably claiming by, through or
under Landlord, subject, nevertheless, to all efdther terms and conditions of this Lease. Lawddbtiall not be liable for any hindrance,
interruption, interference or disturbance by otiemants or third persons, nor shall Tenant be selkérom any obligations under this Lease
because of such hindrance, interruption, interfezeor disturbance.

P. COUNTERPARTS. This Lease may be executed imanyber of counterparts, each of which shall be dekam original.

Q. MULTIPLE PARTIES. If more than one person orignis named herein as Tenant, such multiple pagheall have joint and several
responsibility to comply with the terms of this Isea

R. PRORATIONS. Any Rent or other amounts payableaodlord by Tenant hereunder for any fractionahthsshall be prorated based on a
month of 30 days. As used herein, the term "figeal" shall mean the calendar year or such otkealfiyear as Landlord may deem
appropriate.
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39. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS
A. RENT.

Subject to the provisions of Paragraphs 2.B, Bas#,Ret of Operating Expenses per Paragraphiokease, for the Premises shall be as
follows:

From the Term Commencement Date through  $516,1 59.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
the end of the twelfth (12th) month this L ease. Operating Expenses for calendar year 2000 are

following the Term Commencement Date: estima ted to be $183,289.00 per month.

Month 13 following the Term $531,6 43.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 24: this L ease

Month 25 following the Term $547,5 93.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 36: this L ease.

Month 37 following the Term $564,0 20.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 48: this L ease.

Month 49 following the Term $580,9 41.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph7

of Commencement Date through Month 60: this L ease.

Month 61 following the Term $598,3 69.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 72: this L ease.

Month 73 following the Term $616,3 20.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragr aph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 84: this L ease.

Month 84 following the Term $634,8 10.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 96: this L ease.

Month 97 following the Term $653,8 54.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 108: this L ease

Month 109 following the Term $673,4 70.00 per month plus operating expenses per Paragra ph 7 of
Commencement Date through Month 120: this L ease.

B. EARLY ACCESS. Provided that Tenant does notrfete whatsoever with the construction of the BBsiding Work (each as described
in EXHIBIT C hereto), Landlord shall provide accéssTenant to the Premises on March 15, 2000, durarmal business hours after
reasonable prior notice to Landlord for purposeimstalling furniture, fixtures and equipment (inding network cabling and
telecommunications equipment to the extent sudaliation is approved by Landlord in writing) armldommence construction of the Tenant
Improvements therein in the Premises, with all ®eand conditions of this Lease in full force anf@etf excluding payment of Rent and
Operating Expenses. Any interference by Tenanhyprad Tenant's Parties with the construction ofBlase Building Work shall constitute a
Tenant Delay as defined in EXHIBIT C and shall ¢date a delay by Tenant for purposes of ParagBapbreof. Landlord and Tenant shall
each reasonably cooperate with the other to attéomeasonably coordinate their respective constmicchedules to accommodate the early
access by Tenant contemplated by this Paragrajih 39.

C. OPTION TO RENEW. Tenant shall, provided this $e&& in full force and effect and Tenant is nat Aas not been in default under an
the terms and conditions of this Lease, have tys{2cessive options to renew this Lease for a tdrfive (5) years each, for the Premises in
"as is" condition and on the same terms and canditset forth in this Lease, except as modifiethkeyterms, covenants and conditions set
forth below:

(1) If Tenant elects to exercise such option, thenant shall provide Landlord with written notice @arlier than the date which is Two
Hundred Seventy (270) days prior to the expiratibthe then current term of this Lease, but norldtan 5:00

p.m. (Pacific Standard Time) on the date whichnis bundred eighty (180) days prior to the expiratbthe then current term of this Leas:
Tenant fails to provide such notice, Tenant shallenno further or additional right to extend orenerthe term of this Lease.

(2) The Base Rent in effect at the expiration eftien current term of this Lease shall be incib#seeflect the current fair market rental for
comparable space in the Building or Project anatlrer similar buildings in the same rental marlsebathe date the renewal term is to
commence, taking into account the specific provisiof this Lease which will remain constant, arelBuilding amenities, location, identity,
quality, age, conditions, term of lease, tenantroupments, services provided, and other pertinents.

(3) Landlord shall advise Tenant of the new BasetR& the Premises for the applicable renewal tetrich will be based on Landlord's
determination of fair market rental value no latean fifteen (15) days after receipt of notice eha@nt's exercise of its option to renew. Te
shall have forty-five

(45) days after receipt of such notification fromnidlord to accept the new Base Rent. If Tenant doeaccept Landlord's determination of
the new Base Rent within such forty-five (45) dayipd, this option shall be null and void, and Land shall have no further obligation to
Tenant and may enter into a lease for the Premighsa third party on such terms and conditiontasdlord may determine in its sole
discretion.



(4) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary congal in this Paragraph, in no event shall the Basg Br any renewal term be less than the
Base Rent in effect at the expiration of the prasiterm. In addition, Landlord shall have no oliligato provide or pay for any tenant
improvements or brokerage commissions during angwel term.

(5) Tenant's right to exercise any options to reneder this Paragraph shall be conditioned uporaifienccupying the entire Premises and
the same not being occupied by any assignee, sariitenlicensee other than Tenant or its affil@tt¢he time of exercise of any option and
commencement of the renewal term. Tenant's exeo€igry option to renew shall constitute a repres@n by Tenant to Landlord that as of
the date of exercise of the option and the
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commencement of the applicable renewal term, Tetha®s not intend to seek to assign this Lease olendr in part, or sublet all or any
portion of the Premises.

(6) Any exercise by Tenant of any option to renewler this Paragraph shall be irrevocable. If retpebby Landlord, Tenant agrees to
execute a lease amendment or, at Landlord's ogtioey lease agreement on Landlord's then stahetsd form for the Building reflecting
the foregoing terms and conditions (which new |das@ shall be reasonably acceptable to Tenanshall provide to Tenant the benefit of
its bargain contained herein), prior to the commeement of the renewal term. The options to renewtgchunder this Paragraph are not
transferable; the parties hereto acknowledge arekabat they intend that each option to renewltbése under this Paragraph shall be
"personal” to the specific Tenant named in thisdeeand that in no event will any assignee or sebkefave any rights to exercise such
options to renew.

(7) If more than one renewal option is providedwidhe exercise of each renewal option shall Indirmgent upon Tenant exercising the pi
renewal option. Only one renewal option may be @ged at a time. As each renewal option providec&bmve is exercised, the number of
renewal options remaining to be exercised is redlbigeone and upon exercise of the last remainingwal option Tenant shall have no
further right to extend the term of this Lease.

D. TEMPORARY PREMISES.

(1) PHASE | TEMPORARY PREMISES. Prior to delivery bandlord to Tenant of the Phase Il Temporary Rsemand the Premises,
Landlord shall deliver to Tenant possession ofpttegnises depicted on EXHIBIT D, attached herete (PHASE | TEMPORARY
PREMISES"), which Phase | Temporary Premises caa@pproximately seven thousand eight hundred-&ixiy(7,864) rentable square
feet. The terms and conditions of this Lease s@ipgly to Tenant's possession and use of the Pliamaporary Premises; provided, however,
that Rent due and payable commencing on the PhEs@porary Premises Term Commencement Date (asedfierein) through the date
Tenant surrenders possession of the Phase | Terggm@mises to Landlord as provided herein shailbbamount equal to Twenty-Three
Thousand Five Hundred Ninetwo and No/100 ($23,592.00) per month. If the adiign for payment of Base Rent for the Phase | Terany
Premises commences on a day other than the fiysdfdamonth, then such Base Rent shall be proredhe prorated installment shall be
paid on the first day of the calendar month negteading the Phase | Temporary Premises Term Cooenmemt Date (as defined herein).
The term commencement date ("PHASE | TEMPORARY PR&EAS TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE") with respect to th&adse |
Temporary Premises shall be the date Landlord eldipossession of the Phase | Temporary PremiSemnamnt. Landlord hereby agrees to
install Phase | Temporary Premises Building stashdarpeting in the Phase | Temporary Premises fwidanuary 1, 2000. By taking
possession of the Phase | Temporary Premises, Taoespts them "as is," as being in good orderditiom and repair and the condition in
which Landlord is obligated to deliver them andahiie for the Permitted Use (with respect to thageH Temporary Premises) and Tenant's
intended operations in the Phase | Temporary Pesyghether or not any notice of acceptance isngivendlord shall make commercially
reasonable efforts to deliver possession of the®h@emporary Premises to Tenant on or beforealgrily 2000. Tenant's taking of
possession of the Phase | Temporary Premises granhyhereof shall constitute Tenant's confirnmmatid substantial completion thereof for
all purposes hereof. If for any reason Landlordhcamleliver possession of the Phase | TemporamiBes to Tenant on the scheduled Phase
| Temporary Premises Term Commencement Date, Lashglwall not be subject to any liability therefoor shall Landlord be in default
hereunder nor shall such failure affect the validit this Lease, and unless the Premises havedsl®ered to Tenant, Tenant agrees to ac
possession of the Phase | Temporary Premises latisue as such improvements have been substant@athpleted, which date shall then be
deemed the Phase | Temporary Premises Term Comment®ate. Within thirty

(30) days following substantial completion of then@int Improvements (as defined in EXHIBIT C herei@nant shall surrender possession
of the Temporary Premises in accordance with Papdg86 hereof.

(2) PHASE Il TEMPORARY PREMISES. Prior to delivey Landlord to Tenant of the Premises, Landlordl steiver to Tenant possessi
of the premises depicted on EXHIBIT E, attachecktwefthe "PHASE || TEMPORARY PREMISES"), which PhdsTemporary Premises
comprise approximately thirty-nine thousand foittyee (39,043) rentable square feet. The terms anditions of this Lease shall apply to
Tenant's possession and use of the Phase Il Terggemramises; provided, however, that Base Rentdidepayable commencing on the Pl
Il Temporary Premises Term Commencement Date (@&sedieherein) through the date Tenant surrendessession of the Phase |l
Temporary Premises to Landlord as provided hetefi Be an amount equal to Ninety-Five Thousandr&irdred Fifty-Five and 35/100
($95,655.35) per month. If the obligation for payrnef Base Rent for the Phase Il Temporary Prenuegagnences on a day other than the
first day of a month, then such Base Rent shafirbeated and the prorated installment shall be paithe first day of the calendar month r
succeeding the Phase Il Temporary Premises Terrm@meement Date (as defined herein). The term coroemeent date ("PHASE I
TEMPORARY PREMISES TERM COMMENCEMENT DATE") with spect to the Phase Il Temporary Premises shalidddte Landlord
delivers possession of the Phase Il Temporary BesnOn or about January 31, 2000, Landlord shaligle to Tenant a written description
of the tenant improvements to be constructed bydlaad in the Phase Il Temporary Premises. By takiogsession of the Phase Il Tempo
Premises, Tenant accepts them "as is," as beiggdd order, condition and repair and the conditiowhich Landlord is obligated to deliver
them and suitable for the Permitted Use (with respethe Phase Il Temporary Premises) and Tenatgisded operations in the Phase |l
Temporary Premises, whether or not any notice ofptance is given. Landlord shall make commerciaésonable efforts to deliver
possession of the Phase Il Temporary Premisesrtant@n or before April 1, 2000. Tenant's takinga$session of the Phase Il Temporary
Premises or any part thereof shall constitute Ténaonfirmation of substantial completion therfmfall purposes hereof, whether or not
substantial completion of the Phase Il Temporagnises Building or Project shall have occurredoifany reason Landlord cannot deliver
possession of the Phase Il Temporary Premisesrtanten the scheduled Phase Il Temporary Premises Tommencement Date, Landl
shall not be subject to any liability therefor, stvall Landlord be in default hereunder nor shathsfailure affect the validity of this Lease,
and unless the Phase Il Temporary Premises havedadigered to Tenant, Tenant agrees to accepepsiss of the Phase || Temporary
Premises at such time as such improvements havesbdstantially completed, which date shall theddemed the Phase Il Temporary
Premises Term Commencement Date. Tenant shallenialide for any Rent for any period prior to theaBe Il Temporary Premises Te



Commencement Date (but without affecting any obiayes of Tenant under any improvement agreemergraggd to this Lease). In the event
of any dispute as to substantial completion of waekformed or required to be performed by Landlwitth respect to the Phase Il Temporary
Premises, the certificate of Landlord's architeajeneral contractor shall be conclusive. Withiintyh(30) days following substantial
completion of the Tenant Improvements (as defime@XHIBIT C hereto), Tenant shall surrender possessf the Phase Il Temporary
Premises in accordance with Paragraph 36 hereof.

E. LETTER OF CREDIT.

(1) DELIVERY OF LETTER OF CREDIT. In lieu of depdisig a security deposit with Landlord, Tenant shafl execution of this Lease,
deliver to Landlord and cause to be in effect dytime Lease Term an unconditional, irrevocabletedf credit
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("LOC") in the amount specified for the Securitydasit in the Basic Lease Information, as it mayrineeased as provided in this Lease (the
"LOC AMOUNT") for an initial term of the LOC of tlee (3) years and thereafter shall renew autombtiftaim year to year through 30 days
beyond the expiration date of this Lease or angresibn thereto. The LOC shall be in a form accdetabLandlord and shall be issued by an
LOC bank selected by Tenant and acceptable to bathdThe text of the LOC shall expressly state thatLOC shall survive the termination
of this Lease. An LOC bank is a bank that acceppmdits, maintains accounts, has a local officewtilhnegotiate a letter of credit, and the
deposits of which are insured by the Federal Deépasirance Corporation. Tenant shall pay all espsnpoints, or fees incurred by Tenai
obtaining the LOC. The LOC shall not be mortgages$igned or encumbered in any manner whatsoeveeitgnt without the prior written
consent of Landlord. Tenant acknowledges that Laddhas the right to transfer or mortgage its ed¢em the Project, the Building and in t
Lease and Tenant agrees that in the event of ahytsansfer or mortgage, Landlord shall have tpbtrio transfer or assign the LOC and/or
the LOC Security Deposit (as defined below) totthesferee or mortgagee, and in the event of sadsfer, Tenant shall look solely to such
transferee or mortgagee for the return of the L@@ @ the LOC Security Deposit. The maximum amafrany transfer fee associated with
such transfer shall not be in excess of reasonedisfer fees customarily required by issuing banksch about shall be expressly stated in
the terms of the LOC, and shall be payable by Lauaid|

(2) REPLACEMENT OF LETTER OF CREDIT. Tenant maygrfr time to time, replace any existing LOC with avieOC if the new LOC
(a) becomes effective at least thirty (30) day®tméxpiration of the LOC that it replaces; (binishe required LOC amount; (c) is issued by
an LOC bank acceptable to Landlord; and (d) othexwbomplies with the requirements of this ParagBk.

(3) LANDLORD'S RIGHT TO DRAW ON LETTER OF CREDIT.dndlord shall hold the LOC as security for the parfance of Tenant's
obligations under this Lease. If, after notice &itlire to cure within any applicable period prostlin this Lease, Tenant is in default
pursuant to this Lease, Landlord may, without pdigje to any other remedy it has, draw on that portif the LOC necessary to

(a) pay Rent or other sum in default; (b) pay émbairse Landlord for any amount that Landlord magrsl or become obligated to spend in
exercising Landlord's rights under Paragraph 3gH{Rof Landlord to Perform Tenant's Covenant); an(lf) compensate Landlord for any
expense, loss, or damage that Landlord may suéfease of Tenant's default. If Tenant fails to wenereplace the LOC at least thirty (30)
days before its expiration, Landlord may, withorgjpdice to any other remedy it has, draw on theeamount of the LOC.

(4) LOC SECURITY DEPOSIT. Any amount of the LOC ttieadrawn on by Landlord but not applied by Lamdlshall be held by Landlord
as a security deposit (the "LOC SECURITY DEPOSIn"accordance with Paragraph 19 of this Lease.

(5) RESTORATION OF LETTER OF CREDIT AND LOC SECURIDEPOSIT. If Landlord draws on any portion of th@C and/or
applies all or any portion of such draw, Tenantlshathin five (5) business days after demand antlord, either (a) deposit cash with
Landlord in an amount that, when added to the a@maining under the LOC and the amount of any LS&Curity Deposit, shall equal the
LOC Amount then required under this Paragraph 36xE;

(b) reinstate the LOC to the full LOC Amount.

(6) REDUCTION OF LETTER OF CREDIT. At least fifte¢h5) business days prior to the dates specifieshioh of clauses a. through

d. below, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord for ewviTenant's financial statements prepared in aec@alwith generally accepted accounting
principles and audited by a nationally recognizeblis accounting firm acceptable to Landlord, angt ather financial information requested
by Landlord ("TENANT'S FINANCIAL INFORMATION") If:(i) Tenant has a tangible net worth, which "tangibét worth" shall be
determined by Landlord in its sole discretion ahdllsmean assets less intangible assets and itgtdities, with intangible asserts including
nonmaterial benefits such as goodwill, patentsyigpts, and trademarks, in excess of One Hundezei®y five Million and No/100 Dollal
($175,000,000.00) as reflected in Tenant's Finhhaiarmation, which amount shall be determinedUaydlord to its satisfaction prior to any
reduction in the LOC Amount; and (ii) Tenant's Fio@l Information reflects four (4) consecutivearadar quarters of profitability, as
determined by Landlord, during the time period indimagely preceding Tenant's request for reductioménLOC Amount described in this
subparagraph during the time period immediatelggueng Tenant's request for reduction in the LOCo#nt, as such profitability is
determined by Landlord, then the following reduation the LOC Amount may be made in accordance thightterms of this Paragraph 39.E

(6):

a. At any time after the end of the thirty-sixth
(36th) month following the Term Commencement D#te,LOC Amount may be reduced to an amount equabto Million Six Hundred
Forty-Five Thousand Four Hundred Twenty Eight amd290 Dollars ($4,645,428.00);

b. At any time after the end of the forty-eighth
(48th) month following the Term Commencement D#ie,LOC Amount may be reduced to an amount equBhtee Million Ninety-Six
Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty-Two and No/100 Doll¢3,960,952.00);

c. At any time after the end of the sixtieth (60tmnth following the Term Commencement Date, the&€l&Anount may be reduced to an
amount equal to One Million Five Hundred Forty-BEighousand Four Hundred Seventy-Six and No/100ap®i$1,548,476.00);

d. At any time after the end of the seventy-second

(72nd) month following the Term Commencement Dtite,LOC may be returned by Landlord to the isstiagk for cancellation provided
that Tenant has, prior to such delivery by Landldelivered a cash security Deposit (to be heltldrydlord in accordance with the terms of
Paragraph 19 of this Lease) an amount equal ta Eighdred Fifty-Six Thousand Seven Hundred Fiftyydand No/100 Dollars
($856,759.00)



In the event that any of the above described réshsto the LOC Amount is made and, subsequendpaiit fails to meet the corresponding
profitability and tangible net worth condition pegtent for a period of thirty (30) days followingli#ery by Landlord of written notice of any
such failure, Tenant shall within two (2) busindays, increase the face amount of the LOC to aruatregual to the LOC Amount existing

prior to such reduction (including the reductiosctibed in clause d. above). If Tenant fails toéase the LOC Amount as provided above,
such failure shall constitute a default hereunddric¢h default shall not be subject to any curetdgfforded anywhere in this Lease and

Landlord shall be entitled to draw on the LOC foe full LOC Amount and hold such
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LOC Amount as a Security Deposit in accordance thighterms of this Lease, and enforce all othditsigvailable to Landlord pursuant to
the terms of this Lease or under applicable law.

40. JURY TRIAL WAIVER

EACH PARTY HERETO (WHICH INCLUDES ANY ASSIGNEE, SUTESSOR HEIR OR PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF A
PARTY) SHALL NOT SEEK A JURY TRIAL, HEREBY WAIVES RIAL BY JURY, AND HEREBY FURTHER WAIVES ANY
OBJECTION TO VENUE IN THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE BUILING IS LOCATED, AND AGREES AND CONSENTS TO
PERSONAL JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATEWHICH THE PROPERTY IS LOCATED, IN ANY ACTION OR
PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY HEHRTO AGAINST THE OTHER ON ANY MATTER
WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WH THIS LEASE, THE RELATIONSHIP OF LANDLORD ANI
TENANT, TENANT'S USE OR OCCUPANCY OF THE PREMISESR ANY CLAIM OF INJURY OR DAMAGE, OR THE
ENFORCEMENT OF ANY REMEDY UNDER ANY STATUTE, EMERGQ¥CY OR OTHERWISE, WHETHER ANY OF THE
FOREGOING IS BASED ON THIS LEASE OR ON TORT LAW. EAl PARTY REPRESENTS THAT IT HAS HAD THE
OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH LEGAL COUNSEL CONCERNMBITHE EFFECT OF THIS PARAGRAPH 40. THE
PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH 40 SHALL SURVIVE THEXPIRATION OR EARLIER TERMINATION OF THIS LEASE.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettlis Lease as of the day and the year first aboitten.
LANDLORD

Spieker Properties, L.P.,
a California limited partnership

By: Spieker Properties, Inc.,
a Maryland corporation,
its general partner

By:

John W. Petersen
Its: Vice President

Date: December 17, 1999
TENANT

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation

By:

Michael J. Byrd
Its: Vice President, Finance, and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: December 17, 1999

By:

Mr. Victor Rinkle,
Its: Vice President, Operations

Date: December 17, 1999
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EXHIBIT A
RULES AND REGULATIONS

1. Driveways, sidewalks, halls, passages, exitsaroes, elevators, escalators and stairways isbiatie obstructed by tenants or used by
tenants for any purpose other than for ingressitbegress from their respective premises. The ways, sidewalks, halls, passages, exits,
entrances, elevators and stairways are not fouskeof the general public and Landlord shall ircaies retain the right to control and prevent
access thereto by all persons whose presences jndgment of Landlord, shall be prejudicial to fadety, character, reputation and interests
of the Building, the Project and its tenants, pded that nothing herein contained shall be condttog@revent such access to persons with
whom any tenant normally deals in the ordinary sewf such tenant's business unless such persmesgaged in illegal activities. No
tenant, and no employees or invitees of any teshiad] go upon the roof of any Building, exceptaashorized by Landlord. No tenant, and no
employees or invitees of any tenant shall movecmymon area furniture without Landlord's consent.

2. No sign, placard, banner, picture, name, adsartent or notice, visible from the exterior of Bremises or the Building or the common
areas of the Building shall be inscribed, paintdtixed, installed or otherwise displayed by Tengititer on its Premises or any part of the
Building or Project without the prior written comgef Landlord in Landlord's sole and absolute idison. Landlord shall have the right to
remove any such sign, placard, banner, picture gnanvertisement, or notice without notice to anith@ expense of Tenant, which were
installed or displayed in violation of this rulé Llandlord shall have given such consent to Teahany time, whether before or after the
execution of Tenant's Lease, such consent shall imay operate as a waiver or release of any gbtbeisions hereof or of the Lease, and
shall be deemed to relate only to the particulgm,splacard, banner, picture, name, advertisenrembtice so consented to by Landlord and
shall not be construed as dispensing with the s@ges obtaining the specific written consent @fridlord with respect to any other such s
placard, banner, picture, name, advertisement ticeno

All approved signs or lettering on doors and walall be printed, painted, affixed or inscribedhat expense of Tenant by a person or vendor
approved by Landlord and shall be removed by Teagtite time of vacancy at Tenant's expense.

3. The directory of the Building or Project will lpeovided exclusively for the display of the nanmel #ocation of tenants only and Landlord
reserves the right to charge for the use theredtaexclude any other names therefrom.

4. No curtains, draperies, blinds, shutters, shast®eens or other coverings, awnings, hangingecorations shall be attached to, hung or
placed in, or used in connection with, any windavdoor on the Premises without the prior writtenseEnt of Landlord. In any event with the
prior written consent of Landlord, all such itenmal be installed inboard of Landlord's standarddew covering and shall in no way be
visible from the exterior of the Building. All elecal ceiling fixtures hung in offices or spacdsray the perimeter of the Building must be
fluorescent or of a quality, type, design, and dlor approved by Landlord. No articles shall lecpd or kept on the window sills so as to
be visible from the exterior of the Building. Ndiales shall be placed against glass partitiondomrs which Landlord considers unsightly
from outside Tenant's Premises.

5. Landlord reserves the right to exclude fromBléding and the Project, between the hours ofé. and 8 a.m. and at all hours on
Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, all peradiasare not tenants or their accompanied guesteiBuilding. Each tenant shall be
responsible for all persons for whom it allows tteg the Building or the Project and shall be katd Landlord for all acts of such persons.

Landlord and its agents shall not be liable for dges for any error concerning the admission texotusion from, the Building or the Proje
of any person.

During the continuance of any invasion, mob, ftblic excitement or other circumstance renderirmghsaction advisable in Landlord's
opinion, Landlord reserves the right (but shall betobligated) to prevent access to the Buildirdjthe Project during the continuance of that
event by any means it considers appropriate fosdfety of tenants and protection of the Buildimgperty in the Building and the Project.

6. All cleaning and janitorial services for the Bling and the Premises shall be provided exclugitrgbugh Landlord. Except with the
written consent of Landlord, no person or persahsrothan those approved by Landlord shall be gerthto enter the Building for the
purpose of cleaning the same. Tenant shall notecang unnecessary labor by reason of Tenant'sesaredss or indifference in the
preservation of good order and cleanliness ofriésrises. Landlord shall in no way be responsiblégieant for any loss of property on the
Premises, however occurring, or for any damage ttmienant's property by the janitor or any othapkyee or any other person.

7. Tenant shall see that all doors of its Premasesclosed and securely locked and must obsefigé cire and caution that all water faucet
water apparatus, coffee pots or other heat-gengrdgvices are entirely shut off before Tenantoemployees leave the Premises, and that
all utilities shall likewise be carefully shut offp as to prevent waste or damage. Tenant shedispensible for any damage or injuries
sustained by other tenants or occupants of thedBigilor Project or by Landlord for noncompliancehathis rule. On multiple-tenancy floors,
all tenants shall keep the door or doors to thddihg corridors closed at all times except for g and egress.

8. Tenant shall not use any method of heatingrecaiditioning other than that supplied by Landlokd more specifically provided in
Tenant's lease of the Premises, Tenant shall netevedectricity, water or air-conditioning and aggeo cooperate fully with Landlord to
assure the most effective operation of the Buildimgating and air-conditioning, and shall reffaiim attempting to adjust any controls other
than room thermostats installed for Tenant's



9. Landlord will furnish Tenant free of charge witto keys to each door in the Premises. Landlorgd make a reasonable charge for any
additional keys, and Tenant shall not make or lmgde additional keys. Tenant shall not alter ak lar access device or install a new or
additional lock or access device or bolt on anyrdafats Premises, without the prior written contsefhlLandlord. If Landlord shall give its
consent, Tenant shall in each case furnish Landidttda key for any such lock. Tenant, upon thenieation of its tenancy, shall deliver to
Landlord the keys for all doors which have beemithed to Tenant, and in the event of loss of ayslso furnished, shall pay Landlord
therefor.

10. The restrooms, toilets, urinals, wash bowls@hér apparatus shall not be used for any purptiee than that for which they were
constructed and no foreign substance of any kinatsdever shall be thrown into them. The expensmptreakage, stoppage, or damage
resulting from violation of this rule shall be berhy the tenant who, or whose employees or invitg®s!l have caused the breakage, stop
or damage.

11. Tenant shall not use or keep in or on the Psesnithe Building or the Project any kerosene, lgessar inflammable or combustible fluid
or material.
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12. Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be osdept in its Premises any foul or noxious gasuystance. Tenant shall not allow the
Premises to be occupied or used in a manner offesiobjectionable to Landlord or other occuparthe Building by reason of noise,
odors and/or vibrations or interfere in any wayhwather tenants or those having business thereirshall any animals or birds be brought or
kept in or about the Premises, the Building, orRhaject.

13. No cooking shall be done or permitted by amaie on the Premises, except that use by the tef&htderwriters' Laboratory (UL)
approved equipment, refrigerators and microwavesveay be used in the Premises for the preparafiooffee, tea, hot chocolate and
similar beverages, storing and heating food foates and their employees shall be permitted. Adsusust be in accordance with all
applicable federal, state and city laws, codesparttes, rules and regulations and the Lease.

14. Except with the prior written consent of LarrdloTenant shall not sell, or permit the saleg#dif, of newspapers, magazines, periodicals,
theater tickets or any other goods or merchandise on the Premises, nor shall Tenant carry opeomit or allow any employee or other
person to carry on, the business of stenograppgwiiting or any similar business in or from themises for the service or accommodation
of occupants of any other portion of the Buildingr shall the Premises be used for the storagesoflmndise or for manufacturing of any
kind, or the business of a public barber shop, tyeaarlor, nor shall the Premises be used for Hegal, improper, immoral or objectionable
purpose, or any business or activity other thahgpacifically provided for in such Tenant's LeaBenant shall not accept hairstyling,
barbering, shoeshine, nail, massage or similaicEnn the Premises or common areas except agraagth by Landlord.

15. If Tenant requires telegraphic, telephoni@demmunications, data processing, burglar alarginoitar services, it shall first obtain, and
comply with, Landlord's instructions in their inksdéion. The cost of purchasing, installation andimenance of such services shall be borne
solely by Tenant.

16. Landlord will direct electricians as to whereldow telephone, telegraph and electrical wires@be introduced or installed. No boring
or cutting for wires will be allowed without theipr written consent of Landlord. The location ofrglar alarms, telephones, call boxes and
other office equipment affixed to the Premisesldhabkubject to the prior written approval of Laodl.

17. Tenant shall not install any radio or telewisemtenna, satellite dish, loudspeaker or any atheice on the exterior walls or the roof of
Building, without Landlord's consent. Tenant simalt interfere with radio or television broadcastargeception from or in the Building, the
Project or elsewhere.

18. Tenant shall not mark, or drive nails, screwdrdl into the partitions, woodwork or drywall an any way deface the Premises or any part
thereof without Landlord's consent. Tenant mayaihstails and screws in areas of the Premisedidnat been identified for those purposes to
Landlord by Tenant at the time those walls or garts were installed in the Premises. Tenant stwllay linoleum, tile, carpet or any other
floor covering so that the same shall be affixeth®floor of its Premises in any manner excegtgsoved in writing by Landlord. The
expense of repairing any damage resulting fromokation of this rule or the removal of any floornvesing shall be borne by the tenant by
whom, or by whose contractors, employees or ingjtdee damage shall have been caused.

19. No furniture, freight, equipment, materialspglies, packages, merchandise or other propertyowiteceived in the Building or carried up
or down the elevators except between such hourinagittch elevators as shall be designated by Lathdlo

Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor oPitsmises which exceeds the load per square fachwslich floor was designed to carry or
which is allowed by law. Landlord shall have thghtito prescribe the weight, size and positionlicfafes, furniture or other heavy equipm
brought into the Building. Safes or other heavyeots shall, if considered necessary by Landloshdsbn wood strips of such thickness as
determined by Landlord to be necessary to propstyibute the weight thereof. Landlord will not lesponsible for loss of or damage to any
such safe, equipment or property from any causkalimdamage done to the Building by moving or rteiting any such safe, equipment or
other property shall be repaired at the expengepéant.

Business machines and mechanical equipment belpnhgifienant which cause noise or vibration that eyransmitted to the structure of
the Building or to any space therein to such aekeas to be objectionable to Landlord or to angréenin the Building shall be placed and
maintained by Tenant, at Tenant's expense, ontiobraliminators or other devices sufficient taw@hate noise or vibration. The persons
employed to move such equipment in or out of thidBg must be acceptable to Landlord.

20. Tenant shall not install, maintain or opergieruits Premises any vending machine without th#emrconsent of Landlord.

21. There shall not be used in any space, or iptidic areas of the Project either by Tenant ber, any hand trucks except those equipped
with rubber tires and side guards or such otheer@thandling equipment as Landlord may approwsnahts using hand trucks shall be
required to use the freight elevator, or such at@vas Landlord shall designate. No other vehiofeany kind shall be brought by Tenant into
or kept in or about its Premises.

22. Each tenant shall store all its trash and ggrhdthin the interior of the Premises. TenantIshat place in the trash boxes or receptacles
any personal trash or any material that may notaanot be disposed of in the ordinary and custommeyner of removing and disposing of
trash and garbage in the city, without violatioraof law or ordinance governing such disposaltraih, garbage and refuse disposal shall be
made only through entry-ways and elevators provideguch purposes and at such times as Landl@id ddsignate. If the Building has
implemented a buildir-wide recycling program for tenants, Tenant shadl gsod faith efforts to participate in said progr:



23. Canvassing, soliciting, distribution of hantbdr any other written material and peddling ia Building and the Project are prohibited
and each tenant shall cooperate to prevent the. féonenant shall make room-to-room solicitatiorbaginess from other tenants in the
Building or the Project, without the written consefhLandlord.

24. Landlord shall have the right, exercisable withnotice and without liability to any tenant,doange the name and address of the Building
and the Project.

25. Landlord reserves the right to exclude or efmeh the Project any person who, in Landlord'gjuént, is under the influence of alcohol
or drugs or who commits any act in violation of arfiyhese Rules and Regulations.

26. Without the prior written consent of Landlofiggnant shall not use the name of the Building erRioject or any photograph or other
likeness of the Building or the Project in conneativith, or in promoting or advertising, Tenantsiness except that Tenant may include the
Building's or Project's name in Tenant's address.

27. Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire prciien and evacuation procedures and regulatioadkstied by Landlord or any governmel
agency.
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28. Tenant assumes any and all responsibility forggting its Premises from theft, robbery andepifie, which includes keeping doors
locked and other means of entry to the Premisesedlo

29. The requirements of Tenant will be attendedrniy upon appropriate application at the officetaf Building by an authorized individual.
Employees of Landlord shall not perform any worldoranything outside of their regular duties unia@sder special instructions from
Landlord, and no employees of Landlord will adnmiy gerson (tenant or otherwise) to any office withgpecific instructions from Landlord.

30. Landlord reserves the right to designate tleeofishe parking spaces on the Project. Tenantaoaiit's guests shall park between
designated parking lines only, and shall not ocawayparking spaces with one car. Parking spacaié Isé for passenger vehicles only; no
boats, trucks, trailers, recreational vehiclestbeotypes of vehicles may be parked in the parkigs (except that trucks may be loaded and
unloaded in designated loading areas). Vehiclewiation of the above shall be subject to tow-anatywehicle owner's expense. Vehicles
parked on the Project overnight without prior venittconsent of the Landlord shall be deemed abaddame shall be subject to tow-away at
vehicle owner's expense. No tenant of the Buildinagll park in visitor or reserved parking areasy fganant found parking in such designated
visitor or reserved parking areas or unauthorizedsshall be subject to tow-away at vehicle owrepense. The parking areas shall not be
used to provide car wash, oil changes, detailintpraotive repair or other services unless otheragmoved or furnished by Landlord.
Tenant will from time to time, upon the request.ahdlord, supply Landlord with a list of licensefd numbers of vehicles owned or oper

by its employees or agents.

31. No smoking of any kind shall be permitted angrehwithin the Building, including, without limitahn, the Premises and those areas
immediately adjacent to the entrances and exitisedBuilding, or any other area as Landlord elegtsoking in the Project is only permitted
in smoking areas identified by Landlord, which niegyrelocated from time to time.

32. If the Building furnishes common area confeemnmoms for tenant usage, Landlord shall haveighéto control each tenant's usage of
the conference rooms, including limiting tenantgesao that the rooms are equally available tceathmts in the Building. Any common area
amenities or facilities shall be provided from titogime at Landlord's discretion.

33. Tenant shall not swap or exchange building keysardkeys with other employees or tenants irBihi&ling or the Project.

34. Tenant shall be responsible for the observahadl of the foregoing Rules and Regulations bydm®t's employees, agents, clients,
customers, invitees and guests.

35. These Rules and Regulations are in additioartd,shall not be construed to in any way modifgrar amend, in whole or in part, the
terms, covenants, agreements and conditions ofeasg of any premises in the Project.

36. Landlord may waive any one or more of thesee®ahd Regulations for the benefit of any partictdaant or tenants, but no such waiver
by Landlord shall be construed as a waiver of Sugles and Regulations in favor of any other tewwanénants, nor prevent Landlord from
thereafter enforcing any such Rules and Regulatigainst any or all tenants of the Building.

37. Landlord reserves the right to make such ahdrreasonable rules and regulations as in itstedd may from time to time be needed for
safety and security, for care and cleanliness®Bthilding and the Project and for the preservatibgood order therein. Tenant agrees to
abide by all such Rules and Regulations hereiedtand any additional rules and regulations whiehaaopted.
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EXHIBIT B
(TO BE ATTACHED)

28



EXHIBIT C
LEASE IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT

This Lease Improvement Agreement ("IMPROVEMENT AGREENT") sets forth the terms and conditions relgtio construction of the
initial tenant improvements described in the Pkanise prepared and approved as provided below BB ANT IMPROVEMENTS") in the
Premises. Capitalized terms used but not otherdéfieed herein shall have the meanings set forthérLease (the "LEASE") to which this
Improvement Agreement is attached and forms a patrt.

1. Base Building Work. The "Base Building Work" ddbed on SCHEDULE 1 to this EXHIBIT C, IF ANY, hagen or will be performed |
Landlord at Landlord's sole cost and expense aaldl Isé constructed in a good and workman-like maane the Premises shall be delivered
to Tenant in compliance with Regulations as expyestated in Paragraph 4.C. hereof.

2. Plans and Specifications.

2.1 Tenant shall retain the services of Devcon'(8RRACE PLANNER") to prepare a detailed space flae "SPACE PLAN") mutually
satisfactory to Landlord and Tenant for the corwtom of the Tenant Improvements in the Premisesant shall submit the Space Plan and
any proposed revisions thereto to Landlord for larttis approval. In the event that Tenant faildétiver an approved Space Plan on or
before February 7, 2000, such failure shall comstia Tenant Delay hereunder.

2.2 Based on the approved Space Plan, Tenantcshesé the Space Planner to prepare detailed glgsifications and working drawings
mutually satisfactory to Landlord and Tenant fa ttonstruction of the Tenant Improvements (the "RBA). Landlord and Tenant shall
diligently pursue the preparation of the Plans.argrshall submit the Plans and any proposed renggioereto, including the estimated cost of
the Tenant Improvements. All necessary revisiorteédSpace Plan and the Plans shall be made vithif2) business days after Landlord's
response thereto. This procedure shall be repeatéd_andlord ultimately approves the Space Plad Blans. Landlord shall approve or
disapprove the Plans and any proposed revisiomstthencluding the estimated cost of the Tenargrbmements, in writing within three (3)
business days after receipt thereof. If Landloii$ ta approve or disapprove the Space Plan oPthes or any revisions thereto within the
time limits specified herein, Landlord shall be aeel to have disapproved the same. Tenant shak ¢hadinal Plans and the cost estimate to
be prepared and approved no later than March 3i).260 the event Tenant fails to prepare and amptbe final Plans and the cost estimate
on or before March 30, 2000, such failure shallstitute a Tenant Delay hereunder.

2.3 Intentionally Omitted.

2.4 Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shallsgathe Space Planner to deliver to Landlord orefore March 30, 2000 plans,
specifications and working drawings for the condinn of the Tenant Improvements which are suffidiecomplete to enable the City of £
Jose to issue any required permits.

2.5 Tenant shall be responsible for ensuring thePlans are compatible with the design, constmeihd equipment of the Building, comply
with applicable Regulations and the Standardsriddfbelow), and contain all such information as t@yequired to show locations, types
and requirements for all heat loads, people lofalsy, loads, power and plumbing, regular and sgddi4AC needs, telephone
communications, telephone and electrical outlégbtihg, light fixtures and related power, and &lieal and telephone switches, B.T.U.
calculations, electrical requirements and speeiegptacle requirements. The Plans shall also inaluelchanical, electrical, plumbing,
structural and engineering drawings mutually satigry to Landlord and Tenant which shall be pregdry Approved Design Engineers.
Notwithstanding Landlord's preparation, review apgroval of the Space Plan and the Plans and arsjaes thereto, Landlord shall have
responsibility or liability whatsoever for any ersmr omissions contained in the Space Plan orsRiarany revisions thereto, or to verify
dimensions or conditions, or for the quality, desig compliance with applicable Regulations of anprovements described therein or
constructed in accordance therewith. Tenant henatiyes all claims against Landlord relating toadsing out of the design or construction
of, the Tenant Improvements.

2.6 Landlord may approve or disapprove the Spaae & Plans or any proposed revision thereto stwibdiio Landlord in Landlord's sole
discretion. Landlord shall not be deemed to hayg@amed the Space Plan, the Plans, or any propestsians thereto, unless approved by
Landlord in writing. Landlord shall approve or diggove any Space Plan, Plans or proposed revitli@nsto submitted to Landlord for
Landlord's approval within three (3) business dafysr Landlord's receipt thereof. If Landlord has approved in writing any Space Plan,
Plans, or proposed revisions thereto submittecatudlord within three (3) business days after Lart#oreceipt thereof, Landlord shall be
deemed to have disapproved the same.

3. Specifications for Standard Tenant Improvements.

3.1 Specifications and quantities of standard lngjdomponents which will comprise and be usedhédonstruction of the Tenant
Improvements ("STANDARDS") are set forth in SCHEDEJR to this EXHIBIT C. As used herein, "STANDARDSt "BUILDING
Standards" shall mean the standards for a partitela selected from time to time by Landlord foe Building, including those set forth on
SCHEDULE 2 of this EXHIBIT C, or such other standaof equal or better quality as may be mutuallgad between Landlord and Tenant
in writing.



3.2 No deviations from the Standards are permitted.
4. Tenant Improvement Cost.

4.1 The cost of the Tenant Improvements shall li¢ floa by Tenant, including, without limitation,e&tcost of: Standards; space plans and
studies; architectural and engineering fees; psrrajiprovals and other governmental fees; labarnal equipment and supplies;
construction fees and other amounts payable toactors or subcontractors; taxes; off-site improgets; remediation and preparation of the
Premises for construction of the Tenant Improvesidaaies; filing and recording fees; premiums fauirance and bonds; attorneys' fees;
financing costs; and all other costs expended betexpended in the construction of the Tenant dvgments, including those costs incurred
for construction of elements of the Tenant Improgats in the Premises, which construction was perédrby Landlord prior to the execut
of the Lease or for materials comprising the Temhaprovements which were purchased by Landlordrgddhe execution of the Lease; and
an administration fee of One Hundred Eighty-Fived$and and No/100 Dollars ($185,000.00); provithedvever, that in the event that the
Lease is modified to provide for an increase inrth@able square feet of the Premises which resuéia increase in the total cost of the
Tenant Improvements, the aforementioned administrdiee shall be increased by an amount equalréthercent (3%) of the amount of
such increase.
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4.2 Provided Tenant is not in default under theske@ncluding this Improvement Agreement, Landlsindll contribute a one-time tenant
improvement allowance not to exceed Thirty-One 28400 Dollars ($31.19) per rentable square fodhefPremises ("TENANT
IMPROVEMENT ALLOWANCE") toward the cost of the i Tenant Improvements. Provided Tenant is nat thedefault under the
Lease, including this Improvement Agreement, duthgconstruction of the Tenant Improvements, Larttdshall make monthly
disbursements of the Tenant Improvement AllowancdHe benefit of Tenant shall authorize the redezfsnonies for the benefit of Tenani
follows:

(a) Monthly Disbursements. On or before the tweirgt-(21st) day of the calendar month, during ¢bastruction of the Tenant
Improvements (or such other date as Landlord maigdate in writing), Tenant shall deliver to Landlo(i) a request for payment of Tena
contractor, which request shall be approved by memshowing the schedule, by trade, of percentdgerpletion of the Tenant
Improvements, detailing the portion of the work geted and the portion not completed; (ii) invoifesn any subcontractor, laborer,
materialmen, supplier and any other party whictiqggered work on Tenant's behalf pursuant to thisrbmpment Agreement, including, but
not limited to, labor rendered and materials deédeto the Premises; (iii) executed conditional Inaedc's lien releases from all of the parties
submitting invoices with respect to the work penfied and for which payment is requested to be maldieh releases shall comply with the
appropriate provisions of California Civil Code 228); (iv) executed unconditional mechanic's lieleases from all of the parties with
respect to work performed and included on prior pEguests, which releases shall comply with the@wate provisions of California Civil
Code; and (v) all other information reasonably esiad by Landlord. Tenant's request for paymeritsbaleemed Tenant's acceptance and
approval of the specific work furnished and or tigterials actually supplied as set forth in Tesguayment request. Within ten (10) busir
days thereafter, Landlord shall deliver a checki@nsfer funds electronically) to Tenant madetjgipayable to Tenant's contractor and
Tenant in payment of the lesser of (A) Landlordtspprtionate share of the amount of such requegidgment by Tenant's contractor, as set
forth in this paragraph, less a ten percent (1@¥@ntion (the aggregate amount of such retentmbg known as the "FINAL RETENTION
and (B) the balance of any remaining availableiporof the Tenant Improvement Allowance (not inéhgithe Final Retention), provided
Landlord does not dispute any request for paymaséd upon noncompliance with the Plans and or Stdagdor due to any substandard
work, or for any other reasonable cause. For papo$this Improvement Agreement, Landlord's propoate share shall be the product of
the following: (X) the amount of the Tenant Impravent Allowance over total cost of the Tenant Imgments, as such total cost may from
time to time increase as provided herein, multiply (Y) the total amount approved by Landlord ena@nt's written request for payment as
described above. Landlord's payment of such amainaii$ not be deemed Landlord's approval or acoeptaf the work furnished or
materials supplied as set forth in Tenant's paymesniest.

(b) Final Retention. Subject to the provisionsheé improvement Agreement, a check for the FindaeRiBon payable jointly to Tenant's
contractor and Tenant shall be delivered by LamtiorTenant following the completion of the constion of the Tenant Improvements and
expiration of the time for filing of any mechanitishs claimed or which might be filed on accouhfoy work ordered by Tenant or its
contractor or any subcontractor; provided that Tahant delivers to Landlord properly executed amcbaditional mechanics lien releases in
compliance with both California Civil Code Secti®®62(d)(2) and with Section 3262(d)(3) or

Section 3262(d)(4) (which mechanics' lien releated| be executed by the subcontractors, laborlsrp@nd materialmen in addition to
Tenant's contractor), and all appropriate bills ampporting documentation for the work ordered byant or its contractor or any
subcontractor, (B) Landlord has determined thagutmstantial work exists which adversely affectsrttezhanical, electrical, plumbing,
heating, ventilating and air conditioning, life-agf or other systems of the Building or Projecg sfructure or exterior appearance of the
Building or Project, and (C) Space Planner and igsaontractor deliver to Landlord a certificafecompletion, in a form reasonably
acceptable to Landlord certifying that the congiomcof the Tenant Improvements has been substigntmmpleted.

(c) Other Terms. Landlord shall only be obligatedriake disbursements from the Tenant Improvemdntvaince in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement.

4.3 In the event the estimated cost of the desigihcanstruction of the Tenant Improvements excéeel§ enant Improvement Allowance,
Landlord's proportionate share pursuant to Par&gtah (a) above shall be adjusted accordingly. iédit shall be given to Tenant if the cost
of the Tenant Improvements is less than the Telmamtovement Allowance.

4.4 If the cost of the Tenant Improvements increadeer the Tenant's approval of the Plans dukgedquirements of any governmental
agency or applicable Regulation, Landlord's prapodte share pursuant to Paragraph 4.2.(a) ab@lebshadjusted accordingly.

4.5 If Tenant requests any change(s) in the Plaesapproval of the estimate of the cost of thedrg Improvements and any such requested
changes are approved by Landlord in writing in Uardls sole discretion, and the cost of the Tehaprovements increases as a result of
such approved change(s). Landlord's proportiorfseespursuant to Paragraph 4.2.(a) above shalljnstad accordingly.

4.6 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary irsthihprovement Agreement, in the event that the abte Tenant Improvements exceeds
the Tenant Improvement Allowance, upon Tenant'#tevrirequest, Landlord shall provide an additi@mabunt not to exceed Four Dollars
($4.00) per rentable square foot (the "BASE RENTREASE FACTOR") toward the excess cost of the Telmaprovements, which Base
Rent Increase Factor shall be disbursed in accoedaith the terms of this Paragraph 4. Tenant mprestide such written request to Landlord
prior to the Term Commencement Date defined irLénmse. In the event Tenant fails to so provide surdtten notice to Landlord, Tenant
shall be deemed to waive its right to receive tasBRent Increase Factor. The Base Rent Increat® Bhall be amortized over the initial
Term of the Lease commencing upon disbursemenboies, at an interest rate of ten percent (10%ppeum, payable in monthly
installments as Base Rent, in accordance witheitres of the Lease. If the costs of the Tenant Imgmreents does exceed the Tenant
Improvement Allowance, and Tenant elects to rectieeBase Increase Rent Factor pursuant to thesgRgph 4.6, Landlord and Tenant shall
each execute a written amendment to the Leaseaa@py Landlord, to reflect the appropriate inseeim the amount of Base Re



5. Construction of Tenant Improvements.

5.1 Within ten (10) days after Tenant's and Larditoapproval of the Plans including the estimatthefcost of the Tenant Improvements and
Landlord's receipt of payment of any such estimated exceeding the amount of the Tenant Improvéimkowance, Tenant shall cause the
contractor to proceed to secure a building permdt@@mmence construction of the Tenant Improvemamigided that the Building has in
Landlord's discretion reached the stage of construgvhere it is appropriate to commence constomctif the Tenant Improvements in the
Premises.
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5.2 Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining allegnmental approvals to the full extent necesk&arihe construction and installation of the
Tenant Improvements and for Tenant's occupandgeoPremises, in compliance with all applicable Ratipns. Tenant shall employ Devcon
as the contractor or such other contractor or egsttrs as shall be approved by Landlord in writimgonstruct the Tenant Improvements in
conformance with the approved Space Plan and Plémesconstruction contracts between Tenant andppeoved contractor shall be subject
to Landlord's prior reasonable approval and shralide for progress payments. The contractor(s) bleaduly licensed and Landlord's
approval of the contractor(s) shall be conditioreadpng other things, upon the contractor's remrtdtr quality of work, timeliness of
performance, integrity and Landlord's prior expeci with such contractor.

5.3 Without limiting the provisions of Paragraph@3he Lease, Landlord shall not be liable for dimgct or indirect damages suffered by
Tenant as a result of delays in construction bey@rdllord's reasonable control, including, butlimotted to, delays due to strikes or
unavailability of materials or labor, or delays sad by Tenant (including delays by the Space Platime contractor or anyone else
performing services on behalf of Landlord or Tehant

5.4 All work to be performed on the Premises byardgror Tenant's contractor or agents shall be stitgehe following conditions:

(a) Such work shall proceed upon Landlord's wriipproval of Tenant's contractor, and public liptnd property damage insurance
carried by Tenant's contractor, and shall furthreestibject to the provisions of Paragraphs 12 amaf #7e Lease.

(b) All work shall be done in conformity with a v@building permit when required, a copy of whidtalt be furnished to Landlord before
such work is commenced, and in any case, all surk shall be performed in a good and workmanlike fwst-class manner, and in
accordance with all applicable Regulations and-dggiirements and standards of any insurance uniiegvboard, inspection bureau or
insurance carrier insuring the Premises pursuathtetd ease. Notwithstanding any failure by Landitwrébject to any such work, Landlord
shall have no responsibility for Tenant's failuseedomply with all applicable Regulations. Tenardlshe responsible for ensuring that
construction and installation of the Tenant Impraeats will not affect the structural integrity et Building.

(c) If required by Landlord or any lender of Landlpall work by Tenant or Tenant's contractor shaldone with union labor in accordance
with all union labor agreements applicable to thelé¢s being employed.

(d) Landlord or Landlord's agents shall have tigatrio inspect the construction of the Tenant Inaproents by Tenant during the progress
thereof. If Landlord shall give notice of faultyresiruction or any other deviation from the appro$gdce Plan or Plans, Tenant shall cau:
contractor to make corrections promptly. Howeveither the privilege herein granted to Landloranake such inspections, nor the making
of such inspections by Landlord, shall operate asiaer of any right of Landlord to require gooddamorkmanlike construction and
improvements erected in accordance with the appr®gace Plan or Plans.

(e) Tenant shall cause its contractor to complegefienant Improvements as soon as reasonably fmbsitin any event on or before the
Scheduled Term Commencement Date.

(f) Tenant's construction of the Tenant Improversethiall comply with the following: (i) the Tenamyprovements shall be constructed in
strict accordance with the approved Space PlaramisP(ii) Tenant's and its contractor shall sutsnhiedules of all work relating to the
Tenant Improvements to Landlord for Landlord's appf within two (2) business days following theesgion of the contractor and the
approval of the Plans. Landlord shall within fi business days after receipt thereof inform Tén&any changes which are necessary and
Tenant's contractor shall adhere to such corressteeddule; and (i) Tenant shall abide by all rutesde by Landlord with respect to the us
freight, loading dock, and service elevators, gferaf materials, coordination of work with the aagtors of other tenants, and any other
matter in connection with this Improvement Agreemarcluding, without limitation, the constructiaf the Tenant Improvements.

(g) Tenant or Tenant's contractor or agents sin@hge for necessary utility, hoisting and elevaenvice with Landlord's contractor and shall
pay such reasonable charges for such servicesyaberzharged by Tenant's or Landlord's contractor.

(h) Tenant's entry to the Premises for any purpiosyding, without limitation, inspection or perfoance of Tenant construction by Tenant's
agents, prior to the date Tenant's obligation toneat commences shall be subject to all the temasconditions of the Lease except the
payment of Rent. Tenant's entry shall mean entrydnant, its officers, contractors, licensees, tgeservants, employees, guests, invitees, ol
visitors.

(i) Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord up@mtnd for any reasonable expense actually inclayede Landlord by reason of faulty
work done by Tenant or its contractors or by reasfaemy delays caused by such work, or by reasamagfequate clean-up.

(j) Tenant hereby indemnifies and holds Landlordriass with respect to any and all costs, lossamagies, injuries and liabilities relating in
any way to any act or omission of Tenant or Tesar@thtractor or agents, or anyone directly or extly employed by any of them, in
connection with the Tenant Improvements and angdir®f Tenant's obligations under this Improvenfeeement, or in connection with
Tenant's non-payment of any amount arising ouh@fftenant Improvements. Such indemnity by Tenageaforth above, shall also apply
with respect to any and all costs, losses, damagjases, and liabilities related in any way toridord's performance or any ministerial acts
reasonably necessary

(i) to permit Tenant to complete the Tenant Improeats, and (ii) to enable Tenant to obtain anydingj permit or certificate of occupancy
for the Premises



(k) Tenant's contractor and the subcontractorizetllby Tenant's contractor shall guarantee to fiteaad for the benefit of Landlord that the
portion of the Tenant Improvements for which itésponsible shall be free from any defects in wankship and materials for a period of not
less than one (1) year from the date of compldti@eneof. Each of Tenant's contractor and the subactors utilized by Tenant's contractor
shall be responsible for the replacement or repaihout additional charge, of all work done orrfighed in accordance with its contract that
shall become defective within one (1) year afterltier to occur of (i) completion of the work perhed by such contractor of subcontractors
and (ii) the Term Commencement Date. The correaifauch work shall include, without additional o, all additional expenses and
damages incurred in connection with such removatplacement of all or any part of the Tenant Improents, and/or the Building and/or
common areas that may be damaged or disturbedtheké such warranties or guarantees as to maseoiaworkmanship of or with respect
to the Tenant Improvements shall be containeddrctmstruction contract or subcontract and shalitiéen such that such guarantees or
warranties shall inure
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to the benefit of both Landlord and Tenant, asrtrespective interests may appear, and can betlgieforced by either. Tenant covenant:
give to Landlord any assignment or other assurawbésh may be necessary to effect such rights refctlienforcement.

() Commencing upon the execution of the Leaseameshall hold weekly meetings at a reasonable wittethe Space Planner and the
contractor regarding the progress of the preparatfdhe Plans and the construction of the Tenaprévements, which meetings shall be
held at a location designated by Tenant, and Laddlad/or its agents shall receive prior noticeaof] shall have the right to attend, all such
meetings, and upon Landlord's request, certaireogiiit's contractors shall attend such meetings s@ecte meeting each month shall include
the review of contractor's current request for pagin

(m) Tenant and Tenant's contractors and all othgigs performing work on the Premises on Ten&etwlf shall comply with the each of t
Building rules and regulations as described inltha@se and with the contractor rules and regulatiattached hereto as SCHEDULE 3. Tel
shall be liable for any violation of the Building the contractor rules and regulations by Tenaat'gractors or any other party performing
work on the Premises on Tenant's behalf.

6. Insurance Requirements.

6.1 All of Tenant's contractors shall carry work@ompensation insurance covering all of theireeipe employees, and shall also carry
public liability insurance, including property dage all with limits, in form and with companiesa® required to be carried by Tenant as set
forth in Paragraph 8 of the Lease.

6.2 Tenant shall carry "Builder's All Risk" insuanin an amount approved by Landlord covering thestruction of the Tenant
Improvements, and such other insurance as Landiasdrequire, it being understood and agreed tleaT#nant Improvements shall be
insured by Tenant pursuant to Paragraph 8 of tlasé.enmediately upon completion thereof. Such srste shall be in amounts and shall
include such extended coverage endorsements abenaasonably required by Landlord including, battlimited to, the requirement that all
of Tenant's contractors shall carry excess lighditd Products and Completed Operation coverageanse, each in amounts not less than
$500,000 per incident, $1,000,000 in aggregate jrmform and with companies as are required todreed by Tenant as set forth in
Paragraph 8 of the Lease.

6.3 Certificates for all insurance carried pursuarthis Improvement Agreement must comply with ibguirements of Paragraph 8 of the
Lease and shall be delivered to Landlord beforeetilmmencement of construction of the Tenant Impreesgts and before the contractor's
equipment is moved onto the site. In the evenfém@ant Improvements are damaged by any cause dhengpurse of the construction
thereof, Tenant shall immediately repair the sahleeaant's sole cost and expense. Tenant's camsagttall maintain all of the foregoing
insurance coverage in force until the Tenant Imprognts are fully completed and accepted by Landxcept for any Product and
Completed Operation Coverage insurance requirddabglord, which is to be maintained for five (5)aye following completion of the work
and acceptance by Landlord and Tenant. All policasied under this Paragraph 6 shall insure Ladddod Tenant, as their interests may
appear, as well as the contractors. All insuranamtained by Tenant's contractors shall preclutiecgation claims by the insurer against
anyone insured thereunder. Such insurance shalidarthat it is primary insurance as respects thiees and that any other insurance
maintained by owner is excess and noncontributiitly the insurance required hereunder. Landlord rimais discretion, require Tenant to
obtain a lien and completion bond or some alterfata of security satisfactory to Landlord in an@amt sufficient to ensure the lien-free
completion of the Tenant Improvements and naminudlard as a co-obligee.

7. Completion and Rental Commencement Date.

7.1 Tenant's obligation to pay Rent under the Lehs#i commence on the Scheduled Term Commencebsatand the Scheduled Term
Commencement Date shall be the Term CommencemeatrDawithstanding anything to the contrary corgdiim Paragraph 2 of the Lease.
However, except as otherwise provided herein, LadDelays (as defined below) shall extend the TEmmmencement Date, but only in
the event that substantial completion of the Telaprovements is actually delayed beyond Septermp2000, despite Tenant's best efforts
to adapt and compensate for such delays. In additio Landlord Delays shall be deemed to have oedwmnless Tenant has provided notice,
in compliance with the Lease, to Landlord specifyihat a delay shall be deemed to have occurrealisemf actions, inactions or
circumstances specified in the notice in reasonadlail. If such actions, inactions or circumstanaee not cured by Landlord within one (1)
business day after receipt of such notice ("COUNNTE"), and if such actions, inaction or circumstesotherwise qualify as a Landlord
Delay, then a Landlord Delay shall be deemed t@aecurred commencing as of the Count Date. Then TGsmmencement Date shall be
extended by one day for each day from the Courg Bett a Landlord Delay has occurred, as calcukesgutovided above. The term
"Landlord Delays," as such term may be used inlth@rovement Agreement, shall mean any actual datayhe completion of the Tenant
Improvements which are due to any act or omissfdraadlord, its agents or contractors. Landlorddyslshall include but not be limited to:
(i) delays in the giving of authorizations or apyats by Landlord beyond the periods provided is thiprovement Agreement, (ii) delays ¢
to the acts or failures to act, of Landlord, itemig or contractors, where such acts or failurestare required by the terms of this
Improvement Agreement and actually result in aydefathe completion of the Tenant Improvements elySeptember 1, 2000, provided 1
Tenant acts in a commercially reasonable manneiitigate any such delay, and (iii) delays due ®uhreasonable interference of Landlord,
its agents or contractors with the completion ef fienant Improvements. Notwithstanding anythintheocontrary contained in this
Improvement Agreement or in the Lease, if a LartiRelay does occur but the Premises is substgntiathplete on or before September 1,
2000, then the Term Commencement Date shall nektended and shall be the date described in Pata@r8 of the Lease. In the event a
Landlord Delay shall not occur, then the Term Comeoeenent Date shall be the date described in Palag® of the Lease.

7.2 Within ten (10) days after completion of constion of the Tenant Improvements, Tenant shalteauNotice of Completion to |



recorded in the office of the Recorder of the cguntwhich the Building is located in accordanceéhaection 3093 of the Civil Code of the
State of California or any successor statute, &atl 8irnish a copy thereof to Landlord upon suebardation. If Tenant fails to do so,
Landlord may execute and file the same on behalesfant as Tenant's agent for such purpose, anTesale cost and expense. At the
conclusion of construction, (i) Tenant shall catieeSpace Planner and the contractor

(i) to update the approved working drawings as seasy to reflect all changes made to the approvading drawings during the course of
construction, (ii) to certify to the best of th&mowledge that the "record-set" of bsHt drawings are true and correct, which cerdifion shal
survive the expiration or termination of the Leam®d (c) to deliver to Landlord two (2) sets of iespof such record set of drawings within
ninety (90) days following issuance of a certifeaf occupancy for the Premises, and (iii) Tenaatlgleliver to Landlord a copy of all
warranties, guarantees, and operating manualshémmnation relating to the improvements, equipmant] systems in the Premises.

7.3 A default under this Improvement Agreementlst@tstitute a default under the Lease, and thiiggashall be entitled to all rights and
remedies under the Lease in the event of a ddfauiunder by the other party (notwithstanding thatTerm thereof has not commenced).
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7.4 Without limiting the "as-is" provisions of thease, except for the Base Building Work to be toiesed by Landlord pursuant to this
Improvement Agreement, Tenant accepts the Prenmsts"as-is" condition and acknowledges thatais Inad an opportunity to inspect the
Premises prior to signing the Lease.

7.5 For purposes of the Lease and this Improvergrdgement, "SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION" shall have ocoad when (i) Landlord's
architect and Tenant's architect each state inngrthat the Tenant Improvements are substantialiyiplete in accordance with the terms of
the Lease and this Improvement Agreement, anddiyices and utilities are made available to thitdBig.
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SCHEDULE 1
TO EXHIBIT C

BASE BUILDING WORK - 1745 Technology Drive, San Jos, CA

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

GENERAL:

SITE:

BUILDING AREAS:

FLOORS:

PRIMARY INTERIOR PLANNING CRITERIA: Structural flo

LEVEL

The Project Si
between Skypor

15.45 Acres (p
1745 Technolog

Net Rentable A
Parking

The total num
floor of offic
floor size for
26,268 RSF. A
In addition, t

be setso as t

HEIGHT HEIGHT

Ground Floo
2 through 8

II. ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

EXTERIOR WALLS:

ACOUSTICAL:

ELEVATORS:

INTERIOR FINISHES:

ADA COMPLIANCE:

The exterior w
stone and pre-

The air shaft
The main trunk
insulation. Ma
vibration isol

There will be
will have a sw

The Main Lobby
combination of

Typical floors
will receive s

Tenant elevato
quality than t
Drive, San Jos

Toilet Room wa
Toilet partiti
lavatory tops

Elevator cabs
carpeted floor

The Project wi
current Title
requirements a

lll. STRUCTURAL DESCRIPTION

FOUNDATION:

OFFICE BUILDING STRUCTURE:

LIVE LOADS:

Precast driven
concrete slab

Concrete fill
and columns.

The general |i
100 Ibs per sf

te is a parcel of land located on Technology Drive,
t Road and Airport Parkway in San Jose, California.

arcel includes 1731, 1733, 1735, 1737, and
y Drive)

rea 210,677 RSF
3.6 spaces / 1000 useable square feet

ber of floors from Lobby Level to the top

e space will be eight. The typical office

floors three through eight will be approximately
single core will serve each building floor.

here will be a mechanical penthouse.

or slab to structural floor slab dimensions will
o allow the following floor-to-ceiling heights:

SLAB TO SLAB  CEILING
r 16'0" 11'6"
13'6" 9'0"

all material will include glass, aluminum, polished
cast concrete.

walls at each level will contain acoustical insulat
ductwork at each level will be wrapped with acoust

jor equipment components will be mounted on sound a
ating devices.

four passenger elevators in the core, one of which
ing door for freight.

floor will be mostly stone and the walls will be a
stone, wood panels, and/or other materials.

will include drywall on all core walls. Exterior w
tud framing but no drywall.

r lobbies will include finishes of equal or better

he lobby on floors two through five of 1741 Technol
e, California.

Il and floor finished will be ceramic tile and pain
ons will be ceiling-mounted, painted metal. The

will be polished stone.

will have wood veneer walls with stone base and
s.

Il be designed and constructed in compliance with t

24 and American With Disabilities Act (ADA)
t the time of building permit issuance.

piles supporting caps and grade beams with a
on grade.

over metal deck supported by wide flange steel beam

ve load capacity of office area floor slabs will be
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IV. MECHANICAL, PLUMBING, ELECTRICAL AND FIRE/SAFETY SYSTEMS DESCRIPTION

MECHANICAL SYSTEM:

POWER SYSTEM:

PLUMBING SYSTEM:

TELEPHONE SYSTEM:

FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEM:

STAIR/ELEVATOR

SHAFT PRESSURIZATION:

EMERGENCY POWER SYSTEM:

The air condit
air volume sys

per floor. The

closed circuit

penthouse.

The heating sy
each floor.

The control sy
Temperature Co
reliability of
allow heating
comfortable co

The mechanical
conditioning b

Load: Occu
area
Elec

Vent

Winter: Indo
Outd

Summer: Indo
Rela
Outd
Outd

The electrical
circuits from
service will b
main switchboa
electric servi
building bus r
service to 120
lighting and r
capacity will
watts per squa

The plumbing s
supply, sanita
design will be
and assures su
Building. Plum
commercial typ
features of th

Telephone clos
pathways to ma

Automatic spri
accordance wit

Sprinkler head

will be comple

be located in

The emergency
will be served

event of an em

elevator shaft

egress stairwe

diesel-powered
power will aut
elevator shaft
alarm and comm
pumps and anci
event of norma
by Tenant, Lan
250 kW to the
associated wit
request by Lan

Emergency powe

ioning system will consist of a variable

tem with one factory furnished water-cooled VAV uni
se will be supplied with condenser water from two
coolers and circulating pumps located in the

stem will be limited to a hot water loop with valve

stem will include an electronic Direct Digital

ntrol System. The sensing accuracy and component
the Direct Digital Temperature Control System will
and cooling systems to maintain consistently
nditions throughout the tenant space.

systems are designed to deliver HVAC interior
ased on the following loads and outdoor conditions:

pancy: 1 person/150 sf of useable

trical Consumption:
Lighting - 1.5 watts/usf
Tenant Power - 1.0 watts/usf
ilation - 0.15 cfm/usf

or 72~F dry bulb
oor 34~F dry bulb

or 75~F dry bulb

tive Humidity not to exceed 50%
oor 84~F dry bulb

oor 64~F wet bulb

service will be supplied through primary undergrou
Pacific Gas & Electric Company. The incoming electr
e 480/277 volt, three phase, four wire running to t

rd area. The main switchgear will include 480/277 v
ce to the typical floor will be fed from the main

isers. Dry-type transformers will reduce 480/277 vo
/208 volt, three-phase, four wire service for speci
eceptacle loads on all tenant floors. Transformer

be designed to accommodate a connected load of 4.0
re foot of usable area.

ystem will consist of domestic hot and cold water

ry sewer and storm sewer piping systems. The system
in accordance with the City of San Jose Building C
fficient capacity to handle the occupancy of the

bing fixtures, fittings and trim shall be high qual

e and will be coordinated with the architectural

e Building.

ets for riser use shall be provided on each floor w
in the telephone room.

nklers will be provided throughout the Building in

h NFPA #13, for light hazard occupancy design crite
drops, sprinkler head relocations and additional h
ted as part of tenant work. Firehose connections wi
stairwells in accordance with code requirements.

egress stairwells and elevator shafts in the Buildi
by pressurization systems. These systems will, in
ergency condition, pressurize egress stairwells and
s to reduce the possibility of smoke entering the

Il or elevator shaft.

r shall be provided by a permanently installed
electrical generator set and, as required by code,
omatically be supplied to support all stairwell and
pressurization equipment, emergency lighting, fire
unications systems, emergency use of elevators, fir
llary emergency fire/safety equipment in the unlike

| power source loss. In addition, after written req
dlord will provide additional emergency power equal
Building. Tenant shall pay any additional costs

h the additional emergency power increase upon writ
dlord.

sto

nd
ic

he
olt

al

ode

ity

ith

ria.
eads
Il

ng
the

uest
to

ten



FIRE ALARM AND The fire alarm and communication systems will be an addressable a larm

COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS system with Ti tle 24 ADA provisions. Annunciation, control and
communication equipment will be located in the Fire Control Cente rto
the
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ACCESS CONTROL:

Building with
the Building E
battery back-u

All building e
access will be
card key acces

additional indicators located at the Security Desk
ngineer's Office. The fire alarm system will have
p and be UL listed as a system.

ntrances will be locked after hours. After hours

via proximity card reader. The elevators shall hav
s system to each floor.
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SCHEDULE 2

TO EXHIBIT C

BUILDING STANDARDS

1745 TECHNOLOGY DRIVE, SAN JOSE, CALIFORNIA 95110

PARTITIONS

INTERIOR: 3 5/8" metal studs with 5/8

and ready for finish.

DEMISING: 3 5/8" metal stud
insulation. Taped smooth an

PERIMETER WAINSCOT: 5/8" layer of gypsum board.
Extruded bronze finish alum

PAINT: 1 of coat primer, 2 coats o

on each side of partitions.
DOOR ASSEMBLIES

DOORS: Doors will be 3'-0"
with maple veneer faces and

Interior Doors: 3'-0" x 8'- 10" 1-3/4" solid core d

DOOR FRAMES: Door frames will be clear a
DOOR HARDWARE: Tenant entry doors shall re

butt hinges, and door stop.

Tenant interior doors shall

Door hardware to be Schlage

Hager 3 knuckle hinges, fin

LCN#1460 Slimline series do

Quiality #432 door stop.

CEILING SYSTEM

ACOUSTIC CEILINGS AND
SUSPENDED SYSTEMS:  Acoustical suspended ceilin
Silhouette XL 9/16" grid.

LIGHT FIXTURES: Light fixtures will be Dayl
(2)-lamp parabolic with ref
ballast or equal, 277 volt
system. SP35 Super Saver I

LIGHT SWITCH ASSEMBLY: Switches will be paired in
requirements. Bryant #4901,

ELECTRICAL AND TELEPHONE

RECEPTACLES: Receptacles will be duplex
plate, smooth line, white f

TELEPHONE OUTLETS: Outlets will be a standard
standard colors, mounted ve
white color.

EXIT SIGNAGE: Exit signs to be Lerrt/Lerg
3/16" thick clear acrylic d
green engraved lettering.

HEATING AND AIR CONDITIONING SYSTEM

HVAC SYSTEM: Energy efficient high veloc
conditioned space zoned on
square feet. Perimeter zone
cooling only. Interior gril
ceiling tile.

FIRE PROTECTION

The following constitutes the Building Standardaehimprovements ("Standards") in the quantitiecHj@d:

" gypsum board on each side. Taped smooth

s with 5/8" gypsum board with sound batt
d ready for finish.

Taped smooth ready for finish.
inum sill to match exterior mullions.

f interior latex paint in eggshell finish,

x 8'- 10" x 1-3/4" solid core construction
edge.

oor with clear plain sliced maple.

nodized aluminum.
ceive a lockset, surface mounted closer,

receive a latchset, butt hinges and door stop.
"L" series Mortise locks, finish: 626.

ish: 626.

or closer.

gs will be Armstrong Dune, Armstrong

ite or equal, lay-in mounted 2' x 4'
lector, Motorola rapid start electronic
fixture with ready connect soft wire
T-8 Fluorescent lamps.

double gang box to meet Title 24
white finish.

20 ampere, 125 volt AC with Bryant wall
inish.

telephone plate in manufacturer's
rtically level with electrical receptacles,

t recessed ceiling edgelit LED exit light.
ouble panels with opaque separator with

ity variable air volume system with

the average of 1 zone per every 800

s will have heating, interior zones have

Is and registers painted to match acoustic



FIRE SPRINKLER HEADS: Sprinkler head to be Viking Model B1 and B2 concealed automatic and
quick response sprinklers.
Color: Off White.

FLOOR COVERING

CARPET: 38 oz weight cut pile, Desi gnweave, Sabre Classic, installed over pad.
All standard colors availab le.
TILE: Armstrong, Standard Excelon vinyl composition tile. All standard

colors available.

BASE: Burke, 4" rubber base, tops et over VCT and straight cut over carpet.
All standard colors availab le.
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WINDOW COVERING

BLINDS: 1" aluminum Levelor Mark 1 Dustguard 1" blinds.
Color: aluminum. Sized to f it within aluminum mullion module.

38



SCHEDULE 3
TO EXHIBIT C

CONTRACTOR RULES AND REGULATIONS

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR BUILDING CONSTRUCTION WORK

INTENT

The intent of these General Requirements is to conitate Spieker Properties general performancectaiens and requirements of
contractors performing work in our projects. Whhese requirements may not cover all specific jgtajeguirements, or may not apply to all
projects, they are intended to communicate a lmgcall methodology for doing construction workSpieker Properties projects.

Preliminary

1. All work performed shall be performed by uniegratory general contractor utilizing all union ¢atand must comply with all applicable
rules, regulations, and codes of the building,, ctgte, and federal governmental agencies hauitggdjction. The General Contractor will fi
drawings and secure all required permits prioregitining work, unless circumstances require eacbeistruction commencement, as direc
by the Owner's architect. All construction withiretleased premises shall conform to applicablessecof California Title 24 Standards and
the American with Disabilities Act (ADA).

2. All work shall be performed during regular biesia hours (7:00 A.M. - 6:00 P.M.), Monday througii&y, with the exception of work
types listed below. All building system operatiani$i be maintained in normal operation, and willthe adversely impacted by construction
work, unless specifically authorized by a Proje@rndgement representative. The contractor shall aoriwate requests to the Management
Office 24 hours in advance of any required intetinrpof any building services.

EXCEPTIONS - The following work is required to berfprmed on an overtime or off-hours basis: coilimy, nailing of tackless carpet
stripping, spray painting of any lacquer or othelatile or odor creating substances, and any typemcrete chipping. Any scheduling
requests for these types of off-hours work musafiggroved and authorized by the Management Offite iy performance any of work.

3. All contractors must supply Certificate(s) o§lmance naming Spieker Properties, L.P. as additioimsured prior to the start of any
construction. Insurance certificates and copigseomits, as required, must be provided to Projezhdyiement prior to the commencement of
any work.

4. Contractors representative will meet with Projdanagement representative prior to beginningreatéd work, to review the scope of
construction work, construction methods, these ggmequirements, any additional project specifiguirements, and any potential impact to
the satisfactory on-going operation of buildingviees.

5. The contractor will coordinate proper parkingdtions for construction personnel with Project sigement prior to starting construction
avoid impacting our tenants parking availability.

PROJECT AREA ACCESS

1. Access to project buildings, parking structueestes, etc. will be coordinated in advance withjétt Office. No installed access control or
security system will be over ridden or bypassedafoy reason, or at any time. All construction perss will be limited to those areas for
which they have been given specific access.

2. Access to all electrical closets, telephoneatkyamechanical rooms, and suites must be cooedinatadvance through the Project Office.
Electrical, telephone, and other equipment roontisb@ikept closed and locked when they are notighilg occupied.

DURING WORK PERFORMANCE

1. Upon the start of construction, the contractidr provide walk-off mats at all entrances to ttanstruction area(s) from stairwells (if used)
and entrances to all elevators.

2. Contractors shall maintain cleanliness througihdal not clutter or block hallways, exits, elevatibby, electrical or telephone rooms.
Building fire rated doors will not be propped opegmoved, or their door closures disconnected.wWlbelevator doors be propped or
jammed open to prevent the automatic function'stiined door actuators. CONTRACTORS ARE REQUIRED UTILIZE THE FREIGHT
ELEVATOR ONLY! Where a freight elevator is not aladile, Project Management will designate the appatgelevator for contractor use.
Where available, elevator protective pads will Beduwhenever moving materials or equipment in kixeador. Contractors are responsible
all damage they cause and cl-up.



3. Building electrical closets will not, at any &mor for any reason, be utilized for the storafy@ny construction project materials or trash, as
such storage constitutes a violation of prevaifing codes.

4. All material deliveries, and debris removal, s made as expeditiously as possible so as thawat these vehicles blocking accesses to /
from the building. The contractor, at contractopexse must remove all construction debris fronbthikling. Building trash dumpsters are

not to be utilized for the disposal of constructnject debris, as these are provided for tens@t As may be required, Contractor will make
arrangements for delivery of a debris box for tge.urhe Project Office will approve an appropriatation for the debris box while it is on

the project. Delivery or removal of large amouritsnaterial is to be done after normal business $iatth 24-hr. prior approval of the Project
Manager.

5. The contractor is responsible for taking théofwing precautions / steps to protect the satisfgobn-going operation of all building
systems and tenant operations :
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o Covering HVAC supply and return duct openinggriotect from construction dirt / dust being spréadther areas of the building or into
the HVAC equipment / system. This can be accometidby sealing off, covering with filtering media,aher Project Management approved
method.

o Coordinate with Project Manager prior to condinrcto have fire sprinkler systems isolated, smoktectors disabled, or alarm systems de-
activated for periods as may be necessary. Cootradfl protect those smoke detectors or fire sklgnheads left installed in the area, after
disabling, by covering them with plastic bags dgromnstruction.

o0 Where electrical components or circuits are rezdpeontractor will ensure full compliance with O&kequired lockout / tagout procedul
to prevent personal injuries or system outages.

o Develop the best isolation possible of the camsibn area to contain any dirt, dust, noise oepfhotential tenant impact which may be
generated by demo, construction work and clean-up.

6. Any damage to any project area including butlingited to, parking areas, doors, freight elevat@nd carpets will be reported to the
Project Office and repaired by the contractor imiatsdly. Spieker Properties reserves the right toedy any damage at the Contractors
expense if the damage is not repaired in a timelpmer.

7. No powder-actuated guns are to be used witheuspecific prior authorization of the Project Mgement Office.
8. No foreign substances are to be poured downestyoom floor drains, or into other restroom fietst

9. All firewall and floor penetrations shall bealed and sealed in accordance with applicableséide, using only approved, UL listed, fire
stop materials. All firestop installations mustrbgiewed and approved by the Project Manager poicfosing the associated area of work.

10. All electrical panel and circuit breaker labgliwill be performed in accordance with acceptatieistry methods, or as may be directel
Project Management.

11. Contractor will notify the Management Officel@st 48 hours in advance of construction congueth walk-through and punch list will
be developed for each job.

12. Smoking is prohibited in all buildings, and liag garages, at all times.

13. The Contractor is responsible for ensuringaomn-going basis, that common areas, work spacdeg@nstruction use restrooms are
thoroughly cleaned upon completion of work, inchglirash and material disposal, removal of all@aisd dust shielding materials installed
at beginning of project, windows cleaned, etc.

14. THE PROJECT OFFICE IS TO BE NOTIFIED IMMEDIATELSHOULD ANY EMERGENCY DEVELOP, ANY BUILDING
SYSTEM OR OPERATION BE IMPACTED, OR ANY ASPECT OFHE CONSTRUCTION EFFORT IMPACT ANY TENANT.

SAFETY / COMPLIANCE

1. General Contractor is responsible for ensurifigife safety compliance. This includes the workdas well as anyone entering the
construction area. Protective barricades will lzE@tl as required to ensure general area safetgrilé®afety Data Sheets (MSDS) for all
materials to be used on the jobsite must be pravid¢he Project Manager for review prior to brimgthe materials into the project. The
contractor will further ensure that a copy of esBDS is available at the jobsite whenever a spenifaterial is in use.

2. No welding, burning, or cutting with an opemfia will be performed without prior notification the Project Office so that appropriate
actions may be taken with fire alarm systems amdsfprinkler systems. Appropriate fire extinguishwill be immediately available at all
times.

3. The contractor is responsible for ensuring #tladf their sub-contractors are aware, and in danpe, with these general requirements.
MATERIALS

1. The contractor shall contact the Management®f#it the start of construction for instructionsboiiding keying, specific hardware and
other standards, as may be applicable, unlessabiglination is accomplished through hardware stibtai All permanent keying will be
provided through the Management Office.

2. All HVAC, electrical, plumbing, fire alarm sysie fire sprinkler, building control and lighting mponents installed will be of Building
Standard manufacture, unless noted as otherwifeecapproved plans and specifications. This incduuld is not limited to thermostats,
controls, diffusers, lighting fixtures, switcheamips, relays, smoke detectors, fire sprinkler hesatinkler flow switches, manual pi



stations, indicator horns / strobes, etc.
Project Completion

1. Upon completion of project, contractor will penrh a full air balance of any installed or modifid¥ AC systems, providing one copy of
each air balance report to the Management Office.

2. Upon completion of project, a completed tesbrefwitnessed by a Fire Department representatsvieequired) will be provided to the
Project Management Office for all fire sprinklerfoe alarm systems having been impacted by angasyf the construction work.

3. Upon completion of construction, one (1) seagbuilt prints, and one (1) set of as-built sepaas to be provided to the Management
Office.
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4. Contractor will ensure that specific submittatgnufacturers operation and maintenance manualsa@plicable manufacturers cut sheets
are delivered to the Project Office for all equipther components installed in the course of tharkvThis includes, but is not limited to,
mechanical equipment, fire alarm system componéngssprinkler system components, HVAC system poént or components, lighting
system components, electrical distribution or aintomponents, and any sensing or monitoring corepte

5. Upon completion of construction clean insidalbperimeter windows and the interior of all ligtg fixtures and louvers. Thoroughly clean
all work areas, common areas where impacted, agiin use restrooms, and freight elevators. Coatdi construction clean-up schedule
with Management Office.

Building Contact List

Any questions or concerns should be directed to:

PROJECT DIRECTOR - CHEQUITA MCCULLOUGH
BUILDING MANAGERS - CHEQUITA MCCULLOUGH
CUSTOMER SERV. REP. - N/A

BUILDING ENGINEER - DON DEL BONO
MANAGEMENT OFFICE - (408) 467-7150
MANAGEMENT OFFICE FAX -  (408) 467-7160
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

As independent public accountants, we hereby cangehe incorporation of our report dated Novermibgr1999 included in the form 10-
K/A, into the Company's previously filed RegistoatiStatements (Files No's. 333-85187 and 333-95@5%orm S-8.

sl Arthur Andersen LLP
San Jose, California

January 28, 2000



ARTICLE 5
MULTIPLIER: 1,00C

PERIOD TYPE 12 MO¢S
FISCAL YEAR END OCT 31199
PERIOD START NOV 01 199¢
PERIOD END OCT 31199
CASH 25,53¢
SECURITIES 63,76¢
RECEIVABLES 19,58¢
ALLOWANCES 2,44
INVENTORY 3,68¢
CURRENT ASSET¢ 112,32
PP&E 4,947
DEPRECIATION 0
TOTAL ASSETS 117,28(
CURRENT LIABILITIES 33,03
BONDS 0
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0
PREFERREL 0
COMMON 119,65:
OTHER SE (35,445
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 117,28(
SALES 68,69:
TOTAL REVENUES 68,96:
CGS 33,49:
TOTAL COSTS 33,49:
OTHER EXPENSE! 34,34
LOSS PROVISION 0
INTEREST EXPENSE 0
INCOME PRETAX 2,591
INCOME TAX 10€
INCOME CONTINUING 2,46t
DISCONTINUED 0
EXTRAORDINARY 0
CHANGES 0
NET INCOME 2,48¢
EPS BASIC 0.1C
EPS DILUTED 0.0t
End of Filing
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